10.

11.

Regular Meeting of the
Board of Trustees of the Utah Transit Authority

Wednesday, October 9, 2019, 9:00 a.m.

Utah Transit Authority Headquarters
669 West 200 South, Salt Lake City, Utah

Golden Spike Conference Rooms

Call to Order & Opening Remarks
Pledge of Allegiance

Safety First Minute
Public Comment Period

Consent Agenda:

a. Approval of September 26, 2019 Budget Work Session
Minutes

b. Approval of October 2, 2019 Board Meeting Minutes

Agency Report

R2019-10-02 Resolution Adopting the Authority’s 2020-
2024 Capital Plan

R2019-10-03 Resolution Authorizing the Issuance and sale
by the Authority of its Sales Tax Revenue and Refunding
Bonds in the Aggregate Principal Amount of not to Exceed
$540,000,000; and Related Matters

R2019-10-04 Resolution Approving a Fifth Amendment of
the Authority’s 2019 Budget

R2019-10-05 Resolution Authorizing Execution of
Amendment 1 to the Interlocal Cooperation Agreement
with Salt Lake County Regarding Matching Funds for
TIGER Grant Projects

Contracts, Disbursements and Grants
a. Contract: Consolidated Timekeeping and Scheduling
(Kronos Incorporated)

Website: https://www.rideuta.com/Board-of-Trustees
Live Streaming: https://www.youtube.com/results?search query=utaride

Chair Carlton Christensen
Chair Carlton Christensen

Sheldon Shaw

Bob Biles

Chair Carlton Christensen

Carolyn Gonot

Mary DelLoretto

Bob Biles

Bob Biles

Mary Deloretto

Troy Bingham


https://www.rideuta.com/Board-of-Trustees
https://www.youtube.com/results?search_query=utaride

12.

13.

14.

15.

b. Change Order: Purchase Order for Mobile Gateways
(Sierra Wireless)

c. Pre-procurement: Future of Light Rail Study

d. Grant: Workplace Electric Vehicle Charging
(Department of Environmental Quality and Rocky
Mountain Power)

Service and Fare Approvals
a. Fare Parameters for South Salt Lake County

Microtransit Pilot

Discussion Items
a. Committee on Accessible Transportation Charter

Other Business
a. Next meeting: October 23, 2019 at 9:00 a.m.

Adjourn

Dan Harmuth

Mary Deloretto
Mary Deloretto

Monica Morton

Cherissa Alldredge

Chair Carlton Christensen

Chair Carlton Christensen

Public Comment: Members of the public are invited to provide comment during the public comment period.
Comment may be provided in person or online through www.rideuta.com. In order to be considerate of time and
the agenda, comments are limited to 2 minutes per individual or 5 minutes for a designated spokesperson
representing a group. Comments may also be sent via e-mail to boardoftrustees@rideuta.com. To be
distributed to the Board of Trustees prior to the meeting or be included in the meeting minutes, online or email
comments must be received by 2:00 p.m. the day before the meeting.
Special Accommodation: Information related to this meeting is available in alternate format upon request by
contacting calldredge@rideuta.com or (801) 287-3536. Request for accommodations should be made at least
two business days in advance of the scheduled meeting.

Website: https://www.rideuta.com/Board-of-Trustees
Live Streaming: https://www.youtube.com/results?search query=utaride



https://www.rideuta.com/Board-of-Trustees
https://www.youtube.com/results?search_query=utaride
http://www.rideuta.com/
mailto:boardoftrustees@rideuta.com
mailto:calldredge@rideuta.com

If there is a train near, don't give in to fear,

just remember that the trains cannot steer.

A October 2019

. e AL
e T,
i




Minutes of the Budget Work Session of the
Utah Transit Authority (UTA) Board of Trustees

held on Thursday, September 26, 2019, 11:30 a.m.—2:30 p.m.
Utah Transit Authority Headquarters
669 West 200 South, Salt Lake City, Utah
Golden Spike Conference Rooms

Board Members Present:
Carlton Christensen, Chair
Beth Holbrook
Kent Millington

Also attending were members of UTA staff.

Call to Order & Opening Remarks. Chair Christensen welcomed attendees and called the
meeting to order at 11:45 a.m.

Safety First Minute. Chair Christensen yielded the floor to Lamount Worthy, Video Security
Administrator, for a brief safety message.

Board of Trustees Office — 2020 Draft Budget Presentation and Discussion.

Board of Trustees. Annette Royle, UTA Director of Strategic Board Operations, provided
an overview of the budget for the Office of the Board of Trustees including structure,
expenses by division, full-time employees, key changes, initiatives, and challenges.

Internal Audit. Riana De Villiers, UTA Chief Internal Auditor, explained the
responsibilities for the internal audit department. She also reviewed her full-time
employees, key budget changes, initiatives, and challenges. The board asked if the
software being considered is what the Utah Department of Transportation uses to
which Ms. De Villiers responded.

Government Relations. Chair Christensen summarized the budget for the Government
Relations department including structure, full-time employees, key budget changes,
initiatives, and challenges.

Feedback Received from Local Advisory Council on September 25, 2019. Chair Christensen
reviewed specific items the local advisory council discussed, questions they had, and the



feedback the councilmembers provided. The board requested future updates on refinancing
with tax exempt bonds. They also asked if staff has researched the level of debt the agency has
compared to other agencies of similar size and what UTA’s debit service is as a percent of its
total sales tax revenue.

2020 Draft Budget — Additional Considerations. Carolyn Gonot, UTA Executive Director, was
joined by Bob Biles, UTA Chief Financial Officer, Mary DelLoretto, UTA Acting Chief Service
Development Officer, and Eddy Cumins, UTA Chief Operating Officer.

Agency Reserves. Mr. Biles provided additional information about projected reserves, as
well as expected composition and the use of unrestricted reserves. The board requested
using another term for “unrestricted” in order to eliminate confusion from individuals
outside the finance industry.

State of Good Repair Strategy. Mr. Cumins was joined by Dave Hancock, UTA Manager
of Asset Management. Together they reviewed the funding process for UTA’s state of
good repair and advised on the level of necessary funding. Questions regarding whether
proper funding levels were reflected only in the 2020 budget year, if there are any
safety concerns, how equipment failure and the span of life impacts the budget, and
how many grade crossings can be maintained in a year were posed by the board and
answered by staff. The board agreed grade crossings need to be looked at in order to
avoid safety issues.

Capital Budget Year-to-Year Continuity. Mr. Cumins informed the board that staff can
order parts in advance and request delivery at a later date in order to plan projects
appropriately. Mr. Biles confirmed advanced ordering is an acceptable practice as
finance applies the expense to the year it is used. Ms. DelLoretto added the 5-year
capital plan regularly follows this process.

Capital Offset Process. Mr. Biles explained the steps of the offset process and reported
staff plans to put maintenance items in the operating budget to for accounting
purposes. He noted staff is currently researching whether do so will have unintended
consequences. The board asked if project costing expenses can be tracked and staff
responded. The board then instructed Mr. Biles to continue pursuing avenues that make
the most operational and functional sense.

Strategy for Future of Rail Ticket Vending Machine (TVM) Solutions. Mr. Biles reported
funding for TVMs can be moved in the 5-year capital plan from bonding to leasing. The
board asked about compliance and staff answered.

Recruitment Budget. Kim Ulibarri, UTA Chief People Officer, informed the board she
feels the 2020 decentralized recruitment budget is workable but staff will prepare a
different overall strategy for the 2021 budget. Questions regarding what may cause the
2020 budget to become problematic, what the total recruitment budget across UTA

2



currently is, and if a budget number for centralized recruiting was available were posed
by the board and answered by staff.

Mr. Biles reviewed dates for the remaining budget process. The board asked what the
statutory deadline is and Mr. Biles responded.

Adjournment. The meeting was adjourned at 12:59 p.m. by motion.

Transcribed by Angie Olsen

Executive Assistant to the Board of Trustees
Utah Transit Authority

aolsen@rideuta.com

801.287.2581

This document is not intended to serve as a full transcript as additional discussion may have
taken place; please refer to the meeting materials, audio, or video located at
https://www.utah.qov/pmn/sitemap/notice/560509.html for entire content.

This document along with the digital recording constitute the official minutes of this meeting.


mailto:aolsen@rideuta.com
https://www.utah.gov/pmn/sitemap/notice/560509.html

Minutes of the Meeting
of the
Board of Trustees of the Utah Transit Authority (UTA)
held at UTA FrontLines Headquarters located at
669 West 200 South, Salt Lake City, Utah
October 2, 2019

Board Members Present:
Carlton Christensen, Chair
Beth Holbrook
Kent Millington

Also attending were members of UTA staff, as well as interested citizens and members of the
media.

Call to Order, Opening Remarks, and Pledge of Allegiance. Chair Christensen welcomed
attendees and called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. Following Chair Christensen’s opening
remarks, the board and meeting attendees recited the Pledge of Allegiance.

Safety First Minute. Chair Christensen yielded the floor to Sheldon Shaw, UTA Acting Safety &
Security Manager, for a brief safety message.

Public Comment Period. Public comment was given by Claudia Johnson. Ms. Johnson praised
the recent schedule and route changes on the bus system, reporting positive feedback from
people in her social network.

Consent Agenda. The consent agenda consisted of the following:

e Approval of September 25, 2019 Board Meeting Minutes

e Approval of September 16, 2019 Budget Work Session Meeting Minutes
e Approval of September 17, 2019 Budget Work Session Meeting Minutes
e Approval of September 20, 2019 Budget Work Session Meeting Minutes



A motion to approve the consent agenda was made by Trustee Millington and seconded by
Trustee Holbrook. The motion carried unanimously.

Agency Report. Carolyn Gonot, UTA Executive Director, was joined by Dave Hancock, UTA
Director of Asset Management. Ms. Gonot and Mr. Hancock recognized UTA employee
Sumerset Ellis for being named to Mass Transit Magazine’s “Top Forty Under Forty.”

Ms. Gonot also provided a brief update on an investigation into the actions of a former UTA
employee against whom charges of theft and other crimes were recently filed. She mentioned
actions the agency is taking to assess gaps in its fare collections procedures as a result.

R2019-10-01 Resolution Supporting the Nomination to Reappoint Beth Holbrook to the Utah
Association of Special Districts Board. Trustee Holbrook indicated the Utah Association of
Special Districts (UASD) will be holding its annual meeting in November and has requested
UTA’s intent for its appointment/reappointment to the UASD board in the coming year be
made by that meeting.

A motion to approve R2019-10-01 was made by Trustee Millington and seconded by Chair
Christensen. The motion carried unanimously, with aye votes from Trustee Millington, Chair
Christensen, and Trustee Holbrook.

Contracts, Disbursements, and Grants.

Contract: Hamblin Settlement Agreement (Hamblin). David Wilkins, Assistant Attorney
General, provided an overview of the dispute with Hamblin Furniture and stated the
agency has arrived at a mediated settlement with that entity in the amount of $452,260.

A motion to approve the contract was made by Trustee Holbrook and seconded by
Trustee Millington. The motion carried unanimously.

Service and Fare Approvals.

Monica Morton, UTA Fares Director, was joined by Andrea Packer, UTA Communications
Director, and Alma Haskell, UTA Grants Development Administrator.

Complimentary TRAX Service: Draper Chamber. Ms. Morton described the service,
which will provide a special TRAX train for members of the Draper Chamber of
Commerce from the Draper TRAX Station to the Midvale Rail Service Center for a tour of
the facility and education about plans for future expansion. The estimated cost for the
service is $118.



A motion to approve the complimentary service was made by Trustee Millington and
seconded by Trustee Holbrook. The motion carried unanimously.

Complimentary Buddy Pass: UTA Ridership Campaign. Ms. Morton explained the
campaign, which would allow riders to invite a companion to ride with them at no
charge on October 25 and 26. The estimated cost in forgone revenue for this initiative is
$66,000. Discussion ensued. Questions on the timeline and TRAX lines involved in the
promotion were posed by the board and answered by Ms. Packer.

A motion to approve the complimentary pass campaign was made by Trustee Holbrook
and seconded by Trustee Millington. The motion carried unanimously.

Complimentary Van Service: Utah Chapter of American Planning Association. Ms.
Morton described the complimentary service, which would provide vans and drivers to
shuttle Utah Chapter of American Planning Association meeting attendees to and from
tours. The estimated cost of the service is $1,206. Ms. Morton noted the service
estimate was amended to omit transportation to the Sandy Expo and architecture tours,
which would decrease the cost. Discussion ensued. A question on the date for the event
was posed by the board and answered by Ms. Morton.

A motion to approve the complimentary service was made by Trustee Holbrook and
seconded by Trustee Millington. The motion carried unanimously.

Other Business.

Next Meeting. The next meeting of the board will be on Wednesday, October 9, 2019 at
9:00 a.m.

Adjournment. The meeting was adjourned at 9:24 a.m. by motion.

Transcribed by Cathie Griffiths
Executive Assistant to the Board Chair
Utah Transit Authority
cgriffiths@rideuta.com

801.237.1945

This document is not intended to serve as a full transcript as additional discussion may have
taken place; please refer to the meeting materials, audio, or video located at
https://www.utah.qgov/pmn/sitemap/notice/561409.html for entire content.

This document along with the digital recording constitute the official minutes of this meeting.


mailto:cgriffiths@rideuta.com
https://www.utah.gov/pmn/sitemap/notice/561409.html

MEMORANDUM TO THE BOARD

TO: Utah Transit Authority Board of Trustees
THROUGH: Carolyn Gonot, Executive Director
FROM: Mary DeLoretto, UTA Chief Service Development Officer

PRESENTER(S): Mary Deloretto
BOARD MEETING DATE: October 9, 2019

SUBJECT: Agenda Number 7.
R2019-10-02 Resolution Adopting the Authority’s 2020-2024 Capital Plan

AGENDA ITEM TYPE: Resolution

DISCUSSION: See attached resolution and capital plan.

ATTACHMENTS: 1) R2019-10-02
2) Exhibit A



RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE UTAH TRANSIT
AUTHORITY ADOPTING THE AUTHORITY’S 2020-2024 CAPITAL PLAN

R2019-10-02 October 9, 2019

WHEREAS, the Utah Transit Authority (the “Authority”) is a large public
transit district organized under the laws of the State of Utah and was created to
transact and exercise all of the powers provided for in the Utah Limited Purpose
Local Government Entities — Local Districts Act and the Utah Public Transit District
Act; and

WHEREAS, Board Policy 2.1 — Financial Management requires the
Executive Director to develop a five-year capital plan annually that is fiscally
constrained, maintains all assets at a state of good repair, protects the Authority’s
capital investments and minimizes future maintenance and replacement costs; and

WHEREAS, the Authority has developed a Five-Year Capital Plan for the
years 2020 through 2024 (the “Plan”) which contains a prioritized list of planned
capital projects, a description of the annual prioritization process, and projected
funding on an annual, cumulative and project basis; and

WHEREAS, on September 25, 2019 the Local Advisory Council reviewed
the Authority’s proposed Plan and believed it is in the best interest of the Authority
and all constituents to approve the 2020-2024 Capital Plan and to forward it to the
Board of Trustees with a recommendation for approval; and

WHEREAS, certain capital projects require multi-year authorization to order
long lead time parts, equipment or supplies, or to enter multi-year construction
contracts; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the
Utah Transit Authority

1. That the Board of Trustees hereby approves the Five-year Capital
Budget Plan for the years 2020 through 2024, attached hereto as
Exhibit A.



2. That the Authority’s 2020 Tentative Budget will include the 2020
Capital Budget included in the Plan.

3. That the Board of Trustees hereby authorizes the Executive Director

and her designee(s) to enter into contracts for multi-year contracts
defined in Section 4.1 of the Plan.

4. That the corporate seal be attached hereto.

Approved and adopted this 2" day of October 2019.

Carlton Christensen,
Chair Board of Trustees

ATTEST:

Robert K. Biles, Secretary/Treasurer

(Corporate Seal)

Approved As To Form:

Legal Counsel



Exhibit A

2020-2024 Capital Plan



Utah Transit Authority Five-Year Capital Plan
2020-2024

UTA S

Final - October 9, 2019



1Introduction

1.1 Purpose of document

Utah Transit Authority Board of Trustees Policy No. 2.1 Financial Management, requires the Executive
Director to develop a five-year capital plan and update it every year for inclusion in the annual budget
process discussions and approvals. The plan must be fiscally constrained and maintain all assets at a
state of good repair to protect the Authority’s capital investments and minimize future maintenance and
replacement costs. Five-year forecasts help mitigate challenges of applying a one-year budget to multi-
year projects, and also helps in long-range budget planning.

1.2 Definition of Capital Projects

For the purpose of this document, capital projects include all construction, capital improvements, major
equipment purchases and other special projects requiring one or more expenditures totaling $25,000 or
more. This includes projects that are partially or fully funded by outside funding sources (e.g. grants,
state funds, local partners, etc.). Other requests under $25,000 should be included in departmental
operating budgets.

Examples of capital projects include:

e New construction (new transit infrastructure, facilities, buildings or major additions)

e Building repairs, renovations, demolition, or upgrades

e Major maintenance (capital renewal and deferred maintenance)

e Safety, ADA, or Legal Compliance construction projects

e Energy conservation improvements

e Grounds improvement

e Real Estate Acquisition or Leasing

e Vehicles

e HVAC/Reroofing Projects

e Telecommunication and Information Technology systems (hardware and/or software)

e New or replacement equipment or furniture

UTA 5-Year Capital Plan: 2020 - 2024 Final — October 9, 2019



2 Five-year Capital Plan Development Process

The annual capital planning process results in a prioritized list of projects for the upcoming fiscal year
capital budget and a forward looking five-year capital plan. In general, the projects incorporated into the
capital plan must reflect the overall strategic vision, master plan, and transit initiatives.

2.1Project Requests

New project requests are submitted annually and prioritized by management for funding consideration.
The proposed project should meet a specific objective such as a state of good repair or infrastructure need
or requirement and be consistent with UTA’s overall strategic plan and goals.

Project requests must include the overall project costs, the yearly budget needs for the project
development, and the long term operating and maintenance costs, including state of good repair costs if
applicable. Potential funding sources are also identified in the project request.

2.2 Project Prioritization

Completed project requests are compiled then prioritized by management. Prioritization considerations
include:

e Assuring a safe system

e Taking care of/replacing what we have

e Leveraging grants and other partner funds
e Contributing to system improvements

Projects with a lower priority may be reduced in scope or moved to subsequent years as necessary.
Once prioritized, the draft 5-year plan is submitted to the Executive Team for review. Requests are
trimmed as needed to meet the anticipated 5-year budget resources.

UTA 5-Year Capital Plan: 2020 - 2024 Final — October 9, 2019



3 Capital Plan

The 2020-2024 capital requests have been compiled and prioritized. The total requests this year
exceeded the available 5-year budget projections. After adjustments were made, the plan will fund 82%
of the capital requests. Tables showing the capital budget by year are presented below, as well as
overall 5-year summaries by both project type and funding source. Attachment A shows the detailed list
of projects proposed to be funded, with the annual and total project budget, and the required UTA
funds.

The capital plan for 2020 will be incorporated into UTA’s tentative 2020 budget. Any new, unforeseen
items that come up during the year will be considered for annual budget amendments as needed.

2020 Capital Plan Summary

2020 Proposed State/Local UTA Funds
Budget Partners

New Vehicles $32,041,871 $2,775,830 $29,266,041
Information Technology $6,531,838 $757,838 $5,774,000
Facilities/Safety $2,750,000 $2,750,000
Rail Maintenance $10,050,000 $10,050,000
Vehicle Rehab & Repair $8,524,194 $786,684 $7,737,510
Airport LRT $13,000,000 $13,000,000
Depot District $40,936,916 $3,736,916 $2,500,000 $34,700,000
Ogden-Weber BRT $28,197,076 $18,706,000 $2,900,000 $6,591,076
Other Capital Projects $48,517,104 $12,599,633 $11,715,957 $24,201,514

Total $190,548,999 $39,362,901 $17,115,957 *$134,070,141

*UTA 2020 funds include: $48,611,076 in bonds and $31,298,470 in leasing

UTA 5-Year Capital Plan: 2020 - 2024 Final — October 9, 2019



2021 Capital Plan Summary

2021 Proposed State/Local UTA Funds
Budget Partners

New Vehicles

$29,163,222

$29,163,222

Information Technology $13,905,000 $13,905,000
Facilities/Safety $2,495,000 $2,495,000
Rail Maintenance $15,200,000 $15,200,000
Vehicle Rehab & Repair $9,608,435 $786,684 $8,821,751
Airport LRT $5,500,000 $5,500,000
Depot District $7,196,588 $3,696,588 $2,500,000 $1,000,000
Ogden-Weber BRT $44,990,000 $33,010,996 $6,250,000 $5,729,004
Other Capital Projects $44,687,874 $15,686,177 $3,244,262 $25,757,435

Total $172,796,119 $53,180,445 $11,994,262 *$107,621,412

*UTA 2021 funds include: $9,809,004 in bonds and $53,197,222 in leasing

2022 Capital Plan Summary

2022 Proposed State/Local UTA Funds
Budget Partners

New Vehicles $16,507,163 $16,507,163
Information Technology $4,045,000 $4,045,000
Facilities/Safety $4,290,000 $4,290,000
Rail Maintenance $16,400,000 $16,400,000
Vehicle Rehab & Repair $12,293,000 $3,163,779 $9,129,221
Depot District $496,588 $496,538 SO
Ogden-Weber BRT $18,787,000 $18,787,000 SO
Other Capital Projects $10,513,116 $2,100,000 $500,000 $7,913,116

Total $83,331,867 $24,547,367 $500,000 *$58,284,500

*UTA 2022 funds include: $4,150,000 in bonds and $15,791,163 in leasing

UTA 5-Year Capital Plan: 2020 - 2024

Final — October 9, 2019



2023 Capital Plan Summary

2023 Proposed State/Local UTA Funds
Budget Partners

New Vehicles $38,190,926
Information Technology $2,840,000
Facilities/Safety $2,860,000

Rail Maintenance $15,392,500

Vehicle Rehab & Repair $11,109,000 $3,350,000
Other Capital Projects $13,162,624 $5,100,000 $2,700,000
Total $84,275,100 $8,450,000 $2,700,000

*UTA 2023 funds include: $4,150,000 in bonds and $38,494,926 in leasing

2024 Capital Plan Summary

$38,190,926
$2,840,000
$2,860,000
$15,392,500
$7,759,000
85,362,674

*$73,125,100

2024 Proposed State/Local UTA Funds
Budget Partners

$53,136,208

New Vehicles $53,136,208
Information Technology $2,840,000
Facilities/Safety $3,110,000

Rail Maintenance $17,203,375

Vehicle Rehab & Repair $10,856,000 $2,400,000
Other Capital Projects $7,086,438 $1,600,000
Total $93,872,021 $4,000,000 SO

*UTA 2024 funds include: $4,150,000 in bonds and $52,720,208 in leasing

UTA 5-Year Capital Plan: 2020 - 2024

$2,840,000
$3,110,000
$17,203,375
$8,456,000
$5,486,438

*$89,872,021

Final — October 9, 2019



5-Year Capital Plan Summary by Project

5-Yr Proposed State/Local UTA Funds
Budget Partners

New Vehicles $169,759,390 $2,775,830 $166,983,560
Information Technology $29,801,838 $757,838 $29,044,000
Facilities/Safety $15,505,000 $15,505,000
Rail Maintenance $74,245,875 $83,211,063
Vehicle Rehab & Repair $52,390,629 $10,487,147 $41,903,482
Airport LRT $18,550,000 $18,550,000
Depot District $48,630,092 $7,930,092 $5,000,000 $35,700,000
Ogden-Weber BRT $91,974,076 $70,503,996 $9,150,000 $12,320,080
Other Capital Projects $123,967,206 $37,085,810 $18,160,219 $68,721,177

Total $624,824,105 $129,540,713 $32,310,219 *$462,973,173

*UTA funds include: $70,870,080 in bonds and $191,501,989 in leasing

5-Year Capital Plan Summary by Year

Year Proposed State/Local UTA Funds
Budget Partners

2020 $190,548,999 $39,362,901 $17,115,957 $134,070,141
2021 $172,796,119 $53,180,445 $11,994,262 $107,621,412
2022 $83,331,867 $24,547,367 $500,000 $58,284,500
2023 $84,275,100 $8,450,000 $2,700,000 $73,125,100
2024 $93,872,021 $4,000,000 S0 $89,872,021

Total $624,824,105 $129,540,713 $32,310,219 *$462,973,173

*UTA funds include: $70,870,080 in bonds and $191,501,989 in leasing

UTA 5-Year Capital Plan: 2020 - 2024 Final — October 9, 2019



4 Five-Year Plans

The five-year capital plan will be updated annually. Cost estimates and potential funding sources for
projects are more accurate the closer they are to year of expenditure; therefore, in addition to including
new project requests each year, the plan will be updated as necessary to adjust project costs as they
become more refined and funding sources as they become more certain.

4.1 Project Requests

Several projects on the 5-year plan should receive guaranteed funding through 2022 to assure ordering
of parts, equipment, or supplies, or to enter a multi-year construction contract for project construction.
These projects are identified on the detailed project list in Attachment A, and are listed below. Approval
of the 5-year capital plan will authorize the Agency to enter contracts for the multi-year nature of these
projects.

Asset Management projects:

e Light Rail Vehicle Rehab

e Commuter Rail Vehicle Rehab

e LRV Accident Repair

e Switches and Special Trackwork Rehab/Replacement
e Traction Power Rehab and Replacement

e OCS Rehab and Replacement

Capital Development projects:

e Airport Station Relocation

Depot District

Ogden/WSU BRT

Tiger Program of Projects

Positive Train Control

e 20 Electric Buses/Infrastructure for SL County
e Meadowbrook Expansion

UTA 5-Year Capital Plan: 2020 - 2024 Final — October 9, 2019



Attachment A
UTA 5-Year Capital Plan - Project Detail
2020 through 2024

UTA 5-Year Capital Plan: 2020 - 2024 Final — October 9, 2019



UTA 5-Year Capital Plan: 2020-2024 Project Summary

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 5-Year
Proposed | Total UTA| Proposed | Total UTA | Proposed | Total UTA | Proposed | Total UTA| Proposed | Total UTA | Proposed Total UTA
Project Name Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget 5-yr Funds
Information Technology
1jf  E Voucher Software Development (pending grant) 757,838 - - - - - - - - 757,838 -
2[| In-house Application Development & Enhancements 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 1,400,000 1,400,000
3|  New MS SQL Server Licenses 145,000 145,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 345,000 345,000
4] Radio Communication Infrastructure 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 600,000 600,000
5|  Server, Storage Infrastructure Equipment and Software 400,000 400,000 225,000 225,000 325,000 325,000 200,000 200,000 480,000 480,000 1,630,000 1,630,000
6| Rail Communication On-Board Technology 230,000 230,000 170,000 170,000 250,000 250,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 950,000 950,000
7|  Info Security Equip & SW (PCI Compliance & Cyber Security) 274,000 274,000 350,000 350,000 500,000 500,000 440,000 440,000 300,000 300,000 1,864,000 1,864,000
8[|  Bus Communication On-Board Technology 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 350,000 350,000 250,000 250,000 150,000 150,000 1,350,000 1,350,000
9| IT Managed Reserved (formerly IT Pool) 290,000 290,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 1,890,000 1,890,000
10  Network & Infrastructure Equipment 500,000 500,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 400,000 400,000 200,000 200,000 1,700,000 1,700,000
11f  FrontRunner WiFi Enhancements 50,000 50,000 150,000 150,000 250,000 250,000 150,000 150,000 200,000 200,000 800,000 800,000
12|f  Init APC Upgrade 200,000 200,000 340,000 340,000 - - - - - - 540,000 540,000
13| TVM for UVX (Needed if Free Fare ends) s s s s = 5 5 5 5 5 -
14f  SSBU Radio System Install/subcontract fleet only 170,000 170,000 - - - - - - - - 170,000 170,000
15[ SSBU Mobility Eligibility Center Trapeze Software 165,000 165,000 - - - - - - - - 165,000 165,000
16[  Electronic Fare Collection Maintenance & Replacement 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 - - - - - - 5,000,000 5,000,000
17| MDC Redesign Hardware Replacement - - 500,000 500,000 850,000 850,000 500,000 500,000 250,000 250,000 2,100,000 2,100,000
18 OWATS and OBOTS Enhancements - - - - - - - - - - - -
19(|  Passenger Info Improvements - - - - - - - - - - -
20| Enhanced Laserfiche (SIRE Replacement) - - - - - - - - -
21|  Trapeze Enhancements - - - - - - -
22| New Radio Communication System - - - - - - - - - - - -
23| Rail TVM SOGR - PCI Compliance - - 7,800,000 7,800,000 - - - - - - 7,800,000 7,800,000
24(  Email Infrastructure End of Life - - - - 120,000 120,000 - - - - 120,000 120,000
25[  Microsoft Office Suite End of Life - - - - 350,000 350,000 - - - - 350,000 350,000
26[  Windows Server Software Licenses - - 220,000 220,000 - - - - - - 220,000 220,000
27| PAon TRAX Platform - - - - - - - - - - - -
28[|  ArcGIS GeoEvent Server for Live Data - - 50,000 50,000 - - - - - - 50,000 50,000
Total Information Technology 6,531,838 5,774,000 13,905,000 13,905,000 4,045,000 4,045,000 2,840,000 2,840,000 2,480,000 2,480,000 29,801,838 29,044,000
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 5-Year
Proposed | Total UTA| Proposed | Total UTA | Proposed | Total UTA| Proposed | Total UTA | Proposed | Total UTA | Proposed Total UTA
Safety & Security/Police Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget 5-yr Funds
Safety & Security
29| Corridor Fencing 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 250,000 250,000
30[ Camera Sustainability 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 250,000 250,000
31f  Access Control for Data Rooms 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 - - - - - - 20,000 20,000
32| Bus Camera Overhaul/Replacement 240,000 240,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 - - - - 320,000 320,000
33| Bus Safety and Security 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 150,000 150,000
34f  Camera, door locks, and badge scanners for 4200 parts 15,000 15,000 - - - - - - - - 15,000 15,000
35/  Emergency Operations Training 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 75,000 75,000
36|  Facility Security 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 250,000 250,000
37|  Next Crossing Camera Installation 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 200,000 200,000
38( Safety General Projects 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 500,000 500,000
39(|  Security General Projects 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 100,000 100,000
Safety & Security Total 620,000 620,000 405,000 405,000 395,000 395,000 355,000 355,000 355,000 355,000 2,130,000 2,130,000
Police
40( Ballistic Vest Replacement 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 75,000 75,000
41f  Vehicle Replacement/Expansion 240,000 240,000 200,000 200,000 280,000 280,000 240,000 240,000 240,000 240,000 1,200,000 1,200,000
42[ Tasers 100,000 100,000
Police Total 255,000 255,000 215,000 215,000 395,000 295,000 255,000 255,000 255,000 255,000 1,375,000 1,275,000
Total Safety & Security 875,000 875,000 620,000 620,000 790,000 690,000 610,000 610,000 610,000 610,000 3,505,000 3,405,000
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 5-Year
Asset Management (Vehicles, Facilities, Rail Infrastructure, Rail Proposed | Total UTA| Proposed | Total UTA | Proposed | Total UTA| Proposed | Total UTA| Proposed | Total UTA | Proposed Total 5-yr
Systems) Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget UTA Funds
|\Vehicles
43(  Bus Replacement** 27,566,971 24,791,141 23,704,603 23,704,603 11,307,289 11,307,289 34,090,373 34,090,373 48,087,376 48,087,376 144,756,612 141,980,782
44f  Van Pool Replacement 1,292,780 1,292,780 2,205,720 2,205,720 1,424,498 1,424,498 1,270,960 1,270,960 1,423,240 1,423,240 7,617,198 7,617,198
45(  Paratransit Vehicle Replacment 2,982,120 2,982,120 3,052,899 3,052,899 3,125,376 3,125,376 3,199,593 3,199,593 3,275,592 3,275,592 15,635,580 15,635,580
46(  Bus Engine/Transmission/Component Rehab/Replacement 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 3,000,000 600,000 3,000,000 600,000 3,000,000 600,000 12,000,000 4,800,000
47( Light Rail Vehicle Rehab** 2,760,415 2,760,415 2,608,435 2,608,435 2,750,000 2,750,000 2,900,000 2,900,000 3,100,000 3,100,000 14,118,850 14,118,850
48[  Commuter Rail Vehicle Rehab** 2,763,779 1,977,095 3,500,000 2,713,316 5,563,000 4,799,221 5,209,000 4,259,000 4,756,000 4,756,000 21,791,779 18,504,632
49[  Non-Rev Service Vehicle Replacement 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 650,000 650,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 1,750,000 1,750,000
50[ LRV Accident Repair** 1,500,000 1,500,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 980,000 980,000 - - 4,480,000 4,480,000
Vehicles Total 40,566,065 37,003,551 38,771,657 37,984,973 28,800,163 25,636,384 50,019,926 46,669,926 63,992,208 61,592,208 222,150,019 208,887,042
Facilities
51||  Facilities Rehab and Replacement (See Facilties Tab) 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 6,000,000 6,000,000
52| Equipment Managed Reserve (See Equipment Tab) 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
53| Stations and Platforms Rehab and Replacement 125,000 125,000 125,000 125,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
54) Park and Ride Rehab and Replacement 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 750,000 750,000 500,000 500,000 750,000 750,000 3,000,000 3,000,000
Facilities Total 1,875,000 1,875,000 1,875,000 1,875,000 3,500,000 3,500,000 2,250,000 2,250,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 12,000,000 12,000,000
Rail Infrastructure
55| Rail Rehab and Replacement 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 375,000 375,000 750,000 750,000 1,875,000 1,875,000
56| Ballast and Ties Rehab and Replacement 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000
57|  Bridge Rehabilitation & Maintenance 300,000 300,000 650,000 650,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 1,850,000 1,850,000
58| Grade Crossings Rehab and Replacement 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000
59| Switches and Special Trackwork Rehab/Replacement** - - 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 250,000 250,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 3,250,000 3,250,000
Rail Infrastructure Total 1,300,000 1,300,000 2,650,000 2,650,000 3,800,000 3,800,000 2,175,000 2,175,000 3,300,000 3,300,000 13,225,000 13,225,000
Rail Systems
60| Traction Power Rehab and Replacement** 550,000 550,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 16,550,000 16,550,000
61| Train Control Rehab and Replacement 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 1,750,000 1,750,000
62| Rail Switches & Trackwork Controls - Rehab/Replacement 150,000 150,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 950,000 950,000
63| Stray Current Mitigation 300,000 300,000 600,000 600,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 600,000 600,000 2,100,000 2,100,000
64| Ticket Vending Machines - - - - - - - - - - - -
65[ OCS Rehab and Replacement** 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000
Rail Systems Total 1,750,000 1,750,000 5,550,000 5,550,000 5,250,000 5,250,000 5,500,000 5,500,000 5,800,000 5,800,000 23,850,000 23,850,000
Total Asset Management 45,491,065 41,928,551 48,846,657 48,059,973 41,350,163 38,186,384 59,944,926 56,594,926 75,592,208 73,192,208 271,225,019 257,962,042
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 5-Year
Proposed | Total UTA| Proposed | Total UTA | Proposed | Total UTA| Proposed | Total UTA | Proposed | Total UTA | Proposed Total 5-yr
Capital Development Projects Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget UTA Funds
66| Airport Station Relocation* 13,000,000 13,000,000 5,550,000 5,550,000 - - - - - - 18,550,000 18,550,000
67| 3300/3500 South MAX Expansion & Optimization 2,735,172 185,172 - - - - - - - - 2,735,172 185,172
68 Clearfield FR Station Trail 1,501,663 - - - - - - - - - 1,501,663 -
79|  SL UZA Bus Bike Rack Expansion 35,609 2411 - - - - - - - - 35,609 2411
70[|  Depot District* 38,086,916 31,850,000 6,196,588 - 496,588 - - - - - 44,780,092 31,850,000
71|  Ogden/Weber State University BRT Design* 28,197,076 6,591,076 44,990,000 5,729,004 18,787,000 - - - - - 91,974,076 12,320,080
72|  TIGER Program of Projects* 11,169,660 18,931 1,858,634 27,435 - - - - - - 13,028,294 46,366
73] Box Elder Right of Way Preservation 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 10,000,000 10,000,000
74{  Weber Cnty CR ROW Preservation 1,500,000 - 1,000,000 - - - - - - - 2,500,000 -
75|  Signal Pre-emption Projects w/UDOT 500,000 - 500,000 - 500,000 - - - = = 1,500,000 -
76| Point of Mountain AA/EIS 1,500,000 100,000 1,500,000 100,000 - - - - - - 3,000,000 200,000
77|  Office Equipment Reserve 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 500,000 500,000
78| Positive Train Control* 900,000 900,000 900,000 900,000 801,808 801,808 - - - - 2,601,808 2,601,808
79| UVU Ped Bridge 2,000,000 2,000,000 - - - - - - - - 2,000,000 2,000,000
80| Operator Shack at University Medical EOL 350,000 350,000 - - - - - - - - 350,000 350,000
81f  Northern Utah County Double Track 10,000,000 9,500,000 - - - - - - - - 10,000,000 9,500,000
82[|  Bus Stop Imp - System-Wide ADA 1,000,000 200,000 1,000,000 200,000 1,000,000 200,000 1,000,000 200,000 1,000,000 200,000 5,000,000 1,000,000
83|  Wayfinding Signage Plan - S-ine and TRAX 475,000 475,000 650,000 650,000 1,250,000 1,050,000 1,350,000 1,150,000 1,500,000 1,300,000 5,225,000 4,625,000
84 Operator Restrooms throughout system 600,000 120,000 400,000 80,000 750,000 150,000 750,000 150,000 750,000 150,000 3,250,000 650,000
85 Layton FrontRunner Parking Garage - - - - - 4,700,000 - - - 4,700,000 -
86  Turn-back Track at Union Interlocking - - - - - - - - - - -
87| 5600 West BRT - - - 536,308 36,308 1,608,924 108,924 - - 2,145,232 145,232
Total Capital Development Projects 114,651,096 66,392,590 65,645,222 14,336,439 28,221,704 6,338,116 11,508,924 3,708,924 5,350,000 3,750,000 225,376,946 94,526,069




2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 5-Year

Proposed | Total UTA| Proposed | Total UTA | Proposed | Total UTA| Proposed | Total UTA| Proposed | Total UTA | Proposed Total UTA
Salt Lake County 4th Quarter Capital Projects Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget 5-yr Funds
88| 20 Electric Buses/Infrastructure for SL County Service* - 27,079,240 14,000,000 - - - 27,079,240 14,000,000
89| North Temple EOL 3,400,000 2,000,000 - - - - 3,400,000 2,000,000
90[ UofUEOL 2,950,000 450,000 - - - - 2,950,000 450,000
91  Fort Union EOL 500,000 500,000 3,000,000 3,000,000 - - - 3,500,000 3,500,000
92[ 5600 W/4500 S EOL 500,000 500,000 3,000,000 3,000,000 - - - 3,500,000 3,500,000
93(|  Depot District support 2,850,000 2,850,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 - - - 3,850,000 3,850,000
94  Meadowbrook Expansion® 2,900,000 2,900,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 - - - 3,900,000 3,900,000
95| Operator Restrooms- Salt Lake County 400,000 400,000 200,000 200,000 - - - 600,000 600,000
96(  Bus Stop Improvements and signage - SL County 2,500,000 2,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,575,000 1,575,000 1,653,750 1,653,750 1,736,438 1,736,438 8,965,188 8,965,188
97| SGR for TRAX (to be used for LRV overhaul project)** 7,000,000 7,000,000 7,000,000 7,000,000 7,350,000 7,350,000 7,717,500 7,717,500 8,103,375 8,103,375 37,170,875 37,170,875
Total Salt Lake County 4th Quarter Capital Projects 23,000,000 19,100,000 43,779,240 30,700,000 8,925,000 8,925,000 9,371,250 9,371,250 9,839,813 9,839,813 94,915,303 77,936,063
Total Overall Capital Budget 190,548,999 | 134,070,141 172,796,119 107,621,412 83,331,867 58,184,500 84,275,100 73,125,100 93,872,021 89,872,021 624,824,105 462,873,173

Total Budget without Salt Lake County 4th Q projects

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 5-Year
Proposed | Total UTA| Proposed | Total UTA | Proposed | Total UTA| Proposed | Total UTA| Proposed | Total UTA | Proposed Total UTA
Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget Funds Budget 5-yr Funds
Summary

Revenue Service Vehicles & white fleet 32,041,871 29,266,041 29,163,222 29,163,222 16,507,163 16,507,163 38,910,926 38,910,926 53,136,208 53,136,208 169,759,390 166,983,560
Information Technology 6,531,838 5,774,000 13,905,000 13,905,000 4,045,000 4,045,000 2,840,000 2,840,000 2,480,000 2,480,000 29,801,838 29,044,000
Facilities, Maintenance & Admin, Safety Equipment 2,750,000 2,750,000 2,495,000 2,495,000 4,290,000 4,290,000 2,860,000 2,860,000 3,110,000 3,110,000 15,505,000 15,505,000
Rail Maintenance Projects 10,050,000 10,050,000 15,200,000 15,200,000 16,400,000 16,400,000 15,392,500 15,392,500 17,203,375 17,203,375 74,245,875 74,245,875
Vehicles - Rehab/Repair 8,524,194 7,737,510 9,608,435 8,821,751 12,293,000 9,129,221 11,109,000 7,759,000 10,856,000 8,456,000 52,390,629 41,903,482
Airport LRT 13,000,000 13,000,000 5,550,000 5,550,000 - - - - - - 18,550,000 18,550,000
Depot District 40,936,916 34,700,000 7,196,588 1,000,000 496,588 - - - - - 48,630,092 35,700,000
Ogden/Weber BRT 28,197,076 6,591,076 44,990,000 5,729,004 18,787,000 - - - - - 91,974,076 12,320,080
Other Capital Projects 48,517,104 24,201,514 44,687,874 25,757,435 10,513,116 7,913,116 13,162,674 5,362,674 7,086,438 5,486,438 123,967,206 68,721,177
190,548,999 | 134,070,141 172,796,119 107,621,412 83,331,867 58,284,500 84,275,100 73,125,100 93,872,021 89,872,021 624,824,105 462,973,173
* Capital project funding assured through 2022 94,253,652 | 55,260,007 | 87,574,462 | 27,206,439 | 20,085,396 801,808 - - 201,913,510 83,268,254
**State of Good Repair project funding assured through 2022 42,641,165 | 39,078,651 | 44,313,038 | 43,526,354 | 33,450,289 | 32,686,510 - - 120,404,492 | 115,291,515




UTA 5-Year Capital Plan: 2020 Project Details

2020
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Project Name Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
Information Technology
1f[ E Voucher Software Development (pending grant) 757,838 757,838 - -
2|l In-house Application Development & Enhancements 400,000 400,000 400,000
3| New MS SQL Server Licenses 145,000 145,000 145,000
4| Radio Communication Infrastructure 150,000 150,000 150,000
5| Server, Storage Infrastructure Equipment and Software 400,000 400,000 400,000
6/ Rail Communication On-Board Technology 230,000 230,000 230,000
7| Info Security Equip & SW (PCI Compliance & Cyber Security) 274,000 274,000 274,000
8|l Bus Communication On-Board Technology 300,000 300,000 300,000
9| IT Managed Reserved (formerly IT Pool) 290,000 290,000 290,000
10| Network & Infrastructure Equipment 500,000 500,000 500,000
11f| FrontRunner WiFi Enhancements 50,000 50,000 50,000
12 Init APC Upgrade 200,000 200,000 200,000
13[| TVM for UVX (Needed if Free Fare ends) = = 5
14| SSBU Radio System Install/subcontract fleet only 170,000 170,000 170,000
15| SSBU Mobility Eligibility Center Trapeze Software 165,000 165,000 165,000
16| Electronic Fare Collection Maintenance & Replacement 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000
17| MDC Redesign Hardware Replacement -
18|[ OWATS and OBOTS Enhancements - -
19|| Passenger Info Improvements -
20|| Enhanced Laserfiche (SIRE Replacement) - -
21| Trapeze Enhancements -
22| New Radio Communication System - -
23|l Rail TYM SOGR - PCI Compliance -
24| Email Infrastructure End of Life - -
25| Microsoft Office Suite End of Life -
26| Windows Server Software Licenses - -
27| PA on TRAX Platform -
28|l ArcGIS GeoEvent Server for Live Data - - -
Total Information Technology 6,531,838 757,838 2,500,000 - 3,274,000 5,774,000
2020
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Safety & Security/Police Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
Safety & Security
29|| Corridor Fencing 50,000 50,000 50,000
30| Camera Sustainability 50,000 50,000 50,000
31j[ Access Control for Data Rooms 10,000 10,000 10,000
32| Bus Camera Overhaul/Replacement 240,000 240,000 240,000
33|l Bus Safety and Security 30,000 30,000 30,000
34 Camera, door locks, and badge scanners for 4200 parts 15,000 15,000 15,000
35| Emergency Operations Training 15,000 15,000 15,000
36|| Facility Security 50,000 50,000 50,000
37| Next Crossing Camera Installation 40,000 40,000 40,000
38| Safety General Projects 100,000 100,000 100,000
39|| Security General Projects 20,000 20,000 20,000
Safety & Security Total 620,000 620,000 620,000
Police
40 Ballistic Vest Replacement 15,000 15,000 15,000
41|[ Vehicle Replacement/Expansion 240,000 240,000 240,000
42| Tasers
Police Total 255,000 255,000 255,000
Total Safety & Security 875,000 - - - 875,000 875,000
2020
Asset Management (Vehicles, Facilities, Rail Infrastructure, Rail Proposed State Local Total UTA
Systems) Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding | Partners | UTA Other| Funds
Vehicles
43| Bus Replacement* 27,566,971 2,775,830 24,556,570 234,571 24,791,141
44 Van Pool Replacement 1,292,780 1,292,780 - 1,292,780
45| Paratransit Vehicle Replacment 2,982,120 2,949,120 33,000 2,982,120
46(  Bus Engine/Transmission/Component Rehab/Replacement 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000
47| Light Rail Vehicle Rehab** 2,760,415 2,760,415 2,760,415
48[l Commuter Rail Vehicle Rehab** 2,763,779 786,684 1,977,095 1,977,095
49| Non-Rev Service Vehicle Replacement 200,000 200,000 200,000
50| LRV Accident Repair** 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000
Vehicles Total 40,566,065 - 3,562,514 28,798,470 - 8,205,081 37,003,551
Facilities
51| Facilities Rehab and Replacement (See Facilities Tab) 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
52| Equipment Managed Reserve (See Equipment Tab) 250,000 250,000 250,000
53| Stations and Platforms Rehab and Replacement 125,000 125,000 125,000
54 Park and Ride Rehab and Replacement 500,000 500,000 500,000
Facilities Total 1,875,000 - - 1,875,000 1,875,000
Rail Infrastructure
55| Rail Rehab and Replacement 250,000 250,000 250,000
56| Ballast and Ties Rehab and Replacement 250,000 250,000 250,000
57| Bridge Rehabilitation & Maintenance 300,000 300,000 300,000
58|| Grade Crossings Rehab and Replacement 500,000 500,000 500,000
59| Switches and Special Trackwork Rehab/Replacement** - - -
Rail Infrastructure Total 1,300,000 - - 1,300,000 1,300,000
Rail Systems
60| Traction Power Rehab and Replacement** 550,000 550,000 - 550,000
61| Train Control Rehab and Replacement 250,000 250,000 250,000
62 Rail Switches & Trackwork Controls - Rehab/Replacement 150,000 150,000 150,000
63| Stray Current Mitigation 300,000 300,000 300,000
64| Ticket Vending Machines - - - -
65| OCS Rehab and Replacement** 500,000 500,000 500,000
Rail Systems Total 1,750,000 550,000 - - 1,200,000 1,750,000
Total Asset Management 45,491,065 550,000 3,562,514 28,798,470 - 12,580,081 41,928,551




2020

Proposed State Local Total UTA
Capital Development Projects Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
66| Airport Station Relocation* 13,000,000 13,000,000 13,000,000
67(| 3300/3500 South MAX Expansion & Optimization 2,735,172 2,550,000 185,172 185,172
68| Clearfield FR Station Trail 1,501,663 1,400,000 101,663 - -
79[| SL UZA Bus Bike Rack Expansion 35,609 33,198 2,411 2,411
70[| Depot District* 38,086,916 31,850,000 3,736,916 2,500,000 31,850,000
71f Ogden/Weber State University BRT Design* 28,197,076 6,591,076 18,706,000 2,900,000 - 6,591,076
72[| TIGER Program of Projects* 11,169,660 4,836,435 6,314,294 18,931 18,931
73| Box Elder Right of Way Preservation 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
74| Weber Cnty CR ROW Preservation 1,500,000 1,500,000 - -
75| Signal Pre-emption Projects w/UDOT 500,000 500,000 - -
76( Point of Mountain AA/EIS 1,500,000 1,200,000 200,000 100,000 100,000
77| Office Equipment Reserve 100,000 100,000 100,000
78| Positive Train Control* 900,000 900,000 900,000
79[| UVU Ped Bridge 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
80|| Operator Shack at University Medical EOL 350,000 350,000 350,000
81| Northern Utah County Double Track 10,000,000 9,500,000 500,000 - 9,500,000
82[| Bus Stop Imp - System-Wide ADA 1,000,000 800,000 200,000 200,000
83| Wayfinding Signage Plan - S-line and TRAX 475,000 475,000 475,000
84| Operator Restrooms throughout system 600,000 120,000 480,000 120,000
85| Layton FrontRunner Parking Garage - -
86| Turn-back Track at Union Interlocking -
87[| 5600 West BRT - -
Total Capital Development Projects 114,651,096 48,061,076 32,542,549 3,700,000 12,015,957 18,331,514 66,392,590
2020
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Salt Lake County 4th Quarter Capital Projects Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding | Partners | UTA Other| Funds
88|| 20 Electric Buses/Infrastructure for SL County Service* - -
89| North Temple EOL 3,400,000 1,400,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
90 Uof UEOL 2,950,000 2,500,000 450,000 450,000
91 Fort Union EOL 500,000 500,000 500,000
92[ 5600 W/4500 S EOL 500,000 500,000 500,000
93|| Depot District support 2,850,000 2,850,000 2,850,000
94| Meadowbrook Expansion* 2,900,000 2,900,000 2,900,000
95| Operator Restrooms- Salt Lake County 400,000 400,000 400,000
96| Bus Stop Improvements and signage - SL County 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000
97| SGR for TRAX (to be used for LRV overhaul project)** 7,000,000 7,000,000 7,000,000
Total Salt Lake County 4th Quarter Capital Projects 23,000,000 - 2,500,000 - - 1,400,000 19,100,000 19,100,000
Total Overall Capital Budget 190,548,999 48,611,076 39,362,901 31,298,470 3,700,000 13,415,957 54,160,595 | 134,070,141
Total Budget without Salt Lake County 4th Q projects
2020
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding | Partners | UTA Other| Funds
Summary
Revenue Service Vehicles & white fleet 32,041,871 - 2,775,830 28,798,470 - 467,571 29,266,041
Information Technology 6,531,838 757,838 2,500,000 - 3,274,000 5,774,000
Facilities, Maintenance & Admin, Safety Equipment 2,750,000 - - - 2,750,000 2,750,000
Rail Maintenance Projects 10,050,000 550,000 - - 9,500,000 10,050,000
Vehicles - Rehab/Repair 8,524,194 - 786,684 - 7,737,510 7,137,510
Airport LRT 13,000,000 - - - 13,000,000 13,000,000
Depot District 40,936,916 31,850,000 3,736,916 2,500,000 - 2,850,000 34,700,000
Ogden/Weber BRT 28,197,076 6,591,076 18,706,000 - 2,900,000 - 6,591,076
Other Capital Projects 48,517,104 9,620,000 12,599,633 - 1,200,000 10,515,957 14,581,514 24,201,514
190,548,999 48,611,076 39,362,901 31,298,470 3,700,000 13,415,957 54,160,595 | 134,070,141
* Capital project funding assured through 2022 94,253,652 38,441,076 27,279,351 - 2,500,000 9,214,294 16,818,931 55,260,007
**State of Good Repair project funding assured through 2022 42,641,165 550,000 3,562,514 24,556,570 - - 13,972,081 39,078,651




UTA 5-Year Capital Plan: 2021 Project Details

2021
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Project Name Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
Information Technology
1f[ E Voucher Software Development (pending grant) - - -
2|l In-house Application Development & Enhancements 400,000 400,000 400,000
3| New MS SQL Server Licenses 50,000 50,000 50,000
4| Radio Communication Infrastructure 150,000 150,000 150,000
5| Server, Storage Infrastructure Equipment and Software 225,000 225,000 225,000
6/ Rail Communication On-Board Technology 170,000 170,000 170,000
7| Info Security Equip & SW (PCI Compliance & Cyber Security) 350,000 350,000 350,000
8|l Bus Communication On-Board Technology 300,000 300,000 300,000
9| IT Managed Reserved (formerly IT Pool) 400,000 400,000 400,000
10| Network & Infrastructure Equipment 300,000 300,000 300,000
11f| FrontRunner WiFi Enhancements 150,000 150,000 150,000
12 Init APC Upgrade 340,000 340,000 340,000
13[| TVM for UVX (Needed if Free Fare ends) . 5 5
14| SSBU Radio System Install/subcontract fleet only - - -
15| SSBU Mobility Eligibility Center Trapeze Software - - -
16| Electronic Fare Collection Maintenance & Replacement 2,500,000 2,500,000 - 2,500,000
17| MDC Redesign Hardware Replacement 500,000 500,000 500,000
18|[ OWATS and OBOTS Enhancements - - -
19|| Passenger Info Improvements - -
20|| Enhanced Laserfiche (SIRE Replacement) - -
21| Trapeze Enhancements - -
22| New Radio Communication System - - -
23|[ Rail TVM SOGR - PCI Compliance 7,800,000 7,800,000 - 7,800,000
24| Email Infrastructure End of Life - - -
25| Microsoft Office Suite End of Life - - -
26| Windows Server Software Licenses 220,000 220,000 220,000
27| PA on TRAX Platform - - -
28|l ArcGIS GeoEvent Server for Live Data 50,000 50,000 50,000
Total Information Technology 13,905,000 - 10,300,000 - 3,605,000 13,905,000
2021
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Safety & Security/Police Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
Safety & Security
29|| Corridor Fencing 50,000 50,000 50,000
30| Camera Sustainability 50,000 50,000 50,000
31j[ Access Control for Data Rooms 10,000 10,000 10,000
32| Bus Camera Overhaul/Replacement 40,000 40,000 40,000
33|l Bus Safety and Security 30,000 30,000 30,000
34 Camera, door locks, and badge scanners for 4200 parts - - -
35| Emergency Operations Training 15,000 15,000 15,000
36|| Facility Security 50,000 50,000 50,000
37| Next Crossing Camera Installation 40,000 40,000 40,000
38| Safety General Projects 100,000 100,000 100,000
39|| Security General Projects 20,000 20,000 20,000
Safety & Security Total 405,000 - - - 405,000 405,000
Police
40 Ballistic Vest Replacement 15,000 15,000 15,000
41|[ Vehicle Replacement/Expansion 200,000 200,000 200,000
42| Tasers
Police Total 215,000 - - - 215,000 215,000
Total Safety & Security 620,000 - - - 620,000 620,000
2021
Asset Management (Vehicles, Facilities, Rail Infrastructure, Rail Proposed State Local Total UTA
Systems) Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
Vehicles
43| Bus Replacement* 23,704,603 23,671,603 33,000 23,704,603
44 Van Pool Replacement 2,205,720 2,205,720 - 2,205,720
45| Paratransit Vehicle Replacment 3,052,899 3,019,899 33,000 3,052,899
46(  Bus Engine/Transmission/Component Rehab/Replacement 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000
47| Light Rail Vehicle Rehab** 2,608,435 2,608,435 2,608,435
48| Commuter Rail Vehicle Rehab** 3,500,000 786,684 2,713,316 2,713,316
49| Non-Rev Service Vehicle Replacement 200,000 200,000 200,000
50| LRV Accident Repair** 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
Vehicles Total 38,771,657 - 786,684 28,897,222 - 9,087,751 37,984,973
Facilities
51| Facilities Rehab and Replacement (See Facilities Tab) 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
52| Equipment Managed Reserve (See Equipment Tab) 250,000 250,000 250,000
53| Stations and Platforms Rehab and Replacement 125,000 125,000 125,000
54 Park and Ride Rehab and Replacement 500,000 500,000 500,000
Facilities Total 1,875,000 - - 1,875,000 1,875,000
Rail Infrastructure
55| Rail Rehab and Replacement 250,000 250,000 250,000
56| Ballast and Ties Rehab and Replacement 250,000 250,000 250,000
57| Bridge Rehabilitation & Maintenance 650,000 650,000 650,000
58|| Grade Crossings Rehab and Replacement 500,000 500,000 500,000
59| Switches and Special Trackwork Rehab/Replacement** 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
Rail Infrastructure Total 2,650,000 - - 2,650,000 2,650,000
Rail Systems
60| Traction Power Rehab and Replacement** 4,000,000 4,000,000 - 4,000,000
61| Train Control Rehab and Replacement 250,000 250,000 250,000
62 Rail Switches & Trackwork Controls - Rehab/Replacement 200,000 200,000 200,000
63| Stray Current Mitigation 600,000 600,000 600,000
64| Ticket Vending Machines - - - -
65| OCS Rehab and Replacement** 500,000 500,000 500,000
Rail Systems Total 5,550,000 4,000,000 - - 1,550,000 5,550,000
Total Asset Management 48,846,657 4,000,000 786,684 28,897,222 - 15,162,751 48,059,973




2021

Proposed State Local Total UTA
Capital Development Projects Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
66| Airport Station Relocation* 5,550,000 5,550,000 5,550,000
67| 3300/3500 South MAX Expansion & Optimization - - -
68|| Clearfield FR Station Trail - - -
79| SL UZA Bus Bike Rack Expansion - - -
70[| Depot District* 6,196,588 3,696,588 2,500,000 - -
71f Ogden/Weber State University BRT Design* 44,990,000 5,729,004 33,010,996 6,250,000 - 5,729,004
72[| TIGER Program of Projects* 1,858,634 1,486,937 344,262 27,435 27,435
73| Box Elder Right of Way Preservation 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
74| Weber Cnty CR ROW Preservation 1,000,000 1,000,000 - -
75| Signal Pre-emption Projects w/UDOT 500,000 500,000 - -
76( Point of Mountain AA/EIS 1,500,000 1,200,000 200,000 100,000 100,000
77| Office Equipment Reserve 100,000 100,000 100,000
78| Positive Train Control* 900,000 900,000 900,000
79| UVU Ped Bridge - - -
80|| Operator Shack at University Medical EOL - - -
81| Northern Utah County Double Track - - -
82[| Bus Stop Imp - System-Wide ADA 1,000,000 800,000 200,000 200,000
83| Wayfinding Signage Plan - S-line and TRAX 650,000 650,000 650,000
84| Operator Restrooms throughout system 400,000 80,000 320,000 - 80,000
85| Layton FrontRunner Parking Garage - - -
86| Turn-back Track at Union Interlocking - - -
87[| 5600 West BRT - - -
Total Capital Development Projects 65,645,222 5,809,004 39,314,521 3,700,000 8,294,262 8,527,435 14,336,439
2021
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Salt Lake County 4th Quarter Capital Projects Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
88|| 20 Electric Buses/Infrastructure for SL County Service* 217,079,240 13,079,240 14,000,000 - 14,000,000
89| North Temple EOL - -
90 Uof UEOL - -
91 Fort Union EOL 3,000,000 3,000,000 3,000,000
92[ 5600 W/4500 S EOL 3,000,000 3,000,000 3,000,000
93|| Depot District support 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
94| Meadowbrook Expansion* 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
95| Operator Restrooms- Salt Lake County 200,000 200,000 200,000
96| Bus Stop Improvements and signage - SL County 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000
97| SGR for TRAX (to be used for LRV overhaul project)** 7,000,000 7,000,000 7,000,000
Total Salt Lake County 4th Quarter Capital Projects 43,779,240 - 13,079,240 14,000,000 - - 16,700,000 30,700,000
Total Overall Capital Budget 172,796,119 9,809,004 53,180,445 53,197,222 3,700,000 8,294,262 44,615,186 | 107,621,412
Total Budget without Salt Lake County 4th Q projects
2021
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
Summary
Revenue Service Vehicles & white fleet 29,163,222 - - 28,897,222 - 266,000 29,163,222
Information Technology 13,905,000 - 10,300,000 - 3,605,000 13,905,000
Facilities, Maintenance & Admin, Safety Equipment 2,495,000 - - - 2,495,000 2,495,000
Rail Maintenance Projects 15,200,000 4,000,000 - - 11,200,000 15,200,000
Vehicles - Rehab/Repair 9,608,435 - 786,684 - 8,821,751 8,821,751
Airport LRT 5,550,000 - - 5,550,000 5,550,000
Depot District 7,196,588 - 3,696,588 2,500,000 - 1,000,000 1,000,000
Ogden/Weber BRT 44,990,000 5,729,004 33,010,996 - - 6,250,000 - 5,729,004
Other Capital Projects 44,687,874 80,000 15,686,177 14,000,000 1,200,000 2,044,262 11,677,435 25,757,435
172,796,119 9,809,004 53,180,445 53,197,222 3,700,000 8,294,262 44,615,186 | 107,621,412
* Capital project funding assured through 2022 87,574,462 5,729,004 51,273,761 14,000,000 2,500,000 6,594,262 7,477,435 27,206,439
**State of Good Repair project funding assured through 2022 44,313,038 4,000,000 786,684 23,671,603 - - 15,854,751 43,526,354




UTA 5-Year Capital Plan: 2022 Project Details

2022
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Project Name Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
Information Technology
1ff E Voucher Software Development (pending grant) - -
2|l In-house Application Development & Enhancements 200,000 200,000 200,000
3] New MS SQL Server Licenses 50,000 50,000 50,000
4| Radio Communication Infrastructure 100,000 100,000 100,000
5[ Server, Storage Infrastructure Equipment and Software 325,000 325,000 325,000
6] Rail Communication On-Board Technology 250,000 250,000 250,000
7| Info Security Equip & SW (PCI Compliance & Cyber Security) 500,000 500,000 500,000
8|| Bus Communication On-Board Technology 350,000 350,000 350,000
9|| IT Managed Reserved (formerly IT Pool) 400,000 400,000 400,000
10[ Network & Infrastructure Equipment 300,000 300,000 300,000
11{[ FrontRunner WiFi Enhancements 250,000 250,000 250,000
12| Init APC Upgrade - -
13[[ TVM for UVX (Needed if Free Fare ends) -
14| SSBU Radio System Install/subcontract fleet only - -
15[  SSBU Mobility Eligibility Center Trapeze Software - -
16| Electronic Fare Collection Maintenance & Replacement - - -
17|[ MDC Redesign Hardware Replacement 850,000 850,000 850,000
18| OWATS and OBOTS Enhancements - -
19|[ Passenger Info Improvements - -
20| Enhanced Laserfiche (SIRE Replacement) - -
21{f Trapeze Enhancements -
22| New Radio Communication System - -
23| Rail TVM SOGR - PCI Compliance - - -
24| Email Infrastructure End of Life 120,000 120,000 120,000
25| Microsoft Office Suite End of Life 350,000 350,000 350,000
26| Windows Server Software Licenses = -
27| PA on TRAX Platform - -
28|| ArcGIS GeoEvent Server for Live Data - - -
Total Information Technology 4,045,000 - - - 4,045,000 4,045,000
2022
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Safety & Security/Police Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
Safety & Security
29[ Corridor Fencing 50,000 50,000 50,000
30| Camera Sustainability 50,000 50,000 50,000
31} Access Control for Data Rooms - - -
32| Bus Camera Overhaul/Replacement 40,000 40,000 40,000
33|[ Bus Safety and Security 30,000 30,000 30,000
34) Camera, door locks, and badge scanners for 4200 parts - - -
35| Emergency Operations Training 15,000 15,000 15,000
36| Facility Security 50,000 50,000 50,000
37|l Next Crossing Camera Installation 40,000 40,000 40,000
38| Safety General Projects 100,000 100,000 100,000
39| Security General Projects 20,000 20,000 20,000
Safety & Security Total 395,000 - - - 395,000 395,000
Police
40 Ballistic Vest Replacement 15,000 15,000 15,000
41| Vehicle Replacement/Expansion 280,000 280,000 280,000
42| Tasers 100,000 100,000
Police Total 395,000 - - - 395,000 295,000
Total Safety & Security 790,000 - - - 790,000 690,000
2022
Asset Management (Vehicles, Facilities, Rail Infrastructure, Rail Proposed State Local Total UTA
Systems) Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
Vehicles
43| Bus Replacement™ 11,307,289 11,274,289 33,000 11,307,289
44{f Van Pool Replacement 1,424,498 1,424,498 - 1,424,498
45| Paratransit Vehicle Replacment 3,125,376 3,092,376 33,000 3,125,376
46| Bus Engine/Transmission/Component Rehab/Replacement 3,000,000 2,400,000 600,000 600,000
47| Light Rail Vehicle Rehab™ 2,750,000 2,750,000 2,750,000
48| Commuter Rail Vehicle Rehab* 5,563,000 763,779 4,799,221 4,799,221
49| Non-Rev Service Vehicle Replacement 650,000 650,000 650,000
50| LRV Accident Repair* 980,000 980,000 980,000
Vehicles Total 28,800,163 - 3,163,779 15,791,163 - 9,845,221 25,636,384
Facilities
51|l Facilities Rehab and Replacement (See Facilities Tab) 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
52| Equipment Managed Reserve (See Equipment Tab) 500,000 500,000 500,000
53| Stations and Platforms Rehab and Replacement 250,000 250,000 250,000
54| Park and Ride Rehab and Replacement 750,000 750,000 750,000
Facilities Total 3,500,000 - - - 3,500,000 3,500,000
Rail Infrastructure
55| Rail Rehab and Replacement 250,000 250,000 250,000
56|| Ballast and Ties Rehab and Replacement 250,000 250,000 250,000
57| Bridge Rehabilitation & Maintenance 300,000 300,000 300,000
58|| Grade Crossings Rehab and Replacement 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
59| Switches and Special Trackwork Rehab/Replacement** 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
Rail Infrastructure Total 3,800,000 - - - 3,800,000 3,800,000
Rail Systems
60| Traction Power Rehab and Replacement** 4,000,000 4,000,000 - 4,000,000
61| Train Control Rehab and Replacement 250,000 250,000 250,000
62| Rail Switches & Trackwork Controls - Rehab/Replacement 200,000 200,000 200,000
63| Stray Current Mitigation 300,000 300,000 300,000
64| Ticket Vending Machines - - -
65| OCS Rehab and Replacement** 500,000 500,000 500,000
Rail Systems Total 5,250,000 4,000,000 - - 1,250,000 5,250,000
Total Asset Management 41,350,163 4,000,000 3,163,779 15,791,163 - 18,395,221 38,186,384




2022

Proposed State Local Total UTA
Capital Development Projects Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
66|| Airport Station Relocation* - -
67| 3300/3500 South MAX Expansion & Optimization - -
68|[ Clearfield FR Station Trail - -
79|| SL UZA Bus Bike Rack Expansion - -
70| Depot District* 496,588 496,588 -
71) Ogden/Weber State University BRT Design* 18,787,000 18,787,000 =
72| TIGER Program of Projects* - - -
73| Box Elder Right of Way Preservation 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000
74] Weber Cnty CR ROW Preservation - -
75| Signal Pre-emption Projects w/UDOT 500,000 500,000 =
76(|  Point of Mountain AA/EIS - - -
77| Office Equipment Reserve 100,000 100,000 100,000
78| Positive Train Control* 801,808 801,808 801,808
79| UVU Ped Bridge - - -
80| Operator Shack at University Medical EOL - -
81| Northern Utah County Double Track - - -
82| Bus Stop Imp - System-Wide ADA 1,000,000 800,000 200,000 200,000
83| Wayfinding Signage Plan - S-line and TRAX 1,250,000 200,000 1,050,000 1,050,000
84| Operator Restrooms throughout system 750,000 150,000 600,000 - 150,000
85| Layton FrontRunner Parking Garage - -
86 Turn-back Track at Union Interlocking - - -
87| 5600 West BRT 536,308 500,000 36,308 36,308
Total Capital Development Projects 28,221,704 150,000 21,383,588 - 500,000 6,188,116 6,338,116
2022
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Salt Lake County 4th Quarter Capital Projects Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
88|l 20 Electric Buses/Infrastructure for SL County Service* -
89([ North Temple EOL -
90| UofUEOL -
91| Fort Union EOL -
92| 5600 W/4500 S EOL -
93|l Depot District support -
94 Meadowbrook Expansion* -
95| Operator Restrooms- Salt Lake County - -
96| Bus Stop Improvements and signage - SL County 1,575,000 1,575,000 1,575,000
97| SGR for TRAX (to be used for LRV overhaul project)* 7,350,000 7,350,000 7,350,000
Total Salt Lake County 4th Quarter Capital Projects 8,925,000 > > - 8,925,000 8,925,000
Total Overall Capital Budget 83,331,867 4,150,000 24,547,367 15,791,163 - 500,000 38,343,337 58,184,500
Total Budget without Salt Lake County 4th Q projects
2022
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
Summary
Revenue Service Vehicles & white fleet 16,507,163 - - 15,791,163 - 716,000 16,507,163
Information Technology 4,045,000 - - 4,045,000 4,045,000
Facilities, Maintenance & Admin, Safety Equipment 4,290,000 - - - 4,290,000 4,290,000
Rail Maintenance Projects 16,400,000 4,000,000 - - 12,400,000 16,400,000
Vehicles - Rehab/Repair 12,293,000 - 3,163,779 - 9,129,221 9,129,221
Airport LRT - - - -
Depot District 496,588 - 496,588 - -
Ogden/Weber BRT 18,787,000 - 18,787,000 - - - -
Other Capital Projects 10,513,116 150,000 2,100,000 - - 500,000 7,763,116 7,913,116
83,331,867 4,150,000 24,547,367 15,791,163 - 500,000 38,343,337 58,284,500
* Capital project funding assured through 2022 20,085,396 - 19,283,588 - - - 801,808 801,808
**State of Good Repair project funding assured through 2022 33,450,289 4,000,000 763,779 11,274,289 - - 17,412,221 32,686,510




UTA 5-Year Capital Plan: 2023 Project Details

2023
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Project Name Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
Information Technology
1f[ E Voucher Software Development (pending grant) - - -
2|l In-house Application Development & Enhancements 200,000 200,000 200,000
3| New MS SQL Server Licenses 50,000 50,000 50,000
4| Radio Communication Infrastructure 100,000 100,000 100,000
5| Server, Storage Infrastructure Equipment and Software 200,000 200,000 200,000
6/ Rail Communication On-Board Technology 150,000 150,000 150,000
7| Info Security Equip & SW (PCI Compliance & Cyber Security) 440,000 440,000 440,000
8|l Bus Communication On-Board Technology 250,000 250,000 250,000
9| IT Managed Reserved (formerly IT Pool) 400,000 400,000 400,000
10| Network & Infrastructure Equipment 400,000 400,000 400,000
11f| FrontRunner WiFi Enhancements 150,000 150,000 150,000
12|[ Init APC Upgrade - -
13[| TVM for UVX (Needed if Free Fare ends) 5 5
14| SSBU Radio System Install/subcontract fleet only - -
15| SSBU Mobility Eligibility Center Trapeze Software - -
16| Electronic Fare Collection Maintenance & Replacement - - -
17| MDC Redesign Hardware Replacement 500,000 500,000 500,000
18|[ OWATS and OBOTS Enhancements - -
19|| Passenger Info Improvements - -
20|| Enhanced Laserfiche (SIRE Replacement) - -
21| Trapeze Enhancements - -
22| New Radio Communication System - -
23|l Rail TYM SOGR - PCI Compliance - -
24| Email Infrastructure End of Life - -
25| Microsoft Office Suite End of Life - -
26| Windows Server Software Licenses - -
27| PA on TRAX Platform - -
28|l ArcGIS GeoEvent Server for Live Data - - -
Total Information Technology 2,840,000 - - - 2,840,000 2,840,000
2023
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Safety & Security/Police Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
Safety & Security
29|| Corridor Fencing 50,000 50,000 50,000
30| Camera Sustainability 50,000 50,000 50,000
31j[ Access Control for Data Rooms - -
32| Bus Camera Overhaul/Replacement - - -
33|l Bus Safety and Security 30,000 30,000 30,000
34 Camera, door locks, and badge scanners for 4200 parts - - -
35| Emergency Operations Training 15,000 15,000 15,000
36|| Facility Security 50,000 50,000 50,000
37| Next Crossing Camera Installation 40,000 40,000 40,000
38| Safety General Projects 100,000 100,000 100,000
39|| Security General Projects 20,000 20,000 20,000
Safety & Security Total 355,000 - - - 355,000 355,000
Police
40 Ballistic Vest Replacement 15,000 15,000 15,000
41|[ Vehicle Replacement/Expansion 240,000 240,000 240,000
42| Tasers
Police Total 255,000 - - - 255,000 255,000
Total Safety & Security 610,000 - - - 610,000 610,000
2023
Asset Management (Vehicles, Facilities, Rail Infrastructure, Rail Proposed State Local Total UTA
Systems) Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
Vehicles
43| Bus Replacement* 34,090,373 34,057,373 33,000 34,090,373
44 Van Pool Replacement 1,270,960 1,270,960 - 1,270,960
45| Paratransit Vehicle Replacment 3,199,593 3,166,593 33,000 3,199,593
46(  Bus Engine/Transmission/Component Rehab/Replacement 3,000,000 2,400,000 600,000 600,000
47| Light Rail Vehicle Rehab** 2,900,000 2,900,000 2,900,000
48| Commuter Rail Vehicle Rehab** 5,209,000 950,000 4,259,000 4,259,000
49| Non-Rev Service Vehicle Replacement 350,000 350,000 350,000
50| LRV Accident Repair** - -
Vehicles Total 50,019,926 - 3,350,000 38,494,926 - 8,175,000 46,669,926
Facilities
51| Facilities Rehab and Replacement (See Facilities Tab) 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
52| Equipment Managed Reserve (See Equipment Tab) 500,000 500,000 500,000
53| Stations and Platforms Rehab and Replacement 250,000 250,000 250,000
54 Park and Ride Rehab and Replacement 500,000 500,000 500,000
Facilities Total 2,250,000 - - - 2,250,000 2,250,000
Rail Infrastructure
55| Rail Rehab and Replacement 375,000 375,000 375,000
56| Ballast and Ties Rehab and Replacement 250,000 250,000 250,000
57| Bridge Rehabilitation & Maintenance 300,000 300,000 300,000
58|| Grade Crossings Rehab and Replacement 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
59| Switches and Special Trackwork Rehab/Replacement** 250,000 250,000 250,000
Rail Infrastructure Total 2,175,000 - - - 2,175,000 2,175,000
Rail Systems
60| Traction Power Rehab and Replacement** 4,000,000 4,000,000 - 4,000,000
61| Train Control Rehab and Replacement 500,000 500,000 500,000
62 Rail Switches & Trackwork Controls - Rehab/Replacement 200,000 200,000 200,000
63| Stray Current Mitigation 300,000 300,000 300,000
64| Ticket Vending Machines - - -
65| OCS Rehab and Replacement** 500,000 500,000 500,000
Rail Systems Total 5,500,000 4,000,000 - - 1,500,000 5,500,000
Total Asset Management 59,944,926 4,000,000 3,350,000 38,494,926 - 14,100,000 56,594,926




2023

Proposed State Local Total UTA
Capital Development Projects Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other Funds
66| Airport Station Relocation* - - -
67| 3300/3500 South MAX Expansion & Optimization - - -
68|| Clearfield FR Station Trail - - -
79| SL UZA Bus Bike Rack Expansion - - -
70[| Depot District* - - -
71)| Ogden/Weber State University BRT Design* - - -
72|| TIGER Program of Projects* - - -
73| Box Elder Right of Way Preservation 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
74| Weber Cnty CR ROW Preservation - - -
75| Signal Pre-emption Projects w/UDOT - - -
76|| Point of Mountain AA/EIS - - -
77| Office Equipment Reserve 100,000 100,000 100,000
78|| Positive Train Control* - - -
79| UVU Ped Bridge - - -
80|| Operator Shack at University Medical EOL - - -
81| Northern Utah County Double Track - - -
82[| Bus Stop Imp - System-Wide ADA 1,000,000 800,000 200,000 200,000
83[ Wayfinding Signage Plan - S-line and TRAX 1,350,000 200,000 1,150,000 1,150,000
84| Operator Restrooms throughout system 750,000 150,000 600,000 - 150,000
85| Layton FrontRunner Parking Garage 4,700,000 2,000,000 2,700,000 - -
86| Turn-back Track at Union Interlocking - - -
87[| 5600 West BRT 1,608,924 1,500,000 108,924 108,924
Total Capital Development Projects 11,508,924 150,000 5,100,000 - 2,700,000 3,558,924 3,708,924
2023
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Salt Lake County 4th Quarter Capital Projects Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
88|| 20 Electric Buses/Infrastructure for SL County Service* - -
89| North Temple EOL - -
90 Uof UEOL - -
91| Fort Union EOL - -
92[ 5600 W/4500 S EOL - -
93|| Depot District support - -
94| Meadowbrook Expansion* - -
95| Operator Restrooms- Salt Lake County - -
96| Bus Stop Improvements and signage - SL County 1,653,750 1,653,750 1,653,750
97| SGR for TRAX (to be used for LRV overhaul project)** 7,717,500 7,717,500 7,717,500
Total Salt Lake County 4th Quarter Capital Projects 9,371,250 = g g g 9,371,250 9,371,250
Total Overall Capital Budget 84,275,100 4,150,000 8,450,000 38,494,926 - 2,700,000 30,480,174 73,125,100
Total Budget without Salt Lake County 4th Q projects
2023
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other| Funds
Summary
Revenue Service Vehicles & white fleet 38,910,926 - - 38,494,926 - 416,000 38,910,926
Information Technology 2,840,000 - - - 2,840,000 2,840,000
Facilities, Maintenance & Admin, Safety Equipment 2,860,000 - - - 2,860,000 2,860,000
Rail Maintenance Projects 15,392,500 4,000,000 - - 11,392,500 15,392,500
Vehicles - Rehab/Repair 11,109,000 - 3,350,000 - 7,759,000 7,759,000
Airport LRT - - - - -
Depot District - - - - - -
Ogden/Weber BRT - - - - - - -
Other Capital Projects 13,162,674 150,000 5,100,000 - - 2,700,000 5,212,674 5,362,674
84,275,100 4,150,000 8,450,000 38,494,926 - 2,700,000 30,480,174 73,125,100

* Capital project funding assured through 2022
**State of Good Repair project funding assured through 2022




UTA 5-Year Capital Plan: 2024 Project Details

2024
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Project Name Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other Funds
Information Technology
1f[ E Voucher Software Development (pending grant) - - -
2|l In-house Application Development & Enhancements 200,000 200,000 200,000
3| New MS SQL Server Licenses 50,000 50,000 50,000
4| Radio Communication Infrastructure 100,000 100,000 100,000
5| Server, Storage Infrastructure Equipment and Software 480,000 480,000 480,000
6/ Rail Communication On-Board Technology 150,000 150,000 150,000
7| Info Security Equip & SW (PCI Compliance & Cyber Security) 300,000 300,000 300,000
8|l Bus Communication On-Board Technology 150,000 150,000 150,000
9| IT Managed Reserved (formerly IT Pool) 400,000 400,000 400,000
10| Network & Infrastructure Equipment 200,000 200,000 200,000
11f| FrontRunner WiFi Enhancements 200,000 200,000 200,000
12|[ Init APC Upgrade - -
13[| TVM for UVX (Needed if Free Fare ends) .
14| SSBU Radio System Install/subcontract fleet only - -
15| SSBU Mobility Eligibility Center Trapeze Software -
16| Electronic Fare Collection Maintenance & Replacement - - -
17| MDC Redesign Hardware Replacement 250,000 250,000 250,000
18|[ OWATS and OBOTS Enhancements - -
19|| Passenger Info Improvements -
20|| Enhanced Laserfiche (SIRE Replacement) - -
21| Trapeze Enhancements
22| New Radio Communication System - -
23|l Rail TYM SOGR - PCI Compliance -
24| Email Infrastructure End of Life - -
25| Microsoft Office Suite End of Life -
26| Windows Server Software Licenses - -
27| PA on TRAX Platform -
28|l ArcGIS GeoEvent Server for Live Data - - -
Total Information Technology 2,480,000 - 2,480,000 2,480,000
2024
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Safety & Security/Police Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other Funds
Safety & Security
29|| Corridor Fencing 50,000 50,000 50,000
30| Camera Sustainability 50,000 50,000 50,000
31j[ Access Control for Data Rooms =
32| Bus Camera Overhaul/Replacement - - -
33|l Bus Safety and Security 30,000 30,000 30,000
34 Camera, door locks, and badge scanners for 4200 parts - - -
35| Emergency Operations Training 15,000 15,000 15,000
36|| Facility Security 50,000 50,000 50,000
37| Next Crossing Camera Installation 40,000 40,000 40,000
38| Safety General Projects 100,000 100,000 100,000
39|| Security General Projects 20,000 20,000 20,000
Safety & Security Total 355,000 - - - - 355,000 355,000
Police
40 Ballistic Vest Replacement 15,000 15,000 15,000
41|[ Vehicle Replacement/Expansion 240,000 240,000 240,000
42| Tasers
Police Total 255,000 - - - - 255,000 255,000
Total Safety & Security 610,000 - - - - 610,000 610,000
2024
Asset Management (Vehicles, Facilities, Rail Infrastructure, Rail Proposed State Local Total UTA
Systems) Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other Funds
Vehicles
43| Bus Replacement** 48,087,376 48,054,376 33,000 48,087,376
44 Van Pool Replacement 1,423,240 1,423,240 - 1,423,240
45| Paratransit Vehicle Replacment 3,275,592 3,242,592 33,000 3,275,592
46(  Bus Engine/Transmission/Component Rehab/Replacement 3,000,000 2,400,000 600,000 600,000
47| Light Rail Vehicle Rehab** 3,100,000 3,100,000 3,100,000
48[l Commuter Rail Vehicle Rehab** 4,756,000 4,756,000 4,756,000
49| Non-Rev Service Vehicle Replacement 350,000 350,000 350,000
50| LRV Accident Repair** - -
Vehicles Total 63,992,208 - 2,400,000 52,720,208 - 8,872,000 61,592,208
Facilities
51| Facilities Rehab and Replacement (See Facilities Tab) 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
52| Equipment Managed Reserve (See Equipment Tab) 500,000 500,000 500,000
53| Stations and Platforms Rehab and Replacement 250,000 250,000 250,000
54 Park and Ride Rehab and Replacement 750,000 750,000 750,000
Facilities Total 2,500,000 - 2,500,000 2,500,000
Rail Infrastructure
55| Rail Rehab and Replacement 750,000 750,000 750,000
56| Ballast and Ties Rehab and Replacement 250,000 250,000 250,000
57| Bridge Rehabilitation & Maintenance 300,000 300,000 300,000
58|| Grade Crossings Rehab and Replacement 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
59| Switches and Special Trackwork Rehab/Replacement** 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
Rail Infrastructure Total 3,300,000 - 3,300,000 3,300,000
Rail Systems
60| Traction Power Rehab and Replacement** 4,000,000 4,000,000 - 4,000,000
61| Train Control Rehab and Replacement 500,000 500,000 500,000
62 Rail Switches & Trackwork Controls - Rehab/Replacement 200,000 200,000 200,000
63| Stray Current Mitigation 600,000 600,000 600,000
64| Ticket Vending Machines - - -
65| OCS Rehab and Replacement** 500,000 500,000 500,000
Rail Systems Total 5,800,000 4,000,000 - - - 1,800,000 5,800,000
Total Asset Management 75,592,208 4,000,000 2,400,000 52,720,208 - 16,472,000 73,192,208




2024

Proposed State Local Total UTA
Capital Development Projects Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other Funds
66| Airport Station Relocation* - -
67| 3300/3500 South MAX Expansion & Optimization - - -
68|| Clearfield FR Station Trail - -
79| SL UZA Bus Bike Rack Expansion - - -
70[| Depot District* - -
71)| Ogden/Weber State University BRT Design* - - -
72|| TIGER Program of Projects* - - -
73| Box Elder Right of Way Preservation 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
74| Weber Cnty CR ROW Preservation - - -
75| Signal Pre-emption Projects w/UDOT - - -
76|| Point of Mountain AA/EIS - - -
77| Office Equipment Reserve 100,000 100,000 100,000
78|| Positive Train Control* - - -
79| UVU Ped Bridge - - -
80|| Operator Shack at University Medical EOL - -
81| Northern Utah County Double Track - - -
82[| Bus Stop Imp - System-Wide ADA 1,000,000 800,000 200,000 200,000
83[ Wayfinding Signage Plan - S-line and TRAX 1,500,000 200,000 1,300,000 1,300,000
84| Operator Restrooms throughout system 750,000 150,000 600,000 150,000
85| Layton FrontRunner Parking Garage - - -
86| Turn-back Track at Union Interlocking - -
87[| 5600 West BRT - - -
Total Capital Development Projects 5,350,000 150,000 1,600,000 - 3,600,000 3,750,000
2024
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Salt Lake County 4th Quarter Capital Projects Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other Funds
88|| 20 Electric Buses/Infrastructure for SL County Service* - -
89| North Temple EOL -
90 Uof UEOL - -
91| Fort Union EOL -
92[ 5600 W/4500 S EOL - -
93|| Depot District support -
94| Meadowbrook Expansion* - -
95| Operator Restrooms- Salt Lake County - -
96| Bus Stop Improvements and signage - SL County 1,736,438 1,736,438 1,736,438
97| SGR for TRAX (to be used for LRV overhaul project)** 8,103,375 8,103,375 8,103,375
Total Salt Lake County 4th Quarter Capital Projects 9,839,813 - - - - 9,839,813 9,839,813
Total Overall Capital Budget 93,872,021 4,150,000 4,000,000 52,720,208 - - 33,001,813 89,872,021
Total Budget without Salt Lake County 4th Q projects
2024
Proposed State Local Total UTA
Budget Bonds Grants Lease Funding Partners | UTA Other Funds
Summary
Revenue Service Vehicles & white fleet 53,136,208 - 52,720,208 - 416,000 53,136,208
Information Technology 2,480,000 - 2,480,000 2,480,000
Facilities, Maintenance & Admin, Safety Equipment 3,110,000 - - 3,110,000 3,110,000
Rail Maintenance Projects 17,203,375 4,000,000 - - 13,203,375 17,203,375
Vehicles - Rehab/Repair 10,856,000 - 2,400,000 - 8,456,000 8,456,000
Airport LRT - -
Depot District - - - -
Ogden/Weber BRT - - - - - -
Other Capital Projects 7,086,438 150,000 1,600,000 - - 5,336,438 5,486,438
93,872,021 4,150,000 4,000,000 52,720,208 - 33,001,813 89,872,021

* Capital project funding assured through 2022
**State of Good Repair project funding assured through 2022




UTA 5-Year Capital Plan: 2020-2024 Total Details

5-Year
Proposed Total 5-yr Total 5-yr Total 5-yr | Total 5-yr | Total 5-yr Total 5-yr [ Total UTA
Project Name Budget Bond Grant Lease State Local UTA Other | 5-yr Funds
Information Technology
1f[ E Voucher Software Development (pending grant) 757,838 - 757,838 - -
2|l In-house Application Development & Enhancements 1,400,000 - 1,400,000 1,400,000
3| New MS SQL Server Licenses 345,000 - 345,000 345,000
4| Radio Communication Infrastructure 600,000 - 600,000 600,000
5| Server, Storage Infrastructure Equipment and Software 1,630,000 - 1,630,000 1,630,000
6/ Rail Communication On-Board Technology 950,000 - 950,000 950,000
7| Info Security Equip & SW (PCI Compliance & Cyber Security) 1,864,000 - 1,864,000 1,864,000
8|l Bus Communication On-Board Technology 1,350,000 - 1,350,000 1,350,000
9| IT Managed Reserved (formerly IT Pool) 1,890,000 - 1,890,000 1,890,000
10| Network & Infrastructure Equipment 1,700,000 - 1,700,000 1,700,000
11f| FrontRunner WiFi Enhancements 800,000 - 800,000 800,000
12 Init APC Upgrade 540,000 - 540,000 540,000
13|| TVM for UVX (Needed if Free Fare ends) o - - -
14| SSBU Radio System Install/subcontract fleet only 170,000 - 170,000 170,000
15[  SSBU Mobility Eligibility Center Trapeze Software 165,000 - - 165,000 165,000
16| Electronic Fare Collection Maintenance & Replacement 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000
17| MDC Redesign Hardware Replacement 2,100,000 - 2,100,000 2,100,000
18|[ OWATS and OBOTS Enhancements - - -
19|| Passenger Info Improvements - - - -
20|| Enhanced Laserfiche (SIRE Replacement) - - -
21| Trapeze Enhancements - - - -
22| New Radio Communication System - - - - -
23|[ Rail TVM SOGR - PCI Compliance 7,800,000 - 7,800,000 - 7,800,000
24| Email Infrastructure End of Life 120,000 - 120,000 120,000
25| Microsoft Office Suite End of Life 350,000 - 350,000 350,000
26| Windows Server Software Licenses 220,000 - 220,000 220,000
27| PA on TRAX Platform - - - -
28|l ArcGIS GeoEvent Server for Live Data 50,000 - - - 50,000 50,000
Total Information Technology 29,801,838 - 757,838 12,800,000 16,244,000 29,044,000
5-Year
Proposed Total 5-yr Total 5-yr Total 5-yr | Total 5-yr | Total 5-yr Total 5-yr | Total UTA
Safety & Security/Police Budget Bond Grant Lease State Local UTA Other | 5-yr Funds
Safety & Security
29|| Corridor Fencing 250,000 - 250,000 250,000
30| Camera Sustainability 250,000 - 250,000 250,000
31j[ Access Control for Data Rooms 20,000 - 20,000 20,000
32| Bus Camera Overhaul/Replacement 320,000 - 320,000 320,000
33|[ Bus Safety and Security 150,000 - 150,000 150,000
34| Camera, door locks, and badge scanners for 4200 parts 15,000 - 15,000 15,000
35| Emergency Operations Training 75,000 - 75,000 75,000
36|| Facility Security 250,000 - 250,000 250,000
37| Next Crossing Camera Installation 200,000 - 200,000 200,000
38|| Safety General Projects 500,000 - 500,000 500,000
39|| Security General Projects 100,000 - 100,000 100,000
Safety & Security Total 2,130,000 - 2,130,000 2,130,000
Police
40 Ballistic Vest Replacement 75,000 - 75,000 75,000
41 Vehicle Replacement/Expansion 1,200,000 - 1,200,000 1,200,000
42| Tasers 100,000 - 100,000
Police Total 1,375,000 - 1,375,000 1,275,000
Total Safety & Security 3,505,000 - 3,505,000 3,405,000
5-Year
Asset Management (Vehicles, Facilities, Rail Infrastructure, Rail Proposed Total 5-yr Total 5-yr Total 5-yr | Total 5-yr | Total 5-yr Total 5-yr | Total 5-yr
Systems) Budget Bond Grant Lease State Local UTA Other | UTA Funds
Vehicles
43| Bus Replacement* 144,756,612 - 2,775,830 | 141,614,211 366,571 141,980,782
44 Van Pool Replacement 7,617,198 - 7,617,198 - 7,617,198
45 Paratransit Vehicle Replacment 15,635,580 - - 15,470,580 165,000 15,635,580
46(  Bus Engine/Transmission/Component Rehab/Replacement 12,000,000 - 7,200,000 4,800,000 4,800,000
47| Light Rail Vehicle Rehab** 14,118,850 - - 14,118,850 14,118,850
48| Commuter Rail Vehicle Rehab** 21,791,779 - 3,287,147 18,504,632 18,504,632
49(  Non-Rev Service Vehicle Replacement 1,750,000 - 1,750,000 1,750,000
50| LRV Accident Repair** 4,480,000 4,480,000 4,480,000
Vehicles Total 222,150,019 - 13,262,977 | 164,701,989 44,185,053 208,887,042
Facilities
51| Facilities Rehab and Replacement (See Facilities Tab) 6,000,000 - 6,000,000 6,000,000
52| Equipment Managed Reserve (See Equipment Tab) 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 2,000,000
53| Stations and Platforms Rehab and Replacement 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 1,000,000
54 Park and Ride Rehab and Replacement 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 3,000,000
Facilities Total 12,000,000 - 12,000,000 12,000,000
Rail Infrastructure
55| Rail Rehab and Replacement 1,875,000 - 1,875,000 1,875,000
56| Ballast and Ties Rehab and Replacement 1,250,000 - 1,250,000 1,250,000
57| Bridge Rehabilitation & Maintenance 1,850,000 - 1,850,000 1,850,000
58|| Grade Crossings Rehab and Replacement 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 5,000,000
59| Switches and Special Trackwork Rehab/Replacement** 3,250,000 - 3,250,000 3,250,000
Rail Infrastructure Total 13,225,000 - 13,225,000 13,225,000
Rail Systems
60| Traction Power Rehab and Replacement** 16,550,000 16,550,000 - 16,550,000
61| Train Control Rehab and Replacement 1,750,000 - 1,750,000 1,750,000
62 Rail Switches & Trackwork Controls - Rehab/Replacement 950,000 - 950,000 950,000
63|| Stray Current Mitigation 2,100,000 - 2,100,000 2,100,000
64 Ticket Vending Machines - - - -
65|| OCS Rehab and Replacement** 2,500,000 - 2,500,000 2,500,000
Rail Systems Total 23,850,000 16,550,000 7,300,000 23,850,000
Total Asset Management 271,225,019 16,550,000 13,262,977 | 164,701,989 76,710,053 257,962,042




5-Year

Proposed Total 5-yr Total 5-yr Total 5-yr | Total 5-yr | Total 5-yr Total 5-yr | Total 5-yr
Capital Development Projects Budget Bond Grant Lease State Local UTA Other | UTA Funds
66| Airport Station Relocation* 18,550,000 - - 18,550,000 18,550,000
67(| 3300/3500 South MAX Expansion & Optimization 2,735,172 - 2,550,000 - 185,172 185,172
68| Clearfield FR Station Trail 1,501,663 - 1,400,000 101,663 - -
79[| SL UZA Bus Bike Rack Expansion 35,609 - 33,198 - 2,411 2,411
70[| Depot District* 44,780,092 31,850,000 7,930,092 5,000,000 - - 31,850,000
71f Ogden/Weber State University BRT Design* 91,974,076 12,320,080 70,503,996 - 9,150,000 - 12,320,080
72[| TIGER Program of Projects* 13,028,294 - 6,323,372 6,658,556 46,366 46,366
73| Box Elder Right of Way Preservation 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000 10,000,000
74| Weber Cnty CR ROW Preservation 2,500,000 - 2,500,000 - -
75| Signal Pre-emption Projects w/UDOT 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 - -
76( Point of Mountain AA/EIS 3,000,000 - 2,400,000 400,000 200,000 200,000
77| Office Equipment Reserve 500,000 - - - 500,000 500,000
78| Positive Train Control* 2,601,808 - 2,601,808 2,601,808
79[| UVU Ped Bridge 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 2,000,000
80|| Operator Shack at University Medical EOL 350,000 - - 350,000 350,000
81| Northern Utah County Double Track 10,000,000 9,500,000 - 500,000 - 9,500,000
82[| Bus Stop Imp - System-Wide ADA 5,000,000 - 4,000,000 - 1,000,000 1,000,000
83| Wayfinding Signage Plan - S-line and TRAX 5,225,000 - 600,000 4,625,000 4,625,000
84| Operator Restrooms throughout system 3,250,000 650,000 2,600,000 - - 650,000
85| Layton FrontRunner Parking Garage 4,700,000 - 2,000,000 2,700,000 - -
86| Turn-back Track at Union Interlocking - - - - - -
87[| 5600 West BRT 2,145,232 - 2,000,000 - - 145,232 145,232
Total Capital Development Projects 225,376,946 54,320,080 99,940,658 7,400,000 23,510,219 40,205,989 94,526,069
5-Year
Proposed Total 5-yr Total 5-yr Total 5-yr | Total 5-yr | Total 5-yr Total 5-yr | Total UTA
Salt Lake County 4th Quarter Capital Projects Budget Bond Grant Lease State Local UTA Other | 5-yr Funds
88|| 20 Electric Buses/Infrastructure for SL County Service* 27,079,240 - 13,079,240 14,000,000 - - 14,000,000
89| North Temple EOL 3,400,000 - - 1,400,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
90 Uof UEOL 2,950,000 - 2,500,000 - 450,000 450,000
91 Fort Union EOL 3,500,000 - 3,500,000 3,500,000
92[ 5600 W/4500 S EOL 3,500,000 - 3,500,000 3,500,000
93|| Depot District support 3,850,000 - 3,850,000 3,850,000
94| Meadowbrook Expansion* 3,900,000 - 3,900,000 3,900,000
95| Operator Restrooms- Salt Lake County 600,000 - 600,000 600,000
96| Bus Stop Improvements and signage - SL County 8,965,188 - 8,965,188 8,965,188
97| SGR for TRAX (to be used for LRV overhaul project)** 37,170,875 - - - - 37,170,875 37,170,875
Total Salt Lake County 4th Quarter Capital Projects 94,915,303 15,579,240 14,000,000 1,400,000 63,936,063 77,936,063
Total Overall Capital Budget 624,824,105 70,870,080 129,540,713 | 191,501,989 7,400,000 24,910,219 200,601,104 462,873,173
Total Budget without Salt Lake County 4th Q projects
5-Year
Proposed Total 5-yr Total 5-yr Total 5-yr | Total 5-yr | Total 5-yr | Total 5-yr | Total UTA
Budget Bond Grant Lease State Local UTA Other | 5-yr Funds
Summary
Revenue Service Vehicles & white fleet 169,759,390 - 2,775,830 | 164,701,989 2,281,571 166,983,560
Information Technology 29,801,838 - 757,838 12,800,000 16,244,000 29,044,000
Facilities, Maintenance & Admin, Safety Equipment 15,505,000 - 15,505,000 15,505,000
Rail Maintenance Projects 74,245,875 16,550,000 - 57,695,875 74,245,875
Vehicles - Rehab/Repair 52,390,629 - 10,487,147 41,903,482 41,903,482
Airport LRT 18,550,000 - - - 18,550,000 18,550,000
Depot District 48,630,092 31,850,000 7,930,092 5,000,000 - 3,850,000 35,700,000
Ogden/Weber BRT 91,974,076 12,320,080 70,503,996 - - 9,150,000 - 12,320,080
Other Capital Projects 123,967,206 10,150,000 37,085,810 14,000,000 2,400,000 15,760,219 44,571,177 68,721,177
624,824,105 70,870,080 129,540,713 | 191,501,989 7,400,000 24,910,219 200,601,104 462,973,173
* Capital project funding assured through 2022 201,913,510 44,170,080 97,836,700 14,000,000 5,000,000 15,808,556 25,098,174 83,268,254
**State of Good Repair project funding assured through 2022 120,404,492 8,550,000 5,112,977 59,502,462 - - 47,239,053 115,291,515




MEMORANDUM TO THE BOARD

TO: Utah Transit Authority Board of Trustees
THROUGH: Carolyn Gonot, Executive Director
FROM: Bob Biles, UTA Chief Financial Officer

PRESENTER(S): Bob Biles

BOARD MEETING DATE: October 9, 2019

SUBJECT: Agenda Number 8.
R2019-10-03 Resolution Authorizing the Issuance and sale by the Authority of its Sales
Tax Revenue and Refunding Bonds in the Aggregate Principal Amount of not to Exceed

$540,000,000; and Related Matters

AGENDA ITEM TYPE: Resolution

DISCUSSION: See attached resolution and exhibits.

ATTACHMENTS: 1) R2019-10-03 with exhibits



RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE UTAH
TRANSIT AUTHORITY (THE “AUTHORITY”) AUTHORIZING THE
ISSUANCE AND SALE BY THE AUTHORITY OF ITS SALES TAX
REVENUE AND REFUNDING BONDS IN THE AGGREGATE
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF NOT TO EXCEED $540,000,000; AND
RELATED MATTERS.

R2019-10-03 October 9, 2019

WHEREAS, the Utah Transit Authority (the “Authority”) is a large public
transit district organized under the laws of the State of Utah and was created to
transact and exercise all of the powers provided for in the Utah Limited Purpose
Local Government Entities — Local Districts Act and the Utah Public Transit District
Act; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of the Public Transit District Act
(Utah Code § 17B-2a-801, et seq., the Local Government Bonding Act, Utah Code
§11-14-101, et seq., Utah Refunding Bond Act, Utah Code § 11-27-1, et seq.
(collectively, the “Act”), the Board of Trustees (the “Board”) of the Utah Transit
Authority (the “Authority”) has authority to issue bonds of the Authority to finance
and refinance any improvements, facilities or property which the Authority is
authorized to acquire for use in the Authority’s public transit system (the “System”)
located within the boundaries of its transit district (the “Transit District”); and

WHEREAS, the Board has previously issued various series of its sales tax
revenue bonds (collectively, the “Outstanding Bonds”), for the purpose of financing
and refinancing improvements and additions to the System; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of the Act, the Board desires to issue
bonds to (i) finance a portion of the costs associated with the design, acquisition
and construction of capital improvements and related equipment, property and
improvements for use in the System (the “Series 2019 Project”), (ii) refund a
portion of the Outstanding Bonds (the “Refunded Bonds”), (iii) fund a debt service
reserve fund, if required, and (iv) pay issuance expenses related thereto; and

WHEREAS, in order to accomplish the foregoing, the Authority desires to
issue its Sales Tax Revenue and Refunding Bonds in one or more series, from
time to time, as senior or subordinate bonds, including as capital appreciation
bonds or as short-term bonds intended to be refinanced with proceeds of bonds
also issued under the authorization of this Resolution, and as federally taxable or
tax-exempt bonds, in an aggregate principal amount of not to exceed
$540,000,000 (the “Series 2019 Bonds”), pursuant to (i) the Act, (ii) either (a) the
Amended and Restated General Indenture of Trust, dated as of September 1,
2002, as heretofore amended and supplemented (the “Senior General Indenture”)
or (b) the Subordinate General Indenture of Trust, dated as of July 1, 2006, as
heretofore amended and supplemented (the “Subordinate General Indenture”) and
(iii) one or more Supplemental Indentures of Trust (the “Supplemental Indenture”

4835-5360-0663, v. 4 1



and collectively with the respective Senior General Indenture or Subordinate
General Indenture, the “Indentures”); and

WHEREAS, in accordance with Utah Code § 17B-2a-808.1(5), prior to the
issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds, the Board shall consult with and receive
approval from the State Bonding Commission (the “SBC”) for the issuance of the
Series 2019 Bonds; and

WHEREAS, in accordance with Utah Code §§ 17B-2a-808.1(2) and 17B-
2a-808.2, prior to the issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds, the Board shall create
and approve an annual budget, after consultation with the Local Advisory Council
for the Authority (the “LAC”), which budget includes the issuance of the Series
2019 Bonds and the LAC shall have reviewed, approved and recommended final
adoption of the new capital development projects included in the Series 2019
Project and the funding thereof; and

WHEREAS, there has been presented to the Board at this meeting a form
of (i) a Preliminary Official Statement relating to the Series 2019 Bonds (the
“Preliminary Official Statement”), (ii) Supplemental Indentures, (ii) a Bond
Purchase Agreement (the “Bond Purchase Agreement’), and (iv) an Escrow
Deposit Agreement in the case where the Series 2019 Bonds are issued for
advance refunding purposes (the “Escrow Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the Board desires to authorize and approve the finalization and
use of the Preliminary Official Statement and any other documents deemed
necessary in marketing the Series 2019 Bonds; and

WHEREAS, the Board anticipates, following its meeting with the SBC and
holding a public hearing with respect to the Series 2019 Bonds, adopting a
resolution approving the final terms of the Series 2019 Bonds, however, in order
to allow the Authority, with the advice of its financial advisor, Zions Public Finance,
Inc. (the “Financial Advisor”), flexibility in setting the pricing date or dates of the
Series 2019 Bonds to achieve favorable long-term interest rates, the Board desires
to grant to any two of (i) the Treasurer of the Authority, (ii) the Executive Director
of the Authority and (iii) the Chair of the Board (or in the absence of Chair of the
Board, any other member of the Board) (collectively, the “Designated Officers”) the
authority (without adoption of any additional resolution) to: (a) approve the
principal amounts, interest rates, terms, maturities, redemption features, and
purchase price at which the Series 2019 Bonds shall be sold and whether the
Series 2019 Bonds are issued for refunding purposes and/or to finance the Series
2019 Project and whether the Series 2019 Bonds will bear federally taxable or tax-
exempt interest; and (b) execute the Bond Purchase Agreement; and

NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby resolved by the Board of Trustees of the
Utah Transit Authority, that:

4835-5360-0663, v. 4 2



Section 1. In order to finance the Series 2019 Project, refund the
Refunded Bonds, fund a debt service reserve, if needed, and pay costs of
issuance, the Board hereby finds and determines that it is in the best interests of
the Authority and residents within the Transit District, for the Authority to issue not
more than $540,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the Series 2019 Bonds in
one or more series, from time to time, to bear interest at a rate or rates of not to
exceed five percent (5.0%) per annum, to mature in not more than twenty-six (26)
years from their date or dates, and to be sold at a price not less than ninety-eight
percent (98%) of the total principal amount thereof, all as shall be approved by the
Board by resolution or the Designated Officers without an additional resolution and
within the parameters set forth above (the “Parameters”).

Section 2.  In accordance with Utah Code § 17B-2a-808.1(5), prior to the
issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds, the Board shall consult with and receive
approval from the SBC for the issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds. In addition, in
accordance with Utah Code §§ 17B-2a-808.1(2) and 17B-2a-808.2, prior to the
issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds, the Board shall create and approve an annual
budget, after consultation with the LAC, which budget includes the issuance of the
Series 2019 Bonds for the 2019 Project and the LAC shall have reviewed,
approved and recommended final adoption of the new capital development
projects included in the Series 2019 Project and the funding thereof.

Section 3.  The Board anticipates, following its meeting with the SBC and
holding a public hearing with respect to the Series 2019 Bonds, adopting a
resolution approving the final terms of the Series 2019 Bonds, however, in order
to allow the Authority, with the advice of its Financial Advisor, flexibility in setting
the pricing date or dates of the Series 2019 Bonds to achieve favorable long-term
interest rates, the Designated Officers are hereby authorized (without adoption of
any additional resolution) to specify and agree as to the final principal amounts,
terms, discounts, maturities, interest rates, redemption features, and purchase
price with respect to the Series 2019 Bonds and whether the Series 2019 Bonds
are issued for refunding purposes and/or to finance the Series 2019 Project, and
whether the Series 2019 Bonds will bear federally taxable or tax-exempt interest,
provided that such terms are within the Parameters set by this Resolution. The
determination of the final terms and provisions for the Series 2019 Bonds by the
Board or the Designated Officers shall be evidenced by the execution of the Bond
Purchase Agreement, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit E. The
form of the Bond Purchase Agreement is hereby authorized, approved and
confirmed.

Section4.  The Supplemental Indentures and the Escrow Agreement, in
substantially the forms presented to this meeting and attached hereto as Exhibits
C and F, respectively, are hereby authorized, approved, and confirmed. The Chair
of the Board (the “Chair”) or the Executive Director (the “Executive Director”) and
the Secretary/Treasurer (the “Treasurer’) are hereby authorized to execute and
deliver the Supplemental Indentures and the Escrow Agreement in substantially
the forms and with substantially the content as the forms presented at this meeting

4835-5360-0663, v. 4 3



for and on behalf of the Authority, with final terms as may be established by the
Board or the Designated Officers within the Parameters set forth herein, and with
such alterations, changes or additions as may be necessary or as may be
authorized by Section 11 hereof. The approval of such final documents shall be
conclusively established by the execution of the Supplemental Indentures and the
Escrow Agreement by the Chair or Executive Director and the Treasurer. In the
event that the Board or the Designated Officers determine that all or any portion of
the Series 2019 Bonds should be privately placed, the Bond Purchase Agreement
and Supplemental Indenture may be modified to conform to the agreement with
such purchaser, including agreement to pay breakage fees, default rates, taxable
rates and other similar provisions customary in such placements, and provisions
deemed necessary to issue short-term bonds, provided that such obligations are
limited to the sources provided under the Indenture.

Section 5.  The Board hereby approves and authorizes the utilization of
the Preliminary Official Statement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D in the
marketing of the Series 2019 Bonds and hereby approves the Official Statement
(the “Official Statement”) in substantially the same form as the Preliminary Official
Statement, with any necessary revisions and insertions to complete the same with
the terms established for the Series 2019 Bonds. The Chair or Executive Director
are hereby authorized to execute the Official Statement evidencing approval by
the Authority. The Board or the Designated Officers may elect to privately place
the Series 2019 Bonds with or without the use of an Official Statement.

Section 6.  The form, terms, and provisions of the Series 2019 Bonds and
the provisions for the signatures, authentication, payment, registration, transfer,
exchange, redemption, and number shall be as set forth in the Indenture. The
Chair or Executive Director and Treasurer are hereby authorized and directed to
execute and seal the Series 2019 Bonds and to deliver said Series 2019 Bonds to
the trustee (the “Trustee”) for authentication. The signatures of the Chair or
Executive Director and Treasurer may be by facsimile or manual execution.

Section 7. The appropriate officials of the Authority are hereby
authorized and directed to execute and deliver to the Trustee the written order of
the Authority for authentication and delivery of the Series 2019 Bonds in
accordance with the provisions of the Indenture.

Section 8.  Upon their issuance, the Series 2019 Bonds will constitute
special limited obligations of the Authority payable solely from and to the extent of
the sources set forth in the Series 2019 Bonds and the Indenture. No provision of
this Resolution, the Indenture, the Series 2019 Bonds, or any other instrument,
shall be construed as creating a general obligation of the Authority, or of creating
a general obligation of the State of Utah or any political subdivision thereof, or as
incurring or creating a charge upon the general credit of the Authority or its taxing
powers.

4835-5360-0663, v. 4 4



Section 9.  The appropriate officials of the Authority, and each of them,
are hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver for and on behalf of the
Authority any or all additional certificates, documents and other papers and to
perform all other acts they may deem necessary or appropriate in order to
implement and carry out the matters authorized in this Resolution and the
documents authorized and approved herein.

Section 10. After any of the Series 2019 Bonds are delivered by the
Trustee to the purchaser or underwriter, and upon receipt of payment therefor, this
Resolution shall be and remain irrepealable until the principal of, premium, if any,
and interest on the Series 2019 Bonds are deemed to have been duly discharged
in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Indenture.

Section 11. The appropriate officials of the Authority are authorized to
make any alterations, changes or additions to the Indenture, the Bond Purchase
Agreement, the Series 2019 Bonds, the Preliminary Official Statement, the Official
Statement, the Escrow Agreement or any other document herein authorized and
approved which may be necessary to conform the same to the final terms of the
Series 2019 Bonds (within the Parameters set by this Resolution), to correct errors
or omissions therein, to complete the same, to remove ambiguities therefrom, or
to conform the same to other provisions of said instruments, to the provisions of
this Resolution or any resolution adopted by the Board, the agreement with the
purchaser or underwriter of the Series 2019 Bonds, or the provisions of the laws
of the State of Utah or the United States or to permit the private placement or public
sale of the Series 2019 Bonds, to conform such documents to the terms
established for the Series 2019 Bonds (including as short-term bonds or capital
appreciation bonds) and to update such documents with current information and
practices provided that the obligations of the Authority are limited to the sources
pledged under the Indenture.

Section 12. The Treasurer of the Board shall cause a “Notice of Public
Hearing and Bonds to be Issued” in substantially the form attached hereto as
Exhibit G to be published two (2) times in each of The Salt Lake Tribune, The
Deseret News, Provo Daily Herald, Tooele Transcript Bulletin and the Standard
Examiner, newspapers of general circulation within the Authority’s Transit District,
posted on the Utah Public Notice Website created under Section 63F-1-701, Utah
Code Annotated 1953, as amended, and posted on the Utah Legal Notices website
(www.utahlegals.com) created under Section 45-1-101, Utah Code Annotated
1953, as amended, and shall also cause a copy of this Resolution (together with
all exhibits hereto) to be kept on file in the principal office of the Authority in Salt
Lake City, Utah, for public examination during the regular business hours of the
Authority until at least thirty (30) days from and after the last date of publication
thereof. In addition, the Board shall hold a public hearing with respect to the
issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds (for new money purposes) on October 30, 2019
at 9:00 a.m.

4835-5360-0663, v. 4 5



Section 13. All resolutions or parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the
extent of such conflict, hereby repealed and this Resolution shall be in full force
and effect immediately upon its approval and adoption.

Section 14. The Chief Financial Officer of the Authority has previously
declared the intent and reasonable expectation of the Authority that moneys of the
Authority may be used to pay costs of the Series 2019 Project described herein
and to the extent such amounts are paid by the Authority, the Authority be
reimbursed with proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds described herein or other
bonds of the Authority. The Board hereby ratifies such declaration. Further, the
Authority hereby declares its intention and reasonable expectation to use proceeds
of tax-exempt bonds to reimburse itself for additional expenditures for costs of the
Series 2019 Project. The Series 2019 Bonds are to be issued, and the
reimbursements made, by the later of 18-months after the payment of the costs or
after the Series 2019 Project is placed in service, but in any event, no later than
three years after the date the original expenditure was paid. The maximum
principal amount of the Series 2019 Bonds which will be issued to finance the
reimbursed costs of the Series 2019 Project is not expected to exceed
$75,000,000.

4835-5360-0663, v. 4 6



APPROVED AND ADOPTED this October 9, 2019.

Carlton Christensen,
Chair Board of Trustees

ATTEST:

Robert K. Biles, Secretary/Treasurer

(Corporate Seal)

Approved As To Form:

Legal Counsel

4835-5360-0663, v. 4 S-1



CERTIFICATE

The undersigned duly qualified Chair of the Board of Trustees of the Utah
Transit Authority certifies that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of a
resolution adopted at a legally convened meeting of the Board of Trustees held on
the October 9, 2019.

Chair

ATTEST:

Secretary/Treasurer

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Legal Counsel

4835-5360-0663, v. 4 6



STATE OF UTAH )
. SS.
COUNTY OF SALT LAKE )

I, Robert K. Biles, the duly qualified and acting Secretary/Treasurer of the
Board of Trustees (the “Board”) of the Utah Transit Authority (the “Authority”) do
hereby certify according to the records of the Board in my official possession that
the foregoing constitutes a true and correct excerpt of the minutes of the meeting
of the Board held on the October 9, 2019, including a resolution (the “Resolution”)
adopted at said meeting as said minutes and Resolution are officially of record in
my possession.

| further certify that the Resolution, with all exhibits attached, was deposited
in the principal offices of the Authority on October 9, 2019.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto subscribed my signature and
impressed hereon the official seal of the Authority, this October 9, 2019.

Secretary/Treasurer

(SEAL)

4835-5360-0663, v. 4 7



EXHIBIT A

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH
OPEN MEETING LAW

I, Robert K. Biles, the undersigned Secretary/Treasurer of the Board of
Trustees (the “Board”) of the Utah Transit Authority (the “Authority”), do hereby
certify, according to the records of the Authority in my official possession, and upon
my own knowledge and belief, that in accordance with the requirements of Section
52-4-202, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, not less than twenty-four (24)
hours public notice of the agenda, date, time and place of the October 9, 2019,
public meeting held by the Board was given as follows:

(a) by causing a Notice, in the form attached hereto as Schedule
1 to be posted at the Authority’s principal offices at least twenty-four (24)
hours prior to the convening of the meeting, said Notice having continuously
remained so posted and available for public inspection until the completion
of the meeting;

(b) by causing a copy of such Notice, in the form attached hereto
as Schedule 1 to be delivered at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the
convening of the meeting to the persons, newspapers (at least one of which
is a newspaper of general circulation within the geographic jurisdiction of
the Authority), and media representatives shown on Schedule 1 attached
hereto, as well as to those requesting such notices; and.

(c) by causing a copy of such Notice to be published on the Utah
Public Notice Website (http://pmn.utah.gov) at least twenty-four (24) hours
prior to the convening of the meeting.

In addition, the Notice of 2019 Annual Meeting Schedule for the Board
(attached hereto as Schedule 2) was given specifying the date, time and place of
the regular meetings of the Board to be held during the year, by causing said Notice
to be (i) posted in December 2018 at the principal office of the Authority, (ii)
provided to local media correspondents, or to newspapers of general circulation
within the geographic jurisdiction of the Authority, at least once during the calendar
year 2019 and (iii) published on the Utah Public Notice Website
(http://pmn.utah.gov) during the current calendar year.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto subscribed my official signature
this October 9, 2019.

Secretary/Treasurer

(SEAL)

4835-5360-0663, v. 4 A-1


http://pmn.utah.gov/
http://pmn.utah.gov/

SCHEDULE 1

NOTICE AND AGENDA OF THE OCTOBER 9, 2019 MEETING

4835-5360-0663, v. 4 A-2



SCHEDULE 2

2019 ANNUAL MEETING NOTICE

4835-5360-0663, v. 4 A-3



Entity: Utah Transit Authority

Body: Board of Trustees

Subject:
Notice Title:

Meeting Location:

Event Date & Time:

Description/Agenda:

Public Transit District
Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees of the Utah Transit Authority
669 West 200 South

Salt Lake City 84101

December 12, 2018
December 12, 2018 02:30 PM - December 12, 2018 05:00 PM

Regular Meeting of the
Board of Trustees of the Utah Transit Authority

Wednesday, December 12, 2018, 2:30-5:00 p.m.
Utah Transit Authority Headquarters,

669 West 200 South, Salt Lake City, Utah
Golden Spike Conference Rooms

1. Call to Order & Opening Remarks Chair Carlton Christensen
2. Pledge of Allegiance Cathie Griffiths
3. Safety First Minute Dave Goeres
4. Approval of November 28, 2018 Board Meeting Report Chair Carlton
Christensen
5. Public Comment Period Bob Biles
6. Agency Report Steve Meyer
7. October 2018 Financial Report Bob Biles
8. R2018-12-01: Resolution Ratifying the Adoption of the 2019 Budget
Steve Meyer & Bob Biles
9. R2018-12-02: Resolution Giving Notice and Setting Regular Meeting Dates
for Calendar Year 2019 Chair Carlton Christensen
10. R2018-12-03: Resolution Approving and Authorizing the Execution of the
Authority's Amended Transit Agency Safety Plan Dave Goeres
11. R2018-12-04: Resolution Granting Contract and Expenditure Authority
Bob Biles
12. Contracts, Disbursements & Change Orders
a. Contract: Onboard Video Security System (SmartDrive) Dave
Goeres
b. Contract: Insurance Brokerage Services (Alliant Insurance
Services) Dave Goeres
c. Contract: Fifteen Passenger Rideshare Vans (Larry H. Miller)
Eddy Cumins
d. Contract: Applicant Tracking System (JobVite) Kim Ulibarri
e. Change Order: Video Interviewing Software (HireVue) Kim
Ulibarri
f. Revenue Contract: Ski Bus Pass Agreement (Snowbird) Monica
Morton

g. Disbursement: Light Rail Vehicle Parts Inventory (Siemens)
Bob Biles



Notice of Special
Accommodations:

Notice of Electronic or
telephone participation:

Other information:

Contact Information:

Posted on:

Last edited on:

13. Pre-Procurements Steve Meyer

14. Closed Session Chair Carlton Christensen
a. Discussion of the character, professional competence, or physical
or mental health of an individual

15. R2018-12-05 Resolution Authorizing Action on Terms of Employment of
Interim Executive Director Chair Carlton Christensen
16. Discussion Items

a. Recruitment of Executive Director Kim Ulibarri

b. Salt Lake City Interlocal Agreement for Transit Master Plan
Implementation Nichol Bourdeaux

c. Utah County Service Level Agreement Steve Meyer
17. Other Business Chair Carlton Christensen

a. Next meeting: January 9, 2019 at 9:00 a.m.
18. Adjourn Chair Carlton Christensen

Public Comment: Members of the public are invited to provide comment during the
public comment period. Comment may be provided in person or online through
www.rideuta.com. In order to be considerate of time and the agenda, comments are
limited to 2 minutes per individual or 5 minutes for a designated spokesperson
representing a group. Comments may also be sent via e-mail to
boardoftrustees@rideuta.com.

Special Accommodation: Information related to this meeting is available in
alternate format upon request by contacting calldredge@rideuta.com or (801) 287-
3536. Request for accommodations should be made at least two business days in
advance of the scheduled meeting.

Special Accommodation: Information related to this meeting is available in alternate
format upon request by contacting calldredge@rideuta.com or (801) 287-3536. Request
for accommodations should be made at least two business days in advance of the
scheduled meeting.

Meeting will be broadcast live at https://www.youtube.com/user/UTAride . Trustees of the
Board may participate electronically.

Board of Trustees
(801)262-5626
boardoftrustees@rideuta.com

December 10, 2018 02:17 PM
December 13, 2018 05:13 PM

Printed from Utah's Public Notice Website (http://pmn.utah.gov/)



RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE UTAH TRANSIT
AUTHORITY GIVING NOTICE AND SETTING REGULAR MEETING DATES
FOR CALENDAR YEAR 2019

R2018-12-02 December 12, 2018

WHEREAS, the Utah Transit Authority (the “Authority”) is a public transit
district organized under the laws of the State of Utah and was created to transact
and exercise all of the powers provided for in the Utah Limited Purpose Local
Government Entities- Local Districts Act and the Utah Public Transit District Act;
and

WHEREAS, the Utah Open and Public Meetings Act as codified in Title 52,
Chapter 4, Part 2 of the Utah Code provides that any public body which holds
regular meetings that are scheduled in advance over the course of a year shall
give public notice at least once each year of its annual meeting schedule and that
such notice shall specify the date, time, and place of such meetings; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees desires to afford stakeholders and the
public greater participation and accessibility to the meetings of the Board of
Trustees throughout the public transit district; and

WHEREAS, it is considered necessary and desirable by the Board of
Trustees of the Authority to adopt a resolution providing for the holding and giving
notice of regular meetings of the Authority.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Trustees of the
Utah Transit Authority that the Board of Trustees shall hold its regular meetings for
2019 as follows:

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING SCHEDULE
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE UTAH TRANSIT AUTHORITY

In accordance with the provisions of the Open and Public Meetings Act,
public notice is hereby given that the Utah Transit Authority, a public transit district
organized under the laws of the State of Utah, will hold its regular meetings at the
hour of 9:00 a.m. at the location of 669 West 200 South, Salt Lake City, Utah 84101
on the following dates:

January 9, 2019

January 16, 2019
January 23, 2019
January 30, 2019



February 6, 2019

February 13, 2019
February 20, 2019
February 27, 2019

March 6, 2019

March 13, 2019
March 20, 2019
March 27, 2019

April 3, 2019

April 10, 2019
April 17, 2019
April 24, 2019

May 1, 2019
May 8, 2019

May 15, 2019
May 22, 2019
May 29, 2019

June 5, 2019

June 12, 2019
June 19, 2019
June 26, 2019

July 10, 2019
July 17, 2019
July 31, 2019

August 7, 2019

August 14, 2019
August 21, 2019
August 28, 2019

September 4, 2019

September 11, 2019
September 18, 2019
September 25, 2019

October 2, 2019
October 9, 2019
October 23, 2019
October 30, 2019



November 6, 2019
November 13, 2019
November 20, 2019

December 4, 2019
December 11, 2019
December 18, 2019

The agenda of each Board meeting, together with the date, time and place
of each Board meeting shall be posted in compliance with the requirements of the
Utah Open and Public Meetings Act.

The Board of Trustees invites brief comments or questions from the public
during its regularly scheduled Board meetings. The Chair of the Board shall
determine the duration and timing of the public comment period. Persons desiring
to address the Board at a regularly scheduled meeting will be given a limited
amount of time to speak. A spokesperson who has been asked by a group to
summarize their comments may be allowed additional time.

Approved and adopted this 12" day of December, 2018.

Cariton Chrlét seﬁ“f.‘.halr

Board of Trustees

ATTEST:

Robert K. Biles, Secretary/Treasurer

(Corporate Seal)




Approved As To Form:

o BPer

Legal Counsel




EXHIBIT B
GENERAL INDENTURES

(See Transcript Document No. )

4835-5360-0663, v. 4 B-1



]
=N

UTAH TRANSIT AUTHORITY
SALES TAX REVENUE BONDS

AMENDED AND RESTATED GENERAL INDENTURE OF TRUST

Dated as of September 1, 2002

BETWEEN

UTAH TRANSIT AUTHORITY,
as Issuer

AND

7ZIONS FIRST NATIONAL BANK,
as Trustee

Amending and Restating that certain General Indenture of Trust
dated as of October 1, 1997

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 vi4



Section 1.1
Section 1.2
Section 1.3

Section 2.1
Section 2.2
Section 2.3
Section 2.4
Section 2.5

Section 2.6

Section 2.7

Section 2.8

Section 2.9

Section 2.10
Section 2.11
Section 2.12
Section 2.13
Section 2.14
Section 2.15
Section 2.16
Section 2.17

Section 3.1
Section 3.2
Section 3.3
Section 3.4
Section 3.5
Section 3.6

Table of Contents

APPLICATION OF BOND PROCEEDS AND OTHER MONIES

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 vi4

Page
ARTICLE1
DEFINITIONS

TDEEIEEIONS -..vvvvereencseesessssmecsssannrassssbusrmsssssmsss s TR s b 0 4
Indenture to Constitute COMIBEE ... rcuiermsnrmerssimisrmmsssssrasimssasenss e 21
CODSITUCTION ..oexrenermsssresessssessrsesssssssssass osss s asas s 000 22

ARTICLE I

THE BONDS
AuthOriZAGON 0F BOMAS .. covsvuecrsseesrressssssssssmssnsassisssesssmmasem s sassessrsasers: 23
Description of Bonds: PAYMENL. .....cocucussssmmmmsssssssssmmissssermieseeses 23
Execution; Limited Obligation -.....ccuromomemnsmmssiamimmssessssssessraneseseneess 24
Authentication and Delivery OFBONGS. -.eeeveereesermeasmmstsssssnsemsrsssssomnmsnsassies 24
Special Provisions for the Issuance of Additional Bonds for
REFUNANG PUIDOSES. rrvvvererssssrsssssserssassmssssesssssmsastasssess sty ssesess 27
Provisions Regarding Bonds Secured by a Security
TEISEEUITIETIE. «.v.vvesesseeissusescesisssmesassssmatesssasssmas e by e s s 0 27
‘Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed BONAS..eeevemcerareersmessmanssonssnessssmsasss 28
Registration of Bonds; Persons Treated as QWHETS ........covvmmmimnmsisssinasesess 28
Redemption PrOVISIONS .......ercresrsmssssesssssissmsmisssssssmmmissesssssssssssemsssseeeees 29
Notice Of REAEIIDHON, «.ovextrssmrussiesressmmmssmssasmissrsssasssasmassssessisssasoyssssssasaseses 30
Partially Redeemed BONAS .......c..ovirrmissresmcassmimmssssessesssessassressessssmeessess 31
CANCEILALION +1voveemeerereeereseressnsasssserecsssssmasasssasastsmasassonsosesssasases eneravnnesaes 32
Nonpresentation of BONAS..oevveeereernrerasnrassissssssarsasssnsssnsssnsanasansat st narasass 32
AL BOTIAS. ... vveesvreessssamsesssasressms tsssesemssmasanseussssissssassasmasssasasmassssssassares et 32
Issuance of Additional BONAS ......ccveremreemsessmasmenismsnssssesrsasssnsmtassssses 32
FOTM OF BOMAS ..cvovvseesersvesssissirerssesssissemsassssstsssstssssmasmspesesss s s ooees 33
Covenant _ Against Creating or Permitting Liens;
Subordinated TACHLEANESS ovvvvsrreeererecrsrenrssesrsannesssisnamsnssssasaimsenssinasssasicsss 33

ARTICLE I
CREATION OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS
Creation of CONStrUCtion FUNM. ........vcueeismsssmsesssssonsmsssssstmsssasssasiessesiss 34
Creation of Revenue FUN .......eciversmsssmimsemsmessimsmissssssetassimssi e 34
Creation of Bond FUD@. ..cccucuumessnieemmimmimssssssssssssasssssmmsssssssssessssssssanyooss 34
Creation of Debt Service Reserve FUNA. ..o e eeeereressemrsernassssssrarersnsassasssaseas 34
Creation of Reserve Instrument FULD oo vireerenraenessesnssesssnraenesmsassinsnrsssass 34
AQAHIONA! FUNAS. .cvrevsasreererssanerersessnersrsssssssssasssssssssss st st esesnees 34

ARTICLE IV



Section 5.1
Section 5.2
Section 5.3
Section 5.4
Section 5.5
Section 5.6
Section 5.7
Section 5.8
Section 5.9

Section 6.1
Section 6.2
Section 6.3
Section 6.4
Section 6.5
Section 6.6
Section 6.7
Section 6.8
Section 6.9
Section 6.10
Section 6.11
Section 6.12

Section 6.13
Section 6.14
Section 6.15
Section 6.16

Section 7.1
Section 7.2
Section 7.3

Section 7.4
Section 7.5
Section 7.6
Section 7.7
Section 7.8
Section 7.9

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14

ARTICLE V

Continuation of Sales Tax Revenues

CONUTIUALIANT L S e e ———

USE OF FUNDS
Use of Construction FUN@: ...c..ccoormenesnmvsmmsissecsssissmsmsisnssssssossssseess 36
Use of Revenue Fund. ......oovr et N 37
Use of Bond Fund. .. e irmeseeeeensssssarensssssneensassenes 40
Use of Debt Service Rescrve Fund ........................................................... 42
Reserve Instrument Fund ... e tasesserastsremnenaennenseeens 43
Investment of Funds........... ; ...................................................................... 43
TIOSE FUILAS ..o ceesevecsseressresssecssssssssserssst s ssmasmsb s s s apass s s s s 44
Method of Valuation and Frequency of Valuation ... iweeeessssisssnaeeee 44
PULCHASE OF BONMAS...vuvsevereesrsneerssisesrisssssiassrmssmsossssesssansasassasssmnseasassssansess s 44
ARTICLE VI
GENERAL COVENANTS

GEDELa]l COVEIANS -....eevrereesesesssesemeressessessssssssssessassssssssasiosss s csssosss 45
Lien of Bonds; Equality of LIBNS ....cccovmmmmemmmemsscrsimssirmssmmsssessssnssenmeses 45
Payment of Principal, Premium and INTEIESE ...covwruuwersssssemmusseneaserssress .. 46
Performance of Covenants: ISSUET ... ieanmirammtssssmsmssmsiensasessrenseess 46
List of BONAWOIAEIS. ... -ceevereesnisemrasssssmsninens [T 46
Expeditions COMSIUCHION. v.ucev.rerssesresermssssssssssssssrimesssss st sssrassesesees 47
Management 0f SYSIEML. .....wwreecrsmssrssmssssesssmsmssssssmssrre st sssersssesses 47.
Payment From Other Available FUnAS .....cocvimsmesmsrmmmmsssssssmasnssssssorsssssens 47
PAYMENE OF TAXES..vssesressessrsierssssssssssssssssmsssssssssmmmsssimmss s s 47
Insuprance... " }.
Instruments ofFurther Assurance rvaeenseesnrnennes &8
Power to Own the System and Collect Rates Fares and

Fees: Provision for Sale or Lease and Leaseback

Transactions....... R O S 48
MANEENANCE OF REVEIUES ....evoeesrvssrrrrsssssserasissmmssssssamasrassssosssssasmmssssssssses 48
DEbE LUTIALON oo e enesenserinsansnrismseseusmsonsssassnsossansesssasatssasmassonssinassansnassses 49
Use Of Certain GIANLS. ...orecerereremrassissssmmsssassssssmstsbasss s sasssiasiressssss e 49

49

ARTICLE VII
EVENTS OF DEFAULT; REMEDIES

Events of Default ......ccecermrmmimmmssesnimmiminissinmnae T TITaO. 50

Remedies; Rights of Registered OWIETS w.occuirummrmsrsmsssssmssrsssessassssassossreess 51
Right of Registered Owners and Security Instrument
Issuers to Direct Proceedings......ocovveevsersiseneronsmemsssmmmmsasissrecssasisnassrissec e 52
Application of TVIOTUES .vvveverearecsessssseensnescssseaseimsmsessesbasaan s s sen s ot e 52
Remedies Vested in Trusteg... N oeeeesvesasasseeassrinrensirenerennss 4
Rights and Remedies of Ree;lstered Owners ............................................. 54
Termination of PIOCEEINES .....umvussererersssssmmssmsrensssssssssssnmssssssssesiene e 55
Waivers of Events 0f DEfAUIL....oo...ccovcvuemmmissmmrsmems s sssenes 55
COOPELAION OF ISSUET v.vevvurevessnssssssssssssss st s 56

ii



Section 8.1
Section 8.2
Section 8.3
Section 8.4
Section 8.5
Section 8.6
Section 8.7
Section 8.8
Section 8.9
Section 8.10
Section 8.11

Section 8.12
Section 8.13
Section 8.14
Section 8.15

Section 9.1

Section 9.2

Sectiont 11.1
Section 11.2
Section 11.3
Section 11.4
Section 11.5
Section 11.6
Section 11.7
Section 11.8
‘Section 11.9

Section 11.10 Notices to Security Instrument TSGUIET v oeveenernresenestnnarmenrerssnessenasas

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 vi4

ARTICLE VIII
THE TRUSTEE

Acceptance of the TIUSES.....cc.nivrueresseresssssmesimssssessss oo

Fees, Charges and Expenses of Trustee.....coevveene

Notice to Registered Owners if Event of Default Occurs................

Tntervention bY TIUSLEE ..o vrsreesccrssmmmmmsesssrosssssssssnasansseasssissosssess
SUCCESSOT TTUSIEG . .rvtssseereresrrssmasmserisssrrmasssasssissanansasmana s enes

Removal of the TIUSIEE ..c.cvcvirenrmmericsssrsssisssmssansissasnarasasnssnmseses
Appointment of Successor Trustee; Temporary TIUustee ...ouevviriirissnens

Concerning Any Successor TIUSLEE ooeveervereereseesemessbsmsnsssrnmmsssseraanes
Trustee Protected in Relving Upon Indenture. BAC coccceecrcrersesemssnsanrnnnes

Successor Trustee as Trustee of Funds; Paying Agent and

BONA REGISIIAL «ccaccusirararsssessnerisssssssaneasessssssrs s st
Trust Estate May Be Vested in Separate or Co-Trustee ....oocvvevererrns

ADNUAL ACCOUNLIILE ..vevvvoresscnsreserersaserssbssssmssrsmmassassassssrassessasssassnsscses
INAETIIIFICAHON o.voeecarscerssenescasssersessnsessssansosnsssmssasnsrmasmasarss s s ssnas

Trustee's Right to Own and Deal it BONAS covvevieserrermrinsssessinisinenes

ARTICIEIX
SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES

Supplemental Indentures Not Reguiring _ Consent _of

Registered Owmers, Security Instrument Issuers and

Reserve Instrument ProvIAEIS ..o rvsismrissnimsssssisssmsnamenses s

A Y A e e =

Supplemental Indentures Requiring Consent of Registered

Owners, Security _Instrument Issuers and Reserve

Instrument Providers: Waivers and Consents by Registered

Aol L ey

ARTICLE X
DISCHARGE OF INDENTURE

ARTICLE XI
MISCELLANEOUS

Consents, Etc. of Registered QWIS ...oocovrorssisssmmemressisssesnass
Limitation Of RIGIES . ..eecciesemesseerssssrsssmsrassmsmsssssssssmmasapassasissensssssessaasiesees
SEVETADIILY vorvrvenresrerssmsmssssmssnssasessssssessmassassst s sass s
INOHICES ©ovvseosmeressssseassesstebstaes arasssssEmmaEaid s EaEE SRS AP sRE RS s TSRS 0
Trustee as Paying Agent and RegISLIAT ...covuviieisecensssisisienamascacsnrenss
COUDLEIPAITS 1.vvecrensssarsrssssmssssssiassssmssrsssssisssassssssas st s

Applicable Law .......cccerieuerimmnnsecsnnnes dreerese e
Immunity of Officers and DALECEOTS . oveererensrssenmnsaessnassssassinsrnassnanes

Payments Due on Holidays.........

iil

mrdruasmmsnrivinssIRRaTY

e T L T T L P L L LR b bbb

59
59
60
60
60
60
60
61
61

61
61
62
62
63

64

65

69
69
69
69
70
70
70
70
70



UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14

iv



THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED GENERAL INDENTURE OF TRUST,
dated as of September 1, 2002, between the Utah Transit Authority (the "Issuer"), a
public transit district duly organized and existing under the Constitution and the laws of
the State of Utah, and Zions First National Bank, a national bank duly organized and
existing under the laws of the United States of America, authorized by law to accept and
execute trusts and having its principal office in Salt Lake City, Utah (the "Trustee"):

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Issuer has entered inio a General Indenture of Trust, dated as of
October 1, 1997 (the "Original Indenture") with the Trustee; and

WHEREAS, Section 9.1 of the Original Indenture permits the Issuer and the
Trustee, without notice to or consent of the owners of Bonds (as defined in the Original
Indenture) to make certain changes to the Original Indenture: (i) if the Bonds affected by
such change are rated by a Rating Agency (as defined in the Original Indenture), to make
any change which does not result in a reduction of the rating applicable to any of the
Bonds so affected, provided that if any of the Bonds so affected are secured by a Security
Instrument (as defined in the General Indenture), such change must be approved in
writing by the related Security Instrument Issuer (as defined in the Original Indenture)
and (i) if the Bonds affected by such change are secured by a Security Instrument, to
make any change approved in writing by the related Security Instrument Issuer, provided
that if any of the Bonds so affected are rated by a Rating Agency, such change shall not
result in a reduction of the rating applicable to any of the Bonds so affected; and

WHEREAS, the Issuer desires to amend the Original Indenture by executing this
Amended and Restated General Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2002 (the "Amended
and Restated General Indenture”) to (among other things) add additional revenues to the
pledge of the Indenture and to permit debt service and related Bond payments to be made
prior to payment of operation and maintenance expenses from certain revenues and other
related changes; and '

WHEREAS, the Issuer has previously issued its Sales Tax and Transportation
Revenue Bonds, Series 1997A in the aggregate principal amount of $27,740,000 (the
“1997A Bonds™) pursuant to the Original Indenture and a First Supplemental Indenture
(the “First Supplemental Indenture”), dated as of October 1, 1997 to finance certain
improvements and additions to its public transit system; and

WHEREAS, the Rating Agencies rating the 1997A Bonds have confirmed that the
amendments made by this Amended and Restated General Indenture will not resuit in a
reduction of the rating of the 1997A Bonds; and

WHEREAS, the Security Instrument Issuer for the 1997A Bonds has approved in
writing the amendments made by this Amended and Restated General Indenture; and

WHEREAS, the execution and delivery of this Amended and Restated General
Indenture has in all respects been duly authorized and all things necessary to make this

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14



Amended and Restated General Indenture a valid and binding agreement have been done;.
and

WHEREAS, the Issuet desires to finance property, improvements and additions to
its public transit system (the "System"), including, but not limited to, additions,
extensions, buildings, services, equipment and other improvements to house and operate
said facilities, to refund and retire existing obligations, to fund debt service reserves, and
to pay issuance expenses to be incurred in connection with the issuance and sale of the
Bonds herein authorized and defined; and

WHEREAS, the Issuer intends to obtain certain revenues (the "Pledged
Revenues") sufficient to pay debt service on the Bonds issued hereunder and operation
and maintenance expenses of the System; and

WHEREAS, except for obligations expressly subordinate to the lien hereof, the
Pledged Revenues (as herein defined) of the System, will not be pledged or hypothecated
in any manner or for any purpose at the time of the issuance of the Bonds herein
authorized and the Issuer desires to pledge said Pledged Revenues toward the payment of
the principal and interest on said Bonds; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Utah Public Transit District Act, Title 17A, Chapter
2, Part 10, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, the Utah Municipal Bond Act, Title
11, Chapter 14, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, and the Utah Refunding Bond
Act, Title 11, Chapter 27, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, the Issuer is
authorized to issue its bonds payable from a special fund into which the Pledged
Revenues of the Issuer may be pledged.

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS INDENTURE OF TRUST WITNESSETH:

For and in consideration of the premises, the mutual covenants of the
Issuer and the Trustee, the purchase from time to time of the Bonds by the
Bondowners thereof, the issuance by the Security Instrument Issuers from time to
time of Security Instruments and the issuance by Reserve Instrument Providers
from time to time of Reserve Instruments, and in order to secure the payment of
the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds, of all Security
Instrument Repayment Obligations according to their tenor and effect and of all
Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations according to their tenor and effect
and the performance and observance by the Issuer of all the covenants expressed
or implied herein, in the Bonds, in all Security Instrument Agreements and in all
Reserve Instrument Agreements, the Issuer does hereby convey, assign and
pledge unto the Trustee and unto its successors in trust forever all right, title and
interest of the Issuer in and to (i) the Pledged Revenues, (ii) all moneys in funds
and accounts held by the Trustee hereunder {except as provided in Section 5.7
hereof) including the investment, if any thereof, and (iii) all other rights
hereinafter granted, FIRST, for the further securing of the Bends (except that the
portion of items described in (i), (ii) and (iii) above representing principal or
redemption price of, and interest on, any Bonds previously matured or called for

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 2



redemption or deemed paid in accordance with Article X of this Indenture shall be
held for the benefit of the holders of such Bonds only) and all Security Instrument
Repayment Obligations, and SECOND, for the further securing of all Reserve
Instrument Repayment Obligations, subject only to the provisions of this
Indenture permitting the application thereof for the purposes and on the terms and
conditions set forth in this Indenture.

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the same with all privileges and appurtenances
hereby and hereafter conveyed and assigned, or agreed or intended so to be, to the
Trustee and its respective successors and assigns in such trust forever;

IN TRUST NEVERTHELESS, upon the terms set forth in this Indenture, FIRST,
for the equal and proportionate benefit, security and protection of all Bondowners and
Security Instrument Issuers without privilege, priority or distinction as to the lien or
otherwise of any of the Bonds or Security Instrument Repayment Obligations over any
others by reason of time of issuance, sale, delivery, maturity or expiration thereof or
otherwise for any cause whatsoever, except as expressly provided in or permitted by this
Indenture; and SECOND, for the equal and proportionate benefit, security and protection
of all Reserve Instrument Providers, without privilege, priority or distinction as to the lien
or otherwise of any Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligation over any of the others by
reason of time of issuance, delivery or expiration thereof or otherwise for any cause
whatsoever;

PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that if the Issuer, its successors or assigns, shall well
and truly pay, or cause to be paid, the principal of and premium, if any, on the Bonds and
the interest due or to become due thereon, at the times and in the manner mentioned in
the Bonds, all Security Instrument Repayment Obligations, according to the true intent
and meaning thereof and all Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations, according to the
true intent and meaning thereof, or shall provide, as permitted by this Indenture, for the
payment thereof as provided herein, and shall pay or cause to be paid to the Trustee all
sums of money due or to become due to it in accordance with the terms and provisions of
this Indenture, then upon such final payments or provisions for such payments by the
Issuer, this Indenture, and the rights hereby granted, shall terminate; otherwise this
Indenture shall remain in full force and effect.

The terms and conditions upon which the Bonds are to be executed, authenticated,
delivered, secured and accepted by all persons who from time to time shall be or become
Owners thereof, and the trusts and conditions upon which the Revenues are to be held
and disposed, which said trusts and conditions the Trustee hereby accepts, are as follows:

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 3



ARTICLEI
'DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1  Definitions. As used in this Indenture, the following terms shall
have the following meanings unless the context otherwise clearly indicates:

"Accreted Amount” means, with respect to Capital Appreciation Bonds of any
Series and as of the date of calculation, the amount established pursuant to the
Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Capital Appreciation Bonds as the amount
representing the initial public offering price, plus the accumulated and compounded
interest on such Bonds.

" A dditional Bonds" means all Bonds issued under this Indenture other than the
Initial Bonds.

“Adjusted Sales and Use Taxes” means Sales and Use Taxes in any consecutive
12 month period within the 24 calendar months next preceding the issuance of a Series of
Additional Bonds adjusted to take into account increases in the sales and use taxes
allocated to the Issuer, to the extent that such increased amounts have been included as
“Sales and Use Taxes” and are pledged under the Indenture.

"Aggregate Debt Service" means, as of the date of calculation and with respect to
any period, the sum of the amounts of Debt Service during such period for (a) all Series
of Bonds Outstanding (or any designated portion -thereof), and (b) any Repayment
Obligations Outstanding.

“Amended and Restated General Indenture” means this Amended and Restated
General Indenture of Trust.

» Authorized Amount" means, with respect to 2 Commercial Paper Program, the
maximum Principal amount of commercial paper which is then authorized by the Issuer
to be outstanding at any one time pursuant to such Commercial Paper Program.

"Authorized Representative” means the General Manager (including any acting
General Manager), Director of Financing and Administration, Treasurer, or any other
person at the time designated to act on behalf of the Issuer by a written instrument
furnished to the Trustee containing the specimen signature of such person or persons and
signed on behalf of the Issuer by its General Manager or Treasurer. The written
instrument may designate an alternate or alternates.

"Average Aggregate Debt Service" means, as of any date of calculation, the
amount obtained by dividing (a) the sum of the Aggregate Debt Service on all Series of
Bonds Outstanding and Repayment Obligations Outstanding computed for each Fiscal
Year during which any Bonds are or will be Outstanding (or any designated portion
thereof), by (b) the number of such Fiscal Years.

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 4



"Balloon Bonds" means Bonds (and/or Security Instrument Repayment
Obligations relating thereto), other than Bonds which mature within one year of the date
of issuance thereof, 25% or more of the Principal Installments on which (a) are due or,
(b) at the option of the Owner thereof may be redeemed, during any period of twelve
consecutive months.

"Bond Fund" means the Utah Transit Authority Bond Fund created in Section 3.3
hereof to be held by the Trustee and administered pursuant to Section 5.3 hereof.

"Bond Fund Year" means the 12-month period beginning January 1 of each year
and ending on the next succeeding December 31, except that the first Bond Fund Year
shall begin on the date of delivery of the Initial Bonds and shall end on the next
succeeding December 31.

"Bondholder,” "Bondowner," "Registered Owner” or *Owner" or any similar term
means the registered owner of any Bonds herein authorized.

"Bonds" means bonds, notes, commercial paper or other obligations (other than
Repayment Obligations) authorized by and at any time Outstanding pursuant to this
Indenture, including the Initial Bonds and any Additional Bonds.

"Business Day” means any day, except a Saturday or Sunday, (i) on which
banking business is transacted, but not including any day on which banks are authorized
to be closed, in New York City or in the city in which the Trustee has its principal
corporate trust office or, with respect to a related Series of Bonds, in the city in which
any Security Instrument Issuer has its payment office for purposes of such Security
Instrument, and (ii) on which the New York Stock Exchange is open.

"Capital Appreciation Bonds" means Bonds the interest on which (a) is
compounded and accumulated at the rates and on the dates set forth in the Supplemental
Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Bonds and designating them as Capital
Appreciation Bonds, and (b) is payable upon maturity or redemption of such Bonds.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Each reference to
a section of the Code shall be deemed to include the related United States Treasury
Regulations.

"Commercial Paper Program" means commercial paper obligations with
maturities of not more than two hundred seventy (270) days from the dates of issuance
thereof which are issued and reissued by the Issuer from time to time pursuant to Article
[ hereof and are outstanding up to an Authorized Amount.

"Construction Fund” means the Utah Transit Authority Construction Fund created
in Section 3.1 hereof to be held by the Trustee and administered pursuant to Section 5.1
hereof.

"Cost" or "Costs”" or "Cost of a Project,” or any phrase of similar import, in
connection with a Project or with the refunding of any bonds, means all costs and

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 vi4 5



expenses which are properly chargeable thereto under generally accepted accounting
principles or which are incidental to the financing, acquisition and construction of a
Project, or the refunding of any bonds, including, without limiting the generality of the
foregoing:

(a) amounts payable to contractors and costs incident to the award of
contracts;

(b) cost of labor, facilities and services furnished by the Issuer and its
employees or others, materials and supplies purchased by the Issuer or others and
permits and licenses obtained by the Issuer or others;

(c) engineering, architectural, legal, planning, underwriting,
accounting and other professional and advisory fees;

(d) premiums for contract bonds and insurance during construction
and costs on account of personal injuries and property damage in the course of
construction and insurance against the same;

{e) interest expenses, including interest on the Series of Bonds;

(f) printing, engraving and other expenses of financing, including fees
of Rating Agency and fees and costs of issuing the Series of Bonds (including
costs of interest rate caps and costs related to interest rate exchanges (or the
elimination thereof));

(g) costs, fees and expenses in connection with the acquisition of real
and personal property or rights therein, including premiums for title insurance;

(b) costs of equipment, rolling stock and furnishings purchased by the
Issuer and necessary to the completion and proper operation of a Project;

(1) amounts required to repay temporary loans or notes made to
finance the costs of a Project;

() cost of site improvements performed in anticipation of a Project;
(k)  moneys necessary to fund the Funds created under this Indenture;

O costs of the capitalization with proceeds of a Series of Bonds
issued hereunder of any operation and maintenance expenses and other working
capital appertaining to any facilities to be acquired for a Project and of any
interest on a Series of Bonds for any period not exceeding the period estimated by
the Issuer to effect the construction of a Project plus one year, as herein provided,
of any discount on Bonds or other securities, and of any reserves for the payment
of the principal of and interest on a Series of Bonds, of any replacement expenses
and of any other cost of issuance of a Series of Bonds or other securities, Security
Instrument Costs and Reserve Instrument Costs;

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 6



(m) costs of amending any indenture or other instrument authorizing
the issuance of or otherwise appertaining to a Series of Bonds;

(n)  all other expenses necessary or desirable and appertaining to a
Project, as estimated or otherwise ascertained by the Issuer, including costs of
contingencies for a Project; and

(0)  payment to the Issuer of such amounts, if any, as shall be necessary
to reimburse the Issuer in full for advances and payments theretofore made or
costs theretofore incurred by the Issuer for any item of Costs so long as such
reimbursement does not adversely affect the excludability. of interest on the
related Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes.

In the case of any refunding or redeeming any bonds, "Cost” includes, without limiting
the generality of the foregoing, the items listed in (c), (¢), (f) and (k) above, advertising
and other expenses related to the redemption of such bonds to be redeemed and the
redemption price of such bonds (and the accrued interest payable on redemption to the
extent not otherwise provided for).

"Cross-over Date" means with respect to Cross-over Refunding Bonds the date on
which the Principal portion of the related Cross-over Refunded Bonds is to be paid or
redeemed from the proceeds of such Cross-over Refunding Bonds.

“Cross-over Refunded Bonds" means Bonds or other obligations refunded by
Cross-over Refunding Bonds.

“Cross-over Refunding Bonds" means Bonds issued for the purpose of refunding
Bonds or other obligations if the proceeds of such Cross-over Refunding Bonds are
irrevocably deposited in escrow in satisfaction of the requirements of Section 11-27-3,
Utah Code, to secure the payment on an applicable redemption date or maturity date of
the Cross-over Refunded Bonds (subject to possible use to pay Principal of the Cross-
over Refunding Bonds under certain circumstances) and the eamnings on such escrow
deposit are required to be applied to pay interest on the Cross-over Refunding Bonds until
the Cross-over Date.

"Current Interest Bonds" means Bonds not constituting Capital Appreciation
Bonds. Interest on Current Interest Bonds shall be payable periodically on the Interest
Payment Dates provided therefor in a Supplemental Indenture.

"Debt Service” means, for any particular Fiscal Year and for any Series of Bonds
and any Repayment Obligations, an amount equal to the sum of (a) all interest payable
during such Fiscal Year on such Series of Bonds plus (b) the Principal Installments
payable during such Fiscal Year on (i) such Bonds Outstanding, calculated on the
assumption that Bonds Outstanding on the day of calculation cease to be Outstanding by
reason of, but only by reason of, payment either upon maturity or application of any
Sinking Fund Installments required by the Indenture, and (ii) such Repayment
Obligations then outstanding;

UT_DOCS_A #1086350 v14 i



provided, however,

(1)  for purposes of Section 2.15 hereof, when calculating the Principal
Installments payable during such Fiscal Year, there shall be treated as payable in such
Fiscal Year the amount of Principal Installments which would have been payable during
such Fiscal Year had the Principal of each Series of Balloon Bonds Outstanding and the
related Repayment Obligations then outstanding (or arising therefrom) been amortized,
from their date of issuance over a period of 30 years, on a level debt service basis at an
interest rate equal to the rate borne by such Balloon Bonds on the date of calculation,
provided that if the date of calculation is within twelve months before the actual maturity
of such Balloon Bonds or Repayment Obligations, the full amount of Principal payable at
maturity shall be included in such calculation;

(2)  when calculating interest payable during such Fiscal Year for any Series
of Variable Rate Bonds or Repayment Obligations bearing interest at a variable rate
which cannot be ascertained for any particular Fiscal Year, it shall be assumed that such
Series of Variable Rate Bonds or related Repayment Obligations will bear interest at such
market rate of interest applicable to such Series of Variable Rate Bonds or related
Repayment Obligations as shall be established for this purpose in the opinion of the
Issuer’s financial advisor, underwriter or similar agent (which market rate of interest may
be based upon a recognized comparable market index, an average of interest rates for
“prior years or otherwise, so long as such estimates are based upon then current market
conditions);

3) when calculating interest payable during such Fiscal Year for any Series
of Variable Rate Bonds which are issued with a floating rate and with respect to which an
Interest Rate Swap is in effect in which the Issuer has agreed to pay a fixed interest rate,
such Series of Variable Rate Bonds shall be deemed to bear interest at the effective fixed
annual rate thereon as a result of such Interest Rate Swap; provided that such effective
fixed annual rate may be utilized only if such Interest Rate Swap does not result in a
reduction or withdrawal of any rating then in effect with respect to the Bonds and so long
as such Interest Rate Swap is contracted to remain in full force and effect;

(4)  when calculating interest payable during such Fiscal Year for any Series
of Bonds which are issued with a fixed interest rate and with respect to which an Interest
Rate Swap is in full force and effect in which the Issuer has agreed to pay a floating
amount, Debt Service shall include the interest payable on such Series of Bonds, less
fixed amounts to be received by the Issuer under such Interest Rate Swap plus the amount
of the floating payments (estimated in a manner similar to that described in (2) above,
unless another method of estimation is more appropriate, in the opinion of the Issuer's
financial advisor, underwriter or similar agent for such floating payments) to be made by
the Issuer under the Interest Rate Swap; provided that the above described calculation of
Debt Service may be utilized only if such Interest Rate Swap does not result in a
reduction or withdrawal of any rating then in effect with respect to the Bonds and so long
as such Interest Rate Swap is contracted to remain in full force and effect;

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 8



(5)  when calculating interest payable during such Fiscal Year with respect to
any Commercial Paper Program, “Debt Service” shall mean an amount equal to the sum
of all principal and interest payments that would be payable during such Fiscal Year
assuming that the Authorized Amount of such Commercial Paper Program is amortized
on a level debt service basis over a period of 30 years beginning on the date of
calculation or, if later, the last day of the period during which obligations can be issued
under such Commercial Paper Program, and bearing interest at such market rate of
interest applicable to such Commercial Paper Program as shall be established for this
purpose in the opinion of the Issuer’s financial advisor, underwriter or similar agent
(which market rate of interest may be based uporn a recognized comparable market index,
an average of interest rates for prior years or otherwise); and

(6) When calculating interest payable on Bonds that are Paired Obligations,
the interest rate on such Bonds shall be the resulting linked rate or effective fixed interest
rate to be paid by the Issuer with respect to such Paired Obligations;

and further provided, however, that there shall be excluded from Debt Service (x)
interest on Bonds (including Cross-over Refunding Bonds or Cross-over Refunded
Bonds) to the extent that Escrowed Interest or capitalized interest is available to pay such
interest, (y) Principal on Cross-over Refunded Bonds to the extent that the proceeds of
Cross-over Refunding Bonds are on deposit in an irrevocable escrow in satisfaction of the
requirements of Section 11-27-3, Utah Code, and such proceeds or the eamings thereon
are required to be applied to pay such Principal (subject to the possible use to pay the
Principal of the Cross-over Refunding Bonds under certain circumstances) and such
amounts so required to be applied are sufficient to pay such Principal, and (z) Repayment
Obligations to the extent that payments on Pledged Bonds relating to such Repayment
Obligations satisfy the Issuer's obligation to pay such Repayment Obligations.

"Debt Service Réserve Fund" means the Utah Transit Authority Debt Service
Reserve Fund created in Section 3.4 hereof to be held by the Trustee and administered
pursuant to Section 5.4 hereof.

“Debt Service Reserve Requirement™ for all Bonds issued hereunder means an
amount equal to the least of (i) 10% of the proceeds of all Series of Bonds determined on
the basis of their original principal amount (unless with respect to a Series of Bonds
original issue premium or original issue discount exceeds 2% of original principal for the
applicable Series of Bonds, then determined on the basis of initial purchase price to the
public), (ii) the maximum Aggregate Debt Service for any Fiscal Year while Bonds will
be Outstanding and (iii) 125% of the Average Aggregate Debt Service. The Debt Service
Reserve Requirement may be funded by a Reserve Instrument as herein provided. Upon
the issuance of Additional Bonds or upon any refunding of Bonds issued hereunder the
agpregate Debt Service Reserve Requirement for the Bonds then Outstanding and the
Additional Bonds, if any, to be so issued shall be determined based upon the Bonds to be
Outstanding immediately following the issuance of the Additional Bonds or such
refunding.

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 9



"Escrowed - Interest" means amounts irrevocably deposited in escrow in
accordance with the requirements of Section 11-27-3, Utah Code, in connection with the
issuance of Additional Bonds for refunding purposes or Cross-over Refunding Bonds
secured by such amounts or earnings on such amounts which are required to be applied to
pay interest on such Cross-over Refunding Bonds or the related Cross-over Refunded
Bonds.

“Event of Default” means with respect to any default or event of default hereunder
any occurrence or event specified in and defined by Section 7.1 hereof.

“Favorable Opinion" means an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the
action proposed to be taken is authorized or permitted by the Indenture and any
applicable Supplemental Indenture and will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross
income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Bonds which are the subject of
such opinion.

“Financing Expenses“ means Security Instrument Costs, Reserve Instrument
Costs and arbitrage rebate required to be paid to the United States with respect to the
Bonds.

 “First Supplemental Indenture” means the First Supplemental Indenture of Trust
dated October 1, 1997.

"Fiscal Year" means the'1.2-‘month period beginning January 1 of each year and
ending December 31 of such year, or such other fiscal year of the Issuer as may be
prescribed by law.

"Fitch" means Fitch, Inc.

"Government Obligations" means (i) direct and gencral obligations of the United
States of America, or those which are unconditionally guaranteed as to principal and
interest by the same, and (ii) pre-refunded municipal obligations meeting the following
criteria: '

{a) The municipal obligations may not be callable prior to maturity or,
altematively, the trustee has received irrevocable instructions concerning their
calling and redemption;

{b) The municipal obligations are secured by cash or securities
described in subparagraph (i) above (the "Defeasance Obligations™), which cash
or Defeasance Obligations may be applied only to interest, principal and premium
payments of such municipal obligations;

(¢)  The principal and interest of the Defeasance Obligations (plus any
cash in the fund) are sufficient to meet the liabilities of the municipal obligations;

(d The Defeasance Obligations serving as security for the municipal
obligations must be held by an escrow agent or a trustee;

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 10



{e) The Defeasance Obligations are not available to satisfy any other
claims, including those against the trustee or escrow agent; and

(f) The Defeasance Obligations are rated "AAA" by S&P and "Aaa"
by Moody's.

Additionally, evidences of ownership of proportionate interests in future interest
and principal payments of Defeasance Obligations are permissible. Investments in these
proportionate interests are limited to circumstances. wherein (i) a bank or trust company
acts as custodian and holds the underlying obligations; (ii) the owner of the investment is
the real party in interest and has the right to proceed directly and individually against the
obligor of the underlying obligations; and (iii) the underlying obligations are held in a
special account separate and apart from the custodian's general assets, and are not
available to satisfy any claim of the custodian, any person claiming through the custodian
or any person to whom the custodian may be obligated.

"Indenture" means the Original Indenture as amended and restated in whole by
this Amended and Restated General Indenture of Trust, as from time to time amended or
supplemented by Supplemental Indentures in accordance with the terms hereof.

"Initial Bonds" means the Sales Tax and Transportation Revenue Bonds, Series
1997A in the aggregate Principal Amount of $27,240,000 issued under the Original
Indenture.

"Interest Payment Date" means the stated payment date of an installment of
interest on the Bonds.

"Interest Rate Swap" means an agresment betwecn the Issuer or the Trustee (at
the written direction of the Issuer) and a Swap Counterparty related to Bonds of one or
more Series whereby a variable rate cash flow (which may be subject to any interest rate
cap) on a principal or notional amount is exchanged for a fixed rate of return on an equal
principal or notional amount. If the Issuer or the Trustee (at the written direction of the
Issuer) enters into more than one Interest Rate Swap with respect to a Series of Bonds,.
each Interest Rate Swap shall specify the same payment dates.

"Issuer" means Utah Transit Authority and its successors.
*Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service.

"Operation and Maintenance Expenses” means all necessary and reasonable
expenses of maintaining and operating the System, including all necessary operating
expenses, current maintenance charges, expenses of reasonable upkeep and repairs,
properly allocated share of charges for insurance, and all other expenses incidenta! to the
operation of the System, including the cost of merchandise for resale, promotional and
advertising expenses, services, utilities and personnel and all allocated general
administrative expenses of the Issuer, but shall exclude depreciation. As more fully
provided in Section 5.2(e) hereof, the Issuer shall establish a budget for Operation and
Maintenance Expenses for cach Fiscal Year and, except as otherwise provided in Section

UT_DOCS_A #1086350 v14 11



5.2(e), Operation and Maintenance Expenses in any Fiscal Year shall not exceed the
amount budgeted for such items in the Issuer’s final budget (as the same may be amended
from time to time) for such Fiscal Year.

“Qriginal Indenture” means the General Indenture of Trust dated as of October 1,
1997 between the Issuer and the Trustee. Upon the execution and delivery of this
Amended and Restated General Indenture the Original Indenture shall be superseded by
this Amended and Restated General Indenture.

"Outstanding” or "Bonds Qutstanding” means at any date all Bonds which have
not been canceled which have been or are being authenticated and delivered by the
Trustee under this Indenture, except:

(a) Any Bond or portion thereof which at the time has been paid or
deemed paid pursuant to Article X of this Indenture; and

(b) Any Bond in lieu of or in substitution for which a new Bond shall
have been authenticated and delivered hereunder.

"Paired Obligations" means any Series (or portion thereof) of Bonds designated as
Paired Obligations in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance or incurrence
thereof, which are simultaneously issued or incurred (i) the principa! of which is of equal
amount maturing and to be redeemed (or cancelled after acquisition thereof) on the same
dates and in the same amounts, and (ii) the interest rates which, taken together, result in
an irrevocably fixed interest rate obligation of the Issuer for the terms of such Bonds.

"Paying Agent" means the Trustee, appointed as the initial paying agent for the
‘Bonds pursuant to Section 11.5 hereof, and any additional or successor paying agent
appointed pursuant hereto.

"Permitted Investments” means any of the following securities:
6] Government Obligations;

(i)  Obligations of any of the following federal agencies which
obligations represent full faith and credit obligations of the United States
of America: the Export-Import Bank of the United States; the
Government National Mortgage Association; the Federal Financing Barnk;
the Farmer's Home Administration; the Federal Housing Administration;
the Maritime Administration: General Services Administration, Smail
Business Administration; or the Department of Housing and Urban
Development (PHA's),

(iii) Money market funds rated "AAAmM" or "AAAmM-G" or
better by S&P;

UT_DOGCS_A #1096350 v14 12



(iv) ~ Commercial paper which is rated at the time of purchase in
the single highest classification, P-1 by Moody's or A-1+ by S&P, and
which matures not more than 270 days after the date of purchase;

v) Bonds, notes or other evidences or indebtedness rated
"AAA" by S&P and "Aaa" by Moody's issued by the Federal National
Mortgage Association or the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
with remaining maturities not exceeding three years;

(vi)  United States dollar denominated deposit accounts, federal
funds and banker's acceptances with domestic commercial banks which
have a rating on their short term certificates of deposit on the date or
purchase of "A-1" or "A-1+" by S&P and "P-1" by Moody's and maturing
no more than 360 days after the date or purchase (ratings on holding
companies are not considered as the rating of the bank);

(vii) the fund held by the Treasurer for the State of Utah and
commonly known as the Utah Public Treasurer's Investment Fund,

(viii) Repurchase agreements with (1) any domestic bank, or
domestic branch of a foreign bank, the long term debt of which is rated at
least "A" by S&P and Moody's; or (2) any broker-dealer with "retail
customers” or a related affiliate thereof which broker-dealer has, or the
parent company (which guarantees the provider) of which has, long-term
debt tated at Jeast "A" by S&P and Moody's, which broker-dealer falls
under the jurisdiction of the Securities Investors Protection Corporation;
or (3) any other entity rated "A" or better by S&P and Moody's and
acceptable to the Security Instrument Issuer, if any, provided that:

(A) The market value of the collateral is maintained at
levels and upon such conditions as would be acceptable to S&P
and Moody's to maintain an "A" rating in an "A” rated structured
financing (with a market value approach and without regard to the
long-term debt rating of the provider);

(B) The Trustee or a third party acting solely as agent
therefor or for the Issuer (the "Holder of the Collateral”) has
possession of the collateral or the collateral has been transferred to
the Holder of the Collateral in accordance with applicable state and
federal laws (other than by means of entries on the transferor's
books);

(C)  The repurchase agreement shall state and an opinion
of counsel shall be rendered at the time such collateral is delivered
that the Holder of the Collateral has a perfected first priority
security interest in the collateral, any substituted collateral and all

UT_DOCS_A #1086350 v14 13



proceeds’ thereof (in the case of bearer securities, this means the
Holder of the Collateral is in possession);

(D)  All other requirements of S&P in respect of
repurchase agreements shall be met; and

(E)  The repurchase agreement shall provide that if
during its term the provider's rating by either Moody's or S&P is
withdrawn or suspended or falls below "A-" by S&P or "A3" by
Moody's, as appropriate, the provider must, at the direction of the
Issuer or the Trustee (who shall give such direction if so directed
by the Insurer), within 10 days of receipt of such direction,
repurchase all collateral and terminate the agreement, with no
penalty or premium to the Issuer or Trustee.

Notwithstanding the above, if a repurchase agreement has a term of 270 days or
less (with no evergreen provision), collateral levels need not be as specified in (A) above,
so long as such collateral levels are 103% or better and the provider is rated at least "A"
by S&P and Moody's, respectively; and

(ix) Investment agreements with a domestic or foreign bank or

corporation (other than a life or property casualty insurance company) the
long-term debt of which, or, in the case of a guaranteed corporation the
long-term debt, or, in the case of a monoline financial guaranty insurance
company, claims paying ability, of the guarantor is rated at least "AA" by
S&P and "Aa" by Moody's; provided that, by the terms of the investment
agreement:

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14

(A) interest payments are to be made to the Trustee at
time and in amounts as necessary to pay debt service (or, if the
investment agreement is for the construction fund, construction
draws) on the Bonds;

(B) the invested funds are available for withdrawal
without penalty or premium, at any time upon not more than seven
days' prior notice; the Issuer and the Trustee hereby agree to give
or cause to be given notice in accordance with the terms of the
investment agreement so as to receive funds thereunder with no
penalty or premium paid;

(C) the investment agreement shall state that is the
unconditional and general obligation of, and is not subordinated to
any other obligation of, the provider thereof or, if the provider is a
bank, the agreement or the opinion of counsel shall state that the
obligation of the provider to make payments thereunder ranks pari
passu with the obligations of the provider to its other depositors
and its other unsecured and unsubordinated creditors;

14



UT_DOCS_A #1026350 v14

(D) the Issuer or the Trustee receives the opinion of
domestic counsel (which opinion shall be addressed to the Issuer
and the Reserve Instrument Provider) that such investment
agreement is legal, valid, binding and enforceable upon the
provider in accordance with its terms and of foreign counsel (if
applicable) in form and substance acceptable, and addressed to, the
Insurer;

(E) the investment agreement shall provide that if
during its term

i) the provider's rating by either S&P or
Moody's falls below "AA-" or "Aa3", respectively, the
provider shall, at its option, within 10 days of receipt of
publication of such downgrade, either (i) collateralize the
investment agreement by delivering or transferring in
accordance with applicable state and federal laws (other
than by means of entries on the provider's books) to the
Issuer, the Trustee or a third party acting solely as agent
therefor (the "Holder of the Collateral") collateral free and
clear of any third-party liens or claims the market value of
which collateral is maintained at levels and upon such
conditions as would be acceptable to S&P and Moody's to
maintain an "A" rating in an "A" rated structured financing
(with a market value approach and without regard to the
long-term debt rating of the provider); or (ii) repay the
principal of and accrued but unpaid interest on the
investment, and

it) the provider's rating by either S&P or
Moeody's is withdrawn or suspended or falls below "A-" or
"A3", respectively, the provider must, at the direction of the
Issuer or the Trustee (who shall give such direction if so
directed by the Insurer), within 10 days of receipt of such
direction, repay the principal of and accrued but unpaid
interest on the investment, in either case with no penalty or
premium to the Issuer or Trustee, and

(F) The investment agreement shall state and an
opinion of counsel shall be rendered, in the event collateral is
required to be pledged by the provider under the terms of the
investment agreement, at the time such collateral is delivered, that
the Holder of the Collateral has a perfected first priority security
interest in the collateral, any substituted collateral and all proceeds
thereof (in the case of bearer securities, this means the Holder of
the Collateral is in possession),

15



(G) the investmient agreement must provide that if
during its term '

i) the provider shall default in its payment
obligations, the provider's obligations under the investment
agreement shall,.at the direction of the Issuer or the Trustee
(who shall give such direction if so directed by the Insurer),
be accelerated and amounts invested and accrued but
unpaid interest thereon shall be repaid to the Issuer or
Trustee, as appropriate, and

ii) the provider shall become insolvent, not pay
its debts as they become due, be declared or petition to be
declared bankrupt, etc. ("event of insolvency"), the
provider's obligations shall automatically be accelerated
and amounts invested and accrued but unpaid interest
thereon shall be repaid to the Issuer or Trustee, as
appropriate. .

"Pledged Bonds" means any Bonds that have been (i) pledged or in which any
interest has otherwise been granted to a Security Instrument Issuer as collateral security
for Security Instrument Repayment Obligations or (ii) purchased and held by a Security
Instrument Issuer pursuant to a Security Instrument.

. “Pledged Revenues” means (i) the Sales and Uses Taxes, plus (ii) interest earned
by and profits derived from the sale of investments in the funds and accounts created by
the Indenture, plus (iii) all other Revenues (if any) after provision has been made for the
payment from the Revenues described in this subparagraph (iii) of the Operation and
Maintenance Expenses. ' ‘

"Principal’ means (a) with respect to any Capital Appreciation Bond, the
Accreted Amount thereof (the difference between the stated amount to be paid at
‘maturity and the Accreted Amount being deemed uneamned interest), except as used in
conmection with the authorization and issuance of Bonds and with the order of priority of
payment of Bonds after an Event of Default, in which case "Principal" means the initial
public offering price of a Capital Appreciation Bond (the difference between the
Accreted Amount and the initial public offering price being deemed interest), and (b)
with respect to any Current Interest Bond, the principal amount of such Bond payable at
maturity.

"Principal Installment” means, as of any date of calculation, (a) with respect to
any Series of Bonds, so long as any Bonds thereof are Outstanding, (1) the Principal
amount of Bonds of such Series due on a certain future date for which no Sinking Fund
Installments have been established, or (2) the unsatisfied balance (determined as provided
in the definition of "Sinking Fund Instaliment” in this Section) of any Sinking Fund
Installment due on a certain future date for Bonds of such Series, plus the amount of the
sinking fund redemption premiums, if any, which would be applicable upon redemption

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 16



of such Bonds on such future date in a Principal amount equal to such unsatisfied balance
of such Sinking Fund Installment, or (3) if such future dates coincide as to different
Bonds of such Series, the sum of such Principal amount of Bonds and of such unsatisfied
balance of such Sinking Fund Installment due on such future date plus such applicable
redemption premiums, if any, and (b) with respect to any Repayment Obligations, the
principal amount of such Repayment Obligations due on a certain future date.

"Project” means the acquisition or construction of additions, extensions, facilities,
equipment or buildings for use as, or improvements to or equipment or furnishings for,
the System.

"Put Bond" means any Bond which is part of a Series of Bonds which is subject to
purchase by the Issuer, its agent or a third party from the Owner of the Bond pursuant to
provisions of the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of the Bond and
designating it as a "Put Bond."

"Rating Agency" means Moody's, Fitch or S&P and their successors and assigns
to the extent such agencies then maintain a rating of the Bonds at the request of the
Issuer. If any of such corporations cease to act as a securities rating agency, the Issuer
may, with the approval of the Trustee, designate any nationally recognized securities
rating agency as a replacement.

"Registrar" means the Trustee (or other party designated as Registrar by
Supplemental Indenture), appointed as the initial registrar for the Bonds pursuant to
Sections 2.8 and 11.5 hereof, and any additional or successor registrar appointed pursuant
hereto.

"Regular Record Date" means, with tespect to any Interest Payment Date for any
Series of Bonds, the date specified as the Regular Record Date in the Supplemental
Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Series of Bonds.

"Remarketing Agent” means a remarketing agent or commercial paper dealer
appointed by the Issuer pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture.

"Repayment Obligations" means, collectively, all outstanding Security Instrument
Repayment Obligations and Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations.

"Reserve Instrument” means a device or instrument issued by a Reserve
Instrument Provider to satisfy all or any portion of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement
applicable to a Series of Bonds. The term "Reserve Instrument” includes, by way of
example and not of limitation, letters of credit, bond insurance policies, surety bonds,
standby bond purchase agreements, lines of credit and other devices.

"Reserve Instrument Agreement" means any agreement entered into by the Issuer
and a Reserve Instrument Provider pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture and/or the
applicable portions of a Supplemental Indenture providing for the issuance by such
Reserve Instrument Provider of a Reserve Instrument.

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 17



"Reserve Instrument Costs" means all fees, premiums, expenses and similar costs,
other than Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations, required to be paid to a Reserve
Instrument Provider pursuant to a Reserve Instrument Agreement, Each Reserve
Instrument Agreement shall specify the fees, premiums, expenses and costs constituting
Reserve Instrument Costs.

"Reserve Instrument Coverage" means, as of any date of calculation, the
aggregate amount available to be paid to the Trustee pursuant hereto under all Reserve
Instruments.

"Reserve Instrument Fund" means the Utah Transit Authority Reserve Instrument
Fund created in Section 3.5 hereof to be held by the Trustee and administered pursuant to
Section 5.5 hereof.

"Reserve Instrument Limit" means, as of any date of calculation and with respect
to any Reserve Instrument, the maximum aggregate amount available to be paid under
such Reserve Instrument into the Debt Service Reserve Fund assuming for purposes of
such calculation that the amount initially available under each Reserve Instrument has not
becn reduced or that the amount initially available under each Reserve Instrument has
only been reduced as a result of the payment of principal of the applicable Series of
Bonds.

"Reserve Instrument Provider" means any bank or other financial institution
having at least a rating of “AA-" and “Aa3” by S&P and Moody’s, respectively, or its
equivalent or any insurance company or surety company rated in the highest ratmg
category by S&P and Moody's and, if rated by A. M, Best & Company, rated in the
highest rating category by A. M. Best & Company, issuing a Reserve Instrument.

"Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations” means, as of any date of calculation
and with respect to any Reserve Instrument Agreement, those outstanding amounts
payable by the Issuer under such Reserve Instrument Agreement to repay the Reserve
Instrument Provider for payments previously made by it pursuant to a Reserve
Instrument. There shall not be included in the calculation of Reserve Instrument
Repayment Obligations any Reserve Instrument Costs. Each Reserve Instrument
Agreement and the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the execution and delivery of
such Reserve Instrument Agreement shall specify the amounts payable under it which,
when outstanding, shall constitute Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations and the
Reserve Instrument Agreement shall specify the portions of such amounts that are
allocable as principal of and as interest on such Reserve Instrument Repayment
Obligations. '

"Revenue Fund" means the Utah Transit Authority Revenue Fund created in
Section 3.2 hereof to be held by the Issuer and administered pursuant to Section 5.2
hereof.

*Revenues" means (i) all revenues, including but not limited to fare box revenues,
advertising revenues, fees, income, rents and receipts received or earned by the Issuer

UT_DCCS_A #1096350 v14 18



from or attributable to the ownership and operation of the System, together with all
interest earned by and profits derived from the sale of investments in the related funds
thereof and the Funds and accounts created hereunder or proceeds derived from the sale
of any part of the System, (ii) the Sales and Use Taxes and (iii) any other legally
available funds of the Issuer from other sources, properly budgeted on an annual basis for
the payment of Operation and Maintenance Expenses and principal and interest on the
Bonds; provided, however, that Revenues shall not include federal and State capital and
operating grant monies received by the Issuer in connection with the operation of the
System, to the extent inclusion therein is prohibited by State or federal law and
regulations. Sections 6.1 and 6.15 require that such grant monies be used for Operation
and Maintenance Expenses to the extent received for that purpose.

"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, a Division of the McGraw-Hill
Companies.

“Qales and Use Taxes” means collectively, (i) the % of 1% sales and use tax
revenues received by the Issuer pursuant to Section 59-12-501, Utah Code Annotated
1953, as amended, (ii) the % of 1% sales and use tax revenues received by the Issuer from
within Weber, Davis and Salt Lake Counties pursuant to Scction 59-12-502, Utah Code
Annotated 1953, as amended (less 25% of such sales and use tax revenues collected
within Salt Lake County which must be allocated to fund new construction, major
renovations, and improvements to Interstate 15 and' state highways pursuant to Section
59-12-502(5)(b), Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended) and (iii) any other sales and
use tax revenues legally available to the Issuer and affirmatively pledged under the
Indenture by Supplemental Indenture.

"Security Instrument” means an instrument or other device issued by a Security
Instrument Issuer to pay, or to provide security or liquidity for, a Series of Bonds. The
term "Security Instrument” includes, by way of example and not of limitation, letters of
credit, bond insurance policies, standby bond purchase agreements, lines of credit and
other security instruments and credit enhancement or liquidity devices (but does not
include a Reserve Instrument); provided, however, that no such device or instrument shall
be a "Security Instrument” for purposes of this Indenture unless specifically so designated
in a Supplemental Indenture authorizing the use of such device or instrument.

"Security Instrument Agreement" means any agreement entered into by the Issuer
and 2 Security Instrument Issuer pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture and/or the
applicable portions of a Supplemental Indenture providing for the issuance by such
Security Instrument Issuer of a Security Instrument.

"Security Instrument Costs" means, with respect to any Security Instrument, all
fees, premiums, expenses and similar costs, other than Security Instrument Repayment
Obligations, required to be paid to a Security Instrument Issuer pursuant to a Security
Instrument Agreement or the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the use of such
Security Instrument. Such Security Instrument Agreement or Supplemental Indenture
shall specify any fees, premiums, expenses and costs constituting Security Instrument
Costs.

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 vi4 19



"Security Instrument Issuer" means any bank or other financial institution,
insurance company, surety company or other institution issuing a Security Instrument.

"Security Instrument Repayment Obligations” means, as of any date of
calculation and with respect to any Security Instrument Agreement, any outstanding
amounts payable by the Issuer under the Security Instrument Agreement or the
Supplemental Indenture authorizing the use of such Security Instrument to repay the
Security Instrument Issuer for payments previously or concurrently made by the Security
Instrument Issuer pursuant to a Security Instrument. There shall not be included in the
calculation of the amount of Security Instrument Repayment Obligations any Security
Instrument Costs. Each Security Instrument Agreement or the Supplemental Indenture
authorizing the usc of such Security Instrument shall specify any amounts payable under
it which, when outstanding, shall constitute Security Instrument Repayment Obligations
and shall specify the portions of any such amounts that are allocable as principal of and
as interest on such Security Instrument Repayment Obligations.

"Qerial Bonds" means all Bonds other than Term Bonds.

"Series” means all of the Bonds authenticated and delivered on original issuance
and identified pursuant to the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Bonds as a
separate Series of Bonds, and any Bonds thereafter authenticated and delivered in lieu
thereof or in substitution therefore.

"Sinking Fund Installment" means an amount SO designated pursuant to a
Supplemental Indenture. The portion of any such Sinking Fund Instailment remaining
after the deduction of any such amounts credited pursuant to Sections 5.3(c) or 5.9
toward the same (or the original amount of any such Sinking Fund Installment if no such
amounts shall have been credited toward the same) shall constitute the unsatisfied
balance of such Sinking Fund Installment for the purpose of calculation of Sinking Fund
Installments due on a future date. -

"Special Record Date” means such date as may be fixed for the payment of
defaulted interest on the Bonds in accordance with this Indenture.

"State" means the State of Utah.

"Supplemental Indenture” means any indenture between the Issuer and the
Trustee entered into pursuant to and in compliance with the provisions of Article IX
hereof.

"Swap Counterparty” means a member of the International Swap Dealers
Association rated in one of the three top rating categories by at least one of the Rating
Agencies and meeting the requirements of applicable laws of the State. The
documentation with respect to each Interest Rate Swap shall require the Swap
Counterparty to maintain its rating in one of the three top rating categories by at least one
of the Rating Agencies.

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 20



"Swap Payments" means as of each payment date specified in an Interest Rate
Swap, the amount, if any, payable to the Swap Counterparty by the Trustee on behalf of
the Issuer,

"Swap Receipts" means as of each payment date specified in an Interest Rate
Swap, the amount, if any, payable to the Trustee for the account of the Issuer by the Swap
Counterparty.

"System" means the Issuer's public transit system, together with any additions,
repairs, renewals, replacements, expansions, extensions and improvements to said
System, or any part thereof, hereafter acquired or constructed, and together with all lands,
easements, interests in land, licenses, water rights and rights of way of the Issuer and all
other works, property, structures, equipment of the Issuer and contract rights and other
tangible and intangible assets of the [ssuer now or hereafter owned or used in connection
with, or related to said System.

"Term Bonds" means the Bonds which shall be subject to retirement by operation
of mandatory sinking fund redemptions from the Bond Fund.

"Trustee” means Zions First National Bank, Salt Lake City, Utah, or any
successor corporation resulting from or surviving any consolidation or merger to which it
or its successors may be a party and any successor trustee at any time serving as
successor trustee hereunder.

"Utah Code" means Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended.

"Variable Rate Bonds" means, as of any date of calculation, Bonds the terms of
which on such date of calculation are such that interest thereon for any future period of
time is expressed to be calculated at a rate which is not susceptible to a precise
determination.

Section 1.2 Indenture to_Constitute Contract. In consideration of the purchase
and acceptance from time to time of any and all of the Bonds authorized to be issued
hereunder by the Registered Owners thereof, the issuance from time to time of any and
all Security Instruments by Security Instrument Issuers, and the issuance from time to
time of any and all Reserve Instruments by Reserve Instrument Providers pursuant
hereto, this Indenture shall be deemed to be and shall constitute a contract between the
Issuer and the Owners from time to time of the Bonds, the Security Instrument Issuers
and the Reserve Instrument Providers, and the pledge made in this Indenture and the
covenants and agreements herein set forth to be performed by or on behalf of the Issuer
shall be, FIRST, for the equal benefit, protection and security of the Owners of any and
all of the Bonds and the Security Instrument Issuers of any and all of the Security
Instruments all of which, regardless of the time or times of their issuance, delivery,
maturity or expiration, shall be of equal rank without preference, priority or distinction of
any of the Bonds or Security Instrument Repayment Obligations over any others, except
as expressly provided in or permitted by this Indenture, and SECOND, for the equal
benefit, protection and security of the Reserve Instrument Providers of any and all of the

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 21



Reserve Instruments which, regardless of the time or times of their issuance, delivery or
termination, shall be of equal rank without preference, priority or distinction of any
Reserve Instrument over any other thereof.

Section 1.3  Construction. This Indenture, except where the context by clear
implication herein otherwise requires, shall be construed as follows:

(@) . The terms "hereby," "hereof," "herein,” "hereto,” "hereunder," and
any similar terms used in this Indenture shall refer to this Indenture in its entirety
unless the context clearly indicates otherwise.

M) Words in the singular number include the plural, and words in the
plural include the singular.

(c) Words in the masculine gender include the feminine and the
neuter, and when the sense so indicates, words of the neuter gender refer to any
gender.

(d)  Articles, sections, subsections, paragraphs and subparagraphs
mentioned by number, letter, or otherwise, correspond to the respective articles,
sections, subsections, paragraphs and subparagraphs hereof so numbered or
otherwise so designated.

{e) The titles or descriptive headings applied to articles, sections and
subsections herein are inserted only as a matter of convenience and ease of
reference and in no -way define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any
provisions of this Indenture.

) Capitalized terms used in the preambles to this Indenture and not
otherwise defined shall have the meanings given to such terms in this Article L.

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 22



ARTICLE II
THE BONDS

Section 2.1  Authorization of Bonds. There is hereby authorized hereunder an
issue of Bonds which may, if and when authorized by Supplemental Indenture, be issued
in one or more separate Series. Each Series of Bonds shall be authorized by a
Supplemental Indenture, which shall state the purpose or purposes for which each such
Series of Bonds is being issued. The aggregate principal amount of Bonds which may be
issued shall not be limited except as provided herein or as may be limited by law,
provided that the aggregate principal amount of Bonds of each such Series shall not
exceed the amount specified in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing each such Series
of Bonds.

Section 2.2  Description of Bonds; Payment.

(a)  The Bonds of each Series issued hereunder shall be issued only as
fully registered bonds, and shall be dated, shall bear interest at a rate or rates not
exceeding the maximum rate permitted by law on the date of initial issuance of
Bonds of such Series, and shall be payable on the date, shall be stated to mature
on the date or dates and in the years and shall be subject to redemption prior to
their respective maturities, all as set forth in the Supplemental Indenture
authorizing such Series of Bonds. The Bonds of each Series shall be designated
[insert descriptive words, if desired] Sales Tax Revenue [and] [Refunding] Bonds,
Series " of the Utah Transit Authority, in each case inserting the year
in which the Bonds are issued and an identifying Series letter.

(b) Unless otherwise specified by Supplemental Indenture, payment of
the interest on any Bond shall be made to the person appearing on the Bond
registration books of the Registrar hereinafter provided for at the close of business
on the Regular Record Date for such interest as the Registered Owner thereof by
check or draft mailed to the Registered Owner at its address as it appears on such
registration books. Any such interest not so punctually paid or duly provided for
shall forthwith cease to be payable to the Registered Owner of any Bond on such
Regular Record Date, and may be paid to the person who is the Registered Owner
thereof at the close of business on a Special Record Date for the payment of such
defaulted interest to be fixed by the Trustee, notice thereof to be given to such
Registered Owner not less than ten days prior to such Special Record Date. The
Principal of and premium, if any, on Bonds are payable upon presentation and
surrender thereof at the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee as Paying
Agent, except as otherwise provided by Supplemental Indenture. All such
payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon
such Bond to the extent of the sum or sums so paid. Principal of, premium, if
any, and interest on the Bonds shall be payable in any coin or currency of the
United States of America, which at the respective dates of payment thereof, is
legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.

UT_DOGS_A #1098350 v14 23



()  The Bonds of each Series may contain or have endorsed thereon
such provisions, specifications and descriptive words not inconsistent with the
provisions hereof as may be necessary or desirable to comply with custom, the
rules of any securities exchange or commission or brokerage board or otherwise,
as may be specified in the Supplemental Indenturc authorizing such Series of
Bonds.

(d) Bonds of a Series may be structured as full book-entry bonds if
specified by the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series of Bonds.

Section2.3  Execution; Limited Obligation. The Bonds shall be executed on
behalf of the Issuer with the manual or official facsimile signature of the General
Manager of the Issuer, countersigned with the manual or official facsimile signature of its
Secretary, and shall have impressed or imprinted thereon the corporate seal or facsimile
thereof of the Issuer. In case any officer, whose signature or the facsimile of whose
signature shall appear on the Bonds, shall cease to be such officer before the delivery of
such Bonds, such signature or facsimile shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all
purposes, the same as if he had remained in office until delivery. The provisions of this
Section relating to the execution of Bonds may be changed as they apply to the Bonds of
any Series by the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series of Bonds.

The Bonds and the Repayment Obligations are not a general obligation
indebtedness or pledge of the full faith and credit of the Issuer or of the State or any
agency, instrumentality or political subdivision thereof, but are special limited obligations
of the Issuer payable from and secured solely by the Pledged Revenues and other monies
in funds and accounts held by the Trustee hereunder (except as provided in Section 5.7
hereof) and, except as provided herein, the Issuer hereby pledges and assigns the same as
provided in the Granting Clause of this Indenture. The issuance of the Bonds and
delivery of any Security Instrument Agreement or Reserve Instrument Agreement shall
not, directly, indirectly or contingently, obligate the Issuer or the State or any agency,
instrumentality or political subdivision thereof to levy any form of ad valorem taxation
therefore.

Section 2.4  Authentication and Delivery of Bonds.

(a) The Issuer shall deliver executed Bonds of each Series to the
Trustee for authentication. Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions for
authentication of Bonds set forth herein, the Trustee shall authenticate such
Bonds, and deliver them upon the order of the Issuer to the purchasers thereof
upon the payment by the purchasers to the Trustee for the account of the Issuer of
the purchase price therefor. Delivery of such Bonds by the Trustee shall be full
acquittal to the purchasers for the purchase price of such Bonds. The proceeds of
the sale of such Bonds shall, however, be disposed of only as provided herein and
in the related Supplemental Indenture.

(b) No Bond shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose or entitled to
any security or benefit hereunder, unless and until a certificate of authentication

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 24



on such Bond substantially in the form set forth in the Supplemental Indenture
authorizing such Bond shall have been duly executed by the Trustee, and such
executed certificate of the Trustee upon any such Bond shall be conclusive
evidence that such Bond has been authenticated and delivered hereunder. The
Trustee's certificate of authentication on any Bond shall be deemed to have been
executed by it if manually signed by an authorized officer of the Trustee, but it
shall not be necessary that the same officer sign the certificate of authentication
on all of the Bonds issued hereunder.

(c) Prior to the authentication by the Trustee of each Series of Bonds,
there shall first have been filed with the Trustee:

(i) - A copy, duly certified by the Secretary of the Board of
Trustees of the Issuer, of this Indenture (to the extent not theretofore so
filed) and the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series of Bonds
and which Supplemental Indenture shall specify the following:

(A)  The purpose for which such Series of Bonds is to be
issued;

{(B) The authorized Principal amount and Series
designation of such Series of Bonds;

(C)  The dated date and the maturity date or dates of the
Bonds of such Series;

(D)  The interest rate or rates (including a zero interest
rate) of the Bonds of such Series, or the manner of determining
such rate or rates, provided that the Supplemental Indenture shall
specify the maximum rate that the Bonds of such Series may bear
if such Bonds are Variable Rate Bonds;

(E)  The authorized denominations of the Bonds of such
Series;

(F)  The designation, amount and due date of each
Sinking Fund Installment, if any, for the Bonds of such Series;

(G) The Interest Payment Dates for such Series of
Bonds;

(H) The Regular Record Date for the Bonds of such
Series;

@ Any Debt Service Reserve Requirement for such
Series of Bonds and the amount, if any, to be deposited from the
proceeds of such Series of Bonds into any Series Subaccount in the

UT_DOCS_A #1086350 v14 25



Debt Service Reserve Account established for such Series of
Bonds;

)] To the extent applicable, the obligations payable
under any Security Instrument Agreement or Reserve Instrument
Agreement entered into in connection with the issuance of the
Bonds of such Series which, when outstanding, shall constitute
Security Instrument Repayment Obligations or Reserve Instrument
Repayment Obligations, as the case may be, and which portions of
such Security Instrument Repayment Obligations or Reserve
Instrument Repayment Obligations, as the case may be, are to be
attributed to principal of and to interest on such Repayment
Obligations unless provided in the related agreement; and

(K)  Any further covenants by the Issuer required by any
Security Instrument Issuer, Reserve Instrument Provider or
purchaser of Bonds deemed necessary or desirable by the Issuer in
connection with the sale of such Series of Bonds.

(ii) A copy, certified by the Secretary of the Board of Trustees
of the Issuer, of the proceedings of the Issuer approving the execution and
delivery of the instruments specified in Subparagraph (i) above and the
execution and delivery of such Series of Bonds, together with a certificate,
dated as of the date of authentication of such Series of Bonds, of the
Secretary of the Board of Trustees of the Issuer that such proceedings are
still in force and effect without amendments except as shown in such
proceedings.

(iii) A request and authorization to the Trustee of the Issuer to
authenticate such Series of Bonds in the aggregate Principal amount
therein specified and deliver them to purchasers therein identified upon
payment to the Trustee, for account of the Issuer, of the sum specified
therein.

(iv) A certification of an Authorized Representative that the
applicable requirements of Section 2.15 hereof have been met.

(v} An opinion of Bond Counsel dated the date of
authentication of such Series of Bonds to the effect that (A) the Issuer has
duly authorized, executed and delivered this Indenture and the related
Supplemental Indenture; (B) such Series of Bonds have been duly and
validly authorized and are being issued in accordance with law and this
Indenture; (C) this Indenture is 2 valid and binding obligation of the
Issuer; (D) this Indenture creates a pledge of the Pledged Revenues and of
monies in applicable Funds and Accounts created hereby, subject to
application thereof to the purposes and on the terms and conditions

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 26



provided hereby; and (E) such Series of Bonds are valid and binding
special obligations of the Issuer.

(d) The Issuer may authorize by Supplemental Indenture the delivery
to the Trustee of one or more Security Instruments with respect to any Series of
Bonds and the execution and delivery of any Security Instrument Agreements
deemed necessary in connection therewith.

(e) Subject to any limitations contained in a Supplemental Indenture,
the Issuer may provide a Security Instrument for any Series of Bonds (or may
substitute one Security Instrument for another).

69) The Issuer may authorize by Supplemental Indenture the issuance
and delivery to the Trustee of one or more Reserve Instruments and the execution
and delivery of any Reserve Instrument Agreements deemed necessary in
connection therewith.

(2)  The Issuer may authorize by Supplemental Indenture the issuance
of Put Bonds; provided that any obligation of the Issuer to pay the purchase price
of any such Put Bonds shail not be secured by a pledge of Pledged Revenues on a
parity with the pledge contained in Section 6.2 hereof.. The Issuer may provide
for the appointment of such Remarketing Agents, indexing agents, tender agents
or other agents as the [ssuer may determine.

Section 2.5  Special Provisions for the Issuance of Additional Bonds for
Refunding Purposes.

(a) One or more Series of Additional Bonds for refunding purposes
may be issued in such Principal amount which, when taken together with other
legally available funds, will provide the Issuer with funds sufficient to accomplish
the refunding of all or a part of the Outstanding Bonds of one or more Series, or
all or part of any other borrowing of the Issuer payable in whole or in part from
the Pledged Revenues, including in each case the payment of all expenses in
connection with such refunding.

(h) Each Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of a Series
of Additional Bonds for refunding purposes shall specify the Bonds or other debt
to be refunded.

Section 2.6  Provisions Regarding Bonds Secured by a Security Instrument.

(a)  The Issuer may include such provisions in 2 Supplemental
Indenture authorizing the issuance of a Series of Bonds secured by a Security
Instrument as the [ssuer deems appropriate, including:

: i) So long as the Security Instrument is in full force and
effect, and payment on the Security Instrument is not in default, (A) the
Security Instrument Issuer shall be deemed to be the Owner of the

-UT_DOCS_A #1086350 v14 27



OQutstanding Bonds of such Series (I) when the approval, consent or action
of the Bondowners for such Series of Bonds is required or may be
exercised under the Indenture and (II) following an Event of Default and
(B) the Indenture may not be amended in any manner which adversely
affects the rights of such Security Instrument Issuer without its prior
written consent.

(i)  In the event that the Principal and redemption price, if
applicable, and interest due on any Series of Bonds Outstanding shall be
paid under the provisions of a Security Instrument, all covenants,
agreements and other obligations of the Issuer to the Bondowners of such
Series of Bonds shall continue to exist and such Security Instrument Issuer
shall be subrogated to the rights of such Bondowners in accordance with
the terms of such Security Instrument.

) In addition, such Supplemental Indenture may establish such
provisions as are necessary to provide relevant information fo the Security
Instrument Issuer and to provide a mechanism for paying Principal Installments
and interest on such Series of Bonds from the Security Instrument.

Section 2.7 Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or_Destroyed Bonds. In the event any
Bond is mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the Issuer may execute and the Trustee may
authenticate a new Bond of like date, Series, maturity and denomination as that mutilated,
lost, stolen or destroyed; provided that, in the case of any mutilated Bond, such mutilated
Bond shall first be surrendered to the Trustee, and in the case of any lost, stolen or
destroyed Bond, there shall be first furnished to the Trustee evidence of such loss, theft or
destruction satisfactory to the Trustee, together with indemnity satisfactory to it. In the
event any such Bond shall have matured, instead of issuing a duplicate Bond, the Trustee
may pay the same without surrender thereof upon compliance with the foregoing. The
Trustee may charge the Registered Owner of such Bond with its reasonable fees and
expenses in this connection. Any Bond issued pursuant to this Section shall be deemed
part of the Series of the Bonds in respect of which it was issued and an otiginal additional
contractual obligation of the Issuer.

Section 2.8  Registration of Bonds; Persons Treated as Owners. The Issuer
shall cause the books for the registration and for the transfer of the Bonds as provided
herein to be kept by the Trustee which is hereby constituted and appointed the Registrar
of the Issuer with respect to the Bonds, provided, however, that the Issuer may by
Supplemental Indenture select a party other than the Trustee to act as Registrar with
respect to the Series of Bonds issued under said Supplemental Indenture. Upon the
occurrence of an Event of Default which would require any Security Instrument Issuer to
make payment under a Security Instrument Agreement, the Registrar shall make such
registration books available to the Security Instrument Issuer. Any Bond may, in
accordance with its terms, be transferred only upon the registration books kept by the
Registrar, by the person in whose name it is registered, in person or by its duly authorized
attorney, upon surrender of such Bond for cancellation, accompanied by delivery of a
written instrument of transfer in a form approved by the Registrar, duly executed. No

UT_DOCS_A #1098350 v14 28



transfer shall be effective until entered on the registration books kept by the Registrar.
Upon surrender for transfer of any Bond at the principal corporate trust office of the
Trustee, duly endorsed by, or accompanied by a written instrument or instruments of
transfer in form satisfactory to the Trustee and duly executed by the Registered Owner or
its attorney duly authorized in writing, the Issuer shall execute and the Trustee shall
quthenticate and deliver in the name of the transferee or transferees, a new Bond or
Bonds of the same Series, designation, maturity and interest rate for a like aggregate
principal amount as the Bond surrendered for transfer. Bonds may be exchanged at the
principal corporate trust office of the Trustee for a like aggregate Principal amount of
Bonds of other authorized denominations of the same Series and the same maturity. The
execution by the Issuer of any Bond of any authorized denomination shall constitute full
and due authorization of such denomination, and the Trustee shall thereby be authorized
to authenticate and deliver such Bond. Except as otherwise provided in a Supplemental
Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, the Issuér and the Trustee shall not be
required to transfer or exchange any Bond (i) during the period from and including any
Regular Record Date, to and including the next succeeding Interest Payment Date, (ii)
during the period from and including the day fifteen days prior to any Special Record
Date, to and including the date of the proposed payment pertaining thereto, or (iii) during
the period of fifteen days prior to the mailing of notice calling such Bond for redemption
nor at any time following the mailing of notice calling such Bond for redemption.

Bonds surrendered for payment, redemption or exchange, and Bonds purchased
from any monies held by the Trustee hereunder or surrendered to the Trustee by the
Issuer, shall be promptly canceled and, to the extent permitted by law, destroyed by the
Trustee.

The Issuer, the Registrar and the Paying Agent may treat and consider the person
in whose name each Bond is registered on the registration books kept by the Registrar as
the bolder and absolute owner thereof for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on
account of, the principal or redemption price thereof and interest due thereon and for all
other purposes whatsoever, and neither the Issuer, nor the Registrar nor the Paying Agent
shall be affected by any notice to the contrary. Payment of or on account of either
Principal of or interest on any Bond shall be made only to or upon order of the Registered
Owner thereof or his legal representative, but such registration may be changed as
hereinabove provided. All such payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and
discharge the liability upon such Bond to the extent of the sum or sums so paid.

The Trustee shall require the payment by the Registered Owner requesting
exchange or transfer of Bonds of any tax or other governmental charge of the Trustee as
Registrar which are required to be paid with respect to such exchange or transfer and
such charges shall be paid before such new Bond shall be delivered.

Section 2.9  Redemption Provisions. The Term Bonds of each Series of Bonds
shall be subject, to the extent provided in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing each
such Series of Bonds, to redemption prior to maturity by operation of Sinking Fund
Installments. The Bonds of each Series shall further be subject to redemption prior to:
maturity at such times and upon such terms as shall be fixed by such Supplemental

UT_DOGS_A #1096350 v14 -~ .29



Indenture. Except as otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture, if Jess than all
Bonds of a Series are to be redeemed, the particular maturities of such Bonds to be
redeemed and the Principal amounts of such maturities to be redeémed shall be selected
by the Issuer. If less than all of the Bonds of any maturity of a Series are to be redeemed,
the particular Bonds or portion of Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed shall be
selected by lot by the Trustee in such manner as the Trustee in its discretion may deem
fair and appropriate.

Section 2.10 Notice of Redemption.

(2) In the event any of the Bonds are to be redeemed, the Registrar
shall cause notice to be given as provided in this Section 2.10. Unless otherwise
specified in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of the applicable
Series of Bonds, notice of such redemption (x) shall be filed with the paying agent
designated for the Bonds being redeemed; and (y) shall be mailed by first class
mail, postage prepaid, to all Registered Owners of Bonds to be redeemed at their
addresses as they appear on the registration books of the Registrar and to each
related Security Instrument Issuer at least thirty (30) days but not more than sixty
(60) days prior to the date fixed for redemption. Such notice shall state the
following information:

(1) the complete official name of the Bonds, including Series,
to be redeemed, the identification numbers of Bonds and the CUSIP
numbers, if any, of the Bonds being redeemed, provided that any such
notice may state that no representation is made as to the correctness of
CUSIP numbers either as printed on such Bonds or as contained in the
notice of redemption;

(i) any other descriptive information needed to accurately
identify the Bonds being redeemed, including, but not limited to, the dated
date of, and interest rate on, such Bonds;

(iii) in the case of partial redemption of any Bonds, the
respective Principal amounts thereof to be redeemed and a statement to the
effect that on or after the redemption date, upon surrender of such Bond, a
new Bond in Principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of such
Bond will be issued;

(iv)  the date of mailing of redemption notices, the record date
for such purpose and the redemption date;

(v)  theredemption price;
(vi) that on the redemption date the redemption price will
become due and payable upon each such Bond or portion thereof called

for redemption, and that interest thereon shall cease to accrue from and
after said date; and

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 30



(vii) the place where such Bonds are to be surrendered for
payment of the redemption price, designating the name and address of the
Paying Agent with the name of a contact person and telephone number.

(b) In addition to the foregoing, further notice of any redemption of
Bonds hereunder shall be given by the Trustee, at least two (2) Business Days in
advance of the mailed notice to Registered Owners, by registered or certified mail
or overnight delivery service, to all registered securities depositories as
reasonably determined by the Trustee then in the business of holding substantial
amounts of obligations of types comprising the Bonds and to at least two national
information services that disseminate notices of redemption of obligations such as
the Bonds. Such further notice shall contain the information required in clause (a)
above. Failure to give all or any portion of such further notice shall not in any
manner defeat the effectiveness of a call for redemption.

{c) Each notice of redemption may further state, in the case of
redemption at the option of the Issuer, that such redemption shall be conditioned
upon the receipt by the Trustee on or prior to the date fixed for such redemption
of monies sufficient to pay the Principal of and interest on such Bonds to be
redeemed and that if such monies shall not have been so received said notice shall
be of no force and effect and the Issuer shall not be required to redeem such
Bonds. In the event that such notice of redemption contains such a condition and
such monies are not so received, the redemption shall not be made and the Trustee
shall within a reasonablé time thereafter give notice, one time, in the same manner
in which the notice of redemption was given, that such monies were not so
received.

{d) Upon the payment of the redemption price of Bonds being
redeemed, each check or other transfer of funds issued for such purpose shall bear
the CUSIP number identifying, by issue and maturity, the Bonds being redeemed
with the proceeds of such check or other transfer.

Any notice mailed shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given,
whether or not the Owner of such Bonds receives the notice. Receipt of such notice shall
not be a condition precedent to such redemption, and failure so to receive any such notice
by any of such registered Owners or any defect therein shall not affect the validity of the
proceedings for the redemption of the Bonds.

Section 2.11 Partially Redeemed Bonds. Unless otherwise specified in the
Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of the applicable Series of Bonds, in
case any registered Bond shall be redeemed in part only, upon the presentation of such
Bond for such partial redemption, the Issuer shall execute and the Trusiee shall
authenticate and shall deliver or cause to be delivered to or upon the written order of the
Registered Owner thereof, at the expense of the Issuer, a Bond or Bonds of the same
Series, interest rate and maturity, in aggregate Principal amount equal to the unredeemed
portion of such registered Bond. A portion of any Bond of a denomination of more than
minimum denomination of the Bonds specified in the Supplemental Indenture to be

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 31



redeemed will be in the Principal amount of such minimum denomination or an integral
multiple thereof and in selecting portions of such Bonds for redemption, the Trustee will
treat each such Bond as representing that number of Bonds of such minimum
denomination which is obtained by dividing the principal amount of such Bonds by such
minimum denomination.

Section 2.12 Cancellation. All Bonds which have been redeemed shall be
canceled and, to the extent permitted by law, cremated or otherwise destroyed by the
Trustee and shall not be reissued; provided, however, that one or more new Bonds shall
be issued for the unredeemed portion of any Bond without charge to the Registered
Owner thereof,

Section 2.13 Nonpresentation of Bonds. Unless otherwise provided by
Supplemental Indenture, in the event any Bond shall not be presented for payment when
the Principal thereof becomes due, either at maturity or otherwise, or at the date fixed for
redemption thereof, if funds sufficient to pay such Bond shall have been made available
to the Trustee, all liability of the Issuer to the Registered Owner thereof for the payment
of such Bond shall forthwith cease, terminate and be completely discharged, and
thereupon it shall be the duty of the Trustee to hold such fund or funds, without liability
to the Registered Owner of such Bond for interest thereon, for the benefit of the
Registered Owner of such Bond who shall thereafier be restricted exclusively to such
fund or funds for any claim of whatever nature on its part hereunder or on, or with respect
to, said Bond. If any Bond shall not be presented for payment within four years
following the date when such Bond becomes due, whether by maturity or otherwise, the
Trustee shall, to the extent permitted by law, repay to the Issuer the funds theretofore
held by it for payment of such Bond, and such Bond shall, subject to the defense of any
applicable statute of limitation, thereafter be an unsecured obligation of the Issuer, and
the Registered Owner thereof shall be entitled to look only to the Issuer for payment, and
then only to the extent of the amount so repaid, and the Issuer shall not be liable for any
interest thereon and shall not be regarded as a trustee of such money. The provisions of
this Section are subject to the provisions of Title 67, Chapter 4A, Utah Code.

Section 2.14 Initial Bonds. The Initial Bonds were issued subject to the
provisions of the Original Indenture and the First Supplementa) Indenture. Section 2.15
shall apply to all other Series of Bonds issued hereunder.

Section 2.15 Issuance of Additional Bonds. No additional indebtedness, bonds
or notes of the Issuer payable on a priority ahead of the Bonds or the Security Instrument
Repayment Obligations herein authorized out of Pledged Revenues or any portion thereof
shall be created or incurred. In addition, no Additional Bonds or other indebtedness of
the Issuer payable on a parity with the Bonds or the Security Instrument Repayment
Obligations out of Pledged Revenues shall be created or incurred, unless the following
requirements have been met:

(a) A certificate shall be delivered to the Trustee by an Authorized
Representative to the effect that Adjusted Sales and Use Taxes are at least 200%
of the maximum Aggregate Debt Service for any Bond Fund Year on all of the

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 32



Bonds that will be Outstanding, including the Additional Bonds, upon the
issuance of such Additional Bonds. In calculating Adjusted Sales and Use Taxes
pursuant to this Subsection 2.15(a), no Sales and Use Taxes with an expiration
date or sunset provision prior to the final maturity of such Additional Bonds
which are proposed to be issued will be included in such calculation.

(b)  All Repayment Obligations then due and owing shall have been
paid.

(©)  All payments required by this Indenture to be made into the Bond
Fund must have been made in full, and there must be on deposit in the Debt
Service Reserve Fund (taking into account any Reserve Instrument Coverage) the
full amount of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement, including the Debt Service
Reserve Requirement with respect to the Additional Bonds.

(d  The proceeds of the Additional Bonds, less costs of issuance and
funding of reserves, must be used in connection with (i) the refunding of Bonds
issued hereunder or any other borrowing of the Issuer or (ii) the financing of
additions, improvements, extensions, replacements or repairs to the System.

()  No Event of Default is existing under this Indenture on the date of
authentication of such Additional Bonds, unless (i) the Security Instrument
Issuers, Reserve Instrument Issuers and Owners of all Outstanding Bonds (subject
to the consent authorized by Section 2.6(2)(i) herein) have each consented to the
issuance of such Additional Bonds despite the existence of an Event of Default or
(ii) upon the issuance of such Additional Bonds and the application of the
proceeds thereof, all such Events of Default will be cured.

Section 2.16 Form of Bonds. For each Series of Bonds, the text of such Bonds
and the Trustee's Authentication Certificate shall be in substantially the forms thereof set
forth in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Bonds, with such
omissions, insertions and variations not inconsistent with the terms hereof as may be
necessary, desirable, authorized and permitted hereby. '

Section 2.17 Covenant Against Creating or Permitting Liens: Subordinated
Indebtedness. Except for the pledge of Pledged Revenues to secure payment of the
Bonds and Repayment Obligations hereunder, the Issuer covenants that the Pledged
Revenues are and will be free and clear of any pledge, lien, charge or encumbrance
thereon or with respect thereto; provided, however, that nothing contained herein shall
prevent the Issuer from issuing, if and to the extent permitted by law, indebtedness
having a lien on Pledged Revenues subordinated to that of the Bonds and the Repayment
Obligations.

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 33



ARTICLE III
CREATION OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS

Section 3.1  Creation of Construction Fund. There is hereby created and
ordered established in the custody of the Trustee a special trust fund in the name of the
Issuer to be designated "Utah Transit Authority Construction Fund." There is hereby
created and ordered established in the custody of the Trustee a separate account within
the Construction Fund for each Project to be designated by the name of the applicable
Series or Project. The Construction Fund shall be govened by Section 5.1 hereof and
other applicable provisions of this Indenture.

Section3.2  Creation of Revenue Fund. There is hereby created and ordered
established in the custody of the Issuer a special fund in the name of the Issuer to be
designated "Utah Transit Authority Revenue Fund." For accounting purposes, the.
Revenue Fund and subaccounts therein may be redesignated by different account names
by the Issuer from time to time. The Revenue Fund shall be governed by Section 5.2
hereof and other applicable provisions of this Indenture.

Section3.3 Creation of Bond Fund. There is hereby created and ordered
established in the custody of the Trustee a special trust fund in the name of the Issuer to
be designated "Utah Transit Authority Bond Fund." The Bond Fund shall be governed
by Section 5.3 hereof and other applicabie provisions of this Indenture.

Section 3.4  Creation of Debt Service Reserve Fund. There is hereby created
and ordered established in the custody of the Trustee a special trust fund in the name of
the Issuer to be designated "Utah Transit Authority Debt Service Reserve Fund." Each
Supplemental Indenture authorizing a Series of Bonds shall create in the custody of the
Trustee a separate account for such Series of Bonds within the Debt Service Reserve
Fund to be designated by the name of the applicable Series of Bonds. The Debt Service
Reserve Fund shall be governed by Section 5.4 hereof and other applicable provisions of
this Indenture

Section 3.5  Creation of Reserve Instrument Fund. There is hereby created and
ordered established in the custody of the Trustee a special trust fund in the name of the
Issuer to be designated "Reserve Instrument Fund." If so provided in the related
Supplemental Indenture, there may be created and ordered established in the custody of
the Trustee a separate account within the Reserve Instrument Fund for each Series of
Bonds issued under this Indenture to be designated by the name of the applicable Series
of Bonds. The Reserve Instrument Fund shall be governed by Section 5.5 hereof and
other applicable provisions of this Indenture.

Section 3.6  Additional Funds. The Issuer can by Supplemental Indenture
authorize the Trustee to create such additional funds or accounts as may be necessary to
accomplish the Trustee's responsibilities hereunder.

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 34



ARTICLE 1V
APPLICATION OF BOND PROCEEDS AND OTHER MONIES

Unless otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture, the proceeds, including
accrued interest and premium, if any, received from the sale of each Series of Bonds,
shall be applied by the Issuer simultaneously with the delivery of such Bonds by the
Trustee to the purchaser thereof, as follows:

(@)  The accrued interest, if any, shall be deposited in the Bond Fund;

(b)  The amount, if any, required to be deposited into the Debt Service
Reserve Fund to satisfy the Debt Service Reserve Requirement, less the Reserve
Instrument Coverage of all Reserve Instruments which are then in effect; and

() The balance of the monies remaining after making all the deposits
and payments provided for in Paragraphs (a) and (b), and after making provisions
for the payment of costs of issuance (if so directed in the Supplemental Indenture)
shall be paid into the appropriate account in the Construction Fund or as
otherwise specified in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of the
Bonds (including use for refunding purposes), '

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 vi4 35



ARTICLE V
USE OF FUNDS

Section 5.1  Use of Construction Fund.

(@  So long as an Event of Default shall not have occurred and be
continuing, monies deposited in the appropriate account in the Construction Fund
shall be paid out by the Trustee in order to pay the Cost of a Project, in each case
within three Business Days (or within such longer period as is reasonably required
to liquidate investments in the Construction Fund if required to make such
payment) after the receipt by the Trustee of a written requisition in substantially
the form attached hereto as "Exhibit A", stating the following:

) that the Trustee shall disburse sums in the manner specified
by and at the direction of an Authorized Representative of the Issuer to
the person or entity designated in such written requisition, and that the
amount set forth therein is justly due and owing and constitutes a Cost of a
Project based upon itemized claims substantiated in support thereof; and

(ii)  that the amount remaining in the applicable account in the
Construction Fund after such disbursement is made, together with the
amount of unencumbered Pledged Revenues, if any, which the Issuer
reasonably estimates will be deposited in the applicable account in the
Construction Fund during the period of construction of a Project from the
investment of monies on deposit in the applicable account in the
Construction Fund, will, together with any other monies lawfully available
or reasonably expected to become available for payment of the Cost of a
Project and after payment of the amount requested in said requisition, be
sufficient to pay the remaining Cost of a Project in accordance with the
plans and specifications therefor then in effect; it being understood that no
monies from the applicable account in the Construction Fund may be
expended unless, after giving effect thereto, the funds remaining in the
applicable account in the Construction Fund, together with such other
funds and income and lawfully available monies and monies reasonably
expected to become available, are expected to be sufficient to pay the
remaining Cost of the Project.

(b)  Upon receipt of such requisition, the Trustee shall pay the
obligation set forth in such requisition out of monies in the applicable account in
the Construction Fund. In making such payments the Trustee may rely upon such
requisition.

(¢)  An Authorized Representative of the Issuer shall deliver to the
Trustee, within 90 days after the substantial completion of a Project, a certificate
stating:

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 36



(i) that such Project has been substantially completed in
accordance with the plans and specifications therefor, as amended from
time to time, and stating the date of substantial completion for such
Project; and

(i)  that the Issuer is of the opinion that such Project has been
fully paid for and no claim or claims exist against the Issuer or against
such Project out of which a lien based on fumishing labor or material
exists or might ripen; provided, however, there may be excepted from the
foregoing statement any claim or claims out of which a lien exists or
might ripen in the event that the Issuer intends to contest such claim or
claims, in which event such claim or claims shall be described to the
Trustee.

(d) In the event the certificate filed with the Trustee pursuant to
paragraph (c) above shall state that there is a claim or claims in controversy which
create or might ripen into a lien, there shall be filed with the Trustee a similar
certificate when and as such claim or claims shall have been fully paid or
otherwise discharged.

(e) The Trustee and the Issuer shall keep and maintain adequate
records pertaining to each account within the Construction Fund and all
disbursements therefrom.

) Upon completion of a Project and payment of all costs and
expenses incident thereto and the filing with the Trustee of documents required by
this Section 5.1, any balance remaining in the applicable account in the
Construction Fund relating to such Project shall, at the written direction of the
Issuer delivered to the Trustee, (i) be applied to pay capitalizable costs for
projects related to the System or any other lawful purpose, subject in either case
to receipt of a Favorable Opinion, (ii) be deposited in the Bond Fund, to be
applied, as directed by the Issuer, (A) toward the redemption or purchase of the
Series of Bonds issued to finance such Project or (B) to the payment of principal
and interest next falling due on such Series of Bonds or (iii) any combination of
the foregoing purposes.

(20 Upon the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default
hereunder, amounts on deposit in the Construction Fund may be applied toward
the payment of Bonds issued hereunder.

Section 5.2  Use of Revenue Fund.

(a) All Revenues (except eamings from the investment of amounts on
deposit in the funds and accounts established under the Indenture, which shall be
allocated as provided in Section 5.6) shall be deposited by the Issuer to the credit
of the Revenue Fund and the Issuer shall account for Sales and Use Taxes
separate and apart from all other Revenues.

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 vi4 37



(b) As a first lien and charge on the Sales and Use Taxes, the Issuer
shall transfer and deposit all available Sales and Use Taxes from the Revenue
Fund into the following Funds or make payments therefrom (as applicable) in the
following order of priority the amounts set forth below:

(i (A) Unless otherwise provided for and described by
Supplemental Indenture, on or before the first Business Day of each month
(commencing for each new Series of Bonds with the first Business Day of
the month following the delivery date of such Series of Bonds), the Issuer
shall transfer and deposit into the Bond Fund an amount equal to one-sixth
of the interest payable on the Bonds (or, if the first Interest Payment Date
is less than six months away, the Issuer shall deposit into the Bond Fund
an amount sufficient to total the interest payable on the Bonds in equal
monthly installments) on the next succeeding Interest Payment Date and if
Principal is payable on the Bonds in the twelve months succeeding such
transfers, one-twelfth of Principal next payable on the Bonds (or, if the
first Principal payable on the Bonds is less than twelve months away, the
Issuer shall deposit into the Bond Fund an amount sufficient to total the
Principal payable on the Bonds in equal! monthly installments). In
addition, all deficiencies in required deposits to the Bond Fund shall also
be supplied. Said deposits shall be reduced, as appropriate, by (x) any
income derived from the investment of the Bond Fund, and (y) any other
deposits made to the Bond Fund pursuant to the Indenture; and (B) to the
extent required by the Supplemental Indenture, on any Security Instrument
Repayment Obligations promptly on each such payment date as the same
become due and payable, whether at maturity or by redemption.

(ii) On an equal and parity lien basis (A) to the accounts
maintained in the Reserve Instrument Fund, with respect to all’ Reserve
Instruments which are in effect and are expected to continue in effect,
such amount of the remaining Sales and Use Taxes, or a ratable portion
(taking into account the amount to be transferred pursuant to
Subparagraph (B) of this Paragraph (ii)) of the amount so remaining if less
than the amount necessary, that is required to be paid, including all
Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations, on or before the next such
transfer or deposit of Sales and Use Taxes into the Reserve Instrument
Fund, to the Reserve Instrument Provider pursuant to any Reserve
Instrument Agreement, other than Reserve Instrument Costs, in order to
cause the Reserve Instrument Coverage to equal the Reserve Instrument
Limit, such that the Reserve Instrument Coverage shall equal the Reserve
Instrument Limit within one year from any draw date under the Reserve
Instrument; and (B) to the accounts maintained in Debt Service Reserve
Fund any amounts required hereby and by any Supplemental Indenture to
accumulate therein the applicable Debt Service Reserve Requirement at
the times and in the amounts provided herein and in any Supplemental
Indenture, or a ratable portion (taking into account the amount to be

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 38



transferred pursuant to Subparagraph (A) of this Paragraph (ii)) of
remaining Sales and Use Taxes if less than the amount necessary.

(iii) To provide for the payment of Financing Expenses when
and as the same become due.

(c) As a second charge and lien on the Sales and Use Taxes, the Issuer
shall allocate or transfer and deposit to the appropriate fund any debt service
payments, reserve fund payments, debt reserve instrument costs and similar
payments which may be required pursuant to any obligations payable from
Revenues on a basis subordinate to the lien of this Indenture.

(d)  The Operation and Maintenance Expenses shall be paid by the
Issuer from time to time as they become due and payable (i) at any time from the
Revenues other than Sales and Use Taxes and (ii) from the Revenues constituting
Sales and Use Taxes, but only after the charges on Sales and Use Taxes
referenced in paragraphs {b) and (c) of this Section 5.2 have been met. Prior to
the commencement of each Fiscal Year, the Issuer shall establish and present to
its governing board for approval a final budget including amounts for Operation
and Maintenance Expenses for the ensuing Fiscal Year, Operation and
Maintenance Expenses in any Fiscal Year shall not exceed the amount budgeted
for such items in the Issuer's final budget {as the same may be amended from time
to time) for such Fiscal Year. The limitations of the preceding sentence shall not
be construed to prevent the Issuer from amending any budget or from making
expenditures in excess of budgeted amounts in the event of any emergency or
similar circumstances.

{e) As necessary, after payment of unpaid Operation and Maintenance
Expenses then due, the Issuer shall transfer and deposit with the Trustee from
amounts on deposit in the Revenue Fund to the extent of Revenues available in
the Revenue Fund, into the Funds or for the purposes and in the order of priority
the amounts as set forth in paragraph (b) and (c) above.

(3] Subject to making the foregoing deposits, the Issuer may use any
moneys on deposit in the Revenue Fund for:

() redemption of Bonds for cancellation prior to maturity by
depositing the same into the Bond Fund,

(i)  refinancing, refunding, or advance refunding of any Bonds;
(iii)  to apply to, or to accumulate a reserve for the purpose of
applying toward the costs of acquiring, constructing, equipping or

furnishing additional facilities to the System or improving, replacing,
restoring, equipping or furnishing any existing facilities;

UT_DOCS_A #1086350 v14 39



(iv) payment of indebtedness having a lien on the Pledged
Revenues subordinate to that of the Bonds and the Repayment
Obligations; or

(v)  application for any other lawful purposes as determined by
the Issuer.

Section 5.3  Use of Bond Fund.
(a) The Trustee shall make deposits, as and when received, as follows:

(i) the amounts provided for by Paragraph (a) of Article IV
hereof shall be deposited into the Bond Fund,;

(i)  all monies payable by the Issuer as specified in Section
5.2(b)(i) and Section 5.2(¢) hereof shall be deposited into the Bond Fund.
Any payments made by a Security Instrument Issuer with respect to a
Series of Bonds shall be deposited into the Bond Fund and used solely to
pay the related Series of Bonds, subject to the provisions of the
Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Series of Bonds;

(i)  any amount in the Construction Fund shall be transferred to
the Bond Fund to the extent required by Section 5.1(f) hereof upon
completion of a Project;

(iv)  all monies required to be transferred to the Bond Fund from
the Debt Service Reserve Fund or from a Reserve Instrument or
Instruments then in effect shall be deposited into the Bond Fund as
provided in Section 5.4 hereof; and

(v)  all other monies received by the Trustee hereunder when
accompanied by directions from the person depositing such monies that
such monies are to be paid into the Bond Fund, shall be deposited into the
Bond Fund.

(b)  Except as provided in Section 7.4 hereof, as provided in this
Section and as otherwise provided by Supplemental Indenture, monies in the
Bond Fund shall be expended solely for the following purposes and in the
following order of priority:

(Y] on or before each Interest Payment Date for each Series of
Bonds, the amount required for the interest payable on such date;

(i) on or before each Principal Instaliment due date, the
amount required for the Principal Installment payable on such due date;
and

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 40



(iii)y on or before each redemption date for each Series of
Bonds, the amount required for the payment of redemption price of and
accrued interest on such Bonds then to be redeemed.

Such amounts shall be applied by the Paying Agents to pay Principal Installments
and redemption price of, and interest on the related Series of Bonds.

The Trustee shall pay out of the Bond Fund to the Security Instrument Issuer, if
any, that has issued a Security Instrument with respect to such Series of Bonds an amount
equal to any Security Instrument Repayment Obligation then due and payable to such
Security Instrument Issuer. Except as otherwise specified in a related Supplemental
Indenture all such Security Instrument Repayment Obligations shall be paid on a parity
with the payments to be made with respect to principal and interest on the Bonds;
provided that amounts paid under a Security Instrument shall be applied only to pay the
related Series of Bonds. If payment is so made on Pledged Bonds heid for the benefit of
the Security Instrument Issuer, a corresponding payment on the Security Instrument
Repayment Obligation shall be deemed to have been made (without requiring an
additional payment by the Issuer) and the Trustee shall keep its records accordingly.

The Issuer hereby authorizes and directs the Trustee to withdraw sufficient funds
from the Bond Fund to pay principal of and interest on the Bonds and on Security
Instrument Repayment Obligations as the same become due and payable and to make
said funds so withdrawn available to the Trustee and any paying agent for the purpose of
paying said principal and interest. '

() Except as otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture
authorizing a Series of Bonds, amounts accumulated in the Bond Fund with
respect to any Sinking Fund Installment (together with amounts accumulated
therein with respect to interest on the Bonds for which such Sinking Fund
Installment was established) shall, if so directed by the Issuer in a written request
not less than 30 days before the due date of such Sinking Fund Installment, be
applied by the Trustee to (1) the purchase of Bonds of the Series and maturity for
which such Sinking Fund Installment was established, (2) the redemption at the
applicable sinking fund redemption price of such Bonds, if then redeemable by
their terms, or (3) any combination of (1) and (2). All purchases of any Bonds
pursuant to this subsection (c) shall be made at prices not exceeding the
applicable sinking fund redemption price of such Bonds plus accrued interest, and
such purchases shall be made in such manner as the Issuer shall direct the Trustee.
The applicable sinking fund Redemption Price (or Principal amount of maturing
Bonds) of any Bonds so purchased or redeemed shall be deemed to constitute part
of the Bond Fund until such Sinking Fund Installment date for the purpose of
calculating the amount of such Fund. As soon as practicable after the 60th day
preceding the due date of any such Sinking Fund Installment, the Trustee shall
proceed to call for redemption on such due date, by giving notice as required by
the Indenture, Bonds of the Series and maturity for which such Sinking Fund
Installment was established (except in the case of Bonds maturing on a Sinking
Fund Instaliment date) in such amount as shall be necessary to complete the

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 41



retirement of the unsatisfied balance of such Sinking Fund Installment. The
Trustee shall pay out of the Bond Fund to the appropriate Paying Agents, on or
before such redemption date (or maturity date), the amount required for the
redemption of the Bonds so called for redemption (or for the payment of such
Bonds then maturing), and such amount shall be applied by such Paying Agents to
such redemption (or payment). All expenses in connection with the purchase or
redemption of Bonds shall be paid by the Issuer as Operation and Maintenance
Expenses. Upon any redemption (otherwise than pursuant to Sinking Fund
Installments) of Bonds for which Sinking Fund Installments have been
established, or any purchase in lieu thereof, there shall be credited by the Trustee
toward the Sinking Fund Instaliment requirement thereafter to become due with
respect thereto, the amount of the Bonds so redeemed or purchased in lieu thereof,
to the respective sinking fund redemption dates as directed by the Issuer.

(d)  After payment in full of the Principal of and interest on all Bonds
issued hereunder (or after provision has been made for the payment thereof as
provided herein so that such Bonds are no longer Outstanding), all agreements
relating to all outstanding Security Instrument Repayment Obligations and
Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations, in accordance with their respective
terms, the fees, charges and expenses of the Trustee and any paying agent, any
other amounts required to be paid hereunder or under any Supplemental Indenture
and under any Security Instrument Agreement and any Reserve Instrument
Agreement, all amounts remaining in the Bond Fund shall be paid to the Issuer.

Section 5.4  Use of Debt Service Reserve Fund. Except as required to make up
any deficiencies in the Bond Fund as provided in this Section and subject to the
immediately following sentence, monies in the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall at all
times be maintained in an amount not less than the applicable Debt Service Reserve
Requirement. In calculating the amount on deposit in each account in the Debt Service
Reserve Fund, the amount, if any, of the related Reserve Instrument Coverage will be
treated as an amount on deposit in such account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund. Each
Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of a Series of Bonds shall specify the
Debt Service Reserve Requirement applicable to such Series, sufficient to cause the Debt
Service Reserve Fund to equal the Debt Service Reserve Requirement, which amount
shall be deposited immediately upon the issuance and delivery of such Series from (a)
proceeds from the sale thereof or from any other legally available source, or (b} by a
Reserve Instrument or Instruments, or (¢) any combination thereof. If amounts on
deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall, at any time, be less than the Debt Service
Reserve Requirement, all Security Instrument Issuers shall be notified immediately of
such deficiency, and such deficiency shall be made up at the time and in the manner
indicated in Section 5.8 hereof.

In the event funds on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund are needed to
make up any deficiencies in the Bond Fund as aforementioned, and there is insufficient
cash available in the Debt Service Reserve Fund to make up such deficiency and Reserve
Instruments are in effect, the Trustee shall immediately make a demand for payment on
such Reserve Instruments, to the maximum extent authorized by such Reserve

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 42



Instruments, in the amount necessary to make up such deficiency, and immediately
deposit such payment upon receipt thereof into the Bond Fund for application to such
deficiencies.

In the event a Reserve Instrument is terminated in accordance with its terms, the
Issuer shall be required either (i) to fund the Debt Service Reserve Requirement at the
time of termination of the Reserve Instrument or (ii) to provide a substitute Reserve
Instrument which provides the same Reserve Instrument Coverage and which is provided
by a Reserve Instrument Provider that is acceptable to the Trustee.

Funds at any time on deposit in the accounts maintained in the Debt Service
Reserve Fund in excess of the amount required to be maintained therein (taking into
account the amount of related Reserve Instrument Coverage) may at any time be
transferred to the Bond Fund at the direction of the Issuer or, in connection with the
replacement of amounts on deposit therein with a Reserve Instrument, utilized by the
Issuer for any other lawful purpose, with a Favorable Opinion, pursuant to the térms of
The “Sipplemental Indenture or resolution of the Issuer authorizing such Reserve
Instrument.

In the event that amounts on deposit in the related subaccount of the Debt Service
Reserve Fund are insufficient to make up any deficiency in the Bond Fund with respect to
a related Series of Bonds, amount on deposit in any other subaccount of the Debt Service
Reserve Fund may be used for such purpose and the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall
secure all Bonds issued hereunder on a parity lien basis.

Section 5.5 Reserve Instrument Fund. There shall be paid into the Reserve
Instrument Fund the amounts required hereby and by a Supplemental Indenture to be so
paid. The amounts in the Reserve Instrument Fund shall, from time to time, be applied
by the Trustee on behalf of the Issuer to pay the Reserve Instrument Repayment
Obligations which are due and payable to any Reserve Instrument Provider under any
applicable Reserve Instrument Agreement.

Section 5.6  Investment of Funds. Any monies in the Bond Fund, the Reserve
Instrument Fund, the Construction Fund, the Debt Service Reserve Fund or any other
funds or accounts created by Section 3.7 may, at the discretion and authorization of an
Authorized Representative of the Issuer, be invested in Permitted Investments. Such
investments shall be held by the Trustee, and when the Trustee determines it necessary to
use the monies in the Funds for the purposes for which the Funds were created, it shall, at .
the discretion of an Authorized Representative of the Issuer (provided that such discretion
shall not be construed to delay the Trustee from liquidating investments in the Bond Fund
and the Debt Service Reserve Fund to make payments on the Bonds), liquidate at
prevailing market prices as much of the investments as may be necessary and apply the
proceeds to such purposes. All income derived from the investment of the Construction
Fund, the Bond Fund, the Reserve Instrument Fund and the Debt Service Reserve Fund
shall be maintained in said respective Funds and disbursed along with the other monies
on deposit therein as herein provided. Any monies in the Revenue Fund may, at the
discretion and authorization of an Authorized Representative of the Issuer, be invested in

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 43



investments permitted by the Utah State Money Management Act, s it may be amended
from time to time.

Section 5.7  Trust Funds. All monies and securities received by the Trustee
under the provisions of this Indenture shall be trust funds under the terms hereof and shall
not be subject to lien or attachment of any creditor of the State or any political
subdivision, body, agency, or instrumentality thereof or of the Issuer and shall not be
subject to appropriation by any legislative body or otherwise. Such monies and securities
shall be held in trust and applied in accordance with the provisions hereof. Except for
monies held to satisfy (i) the obligations, if any, of the Issuer under the Code with respect
to arbitrage rebate and (ii) principal or redemption price of, and interest on, any Bonds
previousty matured or called for redemption or deemed paid in accordance with Article X
of this Indenture (to be held for the benefit of the holders of such Bonds only), unless and
until disbursed pursuant to the terms hereof, all such monies and securities (and the
income therefrom) shall be held by the Trustee as security for payment of the principal,
premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds, for payment of Security Instrument
Repayment Obligations and Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations and the fees and
expenses of the Trustee payable hereunder.

Section 5.8  Method of Valuation and Frequency of Valuation. In computing
the amount in any fund or account, Permitted Investments shall be valued at the market

price thereof. With respect to all funds and accounts except the Debt Service Reserve
Fund, valuation shall occur at least annually. Amounts in each account of the Debt
Service Reserve Fund shall be valued at least semiannually and marked-to-market at least
annually, except in the event of a withdrawal from any of such accounts in the Debt
Service Reserve Fund (other than a withdrawal of amounts above the required level),
whereupon ainounts in such account shall be valued immediately after such withdrawal
and monthly thereafter until amounts in such account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund
are at the required level. If amounts on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall, at
any time, be less than the applicable Debt Service Reserve Requirement, any Security
Instrument Issuer of the related Series of Bonds, if any, shall be notified immediately of
such deficiency, and (except with respect to the termination of a Reserve Instrument)
such deficiency shall be made up as provided in Section 5.2(b) over a period of not more
than twelve months.

Section 5.9  Purchase of Bonds. The Issuer may purchase Bonds of any Series
from any available funds at public or private sale, as and when and at such prices as the
Issuer may in its discretion determine, subject to applicable law and so long as such
purchase is not made with funds drawn on a Security Instrument without the prior written
consent of such Security Instrument Issuer. All Bonds so purchased shall at such times as
shall be selected by the Issuer be delivered to and cancelled by the Trustee or any
Registrar and (except with respect to a Commercial Paper Program) no Bonds of such
Series shall be issued in place thereof. In the case of the purchase of Bonds of a Series
and maturity for which Sinking Fund Installments shall have been established, the Issuer
shall, by a written request delivered to the Trustee, elect the manner in which the
Principal amount of such Bonds shall be credited toward Sinking Fund Installments,
consistent with the procedures of Section 5.3(c) hereof.

UT_DOCS_A #1006350 v14 44



ARTICLE V1
GENERAL COVENANTS

Section 6.1  General Covenants. The Issuer hereby covenants and agrees with
each and every Registered Owner of the Bonds issued hereunder, Security Instrument
Issuer and Reserve Instrument Provider as follows:

(a)  The Issuer covenants to comply with the applicable provisions of
the Utah Transit District Act, Title 17A, Chapter 2, Part 10, Utah Code including
in particular Section 17A-2-1018, Utah Code.

(b)  Each Registered Owner, Reserve Instrument Provider, and
Security Instrument Issuer shall have a right, in addition to all other rights
afforded it by the laws of the State, to apply to and obtain from any court of
competent jurisdiction such decree or order as may be necessary to require the
Issuer to use its best efforts to charge or collect reasonable rates for services
supplied by the System sufficient to meet all requirements hereof and of any
applicable Reserve Instrument Agreement or Security Instrument Agreement,

(c) So long as any Bonds, Security Instrument Repayment Obligations
or Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations are Outstanding, proper books of
record and account will be kept by the Issuer separate and apart from all other
records and accounts, showing complete and correct entries of all transactions
relating to the System and the funds or accounts confirmed or established
hereunder. Each Registered Owner, Reserve Instrument Provider, Security
Instrument Issuer, or any duly authorized agent or agents thereof, shall have the
right at all reasonable times to inspect all records, accounts and data relating
thereto and to inspect the System. Except as otherwise provided herein, the Issuer
further agrees that it will within one hundred eighty (180) days following the
close of each Fiscal Year cause an audit of such books and accounts to be made
by an independent firm of certified public accountants, showing the receipts and
disbursements for account of the System and such funds and accounts, and that
such audit will be available for inspection by each Registered Owner, Reserve
Instrument Provider and Security Instrument Issuer.

All expenses incurred in compiling the information required by this Section shall
be regarded and paid as an Operation and Maintenance Expense.-

Section 6.2  Lien of Bonds; Equality of Liens. The Bonds and any Security
Instrument Repayment Obligations constitute an irrevocable first lien upon the Pledged
Revenues. The Issuer covenants that the Bonds and any Security Instrument Repayment
Obligations are equitably and ratably secured by a first lien on the Pledged Revenues
(except that the portion of Pledged Revenues representing principal or redemption price
of, and interest on, any Bonds previously matured or called for redemption or deemed
paid in accordance with Article X of this Indenture shall be held for the benefit of the
holders of such Bonds only) and shall not be entitled to any priority one over the other in

UT_DOCS_A #1006350 v14 45



the application of the Pledged Revenues regardless of the time or times of the issuance or
delivery of the Bonds or Security Instrument, it being the intention of the Issuer that there
shall be no priority among the Bonds or the Security Instrument Repayment Obligations
regardless of the fact that they may be actually issued and/or delivered at different times.

Any assignment or pledge from the Issuer to a Reserve Instrument Provider of (i)
proceeds of the issuance and sale of Bonds, (i) Pledged Revenues, or (iii) funds and
accounts established or confirmed hereby, including investments, if any, thereof, is and
shall be subordinate to the assignment and pledge effected hereby to the Registered
Owners of the Bonds and to the Security Instrument Issuers.

Section 6.3  Payment of Principal. Premium and Interest. The Issuer covenants
that it will punctually pay or cause to be paid the Principal of, premium, if any, and
interest on every Bond issued hereunder, any Security Instrument Repayment Obligations
and any Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations, in strict conformity with the terms
of the Bonds, this Indenture, any Security Instrument Agreement and any Reserve
Instrument Agreement, according to the true intent and meaning hereof and thereof. The
Principal of and interest on the Bonds, any Security Instrument Repayment Obligations
and any Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations are payable solely from the Pledged
Revenues (except to the extent paid out of monies attributable to Bond proceeds or other
funds created hereunder or the income from the temporary investment thereof), which
Pledged Revenues are hereby specifically pledged and assigned to the payment thereof in
the manner and to the extent herein specified, and nothing in the Bonds, this Indenture
any Security Instrument Agreement or any Reserve Instrument Agreement should be
considered as pledging any other funds or assets of the Issuer for the payment thereof.

Section 6.4  Performance of Covenants; Issuer. The Issuer covenants that at all
times it will faithfully perform any and all covenants, undertakings, stipulations and
provisions contained herein, and in any and every Bond, Security Instrument Agreement
and Reserve Instrument Agreement. The Issuer represents that it is duly authorized to
issue the Bonds authorized hereby and to execute this Indenture, that all actions on its
part for the issuance of the Bonds and the execution and delivery of this Indenture have
been duly and effectively taken, and that the Bonds in the hands of the Registered
Owners thereof are and will be valid and enforceable obligations of the Issuer according
to the import thereof.

Section 6.5  List of Bondholders. The Registrar will keep on file at its principal
office a list of the names and addresses of the Registered Owners of all Bonds which are
from time to time registered on the registration books in the hands of the Trustee as
Registrar for the Bonds. At reasonable times and under reasonable regulations
established by the Trustee, said list may be inspected and copied by the Issuer or by the
Registered Owners (or a designated representative thereof) of 10% or more in principal
amount of Bonds then Outstanding, such ownership and the authority of any such
designated representative to be evidenced to the reasonable satisfaction of the Trustee.
The Registrar shall maintain a list of the names and addresses of the Owners of all Bonds
and upon any transfer shall add the name and address of the new Bondowner and
eliminate the name and address of the transferor Bondowner. Such lists, together with all

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 46



other records of ownership, registration, transfer, and exchange of the Bonds and of
persons to whom payment with respect to such obligations is made, are "private” or
.*confidential" as defined in Title 63, Chapter 2, Utah Code, or any successor provision of
law. '

Section 6.6  Expeditious Construction. The Issuer shall use its best efforts to
complete the acquisition and construction of each Project with all practlcal dispatch and
will cause all construction to be effected in a sound and economical manner.

Section 6.7 Management of System.

~ (a) The Issuer, in order to assure the efficient management and
operation of its System, will employ competent and experienced management,
and will use its best efforts to see that its System is properly operated and
maintained in good condition and an efficient manner. '

(b)  The Issuer will at all times cause the System to be maintained,
preserved and kept in good repair, working order and condition so that the
operating efficiency thereof will be of a high character. The Issuer will cause all
necessary and proper repairs and replacements to be made so that the business
carried on in connection with the System may be properly and advantageously
conducted at all times in a manner consistent with prudent management, and that
the rights and. security of the Owners of the Bonds, Security Instrument Issuers
and Reserve Instrument Issuers may be fully protected and preserved.

Section 6.8  Payment From Other Available Funds. Notwithstanding any other
provisions hereof, nothing herein shall be construed to prevent the Issuer from (i)
depositing any funds available to the Issuer for such purpose in any account in the Bond
Fund for the payment of Principal of, premium, if any, and interest on any Bonds and the
Sccurity Instrument Repayment Obligations or for the amounts payable under any
applicable Security Instrument Agreement issued under provisions hereof or for the
redemption of any such Bonds, or (ii) depositing any funds available to the Issuer in the
Reserve Instrument Fund for the payment of any amounts payable under any applicable
Reserve Instrument Agreement.

Section 6.9 Payment of Taxes. The Issuer covenants that all taxes and
assessments or other municipal or governmental charges lawfully levied or assessed upon
its System or upon any part thereof or upon any income therefrom will be paid when the
same shall become due, that no lien or charge upon its System or any part thereof or upon
any Revenues thereof, except for the lien and charge thereon created hereunder and
securing the Bonds and the Security Instrument Repayment Obligations, will be created
or permitted to be created ranking equally with or prior to the Bonds and the Security
Instrument Repayment Obligations and that all lawful claims and demands. for laber,
materials, supplies or other objects which, if unpaid, might by law become a lien upon its
System or any part thereof will be paid or discharged, or adequate provision will be made
for the payment or discharge of such claims and demands within 60 days after the same
shall accrue; provided, however, that nothing in this Section contained shall require any

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 47



such lien or charge to be paid or discharged or provision made therefor so long as the
validity of such lien or charge shall be contested in good faith and by appropriate legal
proceedings.

Section 6.10 Insurance. The Issuer, in its operation of the System, will self-
insure or carry insurance, including, but not limited to, workers' compensation insurance
and public liability insurance, in such amounts and against such risks as are usually
insurable in connection with similar transit systems and as are usually carried by other
transit districts or authorities by others operating transit systems of a similar type. The
cost of such insurance shall be considered an Operation and Maintenance Expense of the
System. In the event of loss or damage, insurance proceeds shall be used first for the
purpose of restoring or replacing (if necessary for the proper and efficient operation of
the System) the property lost or damaged. Any remainder shall be paid into the Bond
Fund.

Section 6.11 Instruments of Further Assurance. The Issuer and the Trustee
mutually covenant that they will, from time to time, each upon the written request of the
other, or upon the request of a Security Instrument Issuer or a Reserve Instrument
Provider, execute and deliver such further instruments and take or cause to be taken such
further actions as may be reasonable and as may be required by the other to carry out the
purposes hereof; provided, however, that no such instruments or action shall involve any
personal liability of the Trustee or members of the governing body of the Issuer or any
official thereof.

Section 6.12 Power to Own the System and Collect Rates, Fares and Fees;
Provision for Sale or Lease and Leaseback Transactions. The Issuer has, and will have so
long as any Bonds are Outstanding or Repayment Obligations are Outstanding, good,
right and lawful power to own the System and to fix and collect rates, fares, fees and
other charges in connection with the System. No revenue-producing facility or service of
the System shall be leased, furnished or supplied free, but shall always be leased,
furnished or supplied so as to produce Revenues, provided that the Issuer reserves the
right to lease, furnish or supply free any such facility or service to the extent that such
action does not materially adversely affect the Issuer’s ability to perform its obligations
under this Indenture. In addition, the Issuer may dispose of any assets of the System
which are no longer needed for the efficient operations thereof or which have been
replaced by other System assets.

To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Issuer shall be entitled to
sell or lease all or any portion of the System so long as the Issuer delivers to the Trustee
(1) a Favorable Opinion and (ii) a written certificate to the effect that such portion of the
System will continue to be used, controlled and possessed by the Issuer for the benefit of
the System.

Section 6.13 Maintenance of Revenues. The Issuer will at all times comply in
all material respects with all terms, covenants and provisions, express and implied, of all
contracts and agreements entered into by it for System use and services and all other
contracts or agreements affecting or involving the System or business of the Issuer with

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 48



respect thereto. The Issuer shall promptly collect all charges due for the System use and
service supplied by it as the same become due, and shall at all times maintain and
promptly and vigorously enforce its rights against any person who does not pay such
charges when due. The Issuer shall establish policies, rules and fees, charges and rentals
as shall be necessary to (i) assure maximum use and occupancy of the System and the
services thereof and (ii) yield sufficient Revenues to meet the obligations of the Issuer
hereunder in accordance with Section 6.1(a) hereof.

Section 6.14 - Debt Limitation. Notwithstanding anything in this Indenture to the
contrary, the Issuer shall not issue any bonds or other evidences of indebtedness which
exceed in the aggregate 3% of the fair market value of all real and personal property
within the boundaries of the Issuer, Within the meaning of this Section, "indebtedness"
includes all forms of debt which the Issuer is authorized to incur. Bonds issued that are
payable solely from revenues derived from the operation of all or part of the System may
not be included as "indebtedness" of the Issuer for the purpose of said computation.

Section 6.15 Use of Certain Grants. The Issuer hereby covenants that any
federal or State capital or operating grant monies received by the Issuer which are
prohibited by the provisions of this Indenture from being included as Revenues, shall be
used for the purposes for which such grants were given, including payment of Operation
and Maintenance Expenses.

Section 6.16 Continuation of Sales Tax Revenues. The Issuer shall take all
reasonable and legally permissible actions which it determines are necessary to assure the
continued receipt by the Issuer for use as provided herein of the Sales and Use Taxes and
shall oppose any effort to eliminate or divert the same.

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 vi4 49



ARTICLE VII
EVENTS OF DEFAULT; REMEDIES

Section 7.1  Events of Default. Each of the following events is hereby declared
an "Event of Default":

(a) if payment of any installment of interest on any of the Bonds shall
not be made by or on behalf of the Issuer (other than pursuant to a Security
Instrument Agreement) when the same shall become due and payable; or

b) if payment of the principal of or the redemption premium, if any,
on any of the Bonds shall not be made by or on behalf of the Issuer (other than
pursuant to a Security Instrument Agreement) when the same shall become due
and payable, either at maturity or by proceedings for redemption in advance of
maturity or through failure to fulfill any payment to any fund hereunder or
otherwise; or

(©) if payment of the purchase price for a Put Bond shall not be made
by or on behalf of the Issuer when the same shall become due and payable; or

(d) if an order or decree shall be entered, with the consent or
acquiescence of the Issuer, appointing a receiver or custodian for any of the
Revenues, or approving a petition filed against the Issuer seeking reorganization
of the Issuer under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other similar law or statute
of the United States of America or any state thereof, or if any such order or
decree, having been entered without the consent or acquiescence of the Issuer,
shall not be vacated or discharged or stayed on appeal within 60 days after the
entry thereof; or

(¢) if any proceeding shall be instituted, with the consent or
acquiescence of the Issuer, for the purpose of effecting a composition between the
Issuer and its creditors or for the purpose of adjusting the claims of such creditors
pursuant to any federal or state statute now or hereafter enacted, if the claims of
such creditors are or may be under any circumstances payable from Revenues; or

(43) if (i) the Issuer is adjudged insolvent by a court of competent
jurisdiction, or (ii) an order, judgment or decree be entered by any court of
competent jurisdiction appointing, without the consent of the Issuer, a receiver,
trustee or custodian of the Issuer or of the whole or any part of their property and
any of the aforesaid adjudications, orders, judgments or decrees shall not be:
vacated or set aside or stayed within 60 days from the date of entry thereof; or

(g) if the Issuer shall file a petition or answer seeking reorganization,
relief or any arrangement under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other
applicable law or statute of the United States of America or any state thereof; or

UT_DOGS_A #1098350 v14 50



(h) if, under the provisions of any other law for the relief or aid of
debtors, any court of competent jurisdiction shall assume custody or control of the
Issuer or of the whole or any substantial part of the property of the Issuer, and
such custody or control shall not be terminated within 60 days from the date of
assumption of such custody or control; or

)] if the Issuer shall default in the due and punctua! performance of
any other of the covenants, conditions, agreements and provisions contained in
the Bonds or herein or any Supplemental Indenture hereof on the part of the Issuer
to be performed, other than as set forth above in this Section, and such default
shall continue for 60 days (or such longer period as may be approved by the
Trustee if in its opinion remedial actions are being diligently pursued by the
Issuer) after written notice specifying such Event of Default and requiring the
same to be remedied shall have been given to the Issuer by the Trustee, which
may give such notice in its discretion and shall give such notice at the written
request of the Registered Owners of not less than 25% in aggregate principal
amount of the Bonds then Outstanding hereunder;

provided that any failure by the Issuer to make payment as described in subparagraph (a)
ar (b) of this Section shall not constitute an Event of Default with respect to any Bond if
the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Bond provides that due and
punctual payment by a Security Instrument Issuer or a Reserve Instrument Issuer shall
not give rise to an Event of Default and such payment is, in fact, duly and punctually
made; and provided, further that the provisions of Section 7.1(i) hereof are subject to the
following limitations: if by reason of acts of God; strikes, lockouts or other similar
disturbances; acts of public enemies; orders of any kind of the government of the United
States or the State or any department, agency, political subdivision, court or official of
the State which asserts jurisdiction over the Issuer; orders of any kind of civil or military
authority; insurrections; riots; epidemics; landslides; lightning; earthquakes; volcanoes;
fires, hurricanes; tornadoes; storms; floods; washouts; droughts; arrests; restraint of
government and people; civil disturbances; explosions; or any cause or event not
reasonably within the control of the Issuer, the Issuer is unable in whole or part to carry
out any one or more of its respective agreements or obligations contained herein (other
than as described in (a) through (h) above) such default shall not constitute an "Event of
Default" hereunder so long as such cause or event continues.

The Trustee shall give notice to any Security Instrument [ssuer and Reserve
Instrument Issuer of any Event of Default known to the Trustee within five Business
Days after it has knowledge thereof.

Section 7.2  Remedies; Rights of Registered Owners. Upon the occurrence of
an Event of Default, the Trustee may pursue any available remedy by suit at law or in
equity to enforce the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the
Bonds then Outstanding or to enforce any obligations of the Issuer hereunder.

If an Event of Default shall have occurred, and if requested so to do by (i)
Registered Owners of not less than 25% in aggregate Principal amount of the Bonds then

UT_DOCS_A #1098350 v14 51



Outstanding, (ii) Security Instrument Issuers at that time providing Security Instruments
which are in full force and effect and not in default on any payment obligation and which
secure not less than 25% in aggregate Principal amount of Bonds at the time Outstanding,
or (iii) any combination of Bondowners and Security Instrument Issuers described in (i)
and (ii) above representing not less than 25% in aggregate Principal amount of Bonds at
the time Outstanding, and indemnified as provided in Section 8.1 hereof, the Trustee shall
be obligated to exercise such one or more of the rights and powers conferred by this
Section as the Trustee, being advised by counsel, shall deem most expedient in the
interest of the Registered Owners and the Security Instrument Issuers.

No remedy by the terms hereof conferred upon or reserved to the Trustee (or to
the Registered Owners or to the Security Instrument Issuers) is intended to be exclusive
of any other remedy, but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in
addition to any other remedy given to the Trustee, the Registered Owners or the Security
Instrument Issuers or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute.

No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any Event of
Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any
Event of Default or acquiescence therein; and every such right and power may be
exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient.

No waiver of any Event of Default hereunder, whether by the Trustee, the
Registered Owners or the Security Instrument Issuers, shall extend to or shall affect any
subsequent Event of Default or shall impair any rights or remedies consequent thereon.

Section 7.3  Right of Registered Owners and Security Instrument Issuers to
Direct Proceedings. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, unless a
Supplemental Indenture provides otherwise, either (i} the Registered Owners of a
majority in aggregate Principal amount of the Bonds then Qutstanding, (ii) the Security
Instrument Issuers at the time providing Security Instruments which are in full force and
effect and not in default on any payment obligation and which secure not less than 50%
in aggregate Principal amount of Bonds at the time Outstanding, or (iii) any combination
of Bondowners and Security Instrument Issuers described in (i) and (ii) above
representing not less than 50% in aggregate Principal amount of Bonds at the time
Outstanding, shall have the right, at any time, by an instrument or instruments in writing
executed and delivered to the Trustee, to direct the time, method and place of conducting
all proceedings to be taken in connection with the enforcement of the terms and
conditions hereof, or for the appointment of a receiver or any other proceedings
hereunder; provided, that such direction shall not be otherwise than in accordance with
the provisions of law and of this Indenture.

Section 7.4  Application of Monies. All Pledged Revenues and monies
received by the Trustee pursuant to any right given or action taken under the default
provisions of this Article shall be applied in the following order:

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 52



(@  To the payment (i) the reasonable and proper charges and expenses
of the Trustee and the reasonable fees and disbursements of its counsel and (ii)
Financing Expenses.

(b)  To the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest
then due and payable on the Bonds and the Security Instrument Repayment
Obligations as follows:

(i) Unless the Principal of all the Bonds shall have become due
and payable, all such monies shall be applied:

'FIRST--To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of
all installments of interest then due on the Bonds and the interest
component of any Security Instrument Repayment Obligations
then due, in the order of the maturity of the installments of such
interest and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in
full any particular installment, then to the payment ratably,
according to the amounts due on such instaliment, to the persons
entitled thereto, without any discrimination or privilege; and

SECOND--To the payment to the persons entitled thereto
of the unpaid Principal of and premium, if any, on the Bonds
which shall have become due (other than Bonds called for
redemption for the payment of which monies are held pursuant to
the provisions. hereof), in the order of their due dates, and the
Principal component of any Security Instrument Repayment
Obligations then due, and, if the amount available shall not be
sufficient to pay in full all the Bonds and the Principal component
of any Security Instrument Repayment Obligations due on any
particular date, then to the payment ratably, according to the
amount of Principal due on such date, to the persons entitled
thereto without any discrimination or privilege.

(i)  If the principal of all the Bonds shall have become due and
payable, all such monies shall be applied to the payment of the Principal
and interest then due and unpaid upon the Bonds and Security Instrument
Repayment Obligations, without preference or priority of Principal over
interest or of interest over Principal, or of any installment of interest over
any other installment of interest, or of any Bond or Security Instrument
Repayment Obligation over any other Bond or Security Instrument
Repayment Obligation, ratably, according to the amounts due respectively
for Principal and interest, to the persons entitled thereto without any
discrimination or privilege.

(iii)  After payment of (i) or (i) above as applicable, to the

payment of -all obligations owed to all Reserve Instrument Providers,
ratably, according to the amounts due without any discrimination or

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 vi4 53



preference under any applicable agreement related to any Reserve
Instrument Agreement.

Whenever monies are to be applied pursuant to the provisions of this Section,
such monies shall be applied at such times, and from time to time, as the Trustee shall
determine, having due regard to the amounts of such monies available for such
application and the likelihood of additional monies becoming available for such
application in the future. Whenever the Trustee shall apply such funds, it shall fix the
date (which shall be an Interest Payment Date unless it shall deem another date more
suitable} upon which such application is to be made and upon such date interest on the
amounts of Principal paid on such dates shall cease to accrue.

Section 7.5  Remedies Vested in Trustee. All rights of action (including the
right to file proof of claims) hereunder or under any of the Bonds may be enforced by the
Trustee without the possession of any of the Bonds or the production thereof in any trial
or other proceedings related thereto and any such suit or proceedings instituted by the
Trustee shall be brought in its name as Trustee without the necessity of joining as-
plaintiffs or defendants any Registered Owners of the Bonds, and any recovery of
judgment shall be for the equal benefit of the Registered Owners of the Outstanding
Bonds.

Section 7.6 Rights and Remedies of Registered Owners. Except as provided in

the last sentence of this Section, no Registered Owner of any Bond or Security
Instrument Issuer or Reserve Instrument Provider shall have any right to institute any
suit, action or proceeding in equity or at law for the enforcement hereof or for the
execution of any trust thereof or for the appointment of a receiver or any other remedy
hereunder, unless an Event of Default has occurred of which the Trustee has been
notified as provided in Section 8.1(g), or of which by said Section it is deemed to have
notice, nor- unless also Registered Owners of not less than 25% in aggregate principal
amount of the Bonds then Outstanding or Security Instrument lssuers at the time
providing Security Instruments which are in full force and effect and are not in default on
any payment obligation and which secure not less than 25% in aggregate principal
amount of Bonds at the time Outstanding shall have made written request to the Trustee
and shall have offered reasonable opportunity either to proceed to exercise the powers
hereinbefore granted or to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its own name, nor
unless also they have offered to the Trustee indemnity as provided in Section 8.1 hereof
nor unless the Trustee shall thereafter fail or refuse to exercise the powers hereinabove
granted, or to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its own name or names. Such
notification, request and offer of indemnity are hereby declared in every case at the
option of the Trustee to be conditions precedent to the execution of the powers and trust
hereof, and to any action or cause of action for the enforcement hereof, or for the
appointment of a receiver or for any other remedy hereunder; it being understood and
intended that no one or more Registered Owner of the Bonds or Security Instrument
Issuer or Reserve Instrument Provider shall have any right in any manner whatsoever to
affect, disturb or prejudice the lien hereof by its action or to enforce any right hereunder
except in the manner herein provided, and that all proceedings at law or in equity shall be
instituted, had and maintained in the manner herein provided and for the equal benefit of

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 54



the Registered Owners of all Bonds then Outstanding and all Security Instrument Issuers
at the time providing Security Instruments and all Reserve Instrument Providers at the
time providing Reserve Instruments. Nothing herein contained shall, however, affect or
impair the right of any Registered Owner or Security Instrument Issuer to enforce the
covenants of the Issuer to pay the Principal of, premium, if any, and interest on each of
the Bonds and Security Instrument Repayment Obligations at the time, place, from the
source and in the manner in said Bonds or Security Instrument Repayment Obligations
expressed.

Section 7.7~ Termination of Proceedings. In case the Trustee, any Bondowner
or any Security Instrument Issuer shall have proceeded to enforce any right hereunder
and such proceedings shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, or shall
have been determined adversely to the Trustee, the Bondowner, or Security Instrument
Issuer, then and in every such case the Issuer and the Trustee shall be restored to their
former positions and rights hereunder, and all rights, remedies and powers of the Trustee
shall continue as if no such proceedings had been taken.

Section 7.8  Waivers of Events of Default. Subject to Section 8.1(g) hereof, the
Trustee may in its discretion, and with the prior written consent of all Security Instrument
Issuers at the time providing Security Instruments which are in full force and effect and
not in default of any payment obligation, waive any Event of Default hereunder and its
consequences and shall do so upon the written request of the Registered Owners of (a) a
majority in aggregate Principal amount of all the Bonds then Outstanding or Security
Instrument Issuers at the time providing Security Instruments which are in full force ang
effect and are not in default on any payment obligation and which secure not less than
50% in aggregate Principal amount of Bonds at the time Outstanding in respect of which
an Event of Default in the payment of Principal and interest exists, or (b) a majority in
aggregate Principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding or Security Instrument Issuers
at the time providing Security Instruments which are in full force and effect and are not in
default on any payment obligation and which secure not less than 50% in aggregate
Principal amount of Bonds at the time Outstanding in the case of any other Event of
Default; provided, however, that there shall not be waived (i) any Event of Default in the
payment of the Principal of any Bonds at the date of maturity specified therein, or (ii) any
default in the payment when due of the interest on any such Bonds, unless prior to such
waiver or rescission all arrears of interest, with interest (to the extent permitted by law) at
the rate borne by the Bonds in respect of which such Event of Default shall have occurred
on overdue installments of interest and all arrears of payments of Principal and premijum,
if any, when due, and all expenses of the Trustee in connection with such Event of
Default, shall have been paid or provided for, and in case of any such waiver or
rescission, or in case any proceeding taken by the Trustee on account of any such Event
of Default shall have been discontinued or abandoned or determined adversely, then and
in every such case the Issuer, the Trustee, the Registered Owners and the Security
Instrument Issuers shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder,
respectively, but no such waiver or rescission shall extend to any subsequent or other
Event of Default, or impair any right consequent thereon,

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 55



Section 7.9  Cooperation of Issuer. In the case of any Event of Default
hereunder, the Issuer shall cooperate with the Trustee and use its best efforts to protect
the Bondowners and the Security Instrument Issuers.

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 56



ARTICLE VIII
THE TRUSTEE

Section 8.1  Acceptance of the Trusts. The Trustee accepts the trusts imposed
upon it hereby, and agrees to perform said trusts as a corporate trustee ordinarily would
perform said trusts under a corporate indenture, but no implied covenants or obligations
shall be read into this Indenture against the Trustee.

(a)  The Trustee may execute any of the trusts or powers thereof and
perform any of its duties by or through attorneys, agents, receivers or employees
but shall be answerable for the conduct of the same in accordance with the
standard specified above, and shall be entitled to advice of counsel concerning all
matters of trusts hereof and the duties hereunder, and may in all cases pay such
reasonable compensation to all such attorneys, agents, receivers and employees as
may reasonably be employed in connection with the trusts hereof. The Trustee
may act upon the opinion or advice of counsel. The Trustee shall not be
responsible for any loss or damage resulting from any action or non-action in
.good faith in reliance upon such opinion or advice.

(b)  The Trustee shall not be responsible for any recital herein, or in the
Bonds (except in respect to the certificate of the Trustee endorsed on the Bonds),
or collecting any insurance monies, or for the validity of the execution by the
Issuer of this Indenture or of any supplements thereto or instruments of further
assurance, or for the sufficiency of the security for the Bonds issued hereunder or
intended to be secured hereby; and the Trustee shall not be bound to ascertain or
inquire as to the performance or observance of any covenants, conditions or
agreements on the part of the Issuer; but the Trustee may require of the Issuer full
information and advice as to the performance of the covenants, conditions and
agreements aforesaid and as to the condition of the property herein conveyed.
The Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for any loss suffered in connection
with any investment of funds made by it in accordance with the provisions hereof.

{c) The Trustee shall not be accountable for the use of any Bonds
authenticated or delivered hereunder, except as specifically set forth herein. ' The
Trustee may become the owner of Bonds secured hereby with the same rights
which it would have if not Trustee.

(d)  The Trustee shall be protected in acting upon any notice, request,
consent, certificate, order, affidavit, letter, telegram or other paper or document
believed to be genuine and correct and to have been signed or sent by the proper
person or persons. Any action taken by the Trustee pursuant hereto upon the
request or authority or consent of any person who at the time of making such
request or giving such authority or consent is the Registered Owner of any Bond,
shall be conclusive and binding upon all future Owners of the same Bond and
upon Bonds issued in exchange therefor or in place thereof.

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 57



{e) As to the existence or nonexistence of any fact or as to the.
sufficiency or validity of any instrument, paper or proceeding, the Trustee shall be
entitled to rely upon a certificate signed on behalf of the Issuer by an Authorized
Representative as sufficient evidence of the facts therein contained and prior to
the occurrence of an Event of Default of which the Trustee has been notified as
provided in Paragraph (g) of this Section, or of which by said Paragraph it is
deemed to have notice, shall also be at liberty to accept a similar certificate to the
effect that any particular dealing, transaction or action is necessary or expedient,
but may at its discretion secure such further evidence deemed necessary or
advisable, but shall in no case be bound to secure the same. The Trustee may
accept a certificate of the Secretary of the Board of Trustees of the Issuer to the
effect that a resolution in the form therein set forth has been adopted by the Issuer
as conclusive evidence that such resolution has been duly adopted, and is in full
force and effect.

() The permissive right of the Trustee to do things enumerated herein
shall not be construed as a duty and the Trustee shall not be answerable for other
than its gross negligence or willful misconduct.

(g}  The Trustee shall not be required to take notice or be deemed to
have notice of any Event of Default hereunder, except an Event of Default
described in Section 7.1(a) or (b), uniess the Trustee shall be specifically notified
in writing of such Default by the Issuer, a Security Instrument Issuer or by the
Registered Owners of at least 25% in the aggregate Principal amount of the Bonds
then Outstanding and all notices or other instruments required hereby to be
delivered to the Trustee must, in order to be effective, be delivered at the principal
corporate trust office of the Trustee, and in the absence of such notice so
delivered, the Trustee may conclusively presume there is no Event of Default
except as aforesaid.

(h) At any and all reasonable times and upon reasonable prior written
notice, the Trustee, and its duly authorized agents, attorneys, experts, engineers,
accountants and representatives, shall have the right fully to inspect all books,
papers and records of the Issuer pertaining to the Bonds, and to take such
memoranda from and in regard thereto as may be desired.

(i) The Trustee shall not be required to give any bond or surety in
respect of the execution of the said trusts and powers or otherwise in respect of
the premises.

)] Notwithstanding anything elsewhere herein contained, the Trustee
shall have the right, but shall not be required, to demand, in respect of the
authentication of any Bonds, the withdrawal of any cash, the release of any
property, or any action whatsoever within the purview hereof, any showing,
certificates, opinions, appraisals, or other information, or corporate action or
evidence thereof, in addition to that by the terms hereof required as a condition of

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 58



such action by the Trustee, deemed desirable for the authentication of any Bonds,
the withdrawal of any cash, or the taking of any other action by the Trustee.

(k) - All monies received by the Trustee or any paying agent shall, until
used or applied or invested as herein provided, be held in trust for the purposes for
which they were received but need not be segregated from other funds except to
the extent required by law or as provided hereunder. Neither the Trustee nor any
paying agent shall be under any liability for interest on any monies received
hereunder except such as may be agreed upon.

(I}  'If any Event of Default hereunder shall have occurred and be
continuing, the Trustee shall éxercise such of the rights and powers vested in it
hereby and shall use the same degree of care as a prudent person would exercise
or use in the circumstances in the conduct of its own affairs.

(m) The Trustee shall be under no obligation to exercise any of the
rights or powers vested in it by this Indenture at the request, order or direction of
any of the Bondholders, Security Instrument Issuers or Reserve Instrument Issuers
pursuant to the provisions of this Indenture, unless such Bondholders, Security
Instrument Issuers or Reserve Instrument Issuers shall have offered to the Trustee
reasonable security or indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities which
may be incurred therein or thereby.

(n)  The Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for any loss suffered
‘in connection with any investment of funds made by it in accordance with this
Indenture or any supplement hereto..

Section 8.2  Fees, Charges and Expenses of Trustee. The Trustee shall be
entitled to payment or reimbursement for reasonable fees for its services rendered as
Trustee hereunder and all advances, counsel fees and other expenses reasonably and
necessarily made or incurred by the Trustee in connection with such services. The
Trustee shall be entitled to payment and reimbursement for the reasonable fees and
charges of the Trustee as Paying Agent and Registrar for the Bonds as hereinabove
provided. Upon an Event of Default, but only upon an Event of Default, the Trustee shall
have a right of payment prior to payment on account of interest or principal of, or
premium, if any, on any Bond for the foregoing advances, fees, costs and expenses
incurred, except for amounts held in trust to pay the p_rihcipal, premium, interest or
purchase price of Bonds in accordance with Section 2.13 hereof and except for amounts
paid under a Security Instrument.

Section 8.3  Notice to Registered Owners if Event of Default Occurs. If an
Event of Default occurs of which the Trustee is by Section 8.1(g) hereof required to take

notice or if notice of an Event of Default is given to the Trustee as in said Section
provided, then the Trustee shall give written notice thereof by registered or certified mail
to ali- Security Instrument Issuers and to the Registered Owners of all Bonds then
Outstanding shown on the registration books of the Bonds kept by the Trustee as
Registrar for the Bonds.

UT_DOCS_A #1098350 v14 59



Section 84  Intervention by Trustee. In any judicial proceeding to which the
Issuer is a party and which in the opinion of the Trustee and its counsel has a substantial
bearing on the interest of Registered Owners of the Bonds, the Trustee may intervene on
behalf of such Owners and shall do so if requested in writing by any Security Instrument
Issuer providing a Security Instrument which is in full force and effect and not in default
on any payment obligation or by the Registered Owners of at least 25% in aggregate
Principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding. The rights and obligations of the
Trustee under this Section are subject to the approval of a court of competent jurisdiction.

Section 8.5  Successor Trustee. Any corporation or association into which the
Trustee may be converted or merged, or with which it may be consolidated, or to which it
may sell or transfer its corporate trust business and assets as a whole or substantially as a
whole, or any corporation or association resulting from any such conversion, sale,
merger, consolidation or transfer to which it is a party, ipso facto, shall be and become
successor Trustee hereunder (so long as otherwise qualified as provided in Section 8.8
hereof) and vested with all of the title to the whole property or trust estate and all the
trusts, powers, discretions, immunities, privileges and all other matters as was its
predecessor, without the execution or filing of any instrument or any further act, deed of
conveyance on the part of any of the parties hereto, anything herein to the contrary
notwithstanding.

Section 8.6  Resignation by the Trusiee. The Trustee and any successor
Trustee may at any time resign from the trusts hereby created by giving written notice to
the Issuer, served personally or by registered mail, and by registered or certified mail to
each Reserve Instrument Issuer, Security Instrument Issuer and Registered Owner of
Bonds then Outstanding, and such resignation shall take effect upon the appointment of a
successor Trustee by the Registered Owners or by the Issuer as provided in Section 8.8
hereof; provided, however that if no successor Trustee has been appointed within 60 days
of the date of such notice of resignation, the resigning Trustee may petition any court of
competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Trustee, and such court may
thereupon, after such notice, if any, as it deems proper and prescribes, appoint a successor
Trustee.

Section 8.7  Removal of the Trustee. The Trustee may be removed (i) by the
Issuer at any time by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing of the Issuer
delivered to the Trustee and each Security Instrument Issuer and (i) as provided in a
Supplemental Indenture, provided that such instrument or instruments or actions taken as
provided in the Supplemental Indenture concurrently appoint a successor Trustee meeting
the qualifications set. forth herein.

Section 8.8  Appointment of Successor Trustee; Temporary Trustee. In case

the Trustee hereunder shall resign or be removed, or be dissolved, or shall be in course of
dissolution or liquidation, or otherwise become incapable of acting hereunder, or in case
it shall be taken under the control of any public officer or officers, or of a receiver
appointed by a court, a successor may be appointed by the Issuer by an instrument
executed by duly authorized officers of the Issuer. Any successor Trustee appointed
pursuant to the provisions of this section shall (i) be subject to the prior written approval

UT_DOCS_A #1006350 v14 60



of all Security Instrument Issuers, (ii) be a commercial bank in good standing, duly
authorized to exercise trust powers and subject to examination by federal or state
authority, and (iii) have a reported capital and surplus of not less than $50,000,000.

Each Reserve Instrument Provider and Security Instrument Issuer shall be notified
immediately upon the resignation or termination of the Trustee and provided with a list
of candidates for the office of successor Trustee.

Section 8.9  Conceming Any Successor Trustee. Every successor Trustee
appointed hereunder shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to its predecessor and also to
the Issuer an instrument in writing accepting such appointment hereunder, and thereupon
such successor, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become fully vested
‘with all the estates, properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations of its
predecessor; but such predecessor shall, nevertheless, on the written request of the Issuer,
or of the successor Trustee, execute and deliver an instrument transferring to such
successor Trustee all the estates, properties, rights, powers and trusts of such predecessor
hereunder; and every predecessor Trustee shall deliver all securities and monies held by it
as Trustee hereunder to its successor. Should any instrument in writing from the Issuer
be required by any successor Trustee for more fully and certainly vesting in such
successor the estates, rights, powers and duties hereby vested or intended to be vested in
the predecessor, any and all such instruments in writing shall, on request, be executed,
acknowledged and delivered by the Issuer. The resignation of any Trustee and the
instrument or instruments removing any Trustee and appointing a successor hereunder,
together with all other instruments provided for in this Article shall be filed or recorded
by the successor Trustee in each recording office, if any, where the Indenture shall have
been filed or recorded.

Section 8.10  Trustee Protected in Relying Upon Indenture, Etc. The indentures,
opinions, certificates and other instruments provided for herein may be accepted by the
Trustee as conclusive evidence of the facts and conclusions stated therein and shall be
full warrant, protection and authority to the Trustee for the release of property and the
withdrawal of cash hereunder.

Section 8.11  Successor Trustee as Trustee of Funds; Paying Agent and Bond
Registrar. In the event of a change in the office of Trustee, the predecessor Trustee
which has resigned or been removed shall cease to be Trustee hereunder and Registrar for
the Bonds and Paying Agent for principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds,
and the successor Trustee shall become such Trustee, Registrar and Paying Agent for the
Bonds.

Section 8.12 Trust Estate May Be Vested in Separate or Co-Trustee. It is the
purpose of this Indenture that there shall be no violation of any law of any jurisdiction
(including particularly the laws of the State) denying or restricting the right of banking
corporations or associations to transact business as Trustee in such jurisdiction. It is
recognized that in case of litigation hereunder, and in particular in case of the
enforcement of remedies on Event of Default, or in case the Trustee deems that by reason
of any present or future law of any jurisdiction it may not exercise any of the powers,

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 61



rights, or remedies herein granted to the Trustee or hold title to the trust estate, as herein
granted, or take any other action which may be desirable or necessary in connection
therewith, it may be necessary that the Trustee appoint an additional individual or
institution as a separate or co-trustee. The following provisions of this Section are
adapted to these ends.

In the event that the Trustee appoints an additional individual or institution as a
separate or co-trustee, each and every remedy, power, right, claim, demand, cause of
action, immunity, estate, title, interest and lien expressed or intended hereby to be
exercised by or vested in or conveyed to the Trustee with respect thereto shall be
exercisable by and vested in such separate or co-trustee, but only to the extent necessary
to enable the separate or co-trustee to exercise such powers, rights and remedies, and
every covenant and obligation necessary to the exercise thereof by such separate or co-
trustee shall run to and be enforceable by either of them.

Should any deed, conveyance or instrument in writing from the Issuer be required
by the separate trustee or co-trustee so appointed by the Trustee for more fully. and
certainly vesting in and confirming to it such properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and
obligations, any and all such deeds, conveyances and instruments in writing shall, on
request of such trustee or co-trustee, be executed, acknowledged and delivered by the
Issuer. In case any separate trustee or co-trustee or a successor to either, shall die,
become incapable of acting, resign or be removed, all the estates, properties, rights,
powers, trusts, duties and obligations of such separate trustee or co-trustee, so far as
permitted by law, shall vest in and be exercised by the Trustee until the appointment of a
new trustee or suceessor to such separate trustee or co-trustee.

Section 8.13 Annual Accounting. The Trustee shall prepare an annual
accounting for each Fiscal Year by the end of the month following each such Fiscal Year
showing in reasonable detail all financial transactions relating to the funds and accounts
held by the Trustee hereunder during the accounting period and the balance in any funds
or accounts created hereby as of the beginning and close of such accounting period, and
shall mail the same to the Issuer and underwriter of each Series of Bonds, and to each
Security Instrument Issuer and Reserve Instrument Provider requesting the same. The
Trustee shall also make available for inspection by any Registered Owner a copy of said
annual accounting (with the names and addresses of Registered Owners receiving
payment of debt service on the Bonds deleted therefrom) and shall mail the same if
requested in writing to do so by Registered Owners of at least 25% in aggregate principal
amount of Bonds then Outstanding to the designee of said Owners specified in said
written request at the address therein designated. On or before the end of the month
following each Fiscal Year, the Trustee shall, upon written request, provide to the Issuer
and the Issuer's independent auditor representations as to the accuracy of the facts
contained in the financial reports that were delivered by the Trustee during the Fiscal
Year just ended.

Section 8.14 Indemnification. Subject to the provisions of Section 8.1(a) of
this Indenture, the Issuer shall indemnify and save Trustee harmless against any liabilities

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 vi4 62



it may incur in the exercise and performance of its powers and duties hereunder, other
than those due to its own gross negligence or willful misconduct.

Section 8.15 Trustee's Right to Own and Deal in Bonds. The bank or trust

company acting as Trustee under this Indenture, and its directors, officers, employees or
agents, may in good faith buy, sell, own, hold and deal in any of the Bonds issued
hereunder and secured by this Indenture, and may join in any action which any
Bondholder may be entitled to take with like effect as if such bank or trust company were
not the Trustee under this Indenture.

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 63



ARTICLE IX

SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES

Section 9.1  Supplemental Indentures Not Requiring Consent of Registered

Owners, Security Instrument issuers and Reserve Instrument Providers. The Issuer and
the Trustee may, without the consent of, or notice to, any of the Registered Owners or
Reserve Instrument Providers, but with notice to any Security Instrument Issuer, enter
into an indenture or indentures supplemental hereto, as shall not be inconsistent with the
terms and provisions hereof, for any one or more of the following purposes:

(a) To provide for the issuance of Additional Bonds in accordance
with the provisions of Section 2.15 hereof:

(b)  To cure any ambiguity or formal defect or omission herein which
will not materially adversely affect the Owners of the Bonds;

(c) To grant to or confer upon the Trustee for the benefit of the
Registered Owners, any Security Instrument Issuers and any Reserve Instrument
Providers any additional rights, remedies, powers or authority that may lawfuily
be granted to or conferred upon the Registered Owners, any Security Instrument
Issuers and any Reserve Instrument Providers or any of them, provided, however,
that the prior written consent of each Security Instrument Issuer is obtained;

{d) To subject to this Indenture additional revenues or other revenues,
properties, collateral or security;

(e) To make any other change hereto which, in the judgment of the
Trustee, is not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Registered Owners, the
Trustee, any Security Instrument Issuer or any Reserve Instrument Provider,
provided, however, that the prior written consent of each Security Instrument
Issuer is obtained;

(f) To make any change necessary (i) to establish or maintain the
exemption from federal income taxation of interest on any Series of Bonds as a
result of any modifications or amendments to Section 148 of the Code {or any
successor provision of law) or interpretations thereof by the Internal Revenue
Service, or (ii) to comply with the provisions of Section 148(f) of the Code (or
any successor provision of law), including provisions for the payment of all or a
portion of the investment earnings of any of the Funds established hereunder to
the United States of America;

(g) It the Bonds affected by such change are rated by a Rating
Agency, to make any change which does not result in a reduction of the rating
applicable to any of the Bonds so affected, provided that if any of the Bonds so
affected are secured by a Security Instrument, such change must be approved in
writing by the related Security Instrument Issuer;

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 64



(h)  If the Bonds affected by such change are secured by a Security
Instrument, to make any change approved in writing by the related Security
Instrument Issuer, provided that if any of the Bonds so affected are rated by a
Rating Agency, such change shall not result in a reduction of the rating applicable
to any of the Bonds so affected; and

(i) To provide for the appointment of a successor Trustee, a Paying
Agent, a separate or co-trustee, a Remarketing Agent or a Transfer Agent.

No modification or amendment shall be permitted pursuant to paragraph (g) or (h)
unless the Issuer delivers to the Trustee an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel
to the effect that such modification or amendment will not adversely affect the tax-
exempt status or validity of any Bonds affected by such modification or amendment.

Section9.2  Supplemental Indentures Requiring Consent of Registered QOwners,

Security Instrument Issuers and Reserve Instrument Providers; Waivers and Consents by
Registered Owners. Exclusive of Supplemental Indentures covered by Section 9.1 hereof
and subject to the terms and provisions contained in this Section, and not otherwise, the
Registered Owners of 66 2/3% in aggregate Principal amount of the Bonds then
Outstanding shall have the right, from time to time, anything contained herein to the
confrary notwithstanding, to (i) consent to and approve the execution by the Issuer and
the Trustee of such other indenture or indentures supplemental hereto as shall be deemed
necessary and desirable by the Issuer for the purpose of modifying, altering, amending,
adding to or rescinding, in any particular, any of the terms or provisions contained herein
or in any Supplemental Indenture, or (ii) waive or consent to the taking by the Issuer of
any action prohibited, or the omission by the Issuer of the taking of any action required,
by any of the provisions hereof or of any indenture supplemental hereto; provided,
however, that nothing in this Section contained shall permit or be construed as permitting
(@) an extension of the stated maturity or reduction in the Principal amount of, or
reduction in the rate of or extension of the time of paying of interest on, or reduction of
any premium payable on the redemption of, or the elimination of tender rights with
respect to, any Bond, without the consent of the Registered Owner of such Bond, or (b) a
reduction in the amount or extension of the time of any payment required by any fund
established hereunder applicable to any Bonds without the consent of the Registered
Owners of all the Bonds which would be affected by the action to be taken, or (c) a
reduction in the aforesaid aggregate Principal amount of Bonds, the Registered Owners
of which are required to consent to any such waiver or Supplemental Indenture, or (d)
affect the rights of the Registered Owners of less than all Bonds then Outstanding,
without the consent of the Registered Owners of all the Bonds at the time Outstanding
which would be affected by the action to be taken. In addition, no supplement hereto
shall modify the rights, duties or immunities of the Trustee, without the written consent
of the Trustee. If a Security Instrument or a Reserve Instrument is in effect with respect
to any Series of Bonds Outstanding and if a proposed modification or amendment would
apply to such Series of Bonds, then, except as described in Section 9.1 hereof, neither this
Indenture nor any Supplemental Indenture with respect to such Series of Bonds shall be
modified or amended at any time without the prior written consent of the related Security
Instrument Issuer or Reserve Instrument Provider, as applicable. Copies of any such

UT_DOCS_A #1006360 v14 65



modifications, amendments or supplements permitted under this Section or Section 9.1
shall be sent to each Rating Agency at least 10 days prior to the effective date thereof.

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 66



ARTICLE X
DISCHARGE OF INDENTURE

If the Issuer shall pay or cause to be paid, or there shall be otherwise paid or
provision for payment made to or for the Registered Owners of the Bonds, the Principal
of and interest due or to become due thereon at the times and in the manner stipulated
therein, and shall pay or cause to be paid to the Trustee all sums of monies due or to
become due according to the provisions hereof, and to all Security Instrument Issuers and
all Reserve Instrument Providers all sums of money due or to become due accordingly to
the provisions of any Security Instrument Agreements and Reserve Instrument
Agreements, as applicable, then these presents and the estate and rights hereby granted
shall cease, determine and be void, whereupon the Trustee shall cance] and discharge the
lien hereof, and release, assign and deliver unto the Issuer anty and all the estate, right,
title and interest in and to any and all rights assigned or pledged to the Trustee, held by
the Trustee, or otherwise subject to the lien hereof, except monies or securities held by
the Trustee for the payment of the Principal of and interest on the Bonds, the payment of
amounts pursuant to any Security Instrument Agreements or the payment of amounts
pursuant to any Reserve Instrument Agreements,

Any Bond shall be deemed to be paid within the meaning of this Article when
payment of the Principal of such Bond, plus interest thereon to the due date thereof
(whether such due date be by reason of maturity or upon redemption as provided herein,
or otherwise), either (a) shall have been made or caused to have been made in accordance
with the terms thereof, or (b) shall have been provided by irrevocably depositing with or
for the benefit of the Trustee, in trust and irrevocably setting aside exclusively for such
payment, any combination of (i) monies sufficient to make such payment, or (ii)
Government Obligations, maturing as to principal and interest in such amount and at such
times as will insure the availability of sufficient monies to make such payment, and all
necessary and proper fees, compensation and expenses of the Trustee and any paying
agent pertaining to the Bond with respect to which such deposit is made shall have been
paid or the payment thereof provided for to the satisfaction of the Trustee. At such times
as a Bond shall be deemed to be paid hereunder, as aforesaid, it shall no longer be
secured by or entitled to the benefits hereof, except for the purposes of any such payment
from such monies or Government Obligations.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of Bonds, which by their terms may be
redeemed prior to their stated maturity, no deposit under the immediately preceding
paragraph shall be deemed a payment of such Bonds as aforesaid until the Issuer shall
have given the Trustee, in form satisfactory to the Trustee, irrevocable instructions:

{a) stating the date when the Principal of each such Bond is to be paid,
whether at maturity or on a redemption date (which shall be any redemption date
permitted hereby);

(b)  to instruct the Trustee to call for redemption pursuant hereto any
Bonds to be redeemed prior to maturity pursuant to Subparagraph (a) above; and

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 67



(c) to instruct the Trustee to mail, as soon as practicable, in the manner
prescribed by Article II hereof, a notice to the Registered Owners of such Bonds
and to each related Security Instrument Issuer that the deposit required by this
Section has been made with the Trustee and that such Bonds are deemed to have
been paid in accordance with this Article and stating the maturity or redemption
date upon which monies are to be available for the payment of the principal or
redemption price, if applicable, on said Bonds as specified in Subparagraph (a)
above. If the redemption date for all Bonds, payment for which is to be provided
by deposit of monies or Government Obligations or both, shall fall within 120
days of the mailing of the notice of redemption, then the notices referred to in
Subparagraph (b) above and this Subparagraph (c) may be combined.

Any monies so deposited with the Trustee as provided in this Article may at the
direction of the Issuer also be invested and reinvested in Government Obligations,
maturing in the amounts and times as hereinbefore set forth, and all income from all
Government Obligations in the hands of the Trustee pursuant to this Article which is not
required for the payment of the Bonds and interest thereon with respect to which such
monies shall have been so deposited shall be deposited in the Bond Fund as and when
realized and collected for use and application as are other monies deposited in that fund.

No such deposit under this Article shall be made or accepted hereunder and no
use made of any such deposit unless the Trustee shall have received an opinion of
nationally recognized municipal bond counsel to the effect that such deposit and use
would not cause the Bonds to be treated as arbitrage bonds within the meaning of
Sections 148 of the Code. '

Notwithstanding any provision of any other Article hereof, all monies or
Government Obligations set aside and held in trust pursuant to the provisions of this
Article for the payment of Bonds (including interest thereon) shall be applied to and used
solely for the payment of the particular Bonds (including interest thereon) with respect to
which such monies or Government Obligations have been so set aside in trust.

Anything in Article IX hereof to the contrary notwithstanding, if monies or
Government Obligations have been deposited or set aside with the Trustee pursuant to
this Article for the payment of Bonds and such Bonds shall not have in fact been actually
paid in full, no amendment to the provisions of this Article shall be made without the
consent of the Registered Owner of each Bond affected thereby.

UT_DOCS A #1096350 v14 68



ARTICLE Xi
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 11.1 Consents, Etc. of Registered Owners. Any consent, request,
direction, approval, objection or other instrument required hereby to be executed by the
Registered Owners, Security Instrument Issuers or Reserve Instrument Providers may be
in any number of concurrent writings of similar tenor and may be executed by such
Registered Owners, Security Instrument Issuers or Reserve Instrument Providers in
person or by agent appointed in writing. Proof of the execution of any such consent,
request, direction, approval, objection or other instrument or of the writing appointing
any such agent and of the ownership of Bonds, if made in the following manner, shall be
sufficient for any of the purposes hereof, and shall be conclusive in favor of the Trustee
with regard to any action taken under such request or other instrument, namely, the fact
and date of the execution by any person of any such writing may be proved by the
certificate of any officer in any jurisdiction who by law has power to take
acknowledgments within such jurisdiction that the person signing such writing
acknowledged before him the execution thereof, or by affidavit of any witness to such
execution.

Section 11.2  Limitation of Rights. With the exception of rights herein expressly
conferred, nothing expressed or mentioned in or to be implied from this Indenture or the
Bonds is intended or shall be construed to give to any person other than the parties
hereto, the Registered Owners of the Bonds, any Security Instrument Issuer and any
Reserve Instrument Provider, any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in
respect hereto or any covenants, conditions and provisions herein contained, this
Indenture and all of the covenants, conditions and provisions hereof being intended to be
and being for the sole and exclusive benefit of the parties hereto, the Registered Owners
of the Bonds, any Security Instrument Issuer and the Reserve Instrument Providers as
herein provided.

Section 11.3  Severability. If any provision hereof shall be held or deemed to be
or shall, in fact, be inoperative or unenforceabie as applied in any particular case in any
jurisdiction or in all jurisdictions, or in all cases because it conflicts with any other
provision or provisions hereof or any constitution or statute or rule of public policy, or for
any other reason, such circumstances shall not have the effect of rendering the provision
in question inoperative or unenforceable in any other case or circumstance, or of
rendering any other provision or provisions herein contained invalid, inoperative, or
unenforceable to any extent whatever.

The invalidity of any one or more phrases, sentences, clauses or Sections herein
contained, shall not affect the remaining portions hereof, or any part thereof,

Section 11.4 Notices. Unless otherwise specifically provided for herein, all
notices required to be given pursuant to the Indenture shall be in writing. It shall be
sufficient service of any notice, request, complaint, demand or other paper on the Issver if
the same shall be duly mailed by registered or certified mail addressed to it at Utah

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 69



Transit Authority, 3600 South 700 West, P, O. Box 30810, Salt Lake City, Utah 84130-
0810, Attention: General Manager, with a copy to the Issuer's General Counsel, or to
such address as the Issuer may from time to time file with the Trustee. It shall be
sufficient service of any notice or other paper on the Trustee if the same shall be duly
mailed by registered or certified mail addressed to it at Zions First National Bank, One
South Main Street, Salt Lake City, Utah 84111, Attention: Corporate Trust Department or
to such other address as the Trustee may from time to time file with the Issuer.

Section 11.5 Trustee as Paying Agent and Registrar. The Trustee is hereby

designated and agrees to act as principal Paying Agent and Registrar for and in respect to
the Bonds. '

Section 11.6 Counterparts. This Indenture may be simultaneously executed in
several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute
but one and the same instrument.

Section 11.7 Applicable Law. This Indenture shall be governed exclusively by
the applicable laws of the State.

Section 11.8  Immunity of Officers and Directors. No recourse shall be had for
the payment of the principal of or premium or interest on any of the Bonds or for any
claim based thereon or upon any obligation, covenant or agreement herein contained
against any past, present or future officer, or other public official, employee, or agent of
the Issuer.

Section 11.9 Payments Due on Holidays. If any date for the payment of
principal of or interest on the Bonds is not a Business Day, then such payment shall be
due on the first day thereafter which is a Business Day and no interest shall accrue for the
period between such payment date and such first Business Day thereafter.

Section 11.10 Notices to Security Instrument Issuer. A copy of any notices

required by this Indenture to be given to the Issuer, any Bondholder, the Paying Agent or
the Trustee shall also be given to the Security Instrument Issuer.

Section 11.11 Compliance with State Laws. It is hereby declared by the Issuer's
Board of Trustees that it is the intention of the Issuer by the execution of this Indenture to
comply in all respects with the provisions of the Utah Public Transit District Act, Title
17A, Chapter 2, Part 10, Utah Code, the Utah Municipal Bond Act, Title 11, Chapter 14,
Utah Code, and the Utah Refunding Bond Act, Title 11, Chapter 27, Utah Code.

Section 11.12 Effective Date. This Indenture shall become effective
immediately.

UT_DOCS_A #10868350 v14 70



- IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the parties hereto have caused this Indenture to be
executed as of the date first written above.

UTAH TRANSIT AUTHORITY, as Issuer

By:
UTA Legal Counsel
ZIONS FIRST NATIONAL BANK, as
Trustee
B R D I
Title: ___\ {
ATTEST:

By:ﬂa«. ) é.owﬁ

Thtle: __TRUST OFFILER

71




EXHIBIT A

REQUISITION

RE: § Utah Transit Authority, Sales Tax and Transportation Revenue Bonds,
Series

Zions First National Bank
One South Main Street
Salt Lake City, Utah 84111

You are hereby authorized to dishurse from the applicable account of the
Construction Fund with regard to the above-referenced bond issue the following:

REQUISITION NUMBER:

NAME AND ADDRESS OF PAYEE:

AMOUNT: §

PURPOSE FOR WHICH EXPENSE HAS BEEN INCURRED:

Each obligation, item of cost or expense mentioned herein has been properly incurred, is
a proper charge against the applicable account of the Construction Fund and has not been
the basis for a previous withdrawal. The amount set forth above is justly due and owing
and constitutes a Cost of the Project based upon itemized claims substantiated in support
thereof.

The amount remaining in the applicable account of the Construction Fund after such
disbursement is made, together with the amount of unencumbered Pledged Revenues, if
any, which the Issuer reasonably estimates will be deposited in the applicable account of
the Construction Fund during the period of construction of the Project from the
investment of monies on deposit in the applicable account of the Construction Fund, will,
together with any other monies lawfully available for payment of the Cost of the Project
and after payment of the amount requested in said requisition, be sufficient to pay the
remaining Cost of the Project in accordance with the plans and specification therefor then
in effect; it being understood that no monies from the Construction Fund may be
expended unless, after giving effect thereto, the funds remaining in the applicable account

UT_DOCS_A #1096350 v14 A-1



of the Construction Fund, together with such other funds and income and lawfully
available monies, are sufficient to pay the remaining Cost of the Project.

DATED:

Authorized Representative of
Utah Transit Authority

UT_DOCS_A #1086350 v14 A-2



SUBORDINATE GENERAL INDENTURE OF TRUST

Dated as of July 1, 2006

between

‘UTAH TRANSIT AUTBORITY,
as Issuer

and

ZIONS FIRST NATIONAL BANK,
as Trustee

DMWEST #6382040 va



Section 1.1.
Section 1.2.
Section 1.3.

-Section 2.1.
Section 2.2.
Section 2.3.
Section 2.4.
Section 2.5.

Section 2.6.
Section 2.7.
Section 2.8.
Section 2.9.

Section 2.10,
Section 2.11.
Section 2.12.
Section 2.13.
Section 2.14.
Section 2.15.
Section 2.16.
Section 2.17.

Section 2.18.

Section 3.1.
Section 3.2.
Section 3.3.
Section 3.4.
Section 3.5.
Section 3.6.

Table of Contents

Page
ARTICLEI
DEFINITIONS

DI INILIONS. .. 1 verersrrrrrnsesseserassnessrsrasrasassncensronsesssaros seesetsberssstsbestabbnnsassessssases 4
Tndenture to CONSHIE COMTACE .co.o....v.nereeeeeeeseeeeseesseessivmmsessesesssssmsesen 18
CONSITUCTION . . eeuieecenesansaerenaseestesnssnconeaseraene s somsssssiansssssasnssssnsasnsasensssnsas oo 19

ARTICLE I

THE BONDS
Authorization 0f Bonds ...t I 20
Description of Bond; Payment..........occurviieieccm s ieicinncsncveisaanssennans 20
Execution; Limited Obligation ........ceeeeeereenengerses ionrmnninsnicnssssesanssmrimsnianss 21
Authentication and Delivery of Bonds... Y X
Special Provisions for the Issuance of Addltlonal Bonds for
Refunding PUIPOSES. ......ccovreeirmermeesece s e sassas srmesesassessessssnbsrtensstooens 24
Provisions Regarding Bonds Secured by a Security Instrument. ..., 24
Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bonds.........coceiiiniiciciininnns — 25
Registration of Bonds; Persons Treated as OWners.......ccoceenveraensarienns .
Redemption Provisions........cccceerneerceenerreenres st s semssmsennresses 26
Notice of RedemMPUON. .i.coocecciorccrererece et st ss e rine s s s sms sasmsase e 26
Partially Redeemed Bonds ......................................... S — 28
CanCellation .......cicciircicoienmieaimsismissesisssanonsersssssmesssrsss ssssesssossssssssseen 28
Nonpresentation 0f BONAS. ........ooeveerrreereninesrenesmressiessessinseessessosssarsnens 29
Initial Bonds....c.cciririieeireiiiiemcemeec et e st ses s e e 29
Issuance of Addmonal Senior Bonds and Additional Bonds..................... 29
"FOrm 0f BODAS ..coveeeieeiiiiiie et cereenrn st s sasassesasssessssssansssassassssssnsssssnesnans 30
Covenant Against Creating or Permitting Liens; Subordinated :
Indebtedness....c.cceeeveeinvencienrmrereencens AeEaaitnatsananssasassnsnnnsarassnibaceseasnsnneent 30
Interest Rate SWAP ..ot s s anmsas 30

ARTICLEIN .

CREATION OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS

‘Creation of Construction Fund..........ccccvicieinininncnnt e 32
Ratification of Revenue Fund .......ccccovvmrinreeee s e rmnaneens 32
Creation of Bond FUNQ......c...oiccieoereniieenirnerenns s ienestessaneresssenessessanessrenns 32
Creation of Debt Service Reserve Fund.........ccccovevecircrceeciincrerccsncsnenna 32
Creation of Reserve Instrument Fund ........occcnmmiiinicniniccniinicsecsennenns 32
Additional Funds......... S SO S —— 32

DMWEST #6382940 v3 i



ARTICLE IV

APPLICATION OF BOND PROCEEDS AND OTHER MONEYS

Section 5.1.
Section 5.2.
Section 5.3.
Section 5.4.
Section 5.5.
Section 5.6.
Section 5.7.
Section 5.8.
Section 5.9,

Section 6.1.
Section 6.2.
Section 6.3.
Section 6.4.
Section 6.5.
Section 6.6.
Section 6.7.
Section 6.8.
Section 6.9.

Section 6.10.
Section 6.11.
Section 6.12.

Section 6.13.
Section 6.14.
Section 6.15.
Section 6.16.

Section 7.1.
Section 7.2.

ARTICLEV
USE OF FUNDS

Use of Construction Fund. ...........cccoveivecrmvomcnniinisiesensnanissan. SN 34
Use of Revenue Fund. ...t ssnsssee e s 35
Use of Bond Fund. ... rccnrsivcsinee s sesssssssssseses e 38
Use of Debt Service Reserve FURd......coooevemercnssnissmissscniiiisae 40
Reserve Instrument Fund ..........coocecmriennnee assssasacntsenaenananroe basnuesnsansanns puell 41
Investment Of FUnAS.........ccco i ieme e e s 41
Trast Funds ..o et e b st a e e 41
Method of Valuation and Frequency of Valuatlon ..... P 42
Purchase of Bonds.......cveciveeieeeerriceriree s becresmccms e i sses s s vaesecnnns 42

ARTICLE VI

GENERAL COVENANTS

General CoOVENANES .....c.cccreeiiierieeiecerersnraeressessaesse s sssssssssm s as s a s 43
Lien of Bonds; Equality 0f LIens ....cccociinerincniincissinnins e rnsssnassssnes 43
Payment of Principal, Premium and Interest..........coe.... S 44
Performance of Covenants; ISSUET ....c.oocerierrceisesesssemmsssssssssensnsssnsnsinssnnns 44
List of BONGhOIAETS. ..o cveeeeecc e ecce s fienenacssnrenecr s ctes st s csssns sy sssssanassnsen 44
Expeditions Constriction.........cccoerrcemeceesrnrerenmmnsmsieresssssssessisssensmenas 45
Management of SYStem. .........cccconimsmrnirnisen e sncnns e ser e 45
Payment From Other Available Funds.......ccc..coomimniinniicmeeenecer s 45
Payment of Taxes........... S 45
TNSUTANCE .........cocceerecrceen i ccremrren e s e e nsbasst srenssans e samssausanasasans sasrmsansmnasss 46
Instruments of Further ASSUTANCE ......ccecererscrersertessesssssnisseosassrsmssssnssmnesins 46
Power to Own the System and Collect Rates and Fees; Provision
for Sale or Lease and Leaseback Transactions.........cevovamrerninesnranscnensnnns 46
Maintenance of REVETINES .........ccouiemimrmimrernrie st st sssssna s ssssssnes s 46
Debt LIMIEAtION........covvemerraeaeeseeessemesemsessnsssssesiessassrastiassssasnnerssasssnansanes .47
Use of Certain Grants.........veveessscrrmorescssssmssmsmsssssimsss iesssssssssesssssasssasnsistans 47
Continuation of Sales Tax REVENUES ...ccverersisiseorsserinmssmsmsisesemessvasmenssanseans 47

ARTICLE VII.

EVENTS OF DEFAULT; REMEDIES

Events of Default ...........cc oo s esessassssssssssnssssas 43
Remedies; Rights of Registered OWNETS .........covvircemnrseemneseennsie s 49

DMWEST #6382040 v3 i



Section 7.3.

Section 7.4.
Section 7.5.
Section 7.6.
Section 7.7.
Section 7.8.
Section 7.9.

Section 8.1.
Section 8.2.
Section 8.3.
Section 8.4.
Section 8.5.
Section 8.6.
Section 8.7.
Section 8.8.
Section 8.9.

Section 8.10.
Section 8.11.

Section 8.12.
Section 8.13,
Section 8.14.
Section 8.13.

Section 92.1.

Section 9.2.

DMWEST #6382940 v3

Right of Registered Owners and; Secunty Instrument Issuers to

Direct Proceedings .................... g ................................................................ 50
Application of MODNEYS......cveicduuiciiiniiinmensmnmsess st s 50
Remedies Vested il TTUSLEE. .....doverrurecerireeereecressonseseseasasanssresssasasssnssssesarans 52
Rights and Remedies of Registered Owners.........coeceveicinnccnevensnennn, 52
Termination of Proceedings.......ccccccevuercrennces ettt et
Waivers of Events of Defaunlt.......c.cooerivecinicnrnencnens, PR X |
Cooperation of Issuer....o.eeeeievrcienans S e L L S e 53
ARTICLE VIII
THE TRUSTEE
Acceptance of the TTUSTS........ccvcvereirerrrve v s 54
Fees, Charges and Expenses of TEUSEEE . emorerevevsesensssssssssssmsmsesssmesssssenes 56
Notice to Registered Owners if Event of Default Occurs..........ccovemmrereens 56
INtervention DY TIUSIEE ....c.cccceiereeeeeereeecee e e eesesecsesenesnres e smr e mssene s ersn e snren s 57
SUCCESSOT TTUSLEE...cvvvrteserearssinietenie s ettt essrniranss D
Resignation by the TIUSIEE.........ccveeeeveceeeseeeirrs e e ssasemsassarecmssneseeanas 57
Removal of the Trustee.......... gy . SRS 57
Appointment of Successor Trustee; Temporary Trustee ........................... 57
Concemning Any Successor Trustee .........ccovecniimirisionnnnnene et 58
Trustee Protected in Relying Upon Indenture, EtC ......cccvivnveevrecncnnniioennne 58
Successor Trustee as Trustee of Funds; Paying Agent and Bond
REZISITAT ..ttt n s s T st sr s ae s b b s 58
Trust Estate May Be Vested in Separate or Co-Trustee.........ceeeernenncnn . 58
Annual ACCOUNHNE ....eeverreermsrsisersreremmsrsscraseesnonens rrereb st ssaes s nanaeas 59
INAemMNIfICAtION c..eeneererececerereae s e me e e s meeneas tsonmtr e roeroe serorenrs s s s easan 59
Trustee’s Right to Own and Deal in Bonds .........ccooiicienncrcrcnnnneninsnens 60
ARTICLE IX
SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES
Supplemental Indentures Not Requiring Consent of Registered-
Owners, Security Instrument Issuers and Reserve Instrument
B3 )T L S OO 61
Supplemental Indentures Requiring Consent of Registered Owners,
Security Instrument Issuers and Reserve Instrument Providers;,
Waivers and Consents by Registered OWAELS ........oveenrererevnareercrnarensen. 62
ARTICLE X
DISCHARGE OF INDENTURE

i1



ARTICLE XI

MISCELLANEOUS
Section 11.1. Consents, Etc. of Registered OWDETS.......ccuvemeemseserncencsienmssemsnssinnsnsnnns 66
Section 11.2. Limitation of Rights ...t s, 66
Section 11.3.  Severability ...........ccummminninimnismsnm o S 66
SECOM 11.4. NOHCES c-o.eeeeeiceres sereecesseseces e eems e peatssrenssassvassessessnsarssssssasastaonassnssassesssssasne 66
Section 11.5, Trustee as Paying Agent and Registrar........... SNSRI SN 67-
Section 11.6. COURLEIPAILS..........cveverrerermemsecrrecsressssensens RSSOV U 67
Section 11.7. Applicable Law .........cocvemcerinmiericianieins et entne s ssns s s s 67
Section 11.8. Immunity of Officers and Directors ... 67
Section 11.9. Payments Due on Holidays......c.cocvnmismsisnrmnnnnnes sttt 67
Section 11.10. Notices to Security Instrument ISSUEY .....cocevcerivnnvmmnnnnicsonemessseninnens. 67
Section 11.11. Compliance With State LAWS........ccoccevecrcrmmsssesssssesesmremmsereseeemsscesissssenas 67
Section 11.12. Effective Date ...t ssinisnnasn s s e -..67
EXHIBIT A REQUISITION ......ccoctvmncarerrcmeiicsniiisssnesssssassssasesssssemsanssssasasssssssenss A-l

DMWEST #5382540 v3 iv



This Subordinate General Indenture of Trust, dated as of July 1, 2006, between
the Utah Transit Authority (the “Issuer”), a public transit district duly organized and
existing under the Constitution and the laws of the State of Utah, and Zions First National
Bank, a national bank duly organized and existing under the laws of the United States of
America, authorized by law to accept and execute trusts and having its principal office.im
Salt Lake City, Utah (the “Trustee”):

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Issuer desires to finance improvements to its existing public
transit system (the “System™), including, but not limited to additions, extensions,
buildings, equipment and other improvements to house and operate said facilities, to
refund and retire existing obligations, to fund debt service reserves, and to pay issuance
expenses to be incurred in connection with the issuance and sale of the Bonds herein
authorized; and

WHEREAS, the Issuer intends to obtain certain revenues (the “Pledged
Revenues™) sufficient to pay debt service on the Bonds (as defined below) issued
hereunder and the Senior Bonds (as defined below) and operation and maintenance
expenses of the System; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to an Amended and Restated General Indenture dated as of
September 1, 2002 (the “Senior Indenture”) between the Issuer and the Trustee, as trustee
for the bonds issued thereunder, the Issuer has previously issued and may hereafter issue
bonds (the “Senior Bonds™) which are and will be secured by a lien senior and prior to the
lien created hereunder with respect to the Pledged Revenues; and

'WHEREAS, except with respect to the Senior Indenture and the Senior Bonds and
except for obligations expressly subordinate to the lien hereof, the Pledged Revenues (as
herein defined) of the System, will-not be pledged or hypothecated in any manner or for
any purpose at the time of the issuance of the Bonds herein authorized and the Issuer
desires to pledge said Pledged Revenues toward the payment of the principal and interest
on said Bonds; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Utah Public Transit District Act, Title 17A,
Chapter 2, Part 10, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, the Local Government
Bonding Act, Title 11, Chapter 14, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, and the Utah
Reﬁmding Bond Act, Title 11, Chapter 27, Utah Code Annotated 1553, as amended, the
Issuer is authorized to issue its bonds payable from a special fund into which the Pledged
Revenues of the Issuer may be pledged.

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS INDENTURE OF TRUST WITNESSETH:

For and in consideration of the-premises, the mutual covenants of the Issuer and
the Trustee, the purchase from time to time of the Bonds by the Bondowners thereof, the
issuance by the Security Instrument Issuers from time to time of Security Instruments and
the issuance by Reserve Instrument Providers from time to time of Reserve Instruments,
and in order to secure the payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on

DMWEST #6382940 v3



the Bonds, of all Security Instrument Repayment Obligations according to-their tenor and
effect and of all Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations according to their tenor and
effect and the performance and observance by the Issuer of all the covenants expressed or
implied herein, in the Bonds, in all Security Instrument Agreements and in all Reserve
Instrument Agreements, the Issuer does hereby convey, assign and pledge unto the
Trustee and unto its successors in trust forever all right, title and interest of the Issuer in
and to (i) the Pledged Revenues, (ii) all moneys in funds and accounts held by the Trustee
hereunder (except as provided in Section 5.4 and Section 5.7 hereof) including the
investment, if any thereof; and (i1i} all other rights hereinafter granted, first, for the further
securing of the Bonds {except that the portion of items described in (i), (i) and (iii) above
representing principal or redemption price of, and interest on, any Bonds previously
matured or called for redemption or deemed paid in accordance with Article X of this
Indenture shall be held for the benefit of the holders of such Bonds only) and all Security
Instrument Repayment Obligations, and second, for the further securing of all Reserve
Instrument Repayment Obligations, subject only to the lien of the Senior Indenture and to
the provisions of this Indenture permitting the application thereof for the purposes and on
the terms and conditions set forth in this Indenture;

To Have And To Hold the same with all privileges and appurtenances hereby and
hereafter conveyed and assigned, or agreed or intended so-to be, to the Trustee and its
respective successors and assigns in such trust forever;

In Trust Nevertbeless, upon the terms set forth in this Indenture, first, for the equal
and proportionate benefit, security and protection of all Bondowners and Security
Instrument Issuers without privilege, priority or distinction as to the lien or otherwise of
any of the Bonds or Security Instrument Repayment Obligations over any others by
reason of time of issuance, sale, delivery, maturity or expiration thereof or otherwise for
any cause whatsoever, except as expressly provided in or permitted by this Indenture; and
second, for the equal and proportionate benefit, security and protection of all Reserve
Instrument Providers, without privilege, priority or distinction as to the lien or otherwise
of any Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligation over any of the others by reason of time:
of issuance, delivery or expiration thereof or otherwise for any cause whatsoever;

Provided, However, that if the Issuer, its successors or assigns, shall well and truly
pay, or cause to be paid, the principal of and premium, if any, on the Bonds and the
interest due or to become due thereon, at the times and in the manner mentioned in the
Bonds, all Security Instrument Repayment Obligations,” according to the true intent and
meaning thereof and all Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations, according to the true
intent and meaning thereof, or shall provide, as permitted by this Indenture, for the
payment thereof as provided herein, and shall pay or cause to be paid to the Trustee all
sums of money due or to become due to it in accordance with the terms and provisions of
this Indenture, then upon such final payments or provisions for such payments by the
Issuer, this Indenture, and the rights hereby granted, shall terminate; otherwise this
Indenture shall remain in full force and effect.

The terms and conditions upon which the Bonds are to be executed, anthenticated,
delivered, secured and accepted by all persons who from time to time shall be or become

DMWEST #6382040 v3 2



Owmers thereof, and the trusts and conditions upon which the Revenues are to be held and
disposed, which said trusts and conditions the Trustee hereby accepts, are as follows:

DMWEST #6382040 v3 3



ARTICLEI

DEFINITIONS

-

Section 1.1.  Definitions. As used in this Indenture, the following terms shall
have the following meanings unless the context otherwise clearly indicates:

“Accreted Amount” means, with respect to Capital Appreciation Bonds of any
Series and as of the date of calculation, the amount established pursuant to the
Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Capital Appreciation Bonds as the amount
representing the initial public offering price, plus the accumulated and compounded
interest on such Bonds. '

“Additional Bonds” means all Bonds issued under this Indenture other than the
Initial Bonds. '

“Adjusted Sales and Use Taxes” means Sales and Use Taxes in any consecutive
12 month period within the 24 calendar months next preceding the issuance of a Series of
Additional Bonds adjusted to take into account increases in the sales and use taxes
allocated to the Issuer, to the extent that such increased amounts have been included as
“Sales and Use Taxes” and are pledged under the Indenture.

“Aggregate Debt Service” means, as of the date of calculation and with respect to
any period, the sum (as applicable) of the amounts of Debt Service during such period for
(a) all Series of Bonds Outstanding (or any designated portion thereof), (b) any
Repayment Obligations Outstanding and (c) all Senior Bonds Outstanding,

“Authorized Amount” means, with respect to a Commercial Paper Program, the
maximum Principal amount of commercial paper which is then authorized by the Issuer
to be outstanding at any one time pursuant to such Commercial Paper Program.

“Authorized Representative” means the General Manager (including any acting
General Manager), the Controller, the Treasurer or any other person at the time
designated to act on behalf of the Issner by a written instrument furnished to the Trustee
containing the specimen signature of such person or persons and signed on behalf of the -
Issuer by its General Manager or Treasurer. The written instrument may designate an
alternate or alternates.

 “Average Aggregate Debt Service” means, as of any date of calculation, . the
amount obtained by dividing (a) the sum of the Aggregate Debt Service on all Series of
Bonds Outstanding and Repayment Obligations Outstanding computed for each Fiscal
Year during which any Bonds are or will be Qutstanding (or any designated portion
thereof) by (b) the number of such Fiscal Years.

“Balloon Bonds” means Bonds (and/or Security Instrument Repayment

Obligations relating thereto) or Senior Bonds (as applicable), other than Bonds or Senior
Bonds (as applicable) which mature within one year of the date of issuance thereof, 25%

DMWEST #5382840 v3 4



or more of the Prinéipal Installments on which (a) are due or (b) at the option of the
Owner thereof may be redeemed, during any period of twelve consecutive months.

“Bond Fund™ means the Utah Transit Authority Subordinated Bond Fund created
in Section 3.3 hereof to be held by the Trustee and administered pursuant to Section 5.3
hereof.

“Bond Fund Year” means the 12-month period beginning January 1 of each year
and ending on the next succeeding December 31, except that the first Bond Fund Year
shall begin on the date of delivery of the Initial Bonds and shall end on the next
succeeding December 31. -

“Bondholder,” “Holder,” “Bondowner,” “Registered Owner” or “Owner” or any
similar term means the registered owner of any Bonds herein authorized.

“Bonds” means bonds, notes, commercial paper or other obligations (other than
Repayment Obligations) authorized by and at any time Outstanding pursuant to this
Indenture, including the Initial Bonds and any Additional Bonds.

“Business Day” means, except as provided by Supplemental Indenture, any day,
except a Saturday or Sunday, (a) on which banking business is transacted, but not
including any day on which banks are authorized to be closed, in New York City or in the
city in which the Trustee has its principal corporate trust office or, with respect to a
related Series of Bonds, in the city in which any Security Instrument Issuer has its
payment office for purposes of such Security Instrument, and (b) on which the New York
Stock Exchange is open.

“Capital Appreciation Bonds” means Bonds the interest on which (a)is
compounded and accumulated at the rates and on the dates set forth in the Supplemental
Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Bonds and designating them as Capital
Appreciation Bonds, and (b) is payable upon maturity or redemption of such Bonds.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Each reference to
a section of the Code shall be deemed to include the related United States Treasury
Regulations.

“Commercial Paper Program” means commercial paper obligations with
maturities of not more than two hundred seventy (270) days from the dates of issuance
thereof which are issued and reissued by the Issuer from time to time pursuant to
Article IT hereof and are outstanding up to an Authorized Amount.

“Construction Fund” means the Utah Transit Authority Subordinated Construction
Fund created in Section 3.1 hereof to be held by the Trustee and administered pursuant to
Section 5.1 hereof.

“Cost” or “Costs” or “Cost of a Project,” or any phrase of similar import, in

connection with a Project or with the refunding of any bonds, means all costs and
expenses which are properly chargeable thereto under generally accepted accounting

DMWEST #6382040 v3 ]



principles or which are incidentat to.the financing, acquisition and construction of a
Project, or the refunding of any bonds, including, without limiting the generality of the
foregoing:

(a)  amounts payable to contractors and costs incident to the award of
contracts;

(b) - cost of labor, facilities and services furnished by the Issuer and its
employees or others, materials and supplies purchased by the Issuer or others and
permits and licenses obtained by the Issuer or others;

_ (¢)  engineering, architectural, legal, plaming underwriting,
accounting and other professional and advisory fees;’

(d ~ premiums for contract bonds and insurance during construction and
costs on account of persomal injuries and property damage in the course of
construction and insurance against the same;

(e) interest expenses, including interest on a Series of Bonds;

(f) printing, engraving and other expenses of financing, including fees
of Rating Agency and fees and costs of issuing the Series of Bonds (including
costs of interest rate caps and costs related to interest rate exchanges (or the
elimination thereof));

() costs, fees and expenses in connection with the acquisition of real
and personal property or rights therein, including premiums for title insurance;

. (h)  costs of equipment, rolling stock and furnishings purchased by the
Issuer and necessary to the completion and proper operation of a Project;

@) amounts required to repay temporary loans or notes made to
finance the costs of a Project;

()] cost of site improvements performed in anticipation of a Project;
(k) moneys necessary to fund the Funds created under this Indenture;

)] costs of the capitalization with proceeds of a Series of Bonds
issued hereunder of any operation and maintenance expenses and other working
capital appertaining to any facilities to be acquired for a Project and of any interest
on a Series of Bonds for any period not exceeding the period estimated by the
Issuer to effect the construction of a Project plus one year, as herein provided, of
any discount on Bonds or other securities, and of any reserves for the payment of
the principal of and interest on a Series of Bonds, of any replacement expenses .
and of any other cost of issnance of a Series of Bonds or other securities, Security
Instrument Costs and Reserve Instrument Costs;

DMWEST #5382840 v3 6



(m) costs of amending any indenture or other instrument authorizing
the issuance of or otherwise appertaining to a Series of Bonds;

(n)  all other expenses necessary or desirable and appertaining to a
Project, as estimated or otherwise ascertained by the Issuer, including costs of
contingencies for a Project; and

(0) payment to the Issuer of such amounts, if any, as shall be necessary
to reimburse the Issuer in full for advances and payments theretofore made or
costs theretofore incurred by the Issuer for any item of Costs.

In the case of any refunding or redeeming any bonds or other obligations, “Cost”
includes, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the items listed in (c), (e}, () (1)
(%), (1), (m) and (o) above, advertising and other expenses related to the redemption of
such bonds to be redeemed and the redemption price of such bonds (and the accrued.
interest payable on redemption to the extent not otherwise provided for).

“Cross-over Date” means with respect to Cross-over Refunding Bonds the date on
which the Principal portion of the related Cross-over Refunded Bonds is to be paid or
redeemed from the proceeds of such Cross-over Refunding Bonds.

“Cross-over Refunded Bonds” means Bonds, Senior Bonds or other obligations
refunded by Cross-over Refunding Bonds.

. “Cross-over Refunding Bonds™ means Bonds issued for the purpose of refunding
Bonds, Senior Bonds or other obligations if the proceeds of such Cross-over Refunding
Bonds are irrevocably deposited in escrow in satisfaction of the requirements of Section
11-27-3, Utah Code, to secure the payment on an applicable redemption date or maturity
date of the Cross-over Refunded Bonds (subject to possible use to pay Principal of the
Cross-over Refunding Bonds under certain circumstances) and the earnings on such
escrow deposit are required to be applied to pay interest on the Cross-over Refunding
Bonds until the Cross-over Date.

“Current Interest Bonds™ means Bonds not constituting Capital Appreciation
Bonds. Interest on Current Interest Bonds shall be payable periodically on the Interest
Payment Dates provided therefor in a Supplemental Indenture.

“Debt Service” means, for any particular Fiscal Year and for any Series of Bonds,
Senior Bonds (to the extent applicable) and any Repayment Obligations, ant amount equal
to the sum of (a) all interest payable during such Fiscal Year on such Series of Bonds and
Senior Bonds plus (b) the Principal Instaliments payable during such Fiscal Year on
(i) such Bonds and Senior Bonds Qutstanding, calculated on the assumption that Bonds
and Senior Bonds Qutstanding on the day of calculation cease to be Qutstanding by
reason of, but only by reason of, payment either upon maturity or application of any
Sinking Fund Instaliments required by the Indenture (or the Senior Indenture, as
applicable), and (ii) such Repayment Obligations then outstanding;

provided, however, for purposes of Section 2.15 hereof,

DMWEST #6382940 v3 7



(i) when calculating the Principal Installments payable during
such Fiscal Year, there shall be treated as payable in such Fiscal Year the
amount of Principal Installments which would have been payable during
such Fiscal Year had the Principal of each Series of Balloon Bonds
Outstanding and the related Repayment Obligations then Quistanding (or
arising therefrom) been amortized, from the end of the fifth Bond Fund
Year succeeding their date of issuance over 2 period of 25 years thereafter,
on a level debt service basis at an iriterest rate equal to the rate borne by
such Balloon Bonds on the date of calculation, provided that if the date of
calculation is within twelve months before the actual maturity of such
Balloon Bonds or Repayment Obligations, the full amount of Principal
payable at maturity shall be included in such calculation;

(ii)  when calculating interest payable during such Fiscal Year
for any Series of Variable Rate Bonds or Repayment Obligations bearing
‘interest at a variable rate which cannot be ascertained for any particular
Fiscal Year, it shall be assumed that such Series of Variable Rate Bonds or
related Repayment Obligations will bear interest at such market rate of
interest applicable to such Series of Variable Rate Bonds or related
Repayment Obligations as shall be established for this purpose in the
opinion of the Issuer's financial advisor, underwriter or similar agent
(which market rate of interest may be based upon a recoghized comparable
market index, an average of interest rates for prior years or otherwise, so
long as such estimates are based upon then current market conditions);

(ii) when calcilating interest payable during such Fiscal Year
for any Series of Variable Rate Bonds which are issued with a floating rate
and with respect to which an Interest Rate Swap is in effect in which the
Issuer has agreed to pay a fixed interest rate, such Series of Variable Rate
Bonds shall be deemed to bear interest at the effective fixed annual rate
thereon as a result of such Interest Rate Swap; provided that such effective
fixed annual rate may he utilized only if such Interest Rate Swap does not
result in a reduction or withdrawal of any rating then in effect with respect
to the Bonds and so long as such Interest Rate Swap is contracted to
remain in full force and effect;

(iv)  when calculating interest payable during such Fiscal Year
for any Series of Bonds which are issued with a fixed interest rate and with
respect to which an Interest Rate Swap is in full force and effect in which
the Issuer has agreed to pay a floating amount, Debt Service shall include
the ‘interest payable on such Series of Bonds, less fixed amounts to be
received by the Issuer under such Interest Rate Swap plus the amount of
the floating payments (estimated in a manner similar to that described in
(ii) above, unless another method of estimation is more appropriate, in the
opinion of the Issuer’s financial advisor, underwriter or similar agent, for
such floating payments) to be made by the Issuer under the Interest Rate
‘Swap; provided that the above described calculation of Debt Service may

DMWEST #6382940 v3 8



be utilized only if such Interest Rate Swap does not result in a reduction or
withdrawal of any rating then in effect with respect to the Bonds and so
long as such Interest Rate Swap is contracted to remain in full force and
effect;

(v) - when calculating interest payable during such Fiscal Year
with respect to any Commercial Paper Program, “Debt Service” shall
mean an amount equal to the sum of all principal ‘and interest payments
that would be payable during such Fiscal Year assuming that the
Authorized Amount of such Commercial Paper Program is amortized on a
level debt service basis over a period of 30 years beginning on the date of
calculation or, if later, the last day of the period during which obligations
can be issued under such Commercial Paper Program, and bearing interest
at such market rate of interest applicable to such Commercial Paper
Program as shall be established for this purpose in the opinion of the
Issuer’s financial advisor, underwriter or similar agent (which market rate
of interest may be based upon a reécognized comparable market index, an
average of interest rates for prior years or otherwise); and

(vi) when calculating interest payable on Bonds or Senior
Bonds that are Paired Obligations, the interest rate on such Bonds or
Senior Bonds shall be the resulting linked rate or effective fixed interest
rate to be paid by the Issuer with respect to such Paired Obligations;

and further provided, however, that there shall be excluded from Debt Service
(x) interest on Bonds and Senior Bonds (including Cross-over Refunding Bonds or Cross-
over Refunded Bonds) to the extent that Escrowed Interest or capitalized interest is-
available to pay such interest, (y) Principal on Cross-over Refunded Bonds to the extent
that the proceeds of Cross-over Refunding Bonds are on deposit in an irrevocable escrow
in satisfaction of the requirements of Section 11-27-3, Utah Code, and such proceeds or
the earnings thereon are required to be applied to pay such Principal (subject to the
possible use to pay the Principal of the Cross-over Refunding Bonds under certain
circumstances) and such amounts so required to be applied are sufficient to pay such
Principal, and (z) Repayment Obligations to the extent that payments on Pledged Bonds
relating to -such Repayment Obligations satisfy the Issuer’s obligation to pay such
Repayment Obligations.

_ “Debt Service Reserve Fund” means the Utah Transit Authority Subordinated
Debt Service Reserve Fund created in Section 3.4 hereof to be held by the Trustee and
administered pursuant to Section 5.4 hereof.

“Debt Service Reserve Requirement” for each Series of Bonds issued hereunder
means the amount, if any, specified in the related Supplemental Indenture. The Debt
Service Reserve Requirement may be funded by a Reserve Instrument as herein provided.
Upon the issuance of Additional Bonds or upon any refunding of Bonds issued hereunder
the aggregate Debt Service Reserve Requirement for the Bonds then Outstanding and the
Additional Bonds, if any, to be so issued shall be determined based upon the Bonds fo be

DMWEST #6382940 v3 9



Outstanding immediately following the issuance of the Additional Bonds or such
refunding.

- “Escrowed Interest” means amounts irrevoczbly deposited in escrow in
accordance with the requirements of Section 11-27-3, Utah Code, in connection with thie
issuance of Additional Bonds for refunding purposes or Cross-over Refunding Bonds
secured by such amounts or earnings on such amounts which are required to be applied to
pay interest on such Cross-over, Refunding Bonds or the related Cross-over Refimded
Bonds.

“Event of Default” means with respect to any default or event of default hereunder
any occurrence or event specified in and defined by Section 7.1 hereof.

“Favorable Opinion™ means an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the
action proposed to be taken is authorized or permitted by this Indenture and any
applicable Supplemental Indenture and will not adversely affect the exclusion from gross
income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Bonds which are the subject of
such opinion.

“Financing Expenses” means Security Instrument Costs,- Reserve Instrument
Costs and arbitrage rebate required to be paid to the United States with respect to the
Bonds.

“Fiscal Year” means the 12-month period beginning January 1 of each year and
ending December 31 of such year, or such other fiscal year of the Issuer as may be
prescribed by law.

“Fitch” means Fitch Ratings.
“General indenture” means this Subordinate Gcneral Indenture of Trust.

“Govermnment Obligations™ means (i) direct and general obligations of the United
States of America, or those which are unconditionally guaranteed as to principal and
interest by the same, and (ii) pre-refunded municipal obligations meeting the following
criteria:

(a) The municipal obligations may not be callable prior to matunty or,
alternatively, the trustee has received irrevocable instructions concerning their
calling and redemption;

(b) The municipal obligations are secured by cash or securities
described in subparagraph (i) above (the “Defeasance Obligations”), which cash
or Defeasance Obligations may be applied only to interest, principal and premium
payments of such municipal obligations;

(c) The principal and interest of the Defeasance Obligations (plus any
cash in the fund) are sufficient to meet the liabilities of the municipal obligations;

DMWEST #6382940 v3 10



(d)  The Defeasance Obligations serving- as security for the municipal
obligations must be held by an escrow agent or a trustee;

(¢)  The Defeasance Obligations are not available to satisfy any other
claims, including those against the trustee or escrow agent; and

()  The Defeasance Obligations are rated “AAA” by S&P and “Aaa”
by Moody’s.

Additionally, evidences of ownership of proportionate interests in future interest
and principal payments of Defeasance Obligations are permissible. Investments in these
proportionate interests are limited fo circumstances wherein (i) a bank or trust company
acts as custodian and holds the underlying obligations; (ii) the owner of the investment s
the real party in interest and has the right to proceed directly and individually against the
obligor of the underlying obligations; and (iii) the underlying obligations are held in a
special account separate and apart from the custodian’s general assets, and are not
available to satisfy any claim of the custodian, any person claiming through the custodian
or any person to whom the custodian may be obligated.

“Indenture” means this General Indenture of Trust as from time to time amended
or supplemented by Supplemental Indentures in accordance with the terms hereof.

“Initial Bonds” means the first Series of Bonds issued under this Indenture.

“Interest Payment Date” means the stated payment date of an installment of
interest on the Bonds.

“Interest Rate Swap” means an agreement between the Issuer or the Trustee (at the
written direction of the Issuer) and a Swap Counterparty related to Bonds of one or more
Series whereby a variable rate cash flow {which may be subject to any interest rate cap)
on a principal or notional amount is exchanged for a fixed rate of return on an equal
principal or notional amount. If the Issuer or the Trustee (at the written direction of the
Issuer) enters into more than one Interest Rate Swap with respect to a Series of Bonds or
Senior Bonds (to the extent applicable), each Interest Rate Swap shall specify the same
payment dates.

“Issuer” means Utah Transit Authority and its successors. p
“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service.

“Operation and Maintenance Expenses” means all necessary and reasonable
expenses of maintaining and operating the System, including all necessary operating
expenses, current maintenance charges, expenses of reasonable upkeep and repairs,
properly allocated share of charges for insurance, and all other expenses incidental to the
operation of the System, including the cost of merchandise for resale, promotional and
advertising expenses, services, utilities and personnel and all - aflocated general
administrative expenses of the Issuer, but shall exclude depreciation. As more fully
provided in Section 5.2(¢) hereof, the Issuer shall establish a budget for Operation and

DMWEST #6382940 v3 11



Maintenance Expenses for each Fiscal Year and, except as otherwise provided in Section
5.2(e), Operation and Maintenance Bxpenses in any Fiscal Year shall not exceed the
amount budgeted for such items in the Issuer’s final budget (as the same may be amended
from time to time) for such Fiscal Year.

“Qutstanding” or “Bonds Qutstanding” means at any date all Bonds which have
not been canceled which have been or are being authenticated and delivered by the
Trustee under this Indenture, except:

(a) . Any Bond or portion thereof which at the time has been paid or
deemed paid pursuant to Articie X of this Indenture; and

(b) Any Bond in lien of or'in substitution for which a new Bond shall
have been anthenticated and delivered hereunder:

“Paired Obligations” means any Series (or portion thereof) of Bonds or Senior
Bonds (as applicable) designated as Paired Obligations in the Supplemental Indenture
authorizing the issuance or incurrence thereof, which are simultaneously issued or
incurred (i) the principal of which is of equal amount maturing and to be redeemed (or
cancelled' after acquisition thereof) on the same dates and in the same amounts, and (ii)
the interest rates which, taken together, result in an irrevocably fixed interest rate
obligation of the Issuer for the terms of such Bonds or Senior Bonds (as applicable).

“Paying Agent” means the Trustee, appointed as the initial paying agent for the
Bonds pursuant to Section 11.5 hereof, and any additional or successor paying agent
appointed pursuant hereto.

“Permitted Investments” means any of the following securities:
(i)  Govemnment Obligations;

(ii)  obligations of any of the following federal agencies which
obligations represent full faith and credit obligations of the United States
of America: the Export-Import Bank of the United States; the Government
National Mortgage Association; the Federal Financing Bank; the Farmer’s
Home Administration; the Federal Housing Administration; the Maritime
Administration: General . Services Administration, Small Business
Administration; or the Department of Housing and Urban Development
(PHA’s);

(ili) money market funds rated “AAAm” or “AAAmM-G” or
better by S&P;

(iv) commercial paper which is rated at the time of purchase in

the single highest classification, “Prime 1” by Moody’s or “A-1+” by S&P,
and which matures not more than 270 days after the date of purchase;

DMWEST #6382040 v3 12



(v)  Dbonds, notes or other evidences or indebtedness rated
“AAA” by S&P and “Aaa” by Moody’s issued by the Federal National
Mortgage Association or. the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
with remaining maturities not exceeding three years; :

(vi) U.S. dollar denominated deposit accounts,. federal funds
and banker’s acceptances with domestic commercial banks which have a
rating on their short term certificates of deposit on the date or purchase of
“A-T” or “A-1+" by S&P and “Prime 1” by Moody’s and maturing no more
than 360 days.after the date of purchase (ratings on holding companies are
not considered as the rating of the bank);

(vii) the fund held by the Treasurer for the State of Utah and
‘commonly known as the Utah Public Treasurers’ Investment Fund; and

(viii} any investments or securities permitted for investment of
public funds under the State Money Management Act of 1974, Title 51,
Chapter 7, Utah Code.

“Pledged Bonds” means any Bonds that have been (a) pledged or in which any
interest has otherwise been granted to a Security Instrument Issuer as collateral security
for Security Instrument Repayment Obligations or (b) purchased and held by a Security
Instrument Issner pursnant to a Security Instrument.

“Pledged Revenues” means. (i) the Sales and Uses Taxes, plus (i1} interest earned
by and profits derived from the sale of investments in the funds and accounts created by.
this Indenture, plus (iti) all other Revenues (if any) after provision has been made for the
payment from the Revenues described in this subparagraph (iii) of the Operation and
Maintenance Expenses

“Principal” means (a) with respect to any Capital Appreciation Bend, the Accreted
Amount thereof (the difference between the stated amount to be paid at maturity and the
Accreted Amount being deemed unearned interest), except as used in connection with the
authorization and issuance of Bonds and Senior Bonds and with the order of pricrity of
payment of Bonds after an Event of Default, in which case “Principal” means the initial
public offering price of a Capital Appreclatlon Bond (the difference between the Accreted
Amount and the initial public offering price being deemed interest), and (b) with respect
to any Current Interest Bond, the principal amount of such Bond or Senior Bond payable
at maturity.

“Principal Installment” means, as of any date of calculation, (a) with respect to
any Series of Bonds or Senior Bonds (to the extent applicable), so long as any Bonds
thereof are Outstanding, (1) the Principal amount of Bonds of such Series and Senior
Bonds due on a certain future date for which no Sinking Fund Installments have been
established, or (2) the unsatisfied balance (determined as provided in the definition of
“Sinking Fund Installment” in this Section) of any Sinking Fund Installment due on a
certain future date for Bonds of such Series and Senior Bonds, plus the amount of the

sinking fund redemption premiums, if any, which would be applicable upon redemption

DMWEST #6382040 v3 13



of such Bonds or Senior Bonds on such future date in a Principal amount equal to such
unsatisfied balance of such Sinking Fund Installment, or (3) if such future dates coincide
as to different Bonds of such Series or Senior Bonds, the sum of such Principal amount of
Bonds or Senior Bonds and of such unsatisfied balance of such Sinking Fund Installment
due on such future date plus such applicable redemption premiums, if any, and (b) with
respect to any Repayment Obligations, the principal amount of such Repayment
Obligations due on a certain future date,

“Project” means the acquisition or construction of additions, extensions, facilities,
equipment or buildings for use as, or improvements to or equipment or fumishings for,’
the System.

“Put Bond” means any Bond which is part of a Series of Bonds which is subject to
purchase by the Issuer, its agent or a third party from the Owner of the Bond pursuant to
provisions of the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of the Bond and
.designating it as a “Put Bond.”

“Rating Agency” means Moody’s, Fitch or S&P and their successors and assigns
to the extent such agencies then maintain a rating of the Bonds at the request of the
Issuer. If any of such corporations cease to act as a securifies rating agency, the Issuer
may, with the approval of the Trustee, designate any nationally recognized securities
rating organization as a replacement.

“Rating Category” or “Rating Categories” mean one or more of the generic rating:
categories of a Rating Agency, without regard to any refinement or gradation of such
rating category or categories by a numerical modifier or otherwise. '

“Registrar” means the Trustee (or other party designated as Registrar by
Supplemental Indenture), appointed as the initial registrar for the Bonds pursuant to
Sections 2.8 and 11.5 hereof, and any additional or successor registrar appointed pursuant
hereto.

“Regular Record Date” means, with respect to any Interest Payment Date for any
Series of Bonds, the date specified as the Regular Record Date in the Supplemental
Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Series of Bonds.

“Remarketing Agent” means a remarketing agent or commercial paper dealer
appointed by the Issuer pursuant to-a Supplemental Indenture.

“Repayment Obligations” means, collectively, all outstanding Security Instrument
Repayment Obligations and Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations.

“Reserve Instrument” means a device or instrument issued by a Reserve
Instrument Provider to satisfy all or any portion of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement
applicable to a-Series of Bonds. The term “Reserve Instrument” includes, by way of
example and not of limitation, letters of credit, bond insurance policies, surety bonds,
standby bond purchase agreements, lines of credit and other devices.

DMWEST #8382940 v3 14



“Reseive Instrument Agreement” means any agreement entered into by the Issuer
and a Reserve Instrument Provider pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture and/or the
applicable portions of a Supplemental Indenture providing for the issuance by such
Reserve Instrument Provider of a Reserve Instrument.

“Reserve Instrument Costs” means all fees, premiums, expenses and similar costs,
other than Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations, required to be paid to a Reserve
Instrument Provider pursuant to a Reserve Instrument Agreement. Each Reserve
Instrument Agreement shall specify the fees, premiums, expenses and costs constituting
Reserve Instrument Costs. -

“Reserve Instrument Coverage” means, as of any date of calculation, the
aggregate amount available to be paid to the Trustee pursuant hereto under all Reserve
Instruments..

“Reserve Instrument Fund” means the Utah Transit Authority Subordinated
Reserve Instrument Fund created in Section 3.5 hereof to be held by the Trustee and
administered pursuant to Section 5.5 hereof.

“Reserve Instrument Limit” means, as of any date of calculation and with respect
to any Reserve Instrument, the maximum aggregate amount available to be paid under.
such Reserve Instrument into the Debt Service Reserve Fund assuming for purposes of
such calculation that the amount initially available under each Reserve Instrument has not
been reduced or that the amount initially available under each Reserve Instrument has
only been reduced as a result of the payment of principal of the applicable Series of
Bonds.

“Reserve Instrument Provider” means any bank or other financial institution
having at least a rating of “AA-“ and “Aa3” by S&P and Moody’s, respectively, or its
equivalent or any insurance company or surety company rated in the highest rating
category by S&P and Moody’s and, if rated by A. M. Best & Company, rated in the
highest rating category by A.M. Best & Company, issuing a Reserve Instrument.

“Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations™ means, as of any date of calculation
and with- respect to any Reserve Instrument Agreement, those outstandinig amounts
payable by the Issuer under such Reserve Instrument Agreement to repay the Reserve’
Instrument Provider for payments previously made by it pursuant to a Reserve
Instrument. There shall not be included in the calculation of Reserve Instrument
Repayment Obligations any Reserve Instrument Costs.

“Revenue Fund” means the Utah Transit Authority Revenue Fund created in
Section 3.2 of the Senior Indenture to be held by the Issuer and administered pursuant to
the provisions of the Senior Indenture and Section 5.2 hereof. +

“Revenues” means (i) all revenues, including but not limited to fare box revenues,
advertising revenues, fees, income, rents and receipts received or earned by the Tssuer
from or attributable to the ownership and operation of the System, together with all
interest eamed by and profits derived from the sale of investments in the related funds

DMWEST #5382040 v3 15



thereof and the Funds and accounts created hereunder or proceeds derived from the sale
of any part of the System, (ii) the Saies and Use Taxes and (iii) any other legally available
‘funds of the Issuer from other sources, properly budgeted on an annual basis for the
payment of Operation and Maintenance Expenses and principal and interest on the
Bonds; provided, however, that Revenues shail not include federal and State capital and
operating grant moneys received by the Issuer in conmection with the operation of the
System, to the extent inclusion therein is prohibited by State or federal law and
regulations. Sections 6.1 and 6.15 require that such grant moneys be used for Operation
and Maintenance Expenses to the extent received for that purpose.

“S&P”- means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The
McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.

“Sales and Use Taxes” means collectively, (i) the % of 1% sales and use tax
revenues received by the Issuer pursuant to Section 59-12-501, Utah Code Annotated
1953, as amended, (i) the % of 1% sales and use tax revenues received by the Issuer from
within Weber, Davis and Salt Lake Counties pursuant to Section 59-12-502, Utah Code
Annotated 1953, as amended (less 25% of such sales and use tax revenues collected
within Salt Lake County which must be allocated to fund new construction, major
renovations, and improvements to Interstate 15 and state highways pursuant to Section
59-12-502(5)(b), Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended) and (iii) any other sales and
use tax revenues legally available to the Issuer and affirmatively pledged under the
Indenture by Supplemental Indenture.

“Security Instrument” means an instrument or other device issued by a Security
Instrument Issuer to pay, or to provide security or liquidity for, a Series of Bonds. The
term “Security Instrument” includes, by way of example and not of limitation, letters of
credit, bond insurance policies, standby bond purchase agreements, lines of credit and
other security instruments and credit enhancement or liquidity devices (but does not
include a Reserve Instrument); provided, however, that no such device or instrument shall
be a “Security Instrument” for purposes of this Indenture unless specifically so designated
in a Supplemental Indenture authorizing the use of such device or instrument.

“Security Instrument ‘Agreement” means any agreement entered into by the Issuer
and a Security Instrument Issuer pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture and/or the
applicable portions of a Supplemental Indenture providing for the issmance by such
Security Instrument Issuer of a Security Instrument.

“Security Instrument Costs” means, with respect to any Security Instrument, all
fees, premiums, expenses and similar costs, other than Security Instrument Repayment
Obligations, required to be paid to a Security Instrument Issuer pursuant to a Security
Instrument Agreement or the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the use of such Security
Instrument. Such Security Instrument Agreement or Supplemental Indenture shall specify
any fees, premiums, expenses and costs constituting Security Instrument Costs.

“Security Instrurnent Issuer” means any bank or other financial institution,
insurance company, surety company or other institution issuing a Security Instrument.

DMWEST #5382940 v3 16



“Security Instrument Repayment Obligations™ means, as of any date of calculation
and with respect to any Security Instrument Agreement, any outstanding amounts payable
by the Issuer under the Security Instrument Agreement or the Supplemental Ihdenture
authorizing the use of such Security Instrument to repay the Security Instrument Issuer for
payments previously or concurrently made by the Security Instrument Issuér pursuant to a
Security Instrument. There shall not be inchided in the calculation of the amount of
Security Instrument Repayment Obligations any Security Instrument Costs.

“Senior Bonds” means all bonds issued under the Senior Indenture in compliance
with the provisions thereof and, after the date hereof, the provisions of Section 2.15
hereof.

“Senior Indenture” means the General Indenture of Trust dated as of October 1,
1997, as amended and restated, by the Amended and Restated General Indenture of Trust
dated as of September 1, 2002 and as amended and supplemented, all between the Issuer
and Zions First National Bank, as trustee. ’

“Serial Bonds” means all Bonds other than Term Bonds.

“Series” means all of the Bonds authenticated and delivered on original issuance
and identified pursuant to the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Bonds as a
separate Series of Bonds, and any Bonds thereafter authenticated and delivered in lieu
thereof or in substitution therefore.

“Sinking Fund Installment” means an amount so designated pursuant to a
Supplemental Indenture. The portion of any such Sinking Fund Installment remaining
after the deduction of any such amounts credited pursuant to Section 5.3(c) or 5.9 toward
the same (or the original amount of any such Sinking Fund Installment if no such
amounts shall have been credited toward the same) shall constitute the unsatisfied balance
of such Sinking Fund Installment for the purpose of calculation of Sinking Fund
Installments due on a future date.

“Special Record Date” means such date as may be fixed for the payment of
defaulted interest on the Bonds in accordance with this Indenture.

“State™ means the State of Utah.

“Supplemental Indenture” means any indenture between the Issuer and the Trustee
entered into pursuant to and in compliance with the provisions of Article IX hereof.

“Swap Counterparty” means a member of the International Swap Dealers
Association rated in one of the three top Rating Categories by at least one of the Rating
Agencies and meeting the requirements of applicable laws of the State.

“Swap Payments” means as of each payment date specified in an Interest Rate
Swap, the amount, if any, payable to the Swap Counterparty by the Trustec on behalf of
the Issuer. Swap Payments (i) shall be net of any amounts payable to the Issuer by the

DMWEST #6382040 v3 17



Swap Counterparty under said Interest Rate Swap and (ii) do not include any Termination
Payments.

“Swap Receipts” means as of each payment date specified in an Interest Rate
Swap, the amount, if any, payable to the Trustee for the account of the Issuer by the Swap
Counterparty.

“System” means the Issuer’s public transit system, together with any additions,
repairs, renewals, replacements, expansions, extensions and improvements to' said
System, or any part thereof, hereafter-acquired or constructed, and together with all lands,
easements, interests in land, licenses, water rights and rights of way of the Issuer and all
other works, property, structures, equipment of the Issuer and contract rights and other
tangible and intangible assets of the Issuer now or hereafter owned or used in connection
with, or related to said System.

“Term Bonds” means the Bonds which shall be subject to retirement by operation
of mandatory sinking fund redemptions from the Bond Fund.

_ “Termination Payments” means the amount payable to the Swap Counterparty by
the Issuer with respect to the early termination or modification of an Interest Rate Swap.
Termination Payments may only be payable from and secured by Pledged Revenues after
payment of all amounts then due pursuant to the Indenture.

“Trustee” means Zions First National Bank, Salt Lake City, Utah, or any
successor corporation resulting from or survivifig any consolidation or merger to which it
or its successors may be a party and any successor trustee at any time serving as successor
trustee hereunder. ' .

“Utah Code” means Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended.

~ “Variable Rate Bonds” means, as of any date of calculation, Bonds and Senior
Bonds (as applicable) the terms of which on such date of calculation are such that interest
thereon for any future period of time is expressed to be calculated at a rate which is not
susceptible to a precise determination.

Section 1.2. Indenture to Constitute Contract. In consideration of the purchase
and acceptance from time to time of any and all of the Bonds authorized to be issued
bereunder by the Registered Owners thereof, the issuance from time to time of any and all
Security Instruments by Security Instrument Issuers, and the issuance from time to time of
any and all Reserve Instruments by Reserve Instrument Providers pursuant hereto, this .
Indenture shall be deemed to be and shall constitute a contract between the Issuer and the
Owners from time to time of the Bonds, the Security Instrument Issuers and the Reserve
Instrument Providers; and the pledge made in this Indenture and the covenants and
agreements herein set forth to be performed by or on behalf of the Issuer shall be, first, for
the equal benefit, protection and security of the Owners of any and all of the Bonds and
the Security Instrument Issuers of any and all of the Security Instruments all of which,
regardless of the time or times of their issuance, delivery, maturity or expiration, shall be
of equal rank without preference, priority or distinction of any of the Bonds or Security

DMWEST #6382040 v3 18



Instrument Repayment Obligations over any others, except as expressly provided in or
permitted by this Indenture, and second, for the equal benefit, protection and security of
the Reserve Instrument Providers of any and all of the Reserve Instruments which,
regardless of the time or times of their issuance, delivery or termination, shall be of equal
rank without preference, priority or distinction of any Reserve Instrument over any other
thereof.

Section 1.3. Construction. This Indenture, except where the context by clear
implication herein otherwise requires, shall be construed as follows: '

(a) The terms “hereby,:: “hﬂreOf,” “herein;” “hel'eto,” .“hel'eundel',” a.nd
any similar terms used in this Indenture shall refer to this Indenture in its entirety
unless the context clearly indicates otherwise.

(b)  Words in the singular number include the plural, and words in the
plural include the singular.

(c) Words in the masculine gender include the feminine and the
neuter, and when the sense so indicates, words of the neuter gender refer to any.
gender.

(d)  Articles, sections, subsections, paragraphs and subparagraphs
mentioned by number, letter, or otlierwise, correspond to the respective articles,
sections, subsections, paragraphs and subparagraphs hereof so numbered or-
otherwise so designated. '

(e) The titles or descriptive headings applied to articles, sections and
subsections herein are inserted only as a matter of convenience and ease of
reference and in no way define, limit or describe the scope or infent of any
provisions of this Indenture.

DMWEST #56382940 v3 19



ARTICLEQ
THE BONDS

Section 2.1. Authorization of Bonds. There is hereby authorized hereunder an
issue of Bonds which may, if and when authorized by Supplemental Indenture, be issued
in one or more separate Series. Each Séries of Bonds shall be authorized by a
Supplemental Indenture, which shall state the purpose or purposes for which each such
Series of Bonds is being issued. The aggregate principal amount of Bonds which may be
issued shall not be limited except. as provided herein' or as may be limited by law,
provided that the aggregate principal amount of Bonds of each such Series shall not
exceed the amount specified in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing each such Series
of Bonds.

Section 2.2. Description of Bond: Payment

(@)  The Bonds of each Series issued hereunder shall be issued only as
fully registered bonds, and shall be dated, shall bear interest at a rate or rates not
exceeding the maximum rate permitted by law on the date of initial issuance of
Bonds of such Series, and shall be payable on the date, shall be stated to mature
on the date or dates and in the years and shall be subject to redemption prior to
their respective maturities, all as set forth in the Supplemental Indenture
authorizing such Series of Bonds. The Bonds of each Series shall be designated
“[insert descriptive words, if desired] Subordinated Sales Tax [Refunding]
Revenue Bonds, Series ” of the Utah Transit Authority, in each case
inserting the year in which the Bonds are issued and an identifying Series letter. -

(b)  Unless otherwise specified by Supplemental Indenture, payment of
the interest on any Bond shall be made to the person appearing on the Bond
registration books of the Registrar hereinafter provided for at the close of business
on the Regular Record Date for such interest as the Registered Owner thereof by
check or draft mailed to the Registered Owner at its address as it appears on such
registration books. Any such interest not so punctually paid or duly provided for
shall forthwith cease to be payable to the Registered Owner of any Bond on such
Regular Record Date, and may be paid to the person who is the Registered Owner
thereof at the close of business on a Special Record Date for the payment of such
defaulted interest to be fixed by the Trustee, notice thereof to be given to such
Registered Owner not less than ten days prior to such Special Record Date, The
Principal of and premium, if any, on Bonds are payable upon presentation and
surrender thereof at the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee as Paying
Agent, except as otherwise provided by Supplemental Indenture. All such
payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon
such Bond to the extent of the sum or sums so paid. Principal of, premium, if any,
and interest on the Bonds shalil be payable in any coin or currency of the United
States of America, which at the respective dates of payment thereof, is legal
tender for the payment of public and private debts.

DMWEST #6382040 v3 20



(¢) The Bonds of each Series may contain or have endorsed thereon
such prowsmns specifications and descriptive words not inconsistent with the
provisions hereof as may be necessary or desirable to comply with custom, the
rules of any securities exchange or commission or brokerage board or otherwise,
as may be specified in-the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series of
Bonds.

Section 2.3. Execution;- Limited Obligation, The Bonds shall be executed on
behalf of the Issuer with the manual or official facsimile signature of the General
Manager of the Issuer, countersigned with the manual or official facsimile signature of its
Secretary, and shall have impressed or imprinted thereon the corporate seal or facsimile
thereof of the Issuer. In case any officer, whose signature or the facsimile of whose
signature shall appear on the Bonds, shall cease to be such officer before the delivery of
such Bonds, such signature or facsimile shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all
purposes, the same as if he had remained in office until delivery. The provisions of this
Section relating to the execution of Bonds may be changed as they apply to the Bonds of
any Series by the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series of Bonds.

The Bonds and the Repayment Obligations are not a general obligation
indebtedness or pledge of the full faith and credit of the Issuer or of the State or any
agency, instrumentality or political subdivision thereof, but are special limited obligations
of the Issuer payable from and secured solely by the Pledged Revenues and other moneys
in funds and accounts held by the Trustee hereunder (except as prowded in Section 5.7
hereof) and, except as provided herein, the Issuer hereby pledges and assigns the same as
provided in the Granting Clause of this Indenture. The issuance of the Bonds and delivery
of any Security Instrument Agreement or Reserve Instrument Agreement shall not,
directly, indirectly or contingently, obligate the Issuer or the State or amy agency,
instrumentality or political subdivision thereof to levy any form of ad valorem taxation
therefor.

Section 2.4. Authentication and Deliv.g of Bonds.

(2) The Issuer shall deliver executed Bonds of each Series to the
Trustee for authentication. Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions for
authentication of Bonds set forth herein, the Trustee shall authenticate such
Bonds, and deliver them upon the order of the Issuer to the purchasers thereof
upon the payment by the purchasers to the Trustee for the account of the Issuer of
the purchase price therefor. Delivery of such Bonds by the Trustee shall be full
acquittal to the purchasers for the purchase price of such Bonds. The proceeds of
the sale of such Bonds shall, however, be disposed of only as provided herein and
in the related Supplemental Indenture.

(b)  No Bond shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose or entitled to
any security or benefit hereunder, unless and until a certificate of authentication
on such Bond substantially in the form set forth in the Supplemental Indenture
authorizing such Bond shall have been duly executed by the Trustee, and such
executed certificate of the Trustee upon any such Bond shall be conclusive

DMWEST #6382040 v3 21



evidence that such Bond has been authenticated and delivered hereunder. The
Trustee’s certificate of authentication on any Bond shall be deemed to have been
executed by it if manually signed by an authorized officer of the Trustee, but it
shall not be necessary that the same officer sign the certificate of authentication on
all of the Bonds issued hereunder.

(©

Prior to the authentication by the Trustee of each Series of Bonds,

there shall first have been filed with the Trustee:

(i) A copy, duly certified by the Secretary of the Board of

Trustees of the Issuer, of this Indenture (to the extent not theretofore so
filed) and the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such-Series of Bonds
and which Supplemental Indenture shall specify the following:

DMWEST #6382040 v3

(A). The purpose for which such Series of Bonds is to be
issued; .

(B) The authorized Principal amount and Series
designation of such Series of Bonds;

(C)  The dated date and the maturity date or dates of the
Bonds of such Series;

(D) The mterest rate or rates (including a zero interest
rate) of the Bonds of such Series, or the manner of determining
such rate or rates, provided that the Supplemental Indenture shall
specify the maximum rate that the Bonds of such Series may bear
if such Bonds are Variable Rate Bonds;

(E)  The authorized denominations of the Bonds of such
Series;

(F) The designation, amount and due date of each
Sinking Fund Installment, if any, for the Bonds of such Series;

(G) ~ The Interest Payment Dates for such ‘Series of
Bonds; -

(H) The Regular Record Date for the Bonds of such
Series;

O Any Debt Service Reserve Requirement for such
Series of Bonds and the amount, if any, to be deposited from the
proceeds of such Series of Bonds into any Series Subaccount in the
Debt Service Reserve Account established for such Series of
Bonds;

22



() . To the extent applicable, the obligations payable
under any Security Instrument Agreement or Reserve Instrument
Agreement entered into in connection with the issuance of the
Bonds of such Series which, when outsianding, shall constitute
Security Instrument Repayment Obligations or Reserve Instrument
Repayment Obligations, as the case may be, and which portions of
such Security Instrument Repayment Obligations or Reserve
Instrument Repayment Obligations, as the case may be, are to be
attributed to principal of and to interest on such Repayment
Obligations unless provided in the related agreement; and

(X)  Any further covenants by the Issuer required by any
Security Instniment - Issuer, Reserve Instrument Provider or
purchaser of Bonds deemed necessary or desirable by the Issuer in
connection with the sale of such Series of Bonds. '

(ii) A copy, certified by the Secretary of the Board of Trustees
of the Issuer, of the proceedings of the Issuer approving the execution and
delivery of the instruments specified in Subparagraph (i) above and the
execution and delivery of such Series of Bonds, together with a certificate,
‘dated as of the date of authentication of such Series of Bonds, of the
Secretary of the Board of Trustees of the Issuer that such proceedings are
still in force and effect without amendments except as shown in such
proceedings.

(i) A request and authorization to the Trustee of the Issuer to
authenticate such Series of Bonds in the aggregate Principal amount
therein specified and deliver them to purchasers therein identified upon
payment to the Trustee, for account of the Issuer, of the sum specified
therein.

(iv) A certification of an Authorized Representative that the
applicable requirements of Section 2.15 hereof bave been met.

(v) An opinion of Bond Counsel dated the date of
authentication of such Series of Bonds to the effect that (A) the Issuer has
duly authorized, executed and delivered this Indenture and the related
Supplemental Indenture; (B) such Series of Bonds has been duly and
validly authorized and are being issued in accordance with law and this
Indenture; (C) this Indenture is a valid and bindiryg obligation of the Issuer;
(D) this Indenture creates a pledge of the Pledged Revenues and of moneys
in-applicable Funds and Accounts created hereby, subject to application
thereof to the purposes and on the terms and conditions provided hereby;
and (E) such Series of Bonds are valid and binding special obligations of
the Issuer. ’

(d)  The Issuer may authorize by Supplemental Indenture the delivery
to the Trustee of one or more Security Instruments with respect to any Series of

DMWEST #8382040 v3 23



Bonds and the execution and delivery of ‘any Security Instrument Agreements
deemed necessary in connection therewith.

(e}  Subject to any limitations contained in a Supplemental Indenture,
the Issuer may provide a Security Instrument for any Series of Bonds (or may
substitute one Security Instrument for another).

B ¢9) The Issuer may authorize by Supplemental Indenture the issuance
and delivery to the Trustee of one or more Reserve Instruments and the execution
and delivery of any Reserve Instrument Agreements deemed necessary in
connection therewith.

(8  The Issuer may authorize by Supplemental Indenture the issuance
of Put Bonds. The Issuer may provide for the appointment of such Remarketing
Agents, indexing agents, tender agents or other agents as the Issuer may
determine.

Section 2.5. Special Provisions for the Issnance of Additional Bonds for
Refunding Purposes. '

(a) One or more Series of Additional Bonds for refunding purposes
may be issued in such Principal amount which, when taken together with other
legally available funds, will provide the Issuer with funds sufficient to accomplish
the refunding of all or a part of the Outstanding Bonds of one or more Series, or
all or part of any other borrowing of the Issuer payable in whole or in part from
the Pledged Revenues, including in each case the payment of all expenses in
connection with such refunding.

_ . (b)  Each Supplemental hldentﬁre authoﬁziﬁg the issuance of a Series
of Additional Bonds for refunding purposes shall specify the Bonds or other debt
to be so refunded.

Section 2.6. Provisions Re, ing Bonds Secured by a Security Instrument.

(@) The Issuer may include such provisions in a Supplemental
Indenture authorizing the issuance of a Series of Bonds secured by a Security
Instrument as the Issuer deems appropriate, including:

. (@ So long as the Security Instrument is in full force and
effect, and payment on the Security Instrument is not in default, (A) the
Security Instrurment Issuer shall be deemed to be the Owner of the
Outstanding Bonds of such Series (I) when the approval, consent or action
of the Bondowners for such Series of Bonds is required or may be
exercised under the Indenture and (II) following an Event of Default and
(B) the Indenture may not be amended in any manner which affects the
rights of such Security Instrament Issuer without its prior written consent.

DMWEST #6382940 v3 24



(1) In the event that the Principal and redemption price, if
applicable, and interest due on any Series of Bonds Outstanding shall be
paid under the provisions of a Security Instrument, all covenants,
agreements and other obligations of the Issuer to the Bondowners of such
Series of Bonds shall continue to exist and such Security Instrument Issuer
shall be subrogated to the rights of such Bondowners in accordance with
the terms of such Security Instrument.

(b) . In. addition, such Supplemental Indenture may. establish such
provisions -as are necessary to provide relevant information to the Security
Instrument Issuer and to provide a mechanism for paying Principal Installments
and interest on such Series of Bonds from the Security Instrument.

Section 2.7. Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bonds: In the event any Bond
is mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the Issuer may execute and the Trustee may
authenticate a new Bond of like date, Series, maturity and denomination as that mutilated,
lost, stolen or destroyed; provided that, in the case of any mutilated Bond, such mutilated
Bond shall first be surrendered to the Trustee, and, in the case of any lost, stolen or
destroyed Bond, there shall be first furnished to the Trustee evidence of such loss, theft or
destruction satisfactory to the Trustee, together with indemnity satisfactory to it. In the
event any such Bond shall have matured, instead of issuing a duplicate Bond, the Trustee
may pay the same without surrender thereof upon compliance with the foregoing. The
Trustee may charge the Registered Owner of such Bond with its reasonable fees and
expenses in this connection. Any Bond issued pursuant to this Section shall be deemed
part of the Series of the Bonds in respect of which it was issued and an original additional
contractual obligation of the Issuer.’

Section 2.8. Registration of Bonds; Persons Treated as Owners. The Issuer
shall cause the books for the registration and for the transfer of the Bonds as provided
herein to be kept by the Trustee which is hereby constituted and appointed the Registrar
of the Issuer with respect to the Bonds, provided, however, that the Issuer may by
Supplemental Indenture select a party other than the Trustee to act as Registrar with
respect to the Series of Bonds issued under said Supplcmental Indenture. Upon the
occurrence of an Event of Default which would require any Security Instrument Issuer to
make payment under a Security Instrument Agreement, the Registrar shall make such
registration books available to the Security Instrument Issuer. - Any Bond may, in
accordance with its terms, be transferred only upon the registration books kept by the
Registrar, by the person in whose name it is registered, in person or by its duly authorized
attorney, upon surrender of such Bond for cancellation, accompanied by delivery of a
written instrument of transfer in a form approved by the Registrar, duly executed. No
transfer shall be effective until entered on the registration books kept by the Registrar.
Upon ' surrender . for transfer of any Bond at the principal corporate trust office of the
Trustee, duly endorsed by, or accompanied by a written instrument or instruments of
transfer in form satisfactory to the Trustee and duly executed by, the Registered Owner or
its attomey duly authorized in writing, the Issuer shall execute and the Trustee shall
authenticate and deliver in the name of the transferee or transferees a new Bond or Bonds
of the same Series, designation, maturity and interest rate for a like aggregate principal

DMWEST #6382040 v3 25



amount as the Bond surrendered for transfer. Bonds may be exchanged at the principal
corporate trust office of the Trustee for a like aggregate Principal amount of Bonds of
other authorized depominations of the same Series and the same maturity. The execution
by the Issuer of any Bond of any authorized denomination shall constitute full and due
authorization of such denomination, and the Trustee shall thereby be authorized to
authenticate and deliver such Bond. Except as otherwise provided in a Supplemental
Indenture with respect to a Series of Bonds, the Issuer and the Trustee shall not be
required to transfer or excharige any Bond (i) during the period from and including any
Regular Record Date, to.and including the next succeeding Interest Payment Date, (i)
during the period from and including the ddy fifteen days prior to any Special Record
Date, to and including the date of the proposed payment pertaining thereto, or (iii) during
the period of fifteen days prior to the mailing of notice calling such Bond for redemption
nor at any time following the mailing of notice calling such Bond for redemption. .

The Issuer, the Registrar and the Paying Agent may treat and consider the person
in whose name each Bond is registered on the registration books kept by the Registrar as
the holder and absolute owner thereof for the purpose.of receiving payment of, or on
account of, the principal or redemption price thereof and interest due thereon and for all
other purposes whatsoever, and neither the Issuer, nor the Registrar nor the Paying Agent
shall be.affected by any notice to the contrary. Payment of or on account of either
Principal of or interest on any Bond shall be made only to or upon order of the Registered
Owner thereof or his legal representative, but such registration may be changed as
hereinabove provided. All such payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and
discharge the liability upon such Bond to the extent of the sum or sums so paid.

The Trustee shall require the payment by the Registered Owner requesting
exchange or transfer of Bonds of any tax or other govemnmental charge of the Trustee as
Registrar which are required to be paid with respect to such exchange or transfer and such
charges shall be paid before such new Bond shall be delivered.

' Section2.9. Redemption Provisions. The Term Bonds of each Series of Bonds
shall be subject, to the extent provided in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing each
such Series of Bonds, to redemption prior to maturity by operation of Sinking Fund
Installments. The Bonds of each Series shall further be subject to redemption prior to
maturity at such times and upon such terms as shall be fixed by such Supplemental
Indenture. Except as otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture, if less than all
Bonds of a Series are to be redeemed, the particular maturities of such Bonds to be
redeemed and the Principal amounts of such maturities to be redeemed shall be selected
by the Issuer. If less than all of the Bonds of any maturity of a Series are to be redeemed,
the particular Bonds or portion of Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed shall be
selected by lot by the Trustee in such manner as the Trustee in its discretion may deem
fair and appropriate.

Section 2.10. Notice of Redemption.

(a) In the event any of the Bonds are to be redeemed, the Registrar
shall cause notice to be given 4s provided in this Section 2.10. Unless otherwise

DMWEST #6382040 v3 26



specified in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of the applicable
Series of Bonds, notice of such redemption (x) shall be filed with the paying agent
designated for the Bonds being redeemed; and (y) shall be mailed by first class
mail, postage prepaid, to all Registered Owners of Bonds to be redeemed at their
addresses as they appear on the registration books of the Registrar and to each
related Security Instrument Issuer at least thirty (30) days but not more than sixty
(60) days prior to the date fixed for redemption. Such notice shall state the
following information: .

(1) the complete official name of the Bonds, including Series,
to be redeemed, the identification numbers of Bonds and the CUSIP
numbers, if any, of the Bonds being redeemed, provided that any such
notice may state that no representation is made as to the correctness of
CUSIP numbers either as printed on such Bonds or as contained in the
notice of redemption;

, (ii) any other descriptive information. needed to accurately
identify the Bonds being redeemed, including, but not limited to, the dated
date of, and interest rate on, such Bonds;

(ili) in the case of partial redemption of any Bonds, the
respective Principal amounts thereof to be redeemed and a statement to the
effect that on or after the redemption date, upon surrender of such Bond, a
new Bond in Principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of such
Bond will be issued; '

(iv) the date of mailing of redemption notices, the record date
for such purpose and the redemption date;

(v)  theredemption price;

(vi) that on the redemption date the redemption price will
become due and payable upon each such Bond or portion thereof called for
redemption, and that interest thereon shall cease te accrue from and after
said date; and

(vii) the place where such Bonds are to be surrendered for
payment of the redemption price, designating the name and address of the
Paying Agent with the name of a contact person and telephone number,

(b) In addition to the foregoing, further notice of any redemption of
Bonds hereunder shall be given by the Trustee, at least two (2) Business Days in
advance of the mailed notice to Registered Owners, by registered or certified mail
or ovemight delivery service, to all registered securities depositories (as
reasonably determined by the Trustee) then in the business of holding substantial
amounts of obligations of types comprising the Bonds and to at least two national
information services that disseminate notices of redemption of obligations such as
the Bonds. Such further notice shall contain the information required in clause (a)

DMWEST #5382940 v3 27



above, Failure to give all or any portion of such further notice shall not in any
manner defeat the effectiveness of a call for redeniption.

(c) Each notice of redemption may further state, in the case of
redemption at the option of the Issuer, that such redemption shall be conditioned
upon the receipt by the Trustee on or prior to the date fixed for such redemption of
moneys sufficient to pay the Principal of and interest on such Bonds to be

‘redeemed and that if such moneys shall not have been so received said notice shall
be of no force and effect and the Issuer shall not be required to redeem such
Bonds. In the event that such notice of redemption contains such a condition and
such moneys are not so received, the redemption shall not be made and the
Trustee shall within a reasonable time thereafier give notice, one time, in the same

mapner. in which the notice of redemption was given, that such moneys were not
so received,

(d Upon the payment of the redemption price of Bonds being
redeemed, each check or other transfer of funds issued for such purpose shall bear
the CUSIP number identifying, by issue and maturity, the Bonds being redeemed
with the proceeds of such check or other transfer.

Any notice mailed shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given,
whether. or not the Owner of such Bonds receives the notice. Receipt of such notice shall
not be a condition precedent to such redemption, and faiture 50 to receive any such notice
by any of such registered Owners or any defect therein shall not affect the validity of the
proceedings for the redemption of the Bonds.

Section 2.11. Partially Redeemed Bonds. Unless otherwise specified in the
Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of the applicable Series of Bonds, in
case any registered Bond shall be redeemed in part only, upon the presentation of such
Bond for such partial redemption, the Issuer shall execute and the Trustee shall
authenticate and shall deliver or cause to be delivered to or upon the written order of the
Registered Owner thereof, at the expense of the Issucr, a Bond or Bonds of the same
Series, interest rate and maturity, in aggregate Principal amount equal to the unredeerned
portlon of such registered Bond. A portion of any Bond of a denomination of more than
minimum denomination of the Bonds specified in the Supplemental Indenture to be
redeemed will be in the Principal amount of such minimum denomination or an integral
multiple thereof and in selecting portions of such Bonds for redemption, the Trustee will
treat each such Bond as representing that number of Bonds of such minimum
-denomination which is obtained by dividing the principal amount of such Bonds by such
minimum denomination.

Section 2.12. Cancellation. All Bonds which have been redeemed shall be
canceled and, to the extent permitted by law, cremated or otherwise destroyed by the
Trustee and shall not be reissued; provided, however, that one or more new Bonds shall
be issued for the unredeemed portxon of any Bond without charge to the Registered
Owney thereof.

DMWEST #5382940 v3 28



Section 2.13. Nonpresentation of Bonds Unless otherwise provided by
Supplemental Indenture, in the event any Bond shall not be presented for payment when
the Principal thereof becomes due, either at maturity or otherwise, or at the date fixed for
redemption thereof, if funds sufficient to pay such Bond shall have been made available
to the Trustee, all liability of the Issuer to the Registered Owner thereof for the payment
of such Bond shall forthwith cease, terminate and be completely discharged, and
thereupon it shall be the duty of the Trustee to hold such fund or fumds, without liability
to the Registered Owner of such Bond for interest thereon, for the benefit of the
Registered Owner of such Bond who shall thereafter be restricted exclusively to such
fund or funds for any claim of whatever nature on its part hereunder-or on, or with respect
to, said Bond. If any Bond shall not be presented for payment within four years following
the date when such Bond becomes due, whether by maturity or otherwise, the Trustee
shall, to the extent permitted by law, repay to-the Issuer the funds theretofore held by it
for payment of such Bond, and such Bond shall, subject to the defense of any applicable
statute of limitation, thereafter be an unsecured obligation of the Issuer, and the
Registered Owner thereof shall be entitled to look only to the Issuer for payment, and
then only to the extent of the amount so repaid, and the Issuer shatl not be liable for any
interest thereon and shall not be regarded as a trustee of such money. The provisions of
this Section are subject to the provisions of Title 67, Chapter 4A, Utah Code.

Section 2.14. Initial Bonds. Subject to the provisions hereof, the Initial Bonds
may be authenticated and delivered by the Trustee upon satisfaction of the conditions
specified in Section 2.4(c) hereof and. any additional conditions specified in the
Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series of Bonds. Sectlon 2.15 shall not apply to
the first Series of Bonds issued hereunder.

Section 2.15. Issuance of Additional Senior Bonds and Additional Bonds. No
additional indebtedness, bonds or notes of the Issuer payable on a priority ahead of the
Bonds or the Security Instrument Repayment Obligations herein authorized out of
Pledged Revenues or any portion thereof shall be created or incurred and no Additional
Bonds or other indebtedness of the Issuer payable on a parity with the Bonds or the
Security Instrument Repayment Obligations out of Pledged Revenues shall be created or
imcurred; provided, however, that the Issuer may issue additional Senior Bonds and incur
other senior obligations under the Senior Indenture and Additional Bonds and other parity
obligations if the following requirements have been met:

(a) A certificate shall be delivered to the Trustee by an Authorized
Representative to the effect that Adjusted Sales and Use Taxes are at least 110%
of the maximum Aggregate Debt Service for any Bond Fund Year on all of the
Bonds and Senior Bonds that will be Outstanding, including the Additional
Bonds, upon the issuance of such Additional Bonds. In calculating Adjusted
Sales and Use Taxes pursuant to this Subsection 2.15(a), no Sales and Use Taxes
with an expiration date or sunset provision prior to the final maturity of such
Additional Bonds which are proposed to be issued will be included in such
calculation.

DMWEST #6382040 v3 29



(t)  All Repayment Obligations then due and owing shall have been
paid.

(c) All payments required by this Indenture to be made into the Bond
Fund must have been made in full, and there must be on deposit in each account
in the Debt Service Reserve Fund (taking into account any Reserve Instrument
Coverage) the full amount required by this Indenture to be accumulated therein.

(d) The proceeds of the Additional Bonds, less costs of issuance and
funding of reserves, must be used in connection with (i) the refunding of Bonds
issued hereunder or any borrowing of the Issuer or (ii) the financing of additions,
improvements, extensions, replacements or repairs to the System.

(¢) No Event of Default is existing under this Indenture or event of
default under the Senior Indenture is existing on the date of authentication of such
Additional Bonds, unless (i) the Security Instrument Issuers, Reserve Instrument
Issuers and Owners of all Outstanding Bonds (subject to the consent authorized by
Section 2.6(a)(i) herein) and Senior Bonds have each consented to the issuance of
such Additiona! Bonds despite the existence of an Event of Default or (i) upon
the issuance of such Additional Bonds and the application of the proceeds thereof,
all such Events of Default or.events of default under the Senior Indenture will be
cured.

Section 2.16. Form of Bonds. For each Series of Bonds, the text of such Bonds
and the Trustee’s Authentication Certificate shall be in substantially the forms thereof set
forth in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Bonds, with such
omissions, insertions and variations not inconsistent with the terms hereof as may be
necessary, desirable, anthorized and permitted hereby.

Section 2.17. Covenant Against Creating or Permitting Liens; Subordinated
Indebtedness. Except for the pledge of Pledged Revenues to secure payment of the
Senjor Bonds and the Bonds and Repayment Obligations hereunder, the Issuer covenants
that the Pledged Revenues are and will be free and clear of any pledge, lien, charge or
encumbrance thereon or with respect thereto; provided, however, that nothing contained
herein shall prevent the Issuer from issuing, if and to the extent permitted by law,
indebtedness having a lien on Pledged Revenues subordinated to that of the Bonds and
the Repayment Obligations.

Section 2.18. nterest Rate Swap. The Issuer may provide for the-execution of an
Interest Rate Swap in connection with the Bonds issued hereunder. The obligation of the
Issuer to pay Swap Payments may be secured with (a) a parity lien on the Pledged
Revenues with the lien thereon of Debt Service on the related Bonds, if the requirements
of Section 2.15(a) are met in connection with the execution of the Interest Rate Swap or
(b) a subordinate lien on the Pledged Revenues, all as established by the Supplemental
Indenture for the related Series of Bonds. Termination Payments may only be payable
-from ‘and secured by Revenues after payment of all amounts then due pursuant to the
Indenture. '

DMWEST #6382940 v3 30



Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, “Operation and Maintenance Expenses” -
shall not include any decrease in the value of an Interest Rate Swap which is required by
its terms or by any applicable accounting principles to be marked to market.
Furthermore, “Revenues” shall not include any increase in the value of any Interest Rate
Swap which is required by its terms or by any applicable accounting principles to be
marked to market.

DMWEST #6382040 v3 31



ARTICLEII

CREATION OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS

Section 3.1.  Creation_of Construction Fund. There is hereby created and
ordered established in the custody of the Trustee a special trust fund in the name of the
Issuer to be designated “Utah Transit Authority Subordinated Construction Fund.” There
is hereby created and ordered established in the custody of the Trustee a separate account
within the Construction Fund for each Project to be designated by the name of the
applicable Series or Project. The Construction Fund shall be govemned by Section 5.1
hereof and other applicable provisions of this Indenture..

‘Section 3.2. Ratification of Revenue Fund. The establishment and existence of
the Revenue Fund under the Senior Indenture is hereby ratified, confirmed and approved.
For accountirig purposes, the Revenue Fund and subaccounts therein may be redesignated
by different account names by the Issuer from time to time. The Revenue Fund shall be
governed by the provisions of Section 5.2 of the Senior Indenture and Section 5.2 hereof
and other applicable provisions of this Indenture. In the event that, and so long as, no.
Senior Bonds are outstanding under the Senior Indenture, the Revenue Fund shall be
governed by Section 5.2 of this Indenture.

Section 3.3. Creation of Bond Fund. There i1s hereby created and ordered
established in the custody of the Trustee a special trust fund in the name of the Issuer to
be designated “Utah Transit Authority Subordinated Bond Fund.” The Bond Fund shall
be governed by Section 5.3 hereof and other applicable provisions of this Indenture.

Section 3.4. Creation of Debt Service Reserve Fund. There is hereby created
and ordered established in the custody of the Trustee a special trust fund in the name of
the Issuer to be designated “Utah Transit Authority Subordinated Debt Service Reserve
Fund.” Each Supplemental Indenture authorizing a Series of Bonds may create in the
custody of the Trustee a separate account for such Series of Bonds within the Debt
Service Reserve Fund to be designated. by the name of the applicable Series of Bonds.
The Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be govemed by Section 5.4 hereof and other
applicable provisions of this Indenture

Section 3.5. Creation of Reserve Instrument Fund. There is hereby created and
ordered established in the custody of the Trustee a special trust fund in the name of the
Issuer to be designated “Subordinated Reserve Instrument Fund.” If so provided in the
related Supplemental Indenture, there may be created and ordered established in the
custody of the Trustee a separate account within the Reserve Instrument Fund for each
Series of Bonds issued under this Indenture to be designated by the name of the
applicable Series of Bonds. The Reserve Instrument Fund shall be governed by Section
5.5 hereof and other applicable provisions of this Indenture. -

Section 3.6. Additiona] Funds. The Issuer can by Supplemental Indenture
authorize the Trustee to create such additional funds or accounts as may be necessary to
accomplish the Trustee’s responsibilities hereunder.

DMWEST #6382840 va 32



ARTICLE IV
APPLICATION OF BOND PROCEEDS AND OTHER MONEYS

Unless otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture, the proceeds, including
accrued interest and premium, if any, received from the sale of each Series of Bonds,
shall be. applied by the Issuer simultaneously with the delivery of such Bonds by the
Trustee to the purchaser thereof, as follows:

(a) The accrued interest, if any, shall be deposited in the Bond Fund;

()  The amount, if any, required to be deposited into the applicable
account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund to satisfy the applicable Debt Service
Reserve Requirement, less the Reserve Instrument Coverage of all Reserve
Instruments which are then in effect with respect to such Series of Bonds as
specified in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of the Bonds;
and

(c) The balance of the moneys remaining after making all the deposits
and payments provided for in Paragraphs (a) and (b), and after making provisions
for the payment of costs of issuance (if so directed in the Supplemental Indenture)
shall be paid into the appropriate account in the Construction Fund or as otherwise
specified in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of the Bonds
(including use for refunding purposes).

DMWEST #6382940 v3 33



ARTICLE V

USE OF FUNDS

Section 5.1. Use of Construction Fund.

(8  So long as an Event of Default shall not have occurred and be
continuing, moneys deposited in the appropriate account in the Construction Fund
shall be paid out by the Trustee in order to pay the Cost of a Project; in each case
within three Business Days (or within such longer period as is reasonably required
to liquidate investments in the Construction Fund if required to make such
payment) after the receipt by the Trustee of a written requisition in substantially
the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, stating the following: :

(i)  that the Trustee shall disburse sums in the manner specified
by and at the direction of an Authorized Representative of the Issuer to the
person or entity designated in such written requisition, and that the amount
set forth therein is justly due and owing and constitutes a Cost of a Project -
based upon itemized claims substantiated in support thereof; and

(i)  that the amount remaining in the applicable account in the
Construction Fund after such disbursement is made, together with the
amount ‘of unencumbered. Pledged Revenues, if any, which the Issuer
reasonably estimates will be deposited in the applicable account in the
Construction Fund during the period of construction of a Project from the
investment of moneys on deposit in the applicable account in the
Construction Fund, will, together with any other moneys lawfully
-available or reasonably expected to become available for payment of the
Cost of a Project and after payment of the amount requested in said
requisition, be sufficient to pay the remaining Cost of a Project in
accordance with the plans and specifications therefor then in effect; it
being understood that no moneys from the applicable account in the
Construction Fund may be expended unless, after giving effect thereto, the
funds remaining in the applicable account in the Construction Fund,
together with such other funds and income and lawfully available moneys
and moneys reasonably expected to become available, are expected to be
sufficient to pay the remaining Cost of the Project.

(b) - Upon receipt of such requisition, the Trustee shall pay the
obligation set forth in such requisition out of moneys in the applicable account in
the Construction Fund. In making such payments the Trustee may rely upon such
requisition.

{c) An Authorized Representative of the Issuer shall deliver to the

Trustee, within 90 days after the substantial completion of a Project, a certificate
stating that:

DMWEST #5382040 v3. 34



] such Project has been substantially completed in
accordance with the plans and specifications therefor, as amended from
time to time, and stating the date of substantial completion for such
Project; and

~ (ii).  the Issuer is of the opinion that such Project has been fully
paid for and no claim or claims exist against the Issuer or against such
Project out of which a lien based on furnishing labor or material exists or
might ripen; provided, however, there may be excepted from the foregoing
statement any claim or claims out of which a lien exists or might ripen in
the event that the Issuer intends to contest such claim or claims, in which
event such claim or claims shall be described to the Trustee.

(d) In the event that the certificate filed with the Trustee pursuant to
paragraph (c) above shall state that there is a claim or claims in controversy which
create or might ripen into a lien, there shall be filed with the Trustee a similar
certificate when and as such claim or claims shall have been fully paid or
otherwise discharged. o

(e) The Trustee and the Issuer shall keep and maintain adequate
records pertaining to each account within .the Construction Fund and all
disbursements therefrom.

® Upon completion of a Project and payment of all costs and
expenses incident thereto and the filing with the Trustee of documents required by
this Section 5.1, any balance remaining in the applicable account in the
Construction Fund relating to such Project shall, at the written direction of the
Issuer delivered to the Trustee, be (i) applied to pay capitalizable costs for projects
related to the System or any other lawful purpose subject in either case to receipt
of a Favorable Opinion, (ii) deposited in the Bond Fund, to be applied, as directed
by the Issuer, (A) toward the redemption or purchase of the Series of Bonds issued
to finance such Project; or (B) to the payment of principal and interest next falling
due on such Series of Bonds; or (iii) any combination of the foregoing purposes.

(g) Notwithstanding anything in this Indenture to the contrary, upon
the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default hereunder, amounts on
deposit in the Construction Fund may be applied toward the payment of Bonds
issued hereunder.

Section 5.2. Use of Revenue Fund.

()  The Issuer and the Trustee acknowledge and agree that so long as
any of the Senior Bonds are Quistanding, the provisions of the Senior Indenture
shall govern the Revenue Fund in case of any conflict between the provisions of
the Senior Indenture and this Indenture. At such time as there are no Senior
Bonds Outstanding under the Senior Indenture, the Revenue Fund established
under the Senior Indenture shall be governed solely by the provisions of this
Indenture.

DMWEST #6382940 v3 35



(b)  All Revenues (except earnings from the investment of amounts on
deposit in the funds and accounts established under this Indenture and the Senior
Indenture, which shall be allocated as provided in Section 5.6 and in the Senior
Indenture, respectively) shall be deposited by the Issuer to the credit of the
‘Revenue Fund and the Issuer shall account for Sales and Use Taxes separate and
apart from all other Revenues.

(c) As a first lien and charge on the Sales and Use Taxes, the Issuer
shall transfer and deposit all available Sales and Use Taxes from the Revenue
Fund into the following Funds or make payments therefrom (as applicable) in the
following order of priority the amounts set forth below:

@ To make such payments as requlred by Section 5.2(b).of the
‘Senior Indenture, if any.

(i) Into the Bond Fund, at such times and in such manner
described by the Supplemental Indenture, such amounts as shall be
necessary to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the
Bonds, and to the extent required by the Supplemental Indenture, on any
Security Instrument Repayment Obligations promptly on each such
payment date as the same become due and payable, whether at maturity or

. by redemption.

(iii) On an equal and parity lien basis (A) to the accounts
maintained in the Reserve Instrument Fund, with respect to all Reserve
Instruments which are in effect and are expected to continue in effect, such
amonunt of the remaining Sales and Use Taxes, or a ratable portion (taking
into account the amount to be transferred pursuant to Subparagraph (B) of
this Paragraph (iii)) of the amount so remaining if less than the amount
necessary, that is required to be paid, including all Reserve Instrument
Repayment Obligations, on or before the next such transfer or deposit of
Sales and Use Taxes into the Reserve Instrument Fund, to the Reserve
Instrument Provider pursuant to any Reserve Instrument Agreement, other
than Reserve Instrument Costs, in order to cause the Reserve Instrument
Coverage to equal the Reserve Instrument Limit, such that the Reserve
Instrument Coverage shall equal the Reserve Instrument Limit within one
year from any draw date under the Reserve Instrument; and (B) to the
accounts maintained in Debt Service Reserve Fund any amounts required
hereby and by any Supplemental Indenture to accumulate therein the
applicable Debt Service Reserve Requirement at the times and in the
amounts provided herein and in any Supplemental Indenture, or a ratable
portion (taking into account the amount to be transferred pursuant to
Subparagraph (A) of this Paragraph (iii)) of remaining Sales and Use
Taxes if less than the amount necessary.

N (iv) To-provide for the payment of Financing Expenses when
and as the same become due,

DMWEST #6382940 v3 36



(d)  As the next charge and lien on the Sales and Use Taxes, the Issuer
shall allocate or transfer and deposit to the appropriate fund any debt service
payments, reserve fund payments, debt reserve instrument costs and similar
payments which may be required pursuant to any obligations payable from
Revenues on a basis sibordinate to the lien of this Indenture.

(¢) The Operation and Maintenance Expenses shall be paid by the
Issuer from time to time as they become due and payable (i) at any time from the
Revenues other than Sales and Use Taxes and (ii) from the Revenues constituting
Sales and Use Taxes, but only after the charges on Sales and Use Taxes
referenced in paragraphs (c) and (d) of this Section 5.2 have been met. Prior to
the commencement of each Fiscal Year, the Issuer shall establish and present to.
its goveming board for approval a final budget including amounts for Operation
and Maintenance Expenses for the ensuing Fiscal Year. Operation and
Maintenance Expenses in any Fiscal Year shail not exceed the amount budgeted
for such items in the Issuer’s final budget (as the same may be amended from time
to time) for such Fiscal Year. The limitations of the preceding sentence shall not
be construed to prevent the Issuer from amending any budget or from making
expenditures in excess of budgeted amounts in the event of any emergency or
similar circumstances.

() As necessary, after payment of unpaid Operation and Maintenance
Expenses then due, the Issuer shall transfer and deposit with the Trustee from
amounts on deposit in the Revenue Fund to the extent of Revenues available in
the Revenne Fund, into the Funds or for the purposes and in the order of prierity
the amounts as set forth in paragraph (c) and (d) above.

(2 Subject to making the foregoing deposits, the Issuer may use any
moneys on deposit in the Revenue Fund for:

(1) = redemption of Senior Borids or Bonds for cancellation prior
to maturity by depositing the same into the bond fund, as established under
the Senior Indenture or the Bond Fund, as applicable;

(ii) refinancing, refunding, or advance refunding of any Senior
Bonds or Bonds;

(iii)  to apply to, or to accumulate a reserve for the purpose of
applying toward the costs of acquiring, constructing, equipping or
furishing additional facilities to the System or improving, replacing,
restoring, equipping or furnishing any existing facilities; '

(iv) payment of indebtedness having a hien on the Pledged

- Revenues subordinate to that of the Bonds and the Repayment
Obligations; or

(v)  application for any other lawful purposes as determined by
the Issuer.

DMWEST #6382040 v3 37



Section 5.3. Use of Bond Fund.
(a) The Trustee shall make deposits, as and when received, as follows:

)] the amounts provided for by Paragraph (a) of Artlcle v
hereof shall be deposited into the Bond Fund

@ii)  all moneys payable by the Issuer as specified in Section
5.2(c)(ii) and Section 5.2(f) hereof shall be deposited into the Bond Fund.
Any payments made by a Security Instrument Issuer with respect to a
Serics of Bonds shalt be deposited into the Bond Fund (or a segregated
account for such purpose) and used. solely to pay the related Series of
Bonds, subject to the provisions of the Supplemental Indenture authorizing
the issuance of such Series of Bonds;

(iii) any amount in the Construction Fund shall be transferred to
the Bond Fund to the extent required by Section 5.1(f) hereof upon
completion of a Project; -

(iv)  all moneys required to be transfemed to the Bond Fund
from the Debt Service Reservé Fund or from a Reserve Instrument or
Instruments then in effect shall be deposited into the Bond Fund 'as
provided in Section 5.4 hereof; and '

(v)  all other moneys received by the Trustee hereunder when
accompanied by directions from the person depositing such moneys that
such moneys are to be paid into the Bond Fund, shall be deposited into the
Bond Fund. i

()  Except as provided in Section 7.4 hereof, as provided in this
Sectioni and as otherwise provided by Supplemental Indenture, moneys in the
Bond Fund shall be expended solely for the following purposes and in the
following order of priority:

() on or before each Interest Payment Date for each Series of
Bonds, the amount required for the interest payable on such date;

(ii) on or before each Principal Installment due date, the
amount required for the Principal Installment payable on such due date;
and |

.(iii)  on or before each redemption date for each Series of Bonds,
the amount required for the payment of redemption price of and accrued
interest on such Bonds then to be redeemed.

Such amounts shall be applied by the Paying Agents to pay Principal
Installments and redemption price of, and interest on the related Series of Bonds.

DMWEST 45382940 v3 38



Thie Trustee shall pay out of the Bond Fund to the Security Instrument
Issuer, if any, that has issued a Security Instrument with respect to such Series of
Bonds an amount equal to any Security Instrument Repayment Obligation then
due and payable to such Security Instrument Issuer. Except as otherwise specified
in a related Supplemental Indenture all such Security Instrument Repayment
Obligations shall be paid on a parity with the payments to be made with respect to
principal and interest on the Bonds; provided that amounts paid under a Security
Instrument shall be applied only to pay the related Series of Bonds. If payment is
so made on Pledged Bonds held for the benefit of the Security Instrument Issuer, a
corresponding payment on the Security Instrument Repayment Obligation shall be
deemed to have been made (without requiring an additional payment by the
Issuer) and the Trustee shall keep its records accordingly..

The Issuer hereby authoriigs and directs the Trustee to withdraw sufficient
funds from the Bond Fund to pay principal of and interest on the Bonds and on
Security Instrument Repayment Obligations as the same become due and payable
and to make said funds so withdrawn available to the Trustee and any paying
agent for the purpose of paying said principal and interest.

(c)  Except as otherwise provided in a Supplemental Indenture
authorizing a Series of Bonds, amounts accumulated in the Bond Fund with
respect to any Sinking Fund Installment (fogether with amounts accumulated
therein with respect to interest on the Bonds for which such Sinking Fund
Installment was established) shall, if so directed by the Issuer in a written request
not less than 60 days before the due date of such Sinking Fund Installment, be
applied by the Trustee to (1) the purchase of Bonds of the Series and maturity for
which such Sinking Fund Installment was established, (2) the redemption at the
applicable sinking fund redemption price of such Bonds, if then redeemable by
their terms, or (3) any combination of (1) and (2). All purchases of any Bonds
pursuant to this subsection (c) shall be made at prices not exceeding the applicable
sinking fund redemption price of such Bonds plus accrued interest, and such
purchases shall be made in such manner as the Issuer shall direct the Trustee. The
applicable sinking fund redemption price (or Principal amount of maturing Bonds)
of any Bonds so purchased or redeemed shall be deemed to constitute part of the
Bond Fund until such Sinking Fund Installment date for the purpose of calculating
the amount of such Fund. As soon as practicable after the 60th day preceding the
due date of any such Sinking Fund Installment, the Trustee shall proceed to call
for redemption on such due date, by giving notice as required by the Indenture,
Bonds of the Series and maturity for which such Sinking Fund Installment was
established (except in the case of Bonds maturing on a Sinking Fund Installment
date) in such amount as shall be necessary to complete the retirement of - the
unsatisfied balance of such Sinking Fund Installment. The Trustee shall pay out
of the Bond Fund to the appropriate Paying Agents, on or before such redemption
date (or maturity date), the amount required for the redemption of the Bonds so
called for redemption (or for the payment of such Bonds then maturing), and such
amount shall be applied by such Paying Agents to such redemption (or payment).
All expenses in connection with the purchase or redemption of Bonds shall be

DMWEST #6382040 v3 39



paid by the Issuer as Operanon and Maintenance Expenses. Upon any redemption
(otherwise than pursuant to Sinking Fund Installments) of Bonds for which
Sinking Fund Installments have been established, or any purchase in lien thereof,
there shall be credited by the Trustee toward the Sinking Fund Installment
requirement thereafter to become due with respect thereto, the amount of the
Bonds so redeemed or purchased in lieu thereof, to the respective sinking fund
redemption dates as directed by the Issuer.

(d)  After payment in full of the Principal of and interest on all Bonds
issued hereunder (or after provision has been made for the payment thereof as
provided herein so that such Bonds are no longer Outstanding), all agreements
relating to all outstanding Security Instrument Repayment Obligations and
Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations, in accordance with their respective
terms, the fees, charges and expenses of the Trustee and any paying agent, any
other amounts required to be paid hereunder or under any Suppiémental Indenture
and under any Security Instrument Agreement and any Reserve Instrument
Agreement, all amounts remaining in the Bond Fund shali be paid to the lssuer

Section 5.4. Use of Debt Service Reserve Fund. Except as required to make up
any deficiencies in the Bond Fund as prov1ded in -this Section and subject to the
immediately following sentence, moneys in each account in the Debt Service Reserve
Fund shall at all times be maintained in an amount not less than the applicable Debt
Service Reserve Requirement. In calculating the amount on deposit in each account in
the Debt Service Reserve Fund, the amount, if any, of the related Reserve Instrument
Coverage will be treated as an amount on deposit in such account in the Debt Service
Reserve Fund. Each Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of a Series of
Bonds shall specify the Debt Service Reserve Reqmrement applicable to such Series.
which amount shall be deposited immediately upon the issuance and delivery of such
Series from (a) proceeds from the sale thereof or from any other legally available source,
or (b) by a Reserve Instrument or Instruments, or (¢) any combination thereof. Funds on
deposit in each account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be used solely to make up
any deficiencies in the Bond Fund relating to the payment of debt service on the
applicable Series of Bonds. If amounts on deposit in an account in the Debt Service
Reserve Fund shall, at any time, be less than the applicable Debt Service Reserve
Requirement, all Security Instrument Issuers shall be notified immediately of such
deficiency, and such deficiency shall be made up at the tune and in the manner indicated
in Section 5.8 hereof.

In the event funds on deposit in an account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund are
‘needed to make up any deficiencies in the Bond Fund- as aforementioned, and there is
insufficient cash available in such account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund to make up
such deficiency and Reserve Instruments applicable to such Series of Bonds are in effect,
the Trustee shall immediately make a demand for payment on such Reserve Instruments,
to the maximum extent authorized by such Reserve Instruments, in the amount necessary
to make up such deficiency, and immediately deposit such payment upon receipt thereof
into the Bond Fund for application to such deficiencies.

DMWEST #6382040 v3 40



In the event a Reserve Instrument is terminated in accordance with its terms, the
Issuer shail be required either (i) to fund the Debt Service Reserve Requirement at the
time of termination of the Reserve Instrument, or (ii) to provide a substitute Resexrve
Instrument which provides the same Reserve Instrument Coverage and which is provided
by a Reserve Instrument Provider that is acceptable to the Trustee.

Funds' at any time on deposit in the accounts maintained in the Debt Service
Reserve Fund in excess of the amount required to be maintained therein (taking into
account the amount of related Reserve Instrument Coverage) may at any time be
transferred to the Bond Fund at the direction of the Issuer or, in connection with the
replacement of amounts on deposit therein with a Reserve Instrument, atilized by the
Issuer for any other lawful purpose, with a Favorable Opinion, pursuant to the terms of
the Supplemental Indenture or resolution of the Issuer authorizing such Reserve
Instrument.

Notwithstanding anything contained elsewhere herein to the contrary, any account
maintained within the Debt Service Reserve Fund for a Series of Bonds and any Reserve
Instrument for a Series of Bonds, shall only be drawn upon with respect to the Series of
Bonds to which such account or Reserve Instrument applies.

Section 5.5. Reserve Instrument Fund. There shall be paid into the Reserve
Instrument Fund the amounts required hereby and by a Supplemental Indenture to be so
paid. The amounts in the Reserve Instrument Fund shall, from time to time, be applied by
the Trustee on behalf of the Issuer to pay the Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations
which are due and payable to any Reserve Instrument Provider under any applicable
Reserve Instrument Agreement.

" Section 5.6. Investment of Funds. Any moneys in the Bond Fund, the Reserve
Instrument Fund, the Construction Fund, the Debt Service Reserve Fund or any other
funds or accounts created by Section 3.7 may, at the discretion and authorization of an

" Authorized Representative of the Issuer, be invested in Permitted Investments. Such-
investments shall be held by the Trustee, and when the Trustee determines it necessary to
use the moneys in the Funds for the purposes for which the Funds were created, it shall, at
the discretion of an Authorized Representative of the Issuer (provided that such discretion
shall not be construed to delay the Trustee from liquidating investments in the Bond Fund
and the Debt Service Reserve Fund to make payments on the Bonds), liquidate at
prevailing market prices as much of the investments as may be necessary and apply the
proceeds to such purposes. All income derived from the investment of the Construction
Fund, the Bond Fund, the Reserve Instrument Fund and the Debt Service Reserve Fund
shall be maintained in said respective Funds and disbursed along with the other moneys
on deposit therein as herein provided. Any moneys in the Revenue Fund may, at the
discretion and authorization of an Authorized Representative of the Issuer, be invested in
investments permitted by the Utah State Money Management Act, as it may be amended
from time to time. ’

Section 5.7. Trust Funds. All moneys and _secun'tiés received by the Trustee
under the provisions of this Indenture shall be trust funds under the terms hereof and shall

DMWEST #56382940 v3 41



not be subject to lien or attachment of any creditor of the State or any political
subdivision, body, agency, or instrumentality thereof or of the Issuer and shall not be
subject to appropnatlon by any leglslatwe body or otherwise. Such moneys and securities
shall be held in trust and applied in accordance with the provisions hereof. Except for
moneys held to satisfy (i) the obligations, if any, of the Issuer under the Code with respect
to arbitrage rebate and (ii) principal or redemption price of, and interest on, any Bonds
previously matured or called for redemption or deemed paid in accordance with Article X
of this Indenture (to be held for the benefit of the holders of such Bonds only), unless and
unul disbursed pursuant to the terms hereof, all such moneys and securities (and the

income therefrom) shall be held by the Trustee as security for payment of the principal,
premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds for payment of Security Instrument
Repayment Obligations and Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations and the fees and
expenses of the Trustee payable hereunder. .

Section 5.8. Method of Valuation and Frequency of Valuation. In computing
the amount in any fund or account, Permitted Investments shall be valued at the market
price thereof. With respect to all funds and accounts except the Debt Service Reserve
Fund, valuation shall occur at least annually. Amounts in each account of the Debt
Service Reserve Fund shall be valued at least semiannually and marked-to-market at least
annually, except in the event of a withdrawal from any of such accounts in the Debt
Service Reserve Fund (other than a withdrawal of amounts above the required level),
whereupon amounts in such account shall be valued immediately after such withdrawal
and monthly thereafter until amounts in such account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund
are at the required level. If amounts on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall, at
any time, be less than the applicable Debt Service Reserve Requirement, any Security
Instrument Issuer of the related Series of Bonds, if any, shall be notified immediately of
such deficiency, and (except with respect to the termination of a Reserve Instrument) such
deficiency shall be made up as provided in Section 5.2(c) over a period of not more than
twelve months.

Section 5.9. Purchase of Bonds. The Issuer may purchase Bonds of any Series
from any available funds at public or private sale, as and when and at such prices as the
Issuer may in its 'discretion determine, subject to applicable law and so. long as such
purchase is not made with funds drawn on a Security Instrument without the prior written
consent of such Security Instrument Issner. All Bonds so purchased shall at such times as
shall be selected by the Issuer be delivered to and cancelled by the Trustee or any
Registrar and (except with respect to a Commercial Paper Program) no Bonds of such
Series shall be issued in place thereof. In the case of the purchase of Bonds of a Series
and maturity for which Sinking Fund Instaliments shall bave been established, the Issuer
shall, by a written request delivered to the Trustee, elect the manmer in which the
Principal amount of such Bonds shall be credited toward Sinking Fund Installments,
consistent with the procedures of Section 5.3(c) hereof.

DMWEST #6352040 v3 42



ARTICLE VI

GENERAL COVENANTS

Section 6.1.  General Covenants. The Issuer hereby covenants and agrees with
each and every Registered Owner of the Bonds issued hereunder, Security Instrument
Issuer and Reserve Instrument Provider as follows:

(a) The Issuer covenants to comply with the applicable provisions of
the Utah Transit District Act, Title 17A, Chapter 2, Part 10, Utah Code including
in particular Section 17A-2-1018, Utah Code.

(b)  Each Registered Owner, Reserve Instrument Provider, and Security
Instrument Issuer shall have a right, in addition to all other rights afforded it by
the laws .of the State, to apply to and obtain.from any-court of competent
jurisdiction such decree or order as-may be necessary to require the Issuer to use
its best efforts to charge or collect reasonable rates for services supplied by the
System sufficient to meet all requirements hereof and of any applicable Reserve
Instrument Agreement or Security Instrument Agreement.

(c) So long as any Bonds, Security Instrument Repayinent Obligations
or Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations are Outstanding, proper books of
record and account will be kept by the Issuer separate and apart from all other
records and accounts, showing complete and correct entries of al! transactions
relating to the System and the funds 6r accounts confirmed or established
hereunder. Each Registered Owmer, Reserve Instrument Provider, Security
Instrument Issuer or any duly authorized agent or agents thereof shall have the
right at “all reasonable times to inspect all records, accounts and data relating
thereto and to inspect the System. Except as otherwise provided herein, the Issuer
further agrees that it will within one hundred eighty (180) days following the close
of each Fiscal Year cause an audit of such books and accounts to be made by an
independent firm of certified public accountants, showing the receipts and
disbursements for account of the System and such funds and accounts, and that
such audit will be available for inspection by each Registered Owner, Reserve
Instrument Provider and Security Instrument Issuer.

All expenses incurred in corﬁpiling the information required by this Section shall
be regarded and paid as an Operation and Maintenance Expense.

Section 6.2. Lien of Bonds: Equality of Liens. Other than the Senior Bonds,
there are no-other obligations that enjoy a lien {prior to, or on a parity with, or subordinate-
to that created hereunder) upon the Pledged Revenues. The Bonds and any Security
Instrument Repayment Obligations constitute an irrevocable second lien upon the Pledged
Revenues, subject only to the lien of the Senior Indenture. Except as otherwise expressly
provided herein or in a related Supplemental Indenture, the Issuer covenants that the
Bonds and any Security Instrument Repayment Obligations are equally and proportionally
secured by a second lien on the Pledged Revenues (except that the portion of Pledged
Revenues representing principal or redemption price of, and interest on, any Bonds

DMWEST #6362040 v3 43



previously matured or called for redemption or deemed paid in accordance with Article X
of this Indenture shall be held for the benefit of the holders of such Bonds only) and shall
not bé entitled to any priority one over the other in the application of the Pledged
Revenues regardless of the time or times of the issuance or delivery of the Bonds or
Security Instrument, it being the intention of the Issuer that there shall be no priority
among the Bonds or the Security Instrument Repayment Obligations regardless of the fact
that they may be actually issued and/or delivered at different times.

Any assignment or pledge from the Issuer to a Reserve Instrument Provider of
(i) proceeds of the issuance and sale of Bonds, (ii) Pledged Revenues, or (iii) fiinds and
accounts established or confirmed hereby, including investments, if any, thereof, is and
shall be subordinate to the assignment and pledge effected hereby to the Registered
Owners of the Bonds and to the Security Instrument Issuers.

Section 6.3. Payment of Principal, Premium and Interest. The Issuer covenants
that it will punctually pay or cause to be paid the Principal of, premium, if any, and
interest on every Bond issued hereunder, any Security Instrument Repayment Obligations
and any Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations, in strict conformity with the terms
of the Bonds, this Indenture, any Security Instrument Agreement and any Reserve
.Instrument Agreement, according to the true intent and meaning hereof and thereof. The
Principal of and interest on the Bonds, any Security Instrument Repayment Obligations
and any Reserve Instrument Repayment Obligations are payable solely from the Pledged
Revenues (except io the extent paid out of moneys attributable to Bond proceeds or other
funds created hereunder or the income from the temporary investment thereof), which
Pledged Revenues are hereby specifically pledged and assigned to the payment thereof in
the manner and to the extent herein specified, and nothing in the Bonds, this Indenture,
any Security Instrument Agreement or any Reserve Instrument Agreement should be
considered as pledging any other funds or assets of the Issuer for the payment thereof.

Section 6.4. Performance of Covenants; Issuer. The Issuer covenants that at all
times it will' faithfully perform any and all covenants, undertakings, stipulafions and
provisions contained herein, and in any and every Bond, Security Instrument Agreement
and Reserve Instrument Agreement. The Issuer represents that it is duly authorized to
issue the Bonds authorized hereby and to execute this Indenture, that all actions on its
part for the issuance of the Bonds and the execution and delivery, of this Indenture have
been duly and effectively taken, and that the Bonds in the hands of the Registered Owners
thereof are and will be valid and enforceable obligations of the Issuer according to the
import thereof.

Section 6.5. List of Bondholders. The Registrar will keep on file at its principal
office a list of the names and addresses of the Registered Owners of all Bonds which are
from time to time registered on the registration books in the hands of the Trusice as
Registrar for the Bonds. At reasonable times and under reasonable regulations
established by the Trustee, said list may be inspected and copied by the Issuer or by the
Registered Owners (or a designated representative thereof) of 10% or more in principal
amount of Bonds then Outstanding, such ownership and the authority of any such
designated representative to be evidenced to the reasonable satisfaction of the Trustee.

DMWEST #6382940 va 44



.The Registrar shall maintain a list of the names and addresses of the Owners of all Bonds

and upon any transfer shall add the name and address of the new Bondowner and
eliminate the name and address of the transferor Bondowner. Such lists, together with all
other records of ownership, registration, transfer, and exchange of the Bonds and of
persons to whom payment with respect to such obligations is made, are “private” or
“confidential” as defined in Title 63, Chapter 2, Utah Code, or any successor provision of
law.

Section 6.6. Expeditious Construction, The Issuer shall use its best efforts to
complete the acquisition and construction of each Project with all practical dispatch and
will cause all construction to be effected in a sound and economical manner.

Section 6.7. Management of System.

(a) The Issuer, in order to assure the efficient management and
operation of its System, will employ competent and experienced management, and
will use its best efforts to-see that its System is properly operated and maintained
in good condifion and an efficient manner.

(b) The Isstier will at all times cause the System to be maintained,
preserved and kept in good repair, working order and condition so that the
operating efficiency thereof will be of a high character. The Issuer will cause all
necessary and proper repairs and replacements to be made so that the business
carried on in connection with the System may be properly and advantageously
conducted at all times in a manner consistent with prudent management, and that
the rights and security of the Owners of the Bonds, Security Instrument Issuers
and Reserve Instrument Issuers may be fully protected and preserved.

Section 6.8. Payment From Other Available Funds. Notwithstanding any other
provisions hereof, nothing herein shall be construed to prevent the Issuer from
(1) depositing any funds available to the Issuer for such purpose in any account in the
Bond Fund for the payment of Principal of, premium, if any, and interest on any Bonds
and the Security Instrument Repayment Obligations or for the amounts payable under any
applicable Security Instrument Agreement issued under provisions hereef or for the
redemption of any such Bonds, or (ii) depositing any funds available to the Issuer in the
Reserve Instrument Fund for the payment of any amounts payable under any applicable
Reserve Instrument Agreement.

Section 6.9. Payment of Taxes. The Issuer covenants that all taxes and
assessments or other municipal or governmental charges lawfully levied or assessed upon
its System or upon any part thereof or upon any income therefrom will be paid when the
same shall become due, that no lien or charge upon its System or any part thereof or upon
any Revenues thereof, except for the lien and charge thereon created.hereunder and
securing the Bonds and the Security Instrument Repayment Obligations, will be created
or permitted to be created ranking equally with or prior to the Bonds and the Security
Instrument Repayment Obligations and that all lawful claims and demands for labor,
materials, supplies or other objects which, if unpaid, might by law become a lien upon its
System or any part thereof will be paid or discharged, or adequate provision will be made

DMWEST #5382040 v3 45



for the payment or discharge of such claims and demands within 60 days after the same
shall acerue; provided, however, that nothing in this Section contained shall require any
such lien or charge to be paid or discharged or provision made therefor so long as the
validity of such lien or charge shall be contested in good faith and by appropriate legal
proceedings. :

Section 6.10. Imsurance. The Issuer, in its operation of the System, will
self-insure or carry insurance, including, but not limited to, workers’ compensation
insurance and public liability insurance, in such amounts and against such risks as are
usnally insurable in connection with similar transit systems and as are usually carried by
other transit districts or authorities by others operating transit systems of a similar type.

‘The cost of such insurance shall be considered an Operation and Maintenance Expense of
the System. In the event of loss or damage, insurance proceeds shall be used first for the
purpose of restoring or replacing (if necessary for the proper and efficient operation of the
System) the property lost or damaged. Any remainder shall be paid into the Bond Fund.

Section 6.11. Instruments of Further Assurance. The Issuer and the Trustee
mutually covenant that they will, from time to time, each upon the written request of the
other, or upon the request of a Security Instrument Issuer or a Reserve Instrument
Provider, execute and deliver such further instruments and take or cause to be taken such
further actions as may be reasonable and as may be required by the other to carry out the
purposes hereof; provided, however, that no such instruments or action shall involve any
personal liability of the Trustee or members of the goveming body of the Issuer or any
official thereof. ' :

Section 6.12. Power to Own the System and Collect Rates and Fees; Provision
for Sale or Lease and I easeback Transactions. The Issuer has, and will have so long as
any Bonds are Outstanding or Repayment Obligations are Outstanding, good, right and
lawful power to own the System and to fix and collect rates, fares, fees and other charges
in connection with the System. No revenue-producing facility or service of the System
shall be leased, furnished or supplied free, but shall always be leased, furnished or
supplied so as to produce Revenues, provided that the Issuer reserves the right to lease,
furnish or supply free any such facility or service to the extent that such action does not

materially adversely affect the Issuer’s ability to perform its obligations under this
Indenture. In addition, the Issuer may dispose of any assets of the System which are no
longer needed for the efficient operations thereof or which have been replaced by other
Systemn assets.

To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Issuer shall be entitled to
sell or lease all or any portion of the System so long as the Issuer delivers to the Trustee
(1) a Favorable Opinion and (ii) a written certificate to the effect that such portion of the
‘System will continue to be used, controlled and possessed by the Issuer for the benefit of
the System.

Section 6.13. Maintenance of Revenues. The Issuer will at all times comj)ly in
all material respects with all terms, covenants and provisions, express and implied, of all
coniracts and agreements entered into by it for System use and services and all other

DMWEST #5382840 v3 46



contracts or agreements affecting or involving the System or business of the Issuer with
respect thereto. The Issuer shall promptly collect all charges due for the System use and
-service supplied by it as the same become due, and shall at all times maintain and
promptly and vigorously enforce its rights against any person who does not pay such
charges when due. The Issuer shall establish policies, rules and fees, charges and rentals
as shall be necessary to (i) assure maximum use and occupancy of the System and the
services thereof and (ii) yield sufficient Revenues to meet the obligations of the Issuer
under the Senior Indenture and hereunder in accordance with Section 6.1(a) hereof.

Section 6.14. Debt Limitation Notwithstanding anything in this Indenture to the
conﬁa:y, the Issuer shall not issue any bonds or other evidences of indebtedness which
exceed in the aggregate 3% of the fair market value of all real and personal property
within the boundaries of the Issuer. Within the meaning of this Section, “indebtedness”
includes all forms of debt which the Issuer is authorized to incur. Bonds issued that are
payable solely from revenues derived from the operation of all or part of the System may
not be included as “indebtedness™ of the Issuer for the purpose of said computation.

_ Section 6.15. Use of Certain' Grants. The Issuer hereby covenants that any
federal or State capital or operating grant moneys received by the Issuer which are
prohibited by the provisions of this Indenture from being included as Revenues, shall be
used for the purposes for which such grants were given, including payment of Operation
and Maintenance Expenses.

Section 6.16. Continuation_of Sales Tax Revenues. The Issuer shall take all
reasonable and legally permissible actions which it determines are necessary to assure the
continued receipt by the Issuer for use as provided herein of the Sales and Use Taxes and
shall oppose any effort to eliminate or divert the same.

DMWEST #63820940 v3 47



ARTICLE VII

EVENTS OF DEFAULT; REMEDIES

Section 7.1.  Events of Default. Each of the following events is hereby declared
an “Event of Default™

()  if payment of any installment of interest on any of the Bonds shall
not be made by or on behalf of the Issuer (other than pursuant to a Security
Instrument Agreement) when the same shall become due and payable; or

(b) - if payment of the principal of or the redemption premium, if any,
on any of the Bonds shall not be made by or on behalf of the Issuer {other than
pursuant to a Security Instrument Agreement) when the same shall become due
and payable, either at maturity or by proceedings for redemption in advance of
maturity or through failure to fulfill any payment to' any fund hereunder or
otherwise; or

{c) if an order or.decree shall be entered, with the consent or
acquiescence of the Issuer, appointing a receiver or custodian for any of the
Revenues, or approving a petition filed against the Issuer seeking reorganization
of the Issuer under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other similar law or statute
of the United States of America or any state thereof, or if any such order or
decree, having been entered without the consent or acquiescence of the Issuer,
shall not be vacated or discharged or stayed on appeal within 60 days after the
entry thereof; or .

(@ if any proceeding shall be instituted, with the consent or
acquiescence of the Issuer, for the purpose of effecting a composition between the
Issuer and its creditors or for the purpose of adjusting the claims of such creditors
pursuant to any federal or state statute now: or hereafter enacted, if the claims of
such creditors are or may be under any circumstances payable from Revenues; or

(e) if (i) the Issuer is adjudged insolvent by a court of competent
jurisdiction, or (ii)an order, judgment or decree be entered by any court of
‘competent jurisdiction appointing, without the consent of the Issuer, a receiver,
trustee or custodian of the Issuer or of the whole or any part of their property and
any of the aforesaid adjudications, orders, judgments or decrees shall not be
vacated or set aside or stayed within 60 days from the date of entry thereof; or

4)) if the Issuer shall file a petition or answer seeking reorganization,
relief or any arrangement under the federal bankruptcy laws or. any other
applicable law or statute of the United States of America or any state thereof; or

(g)  if, under the provisions of any other law for the relief or aid of

debtors, any court of competent jurisdiction shall assume custody or control of the
Issuer or of the whole or any substantial part of the property of the Issuer, and

DMWEST #6352040 v3 48



such custody or control éha]_l not be terminated within 60 days from the date of
assumption of such custody or control; or

(h)  if the Issuer shall default in the due and punctual performance of
‘any other of the covenants, conditions, agreements and provisions contained in the
Bonds or herein or any Supplemental Indenture hereof on the part of the Issuer to
be performed, other than as set forth above in this Section, and such default shall
continue for 60 days (or such longer period as may be approved by the Trustee if
in its opinion remedial actions are being diligently pursued by the Issuer) after
written notice specifying such Event of Default.and requiring the same to be
remedied shall have been given to the Issuer by the Trustee, which may give such
notice in its discretion and shall give such notice at the written request of the
Registered Owners of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the
Bonds then QOutstanding hereunder; -

provided that any failure by the Issuer to make payment as described in subparagraph (a)
or (b) of this Section shall not constitute an Event of Default with respect to any Bond if
the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Bond provides that due and
punctual payment by a Security Instrument Issuer or a Reserve Instrument Issuer shall not
give rise to an Event of Default and such payment is, in fact, duly and punctually made;
and provided, further that the provisions of Section 7,1(h) hereof are subject to the
following limitations: if by reason of acts of God; strikes, lockouts or other.similar
disturbances; acts of public enemies; orders of any kind of the government of the United
States or the State or any department, agency, political subdivision, court or official of the
State which asserts jurisdiction over the Issuer; orders of any kind of civil or military
authority; insurrections; riots; epidemics; landslides; lightning; earthquakes; volcanoes;
fires, hurricanes; tornadoes; storms; floods; washouts; droughts; arrests; restraint of
government and people; civil disturbances; explosions; or any cause or event not
reasonably within the control of the Issuer, the Issuer is unable in whole or part to carry
out any one or more of its respective agreements or obligations contained herein (other
than as described in (a) through (b) above) such default shall not constitute an “Event of
Default” hereunder so long as such cause or event continues.

The Trustee shall give notice to any Security Instrument Issuer and Reserve
Instrument Issuer of any Event of Default actually known to the Trustee within five
Business Days after it has actual knowledge thereof.

Section 7.2. Remedies; Rights of Registered Owners. Upon the occurrence of
an Event of Default, the Trustee may pursue any available remedy by suit at law or in
equity to enforce the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the
Bonds then Qutstanding or to enforce any obligations of the Issuer hereunder.

If an Event of Default shall have occurred, and if requested so to do by
(1) Registered Owners of not less than 25% in aggregate Principal amount of the Bonds
then Outstanding, (ii) Security Instrument Issuers at that time providing Security
Instruments which are in full force and effect and not in default on any payment
obligation and which secure not less than 25% in aggregate Principal amount of Bonds at

DMWEST #6382940 v3 49



the time Outstanding, or (iii) any combination of Bondowners and Security Instrument
Issuers described in (i) ‘and (ii) above representing not less than 25% in aggregate
Principal amount of Bonds at the time Qutstanding, and indemnified as provided in
Section 8.1 hereof, the Trustee shall be obligated to exercise such one or more of the
rights and powers conferred by this Section as the Trustee, being advised by counsel,
shall deem most expedient in the interest of the Registered Owners and the Security
Instrument Issuers,

No remedy by the terms hereof conferred vpon or reserved to the Trustee (or to
the Registered Owners or to the Security Instrument Issuers) is intended to be exclusive
of any other remedy, but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in
addition to any other remedy given to the Trustee, the Reglstered Owners or the Security -
Instrument Issuers or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute.

No delay or omission to exercise any-right or power accruing upon any Event of
Defanlt shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any
Event of Default or acquiescence therein; and every such right and power may be
exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient.

No waiver of any Event of Default hereunder, whether by the Trustee, the
Registered Owners or the Security Instrument Issuers, shall extend to or shall affect any
subsequent Event of Default or shall impair any rights or remedies consequent thereon.

Section 7.3. Right of Registered Owners and Security Instrument Issuers to
Direct Proceedings. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, unless a-
Supplemental Indenture provides .otherwise, either (i) the Registered Owners of a
majority in aggregate Principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, (ii) the Security
Instrument Issuers at the time providing Security Instruments which are in full force and
effect and not in default on any payment obligation and which secure not less than 50% in
aggregate Principal amount of Bonds at the time Qutstanding, or (iii) any combination of
Bondowners and Security Instrument Issuers described in (i) and (ii) above representing
not less than 50% in aggregate Principal amount of Bonds at the time Outstanding, shall
have the right, at any time, by an instrument or instruments in writing executed and
delivered to the Trustee, to direct the time, method and place of conducting all
proceedings to be taken in connection with the enforcement of the terms and conditions
hereof, or for the appointment of a receiver or any other proceedings hereunder; provided,
that such direction shall not be otherwise than in accordance with the provisions of law
and of this Indenture.

Section 7.4. Application of Mopeys. All Pledged Revenues and moneys
received by the Trustee pursuant to amy right given or action taken under the default
provisions of this Article shall be applied in the following order:

(a) To the payment of (i) the reasopable and proper fees, charges and

expenses of the Trustee and the reasonable fees and disbursements of its counsel
and (ii) Financing Expenses;

DMWEST #6362940 v3 50



(b) To the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest
then due and payable on the Bonds and the Security Instrument Repayment
Obligations as follows:

(i) . Unless the Principal of all the Bonds shall have become due
and payable, all such moneys shall be applied:

FIRST—To the payment to the persons-entitled thereto of
all installments of interest then due on the Bonds and the interest
component of any Security Instrument Repayment Obligations then
due, in the order of the maturity of the installments of such interest
and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full
any particular installment, then to the payment ratably, according to
the amounts due on such instaliment, to the persons entitled
thereto, without any discrimination or privilege; and

SECOND--To the payment to the persons entitled thereto
of the unpaid Principal of and premium, if any, on the Bonds which
shall have become due (other than Bonds called for redemption. for
the payment of which moneys are held pursuant to the provisions
hereof), in the order of their due dates, and the Principal
component of any Security Instrument Repayment Obligations then
due, and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in
full all the Bonds and the Principal component of any Security
Instrument Repayment Obligations due on any particular date, then
to the payment ratably, according to the amount of Principal due on
such date, to the persons entitled thereto without any
discrimination or privilege. .

(1)  If the principal of all the Bonds shall have become due and
payable, all such moneys shall be applied to the payment of the Principal
and interest then due and unpaid upon the Bonds and Security Instrument
Repayment Obligations, without preference or priority of Principal over
interest or of interest over Principal, or of any installment of interest over
any other installment of interest, or of any Bond or Security Instrument
Repayment Obligation over any other Bond or Security Instrument
Repayment Obligation, ratably, according to the amounts due respectively
for Principal and interest, to the persons entitled thereto without any
discrimination or privilege.

(iif) After payment of (i) or (ii) above as applicable, to the
payment of all obligations owed to all Reserve Instrument Providers,
ratably, according to the amounts due without any discrimination or
preference under any applicable agreement related to any Reserve
Instrument Agreement.

Subject to the provisions of the Senior Indenture, whenever moneys are to be
applied pursuant to the provisions of this Section, such moneys shall be applied at such

DMWEST #6382040 v3 _ 51



times, and from time to time, as the Trustee shall determine, having dué regard to the
amounts of such moneys available for such application and the likelihood of additional
moneys becoming available for such application in the future. Whenéver the Trustee
shall apply such funds, it shall fix the date (which shall be an Interest Payment Date
unless it shall deem another date more suitable) upon which such application is to be
made and upon such date interest on the amounts of Principal paid on such dates shall
cease 10 accrue.

Section 7.5. Remedies Vested in Trustee. All rights of action (inchuding the
right to file proof of claims) hereunder or under any of the Bonds may be enforced by the
Trustee without the possession of any of the Bonds or the production thereof in any trial
or other proceedings related thereto and any such suit or proceedings instituted by the
Trustee shall be brought in its name as Trustee without the necessity of joining as
plaintiffs or defendants any Registered Owners of the Bonds, and any recovery of
judgment shall be for the equal benefit of the Registered Owners of the Qutstanding
Bonds.

Section 7.6.  Rights and Remedies of Registered Owners. Except as provided in
the last sentence of this Section, no Registered Owner of any Bond or Security Instrument
Issuer or Reserve Instrument Provider shall have any right to institute. any suit, action or
proceeding in equity or at law for the enforcement hereof or for the execution of any trust
thereof or for the appointment of a receiver or any other remedy hereunder, unless an
Event of Defanlt has occurred of which the Trustee has been notified as provided in
Section 8.1(g), or of which by said Section it is deemed to have notice, nor unless also
Registered Owners of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds tlien
Outstanding or Security Instrumient Issuers at the time providing Security Instruments
which are in full force and effect and are not in default on any payment obligation and
which secure not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of Bonds 4t the time
Qutstanding shall have made written request to the Trustee and shall have offered
reasonable opportunity either to proceed to exercise the powers hereinbefore granted or to
institute such action, suit or proceeding in its own name, nor unless also they have offered
to the Trustee indemnity as provided in Section 8.1 hereof nor unless the Trustee shall
thereafter fail or refuse to exercise the powers hereinabove granted, or to institute such
action, suit or proceeding in its own name or names. Such notification, request and offer
of indemnity are hereby declared in every case at the option of the Trustee to be
conditions precedent to the execution of the powers and trust hereof, and to any action or
cause of action for the enforcement hereof, or for the appointment of a receiver or for any
other remedy hereunder; it being understood and intended that no one or more Registered
Owner of the Bonds or Security Instrument Issuer or Reserve Instrument Provider shall
have any right in any manner whatsoever to affect, disturb or prejudice the lien hereof by
its action or to enforce any right hereundér except in the manner herein provided, and that
all proceedings at law or in equity shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner
herein provided and for the equal benefit of the Registered Owners of all Bonds then
Qutstanding and all Security Instrument Issuers at the time providing Security
Instruments and all Reserve Instrument Providers at the time providing Reserve
Instruments. Nothing herein contained shall, however, affect or impair the right of any
Registered Owner or Security Instrument Issuer to enforce the covenants of the Issuer to

DMWEST #5382940 v3 52



pay the Principal of, premium, if any, and interest on each of the Bonds and Security
Instrument Repayment Obligations at the time, place, from the source and in the manner
in said Bonds or Security Instrument Repayment Obligations expressed.

, Section 7.7. Termination of Proceedings. In case the Trustee, any Bondowner
or any Security Instrument Issuer shall have proceeded to enforce any right hereunder and
such proceedings shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, or shall have

"been determined adversely to the Trustee, the Bondowner, or Security Instrument Issuer,

then and in every such case the Issuer and the Trustee shall be restored to their former
positions and rights hereunder, and all rights, remedies and powers of the Trustee shall
continue as if no such proceedings had been taken.

Section 7.8. Waivers of Events of Defauit. Subject to Section 8.1(g) hereof, the
Trustee may in its discretion, and with the prior written consent of all Security Instrument
Issuers at the time providing Security Instruments which are in full force and effect and
not in default of any payment obligation, waive any Event of Default hereunder and its
consequences and shall do so upon the written request of the Registered Owners of (a) a
majority in aggregate Principal amount of all the Bonds then Outstanding or Security
Instrument Issuers at the time providing Security Instruments which are in full force and
effect and are not in default on any payment obligation and which secure not less than
50% in aggregate Principal amount of Bonds at the time Outstanding in respect of which
an Event of Default in the payment of Principal and interest exists, or (b) a majority in
aggregate Principal amount of the Bonds then Qutstanding or Security Instrument Issuers
at the time providing Security Instruments which are in full force and effect and are not in
default on any payment obligation and which secure not less than 50% in aggregate
Principal amount of Bonds at the time Outstanding in the case .of any other Event of
Default; provided, however, that there shall not be waived (i) any Event of Default in the
payment of the Principal of any Bonds at the date of maturity specified therein, or (ii) any
default in the payment when due of the interest on any such Bonds, unless prior to such
waiver or rescission all arrears of interest, with interest (to the extent permitted by law) at
the rate borme by the Bonds in respect of which such Event of Default shall have occurred
on overdue installments of interest and all arrears of payments of Principal and premium,
if any, when due, and all expenses of the Trustee in connection with such Event of
Default, shall have beer paid or provided for, and in case of any such waiver or
rescission, or in case any proceeding taken by the Trustee on account of any such Event
of Default shall have been discontinued or abandoned or determined adversely, then and
inevery such case the Issuer, the Trustee, the Registeied Owners and the Security
Instrument Issuers shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder,
respectively, but no such waiver or rescission shall extend to any subsequent or other
Event of Default, or impair any right consequent thereon.

Section 7.9, Cooperation of Issuer. In the case of any Event of Default
hereunder, the Issuer shall cooperate with the Trustee and use its best efforts to protect
the Bondowners and the Security Instrument Issuers.

DMWEST #5382940 v3 53



ARTICLE VIO

THE TRUSTEE

Section 8.1.  Acceptance of the Trusts. The Trustee accepts the trusts imposed
upon it hereby, and agrees to perform said trusts as a corporate trustee ordmnarily would
perform said trusts under a corporate indenture, but no implied covenants or obligations
shall be read into this Indenture against the Trustee.

(a) - The Trustee may execute any of the trusts or powers thereof and
perform any of its duties by or through attorneys, agents, receivers or employees
but shall be answerable for the conduct of the same in accordance with the
standard specified above, and shall be entitled to advice of counsel concerning all
matters of trusts hereof and the duties hereunder, and’ may in all cases pay such
reasonable compensation to all such attorneys, agents, receivers and employees as
may reasonably be employed in connection with the trusts hereof. The Trustee
may act upon the opinion or advice of counsel. The Trustee shall not be
responsible for any loss or damage resulting from any action or non-action in good
faith in reliance upon such opinion or advice.

(b)  The Trustee shall not be responsible for any recital herein, or in the
Bonds (except in respect to the certificate of the Trustee endorsed on the Bonds),
or collecting any insurance moneys, or for the validity of the execution by the
Issuer of this Indenture or of any supplements thereto or instruments of further
assurance, or for the sufficiency of the security for the Bonds issued hereunder or
intended to be secured hereby; and the Trustee shall not be bound to ascertain or
inquire as to the performance or observance of any covenants, conditions or
agreements on the part of the Issuer; but the Trustee may require of the Issuer full
information and advice as to the performance of the covenants, conditions and
agreements aforesaid and as to the condition of the property herein conveyed. The
Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for any loss suffered in connection with
any investment of funds made by it in accordance with the provisions hereof.

(©)  The Trustee shall not be accountable for the use of any Bonds
authenticated or delivered hereunder, except as specifically set forth herein. The
Trustee may become the owner of Bonds secured hereby with the same rights
which it would have if not Trustee.

(d) - The Trustee shall be protected in acting upon any notice, request,
consent, certificate, order, affidavit, letter, telegram or other paper or document
believed to be genuine and correct and to have been signed or sent by the proper
person or persons. Any action taken by the Trustee pursuant hereto upon the
request or authority or consent of any person who at the time of making such
request or giving such authority or consent is the Registered Owner of any Bond,
shall be conclusive and binding upon all future Owners of the same Bond and
upon Bonds issued in exchange therefor or in place thereof.

DMWEST #6382940 v3 54



(e) As to the existence or nonexistence of any fact or as to the
sufficiency or validity of any instrument, paper or proceeding, the Trustee shall be
entitled to rely upon a certificate signed on behalf of the Issuer by an Authorized
Representative as sufficient evidence of the facts therein contained and prior to
the occurrence of an Event of Default of which the Trustee has been notified as
provided in Paragraph (g) of this Section, or of which by said Paragraph it is
deemed to have notice, shall also be at liberty to accept a similar certificate to the
effect that any particular dealing, transaction or action is necessary or expedient,
but may at its discretion secure such further evidence deemed necessary or
advisable, but shall in no case be bound to secure the same. The Trustee may
accept a certificate of the Secretary of the Board of Trustees of the Issuer to the
effect that a resolution in the form therein set forth has been adopted by the Issuer
as conclusive evidence that such resolution has been duly adopted, and is in full
force and effect.

® The permissive right of the Trustee to do things enumerated herein
shall not be construed as a duty and the Trustee shall not be answerable for other
than its negligence or willful misconduct.

(g)  The Trustee shall not be required to take notice or be deemed to
have notice of any Event of Default hereunder, except an Event of Default
described in Section 7.1(a) or (b), unless the Trustee shall be specifically notified
in writing of such Default by the Issuer, a Security Instrument Issuer or by the
Registered Owners of at least 25% in the aggregate Principal amount of the Bonds
then Outstanding and all notices or other instruments required hereby to be
delivered to the Trustee must, in order to be effective, be delivered at the principal
corporate trust office of the Trustee, and in the absence of such notice so
delivered, the Trustee may conclusively presume ‘there is no Event of Defanlt
except as aforesaid.

(h)- - At'any and all reasonable times and upon reasonable prior written
notice, the Trustee, and its duly authorized agents, attorneys, experts, engineers,
accountants and representatives, shall have the right fully to inspect all books,
-papers and records of the Issuer pertaining to the Bonds, and to take such
memoranda from and in regard thereto as may be desired.

)] The Trustee shall not be required to give any bond or surety in
respect of the execution of the said trusts and powers or otherwise in respect of
the premises.

. )] Notwithstanding anything elsewhere herein contained, the Trustee
shall have the right, but shall not be required, to demand, in respect of the
authentication of any Bonds, the withdrawal of any cash, the release of any
property, or any action whatsoever within the purview hereof, any showing,
certificates, opinions, appraisals, or other information, or corporate action or
evidence thereof, in addition fo that by the terms hereof required as a condition of

DMWEST #6382940 v3 55



such action by the Trustee, deemed desirable for the authentication of any Bonds,
the withdrawal of any cash, or the taking of any other action by the Trustee.

: k) All moneys received by the Trustee or any paying agent shall, until
used or applied or invested as herein provided, be held in trust for the purposes for
which they were received but need not be segregated from other funds except to
the extent required by law or as provided hereunder. Neither the Trustee nor any
paying agent shall be under any liability for interest on any moneys received
hereunder except such as may be agreed upon.

()  If any Event of Default hereunder shall have occurred and be
continuing, the Trustee shall exercise such of the rights and powers vested in it
hereby and shall use the same degree of care as a prudent person would exercise
or use in the circumstances in the conduct of its own affairs.

- (m) The Trustee shall be under no obligation to exercise any of the
rights or powers vested in it by this Indenture at the request, order or direction of
any of the Bondholders, Security Instrument Issuers or Reserve Instrument Issuers
pursuant to the provisions of this Indenture, unless such Bondholders, Security
Instrument Issuers or Reserve Instrument Issuers shall have offered to the Trustee
reasonable security or indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities which
may be incurred therein or thereby.

(n)  The Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for any loss suffered
in connection with any investment of funds made by it in accordance with this
" Indenture or any supplement hereto.

Section 8.2. [Fees, Charges and Expenses of Trustee. The Trustee shall be
entitled to payment or reimbursement for reasonable fees for its services rendered as
Trustee hereunder and all advances, counsel fees and other expenses reasonably and
necessarily made or incurred by the Trustee in connection with such services. The
Trustee shall be entitled to payment and reimbursement for the reasonable fees and
charges of the Trustee as Paying Agent and Registrar for the Bonds as hereinabove
provided. Upon an Event of Default, but only upon an Event of Default, the Trustee shall
have a right of payment prior to payment on account of interest or prncipal of, or
premium, if any, on any Bond for the foregoing advances, fees, costs and expenses
incurred, except for amounts held in trust to pay the principal, premium, interest or
purchase price of Bonds in accordance with Section 2.13 hereof and except for amounts
paid under a Security Instrument.

Section 8.3. Notice to Registered Owners if Event of Default Occurs. If an
Event of Default occurs of which the Trustee is by Section 8.1(g) hereof required to take
notice or if notice of an Event. of Default is given to the Trustee as in said Section
provided, then the Trustee shall give written notice thereof by registered or certified mail
to all Security Instrument Issuers and to the Registered Owners of ail Bonds then
Outstanding shown on the registration books of the Bonds kept by the Trustee as
Registrar for the Bonds.

DMWEST #5382040 va 56



Section 8.4. Intervention by Trustee. In any judicial proceeding to which the
Issuer is a party and which in the opinion of the Trustee and its counsel has a substantial
bearing on the interest of Registered Owners of the Bonds, the Trustee may intervene on
behalf of such Owners and shall do so if requested in writing by any Security Instrument
Issuer providing a Security Instrument which is in full force and effect and not in default
on any payment obligation or by the Registered Owners of at least 25% in aggregate
Principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding. . The rights and obligations of the
Trustee under this Section are subject to the approval of a court of competent jurisdiction.

Section 8.5.  Successor Trustee. Any corporation or association into which the
Trustee may be converted or merged, of with which it may be consolidated, or to which it
may sell or transfer its corporate trust business and assets as a whole or substantially as a
whole, or any corporation or association resulting from any such conversion, sale, merger,
consolidation or transfer to which it is a party, ipso facto, shall be and become successor
Trustee hereunder (so long as otherwise qualified as provided in Section 8.8 hereof) and
vested with all of the title to the whole property or trust estate and all the trusts, powers,
discretions, immunities, privileges and all other matters as was its predecessor, without
the execution or filing of any instrument or any further act, deed of conveyance on the
part of any of the parties hereto, anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding.

Section 8.6. Resignation by the Trustee. The Trustee and any successor Trustee
may at any time resign from the trusts hereby created by giving written notice to the
Issuer, served personally or by registered mail, and by registered or certified mail to each
Reserve Instrument Issuer, Security Instrument Issuer and Registered Owner of Bonds
then Outstanding, and such resignation shall take effect upon the appointment of a
successor Trustee by the Registered Owners or by the Issuer as provided in Section 8.8
‘hereof; provided, however that if no successor Trustee has been appointed within 60 days
of the date of such notice of résignation, the resigning Trustee may petition any court of
competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Trustee, and such court may
thereupon, after such notice, if any, as it deems proper and prescribes, appoint a successor
Trustee.

Section 8.7. Removal of the Trustee. The Trustee may be removed (i) by the
Issuer at any time by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing of the Issuer
delivered to the Trustee and each Security Instrument Issuer, unless there exists an Event
of Default and (ii) in writing delivered to the Trustee and the Issuer, and signed by the
Registered Owners of a majority in aggregate Principal amount of Bonds then
Outstanding if an Event of Default exists; provided that such instrument or instruments
concurrently appoint a successor Trustee meeting the qualifications set forth herein.

Section 8.8, Appointment of Successor Trustee; Temporary Trustee. In case the
Trustee hereunder shall resign or be removed, or be dissolved, or shall be in course of
dissolution or liquidation, or otherwise become incapable of acting hereunder, or in case
it shall be taken under the control of any public officer or officers, or of a receiver
appointed by a court, a successor may be appointed by the Issuer by an instrument
executed by duly authorized officers of the Issuer. Any successor Trustee appointed
pursuant to the provisions of this section shall (i) be subject to the prior written approval

DMWEST #6382040 v3 57



of all Security Instrument Issuers, (ii) be a commercial bank in good standing, duly
authorized to exercise trust powers and subject to examination by federal or state
authority, and (iii) have a reported capital and surplus of not less than $50,000,000.

Each Reserve Instrument Provider and Security Instrument Issuer shall be notified
immediately upon the resignation or termination of the Trustee and provided with a list of
candidates for the office of successor Trustee.

" Section 8.9. Concerning Any Successor Trustee. Every successor Trustee
appointed hereunder shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to its predecessor and also to
the Issuer an instrument in writing accepting such appointment hereunder, and thereupon
such-successor, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become fully vested
with all the estates, properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations of its
predecessor; but such predecessor shall, nevertheless, on the written request of the Issuer,
or of the successor Trustee, execute and deliver an instrument fransferring to such
successor Trustee all the estates, properties, rights, powers and trusts of such predecessor
hereunder; and every predecessor Trustee shall deliver all securities and moneys held by
it as Trustee hereunder to its successor. Should any instrument in writing from the Issuer
be required by any successor Trustee for more fully and certainly vesting in such
successor the estates, rights, powers and duties hereby vested or intended to be vested in
the predecessor, any and all such instruments in writing shall, on request, be executed,
acknowledged and delivered by the Issuer. The resignation of any Trustee and the
instrument or instruments removing any Trustee and appointing a successor hereunder,
together with all other instruments provided for in this Article shall be filed or recorded
by the successor Trustee in each recording office, if any, where the Indenture shall have
been filed or recorded.

Section 8.10. Trustee Protected in Relying Upon Indenture, Etc. The indentures,
opinions, certificates and other instruments provided for herein may be accepted by the
Trustee as conclusive evidence of the facts and conclusions stated therein and shall be full
warrant, protection and authority to the Trustee for the release of property and the
withdrawal of cash hereunder.

Section 8.11. Successor Trustee as Trustee of Funds: Paying Agent and Bond
Registrar. In the event of a change in the office of Trustee, the predecessor Trustee which
has resigned or been removed shall cease to be Trustee hereunder and Registrar for the
Bonds and Paying Agent for principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds, and
the successor Trustee shall become such Trustee; Registrar and Paying Agent for the
Bonds.

Section 8.12. Trust Estate May Be Vested in Separate or Co-Trustee. It is the
purpose of this Indenture that there shall be no violation of any law of any jurisdiction
(including particularly the laws of the State) denying or restricting the right of banking
corporations or associations to transact business as Trustee in such jurisdiction. It is
recognized that in case of litigation hereunder, and in particular in case of the
enforcement of remedies on Event of Default, or in case the Trustee deems that by reason
of any present or future law of any jurisdiction it may not exercise any of the powers,

DMWEST #5382940 v3 58



rights, or remedies herein granted to the Trustee or hold title to the trust estate, as herein
granted, or take any other action which may be desirable or necessary in connection
therewith, it may be necessary that the Trustee appoint an additional individual or
institution as a separate or co-trustee. The following provisions of this Section are
adapted to these ends.

In the event that the Trustee appoints an additional individual or institution as a
separate or co-trustee, each and every remedy, power, right, claim, demand, cause of
action, immunity, estate, title, interest and lien expressed or intended hereby to be
exercised by or vested in or conveyed to the Trustee with respect thereto shall be
exercisable by and vested in such separate or co-trustee, but only to the extent necessary
to enable the separate or co-trustee to exercise such powers, rights and remedies, and
every covenant and obligation necessary to the exercise thereof by such separate or
co-trustee shall run to and be enforceable by either of them.

Should any deed, conveyance or instrument in writing from the Issuer be required
by the separate trustee or co-trustee so appointed by the Trustee for more fully and
certainly vesting in and confirming to it such properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and
obligations, any and all such deeds, conveyances and instruments in writing shall, on
request of such trustee or co-trustee, be executed, acknowledged and delivered by the
Issuer. In case any separate trustee or co-trustee or a successor to either, shall die,
become incapable of acting, resign or be removed, all the estates, properties, rights,
powers, trusts, duties and obligations of such separate trustee or co-trustee, so far as
permitted by law, shall vest in and be exercised by the Trustee until the appointment of a
new frustee or successor to such separate trustee or co-trustee.

Section 8.13. Annual Accounting. The Trustee shall prepare an annual
accounting for each Fiscal Year by the end of the month following each such Fiscal Year
showing in reasonable detail all financial transactions relating to the funds and accounts
held by the Trustee hereunder during the accounting period and the balance in any funds
or accounts created hereby as of the beginning and close of such accounting period, and
shall mail the same to the Issuer and to each Security Instrument Issuer and Reserve
Instrument Provider requesting the same. The Trustee shall also make available for
inspection by any Registered Owner a copy of said annual accounting (with the names
and addresses of Registered Owners receiving payment of debt service on the Bonds
deleted therefrom) and shall mail the same if requested in writing to do so by Registered
Ovwmers of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding to the
designee of said Owners specified in said written request at the address therein
designated. On or before the end of the month following each Fiscal Year, the Trustee
shall, upon written request, provide to the Issuer and the Issuer’s independent auditor
representations as to the accuracy of the facts contained in the ﬁnam:lal reports that were
delivered by the Trustee during the Fiscal Year just ended.

Section 8.14. Indemnification. Subject to the provisions of Section 8.1(a) of this
Indenture, the Issuer shall indemnify and save Trustee harmless against any liabilities it
may incur in the exercise and performance of its powers and duties hereunder, other than
those due to its own gross negligence or willful misconduct.

DMWEST #5382040 v3 59



Section 8.15. Trustee’s Right to Own and Deal in Bonds. The bank or trust
company acting as Trustee under this Indenture, and its directors, officers, employees or
agents, may in good faith buy, sell, own, hold and deal in any of the Bonds issued
hereunder and secured by this Indenture, and may join in any action which any
Bondholder may be entitled to take with like effect as if such bank or trust company were.
not the Trustee under this Indenture.

DMWEST #6382040 v3 60



ARTICLE IX
SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES

Section 9.1. Supplemental Indentures Not Requiring Consent of Registered

Owners, Security Instrument Issuers and Reserve Instrument Providers. The Issuer and

the Trustee may, without the consent of, or notice to, any of the Registered Owners or

Reserve Instrument Providers, but with notice to any Security Instrument Issuer, enter

into-an indenture or indentures supplemental hereto, as shall not be inconsistent with the
terms and provisions hereof, for any one or more of the following purposes:

(@  To provide for the issuance of Additional Bonds in accordance
with the provisions of Section 2.15 hereof;

(b)  To cure any ambiguity or formal defect or omission herein which
will not materially adversely affect the Owners of the Bonds;

(c) To grant to or confer upon the Trustee for the benefit of the
Registered Owners, any Security Instrument Issuers and any Reserve Instrument
Providers any additional rights, remedies, powers or authority that may lawfully
be granted to or conferred upon the Registered Owners, any Security Instrument
Issuers and any Reserve Instrument Providers or any of them, provided, however,
that the prior written consent of each Security Instrument Issuer is obtained;

) (d) To subject to this Indenture additional revenues or other revenues,
properties, collateral or security;

(e) To make any other change hereto which, in the judgment of the
Trustee, is pot materially prejudicial to the interests of the Registered Owners, the
Trustee, any Security Instrument Issuer or any Reserve Instrument Provider,
provided, however, that the prior written consent of each Security Instrument
Issuer is obtained;

(43] To make any change necessary (i) to establish or maintain the
exemption from federal income taxation of interest on any Series of Bonds as a
result of any modifications or amendments to Section 148 of the Code (or any
successor provision of law) or 1nterpretat1ons thereof by the Internal Revenue
Service, or (ii) to comply with the provisions of Section 148(f) of the Code (or
any successor provision of law), including provisions for the payment of all or a
portion of the investment earnings of any of the Funds established hereunder to
the United States of America;

() Ifthe Bonds affected by such change are rated by a Rating Agency,
to make any change which does not result in a reduction of the rating applicable to
any of the Bonds so affected, provided that if any of the Bonds so affected are
secured by a Security Instrument, such change must be approved in writing by the
related Security Instrument Issuer;

DMWEST #6382040 v3 | 61



(h)  If the Bonds affected by such change are secured by a Security
Instrument, to make any change approved in writing by the related Security
Instrument Issuer, provided that if any of the Bonds so affected are rated by a
Rating Agency, such change shall not result in a reduction of the rating applicable
to any of the Bonds so affected; and -~

® To provide for the appointment of a successor Trustee, a Paying
Agent, a separate or co-trustee, 2 Remarketing Agent or a Transfer Agent.

No modification or amendment shall be permitted pursuant to paragraph (g) or (h)
unless the Issuer delivers to the Trustee an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel
to the effect that such modification or amendment will not adversely affect the
tax-exempt status or validity of any Bonds affected by such modification.or amendment.

Section 9.2.  Supplemental Indentures Requiring Consent of Registered Owners,
Security Instrument Issuers and Reserve Instrument Providers; Waivers and Consents by
Registered Owners. Exclusive of Supplemental Indentures covered by Section 9.1 hereof
and subject to the terms and provisions contained in this Section, and not otherwise, the
Registered Owners of at least a majority in aggregate Principal amount of the Bonds then
OQutstanding shall have the right, from time to time, anything contained herein fo the
Gontrary notwithstanding, to (i) consent to and approve the execution by the Issuer and the
Trustee of such other indenture or indentures supplemental hereto as shall be deemed
necessary and desirable by the Issuer for the purpose of modifying, altering, amending,
adding to or rescinding, in any particular, any of the terms or provisions contained herein
or in any Supplemental Indenture, or (ii) waive or consent to the taking by the Issuer of
any action prohibited, or the omission by the Issuer of the taking of any action required,
by any of the provisions hereof or of any indenture supplemental hereto; provided,
however, that nothing in this Section contained shail permit or be tonstrued as permitting
(a) an extension of the stated maturity or reduction in the Principal amount of, or
reduction in the rate of or extension of the time of paying of interest on, or reduction of
any premium payable on the redemption of, or the elimination of tender rights with
respect to, any Bond, without the consent of the Registered Owner of such Bond, or (b) a
reduction in the amount or extension of the time of any payment required by any fund
established hereunder applicable to any Bonds without the consent of the Registered
Owsers of all the Bonds which would be affected by the action to be taken, or (c)a
reduction in the aforesaid aggregate Principal amount of Bonds, the Registered Owners of
which are required to consent to any such waiver or Supplemental Indenture, or (d) affect
the rights of the Registered Owners of less than all Bonds then Outstanding, without the
consent of the Registered Owners of all the Bonds at the time Outstanding which would
be affected by the action to be taken. In addition, no supplement hereto shall modify the
rights, duties or immunities of the Trustee, without the written consent of the Trustee. If
a Security Instrument or a Reserve Instrument is in effect with respect to any Series of
Bonds Outstanding and if a proposed modification or amendment would apply to such
Series of Bonds, then, except as described in Section 9.1 hereof, neither this Indenture nor
any Supplemental Indenture with respect to such Series of Bonds shall be modified or
amended at any time without the prior written consent of the related Security Instrument
Issuer or Reserve Instrument Provider, as applicable. Copies of any such modifications,

DMWEST #6382940 v3 62



amendments or supplements. permitted under this Section or Section 9.1 shall be sent to
each Rating Agency at least 10 days prior to the effective date thereof.

DMWEST #6382940 v3 63



ARTICLEX

DISCHARGE OF INDENTURE

If the Issuer shall pay or cause to be paid, or there shall be otherwise paid or
provision for payment made to or for the Registered Owners of the Bonds, the Principal
‘of and interest due or to become due thereon at the times and in the manner stipulated
therein, and shall pay or cause to be paid to the Trustee all sums of moneys due or to
become due according to the provisions hereof, and to all Security Instrument Issuers and
all Reserve Instrument Providers all sums of money due or to become due accordingly to
the provisions of any Security Insttument Agreements and Reserve Instrument -
Apreements, as apphcable, then these presents and the estate and rights hereby granted
shall cease, determine and be void, whereupon the Trustee shall cancel and discharge the
lien hereof, and release, assign and deliver unto the Issuer any and all the estate, right,
title and interest in and to any and all rights assigned or pledged to the Trustee, held by
the Trustee, or otherwise subject to the lien hereof, except moneys or securities held by
the Trustee for the payment of the Principal of and interest on the Bonds, the payment of
amounts pursuant to any Security Instrument Agreements or the payment of amounts
pursuant to any Reserve Instrument Agreements.

Any Bond shali be deemed to be paid within the meaning of this Article when
payment of the Principal of such Bond, plus interest thereon to the due date thereof
(whether such due date be by reason of maturity or upon redemption as prov1ded herein,
or otherwise), either (a).shall have been made or caused to have been made in accordance
with the terms thereof, or (b) shall have been provided by irrevocably depositing with or
for the benefit of the Trustee, in trust and irrevocably setting aside exclusively for such
payment, any combination of (i) moneys sufficient to make such payment, or (ii) non
callable Government Obllgatlons, maturing as to principal and interest in such amount
and at such times as will insure the availability of sufficient moneys to make such
payment, and all necessary and proper fees, compensation and expenses of the Trustee
and any paying agent pertaining to the Bond with respect to which such deposit is made
shall have been paid or the payment thereof provided for to the satisfaction of the Trustee.
At such times as a Bond shall be deemed to be paid hereunder, as aforesaid, it shall no
longer be secured by or entitled to the benefits hereof, éxcept for the purposes of any such
payment from such moneys or Government Obligations.

, Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of Bonds, which by their terms may be
redeemed prior to their stated maturity, no deposit under the immediately preceding
pa.ragraph shall be deemed a payment of such Bonds as aforesaid until the Issuer shall
have given the Trustee, in form satisfactory to the Trustee, irrevocable instructions:

(a) stating the date when the Principal of each such Bond is to be paid,
whether at maturity or on a redemption date (which shall be any redemption date
permitted hereby);

. (b) to instruct the Trustee to call for redemption pursuant hereto any
Bonds to be redeemed prior to maturity pursuant to Subparagraph (a) above; and

DMWEST #6382940 v3 64



(c) to instruct the Trustee to mail, as soon as practicable, in the manner
prescribed by Article 1T hereof, a notice to the Registered Owners of such Bonds
and to each related Security Instrument Issuer that the deposit required by this
Section has been made with the Trustee and that such Bonds are deemed to have
been paid in accordance with this Article and stating the maturity or redemption
date upon which moneys are to be available for the payment of the principal or
redemption price, if applicable, on said Bonds as specified in Subparagraph (a)
above. If the redemption date for all Bonds, payment for which is to be provided
by deposit of moneys or Government Obligations or both, shall fall within 120
days of the mailing of the notice of redemption, then the notices referred to in
Subparagraph (b) dbove and this Subparagraph (c) may be combined.

Any moneys so deposited with the Trustee as prov1ded in this Article may at the
direction of .the Issuer -also be invested and reinvested in Government Obligations,
maturing in the amounts and times as hereinbefore set forth, and all income from all
Govemment Obligations in the hands of the Trustee pursuant to this Aiticle which is not
tequired for the payment of the Bonds and interest thereon with respect to which such
moneys shall have been so deposited shall be deposited in the Bond Fund as and when
realized and collected for use and application as are other moneys deposited in that fund.

No such deposit under this Article shall be made or accepted hereunder and no use
made of any such deposit unless the Trustee shall have received an opinion of nationally
recognized municipal bond counsel to the effect that such deposit and use would not
cause the Bonds to be treated as arbitrage bonds within the meaning of Sections 148 of
the Code.

Notwithstanding any provision of any ofher Article hereof, all moneys or
Government Obligations set aside and held in trust pursuant to the provisions of this
Article for the payment of Bonds (including interest thereon) shall be applied to and used
solely for the payment of the particular Bonds (including interest thereon) with respect to
which such moneys or Government Obligations have been so set aside in trust.

Anything in Article IX hereof to the contrary notwithstanding, if moneys or
Govemnment Obligations have been deposited or set aside with the Trustee pursuant to
this Article for the payment of Bonds and such Bonds shall not have in fact been actually
paid in full, no amendment to the provisions of this Article shall be made without the
consent of the Registered Owner of each Bond affected thereby.

DMWEST #6382940 v3 65



-ARTICLE XI

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 11.1. Consents, Ftc. of Registered Owners. Any consent, request,
direction, approval, objection or other instrument required hereby to be executed by the
Registered Owners, Security Instrument Issuers or Reserve Instrument Providers may be
in any number of concurrent writings of similar tenor and may be executed by such
Registered Owners, Security Instrument Issuers or Reserve Instrument Providers in
person or by agent appointed in writing. Proof of the execution of any such consent,
request, direction, approval, objection or other instrument or of the writing appointing any
such agent and of the ownership of Bonds, if made m the following manner, shall be
sufficient for any of the purposes hereof, and shall be conclusive in favor of the Trustee
with regard to any action taken under such request or other instrument, namely, the fact
and date of the execution by any person of any such writing may be proved by the
certificate of any officer in any jurisdiction who by law has® power to take
acknowledgments  within such jurisdiction that the person signing such - writing
acknowledged before him the execution thereof, or by affidavit of any witness to such
execution.

Section 11.2. Limitation of Rights. With the exception of rights hérein expressly
conferred, nothmg expressed or mentioned in or to be implied from this Indenture or the
Bonds is intended or shall be construed to give to any person other than the parties hereto,’
the Registered Owners of the Bonds, any Security Instrument Issuer and any Reserve
Instrument Provider, any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect
hereto or any covenants, conditions and prov1smns herein contained, this Indenture and
all of the covenants, conditions and provisions hereof being intended to be and being for
the sole arid exclusive benefit of the parties hereto, the Registered Owners of the Bonds,
any Security Instrument Issuer and the Reserve Instrument Providers as berein provided.

Section 11.3. Severability. If any provision hereof shall be held or deemed to be
or shall, in fact, be inoperative or unenforceable as applied in any particular case in any
]unsdxctmn or in all jurisdictions, or in all cases because it conflicts with any other
provision or provisions hereof or any constitution or statute or rule of public policy, or for
any other reason, such circumstances shall not have the effect of rendering the provision
in question inoperative or unenforceable in any other case or circumstance, or of
rendering any other provision or provisions herein contained invalid, inoperative, or
unenforceable to any extent whatever.

The invalidity of any one or more phrases, sentences, clauses or Sections herein
contained, shall not affect the remaining portions hereof, or any part thereof.

Section 11.4. Notices. Unless otherwise specifically provided for herein, all
notices required to be given pursuant to the Indenture shall be in writing. It shall be
sufficient service of any notice, request, complaint, demand or other paper on the Issuer if
the same shall be duly mailed by registered or certified mail addressed to it at Utah
Transit Authority, 3600 South 700 West, P.O. Box 30810, Salt Lake City, Utah 84130-

DMWEST #5352940 v3 66



0810, Attention: General Manager, with a copy to the Issuer’s General Counsel or to such
address as the Issuer may from time to time file with the Trustee. Tt shall be sufficient
service of any notice or other paper on the Trustee if the same shall be duly mailed by
registered or certified mail addressed to it at Zions First National Bank, 10 East Scuth
Temple, 12th Floor, Salt Lake City, Utah 84111, Attention: Corporate Trust Department
Telephone: (801) 524-2348, Facsimile: (801) 524—4838 or to-such other address as the
Trustee may from time to time file with the Issuer.

Section 11.5. Trustee as Paying Agent.and Registrar. The Trustee is hereby
designated and agrees to act as principal Paying Agent and Registrar for and in respect to
the Bonds.

Section 11.6. Counterparts.” This Indenture may be simultaneously executed in
several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute
but one and the same instrument.

Section 11.7. Applicable Law. This Indenture shall be governed exclusively by
the applicable laws of the State.

Section 11.8. Immunity of Officers and Directors. No recourse shall be had for
the payment of the principal of or premium or interest on any of the Bonds or for any
claim based thereon or upon any obligation, covenant or agreement herein contained
against any past, present or future officer, or other public official, employee, or agent of
the Issuer.

. Section 11.9, Payments Due on Holidays. If any date for the payment of
principal of or interest on the Bonds is not a Business Day, then such payment shall be
due on the first day thereafter which is a Business Day and no interest shall accrue for the
period between such payment date and such first Business Day thereafter.

Section 11.10. Notices ‘to Security Instrument Issuer. A copy of any notices
required by this Indenture to be given to the Issuer, any Bondholder, the Paying Agent or
the Trustee shall also be given to the Security Instrument Issuer.

_ Section 11.11. Compliance with State Laws. It is hereby declared by the Issuer’s
Board of Trustees that it is the intention of the Issuer by the execution of this Indenture to
comply in all respects with the provisions of the Utah Public Transit District Act, Title
17A, Chapter 2, Part 10, Utah Code, the Utah Municipal Bond Act, Title 11, Chapter 14,
Utah Code, and the Utah Refunding Bond Act, Title 11, Chapter 27, Utah Code.

. Section 11.12. Effective Date. This Indenture shall become effective
immediately.

DMWEST #8382640 v3 67



IN WITNESS WHEREOF; the parties hereto have caused this Indenture to be
_;xecuted as of the date first written above.

N . UTAH TRANSIT AUTHORITY, as Issuer
Tim, f\‘? ."? P \:"_".' )
4 T EREN ' '
| §Rpi ¢ A4
u: --.:U.!.\..i.;/ E By: OV 4

N A & ‘Géneral Manager

By: W” MM‘M

Treasurer
APPROVED AS TO FORM:
By
UTA Legal Counsel

ZIONS FIRST NATIONAL BANK, as
Trustee

Title: Vice President

.Tit;e: | V ,ﬂ U

DMWEST #6382940 v3 S-1



EXHIBIT A

REQUISITION

Zions First National Bank as Trustee-
10 East South Temple, 12 Floor
Salt Lake City, Utah 84111

RE:

You are hereby authorized to-disburse. from the applicable account of the
Construction Fund with regard to the above-referenced bond issue the following:

REQUISITION NUMBER:

NAME AND ADDRESS OF PAYEE:

AMOUNT: $_

PURPOSE FOR WHICH EXPENSE HAS BEEN INCURRED;

Each distigatie e/ of cost or expense mentioned herein has been properly incurred, is
a proper charge aga.mst the applicable account of the Construction Fund and has not been
the basis for a previous withdrawal. Thé amount set forth above is justly due and owing.
and constitutes a Cost of the Project based upon itemized claims substantiated in support
thereof. '

The amount remaining in the applicable account of the Construction Fund after
such disbursement is made, together with the amount of unencumbered Pledged
Revenues, if any, which the Issuer reasonably estimates will be deposited in the

applicable account of the Construction Fund during the period of construction of the
Project from the investment of moneys on deposit in the applicable account of the
Construction Fund, will, together with any other moneys lawfully available for payment
of the Cost of the Project and afi